
S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 1

1

MEETING NOTICE

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that a Special Meeting of the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois will be held on Tuesday, February 4, 2020, 
beginning at 8:00 PM in the Council Chambers at the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 South Oak 
Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois.

8:00 PM CALL TO ORDER

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

ITEM #1

SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF AGENDA 

ACTION: Discussion - Consider approval of agenda as written or amended.

COMMENTS:
 

ITEM #2
SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE REGULAR 

VILLAGE BOARD MEETING HELD ON JANUARY 21, 2020.
   

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of minutes as written or amended.

COMMENTS:
 

ITEM #3

SUBJECT: CONSIDER RECEIVING A PRESENTATION FROM AUDREY 
MAHER, OWNER OF PEKOE AND BEAN, 17028 OAK PARK 
AVENUE – Clerk Thirion
   

ACTION: Discussion:  Ms. Maher will present an overview of her new tea room 
and coffee bar in Downtown Tinley. No action required.

COMMENTS:
 



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 2

2

ITEM #4
SUBJECT: CONSIDER APPROVAL OF THE FOLLOWING CONSENT 

AGENDA ITEMS: 
A. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM FRANKFORT SCHOOL DISTRICT 

157C, TO CONDUCT A RAFFLE ON FRIDAY, MARCH 6, 2020, AT 
THE ODYSSEY COUNRTY CLUB, 19100 RIDGELAND AVE., WITH 
THE MAXIMUM VALUE OF THE PRIZE NOT TO EXCEED $30,000. 
WINNERS WILL BE DRAWN AT ODYSSEY COUNTRY CLUB.

B. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM RIVERSIDE HEALTHCARE 
FOUNDATION, TO CONDUCT A RAFFLE ON SATURDAY, MARCH 
1, 2020, AT THE TINLEY PARK CONVENTION CENTER, 18451 
CONVENTION CENTER DR., WITH THE MAXIMUM VALUE OF 
THE PRIZE NOT TO EXCEED $4,999. WINNERS WILL BE DRAWN 
AT THE CONVENTION CENTER.

C. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM LES TURNER ALS FOUNDATION, TO 
CONDUCT A TAG DAY FUNDRAISER ON SATURDAY, MAY 9, 
2020, AT CERTAIN INTERSECTIONS IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK.

D. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-006 AUTHORIZING A 
SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND RELEASE BETWEEN THE 
REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY (RTA); COUNTY OF 
COOK; VILLAGE OF FOREST VIEW; VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK; 
VILLAGE OF LEMONT; VILLAGE OF ORLAND PARK; ELK GROVE 
VILLAGE; VILLAGE OF MELROSE PARK; VILLAGE OF HAZEL 
CREST; VILLAGE OF NORTH BROOK AS PLAINTIFFS AND THE 
VILLAGE OF CHANNAHON, MINORITY DEVELOPMENT 
COMPANY, LLC, AND MTS CONSULTING, LLC, AND NON-PARTY 
SOUTHWEST JET FUEL CO.  AS DEFENDANTS RELATIVE TO 
COOK COUNTY CONSOLIDATED CASES 2011 CH 29744 AND 2011 
CH 34266 INVOLVING THE MATTER OF SOURCING AND 
REPORTING OF SALES TAXES.

E. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-007 APPROVING A 
FIVE (5) FOOT UTILITY EASEMENT ALONG THE EAST 
PROPERTY LINE OF 17309 OAK PARK AVENUE (PROPERTY OF 
JAMES FUENTES).

F. CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-008 AUTHORIZING 
AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
AND PROVIDENCE BANK & TRUST CONSENTING TO THE 
COLLATERAL ASSIGNMENT OF THE SOUTH STREET 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT.

G. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE 
AMOUNT OF $2,452,935.88 AS LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD 
APPROVAL REPORTS DATED JANUARY 24 AND JANUARY 31, 
2020.



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 3

3

ACTION: Discussion: Consider approval of consent agenda items.

COMMENTS:  
 

ITEM #5

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-003 GRANTING A MAP 
AMENDMENT (REZONING) FOR TWO (2) PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 
17100 AND 17110 HARLEM AVENUE FROM THEIR EXISTING B-4 
(OFFICE AND SERVICE BUSINESS) AND R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD 
SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Vequity LLC, is seeking to rezone the two (2) 
properties located at the Southwest Corner of Harlem Avenue and 171st Street 
from their current zoning to the B-1, Neighborhood Shopping zoning district. 
The purpose of the rezoning is to allow for the construction of an automotive 
service (gas) station. The proposed gas station site includes ten (10) vehicle 
fueling stations and a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store building.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 2, 2020 and voted 5-0 
to recommend approval of the Map Amendment (Rezoning) in accordance with 
the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the 
January 2, 2020, Staff Report.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #6

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-003 APPROVING AND 
ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF RESUBDIVISION FOR SOUTHLANDS 
FIRST CONSOLIDATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE - 
Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Vequity LLC (contract purchaser/developer), has 
requested Final Plat approval for the Southlands First Consolidation associated 
with the proposed 7-Eleven gas station and convenience store at 17100 Harlem 
Avenue. The Plat will consolidate two (2) parcels along Harlem Ave resulting in 
a single .961-acre parcel. The Plat also includes all existing utility easements, 
cross-access easements to neighboring properties, and a sidewalk easement for 
installation of a public sidewalk on a portion of the property.

The Plan Commission reviewed the Final Plat of Resubdivision with a 
recommended condition that the approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan 
approval by the Village Engineer on January 2, 2020, and voted 5-0 to 
recommend approval.  This Resolution is eligible for adoption.



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 4

4

COMMENTS:                     
 
 

ITEM #7

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-004 GRANTING A 
SPECIAL USE FOR AN AUTOMOBILE SERVICE (GAS) STATION TO 
PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 7-ELEVEN GAS STATION AT 
17100 HARLEM AVENUE IN THE B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD SHOPPING) 
ZONING DISTRICT (VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER) - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Vequity LLC, is seeking a Special Use Permit for an 
automobile service (gas) at 17100 Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood 
Shopping) Zoning District. The proposed gas station site includes ten (10) 
vehicle fueling stations and a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store building.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 2, 2020 and voted 5-0 
to recommend approval of the Special Use with recommended conditions in 
accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and Findings 
of Fact in the January 2, 2020 Staff Report.

Since the Village Board meeting held on January 21, the developer has revised 
their plans to increase the distance between fuel pumps from 23' feet to 25' in 
order to provide more space for vehicles. The updated plans are attached and 
part of this approval. This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #8

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-005 GRANTING 
VARIATIONS FROM THE ZONING ORDINANCE RELATED TO THE 
LOT SIZE, LOT WIDTH, LOT DEPTH, DRIVE AISLE WIDTH AND 
FREESTANDING SIGN SETBACK FOR THE PROPOSED 7-ELEVEN GAS 
STATION AND CONVENIENCE STORE SITE LOCATED AT 17100 
HARLEM AVENUE IN THE B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD SHOPPING) ZONING 
DISTRICT - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Vequity LLC (contract purchaser/developer), is 
seeking the five (5) variations related to lot size, lot width, lot depth, drive aisle 
width and freestanding sign setback as part of its proposal to redevelop the 
property at 17100 Harlem Avenue for a 7-Eleven gas station site that includes 
ten (10) vehicle fueling stations and a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store building.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 2, 2020 and voted 5-0 
to recommend approval of the five variations and adopt the Findings of Fact in 
accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” as indicated 
in the January 2, 2020, Staff Report.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 5

5

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #9

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-006 GRANTING A 
SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16800 OAK 
PARK AVENUE – AN ENGLISH GARDEN LLC - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Kim McAuliffe of An English Garden LLC, is 
seeking a Special Use Permit to convert the second floor of a Heritage Site, 
located at 16800 Oak Park Avenue, to a 1,214 sq. ft. three-bedroom apartment. 
The first-floor is utilized by the Petitioner’s business, An English Garden Florist 
and Gifts, which opened in November 2019. The property is known as the 
Fulton Home and is a culturally and historically significant property with the 
original home constructed circa 1859. A Special Use is required for the 
conversion of a Heritage Site to a mixed-use property in the Neighborhood 
General (NG) Zoning District.
The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 16, 2020 and voted 8-0 
to recommend approval of the Special Use in accordance with the plans as listed 
in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the January 16, 2020, 
Staff Report.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 

ITEM #10

SUBJECT: CONSIDER RESOLUTION 2020-R-009 APPROVING A PARKING LEASE 
AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT WITH AN ENGLISH GARDEN, LLC 
FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16800 OAK PARK AVENUE - Trustee 
Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Kim McAullife of An English Garden, LLC, 
recently purchased and renovated the property at 16800 Oak Park Avenue to 
operate a second location for her flower and gift business. The property has 
historically utilized parking located on the south side of the 168th Street right-
of-way to meet their parking minimums. The Parking Lease and Maintenance 
Agreement allows the owner of the property and its tenants the non-exclusive 
use of the parking along with maintenance responsibilities of the parking area 
(including snow plowing, pavement and landscaping). The Agreement has been 
reviewed by the Village Attorney and requires approval by the Village Board.  
This Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 6

6

ITEM #11

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING ORDINANCE 2020-O-007 GRANTING A 
MASONRY VARIATION FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 17305 
68TH COURT - Trustee Mueller

ACTION: Discussion: The Petitioner, Mark Weber, is seeking a Variation to permit 
construction of a new single-family residential home without the required first-
floor masonry per Section V.C.4.B. of the Zoning Ordinance at 17305 68th 
Court in the R-4, Single-Family Residential Zoning District. The Petitioner is 
seeking to construct his new home in a Craftsman architectural style, which 
does not traditionally utilize brick. The existing neighborhood architecture is a 
mix of homes with and without first floor masonry. 

The Zoning Board of Appeals held a Public Hearing on January 23, 2020 and 
voted 4-0 to recommend approval of the requested Variation in accordance with 
plans as listed in the “List of Reviewed Plans” and recommended conditions in 
the January 23, 2020, Staff Report.  This Ordinance is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 

ITEM #12

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-011 (IDOT RESOLUTION 
20-00000-00-GM) AUTHORIZING AN APPROPRIATION OF UP TO 
$2,034,000 IN MFT FUNDS FOR THE FY2021 PAVEMENT 
MANAGEMENT PROGRAM - Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: This Resolution between the Village of Tinley Park and the Illinois 
Department of Transportation would authorize the appropriation of up to 
$2,034,000 in MFT funds for the purpose of maintaining streets and highways 
under the applicable provision of the Illinois Code from January 1, 2020 to 
December 31, 2020.  Actual expenditures under this resolution will be subject to 
the amount of funds available.  The total program cost is not expected to exceed 
$4,115,000.  Funding was discussed at the Committee of the Whole meeting 
held prior to this meeting.  Passage of this resolution will allow the Village to 
competitively bid the project prior to the first major State controlled bid letting 
in an effort to obtain the best possible unit pricing.  This item was discussed at 
the Committee of the Whole meeting held prior to this meeting. This 
Resolution is eligible for adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 7

7

ITEM #13

SUBJECT: CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-012 APPROVING A 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK AND ROBINSON ENGINEERING FOR ENGINEERING 
SERVICES RELATED TO THE FY2021 PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT 
PROGRAM - Trustee Glotz

ACTION: Discussion: This agreement between the Village of Tinley Park and Robinson 
Engineering would include preliminary design engineering and field services for 
the FY2021 Pavement Management Program (PMP).  Final costs of this 
agreement are in accordance with State requirements and will be based on a 
percentage basis of the PMP awarded contract amount (3.5% for design and 6% 
for construction observation).  This item was discussed at the Committee of the 
Whole meeting held prior to this meeting.  This Resolution is eligible for 
adoption.

COMMENTS:                     
 
 

ITEM #14
SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM STAFF -
COMMENTS:                     

 

ITEM #15
SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE BOARD -
COMMENTS:                     

 

ITEM #16
SUBJECT: RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC -
COMMENTS:                     



S p e c i a l  V i l l a g e  B o a r d  M e e t i n g  A g e n d a - F e b r u a r y  4 ,  2 0 2 0  | 8

8

ITEM #17
.

SUBJECT: ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS: 

A. THE PURCHASE OR LEASE OF REAL PROPERTY FOR THE USE 
OF THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING MEETINGS HELD FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF DISCUSSING WHETHER A PARTICULAR PARCEL 
SHOULD BE ACQUIRED.

B. THE SETTING OF A PRICE FOR SALE OR LEASE OF PROPERTY 
OWNED BY THE PUBLIC BODY.

C. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION, 
DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC 
EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL FOR 
THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A 
COMPLAINT LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE PUBLIC 
BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE PUBLIC BODY 
TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY.

D. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE PUBLIC 
BODY AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES, OR 
DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING SALARY SCHEDULES FOR ONE 
OR MORE CLASSES OF EMPLOYEES.

E. LITIGATION, WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON 
BEHALF OF THE PARTICULAR PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED 
AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE 
TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN 
ACTION IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE 
BASIS FOR THE FINDING SHALL BE RECORDED AND ENTERED 
INTO THE MINUTES OF THE CLOSED MEETING.

ADJOURNMENT



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                              January 21, 2020 1

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR BOARD MEETING OF THE TRUSTEES,
VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES,

ILLINOIS, HELD JANUARY 21, 2020
The Regular meeting of the Board of Trustees, Village of Tinley Park, Illinois, was held in the 
Council Chambers located in the Village Hall of Tinley Park, 16250 S. Oak Park Avenue, Tinley 
Park, IL on January 21, 2020.   President Vandenberg called this meeting to order at 7:31 p.m. and 
led the Board and audience in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
Present and responding to roll call were the following:

Village President:      Jacob C. Vandenberg
Village Clerk: Kristin A. Thirion

                         Trustees: Cynthia A. Berg
William P. Brady
William A. Brennan
Diane M. Galante
Michael W. Glotz
Michael G. Mueller

Absent:

Also Present: 
Village Manager: David Niemeyer
Asst. Village Manager: Patrick Carr
Village Attorney: Douglas Spale 

Motion was made by Trustee Berg, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to approve the agenda as written or 
amended for this meeting. Vote by voice call.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 
 
Motion was made by Trustee Brady, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to approve and place on file the 
minutes of the Regular Village Board Meeting held on January 7, 2020. Vote by voice call. President 
Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to ADOPT RESOLUTION 
2020-R-001 RECOGNIZING THE TINLEY PARK BULLDOGS CHEERLEADING TEAM 
ON THEIR ACHIEVEMENTS. The Tinley Park Bulldogs Cheer Recreational Fifth Grade 
Cheerleading Team closed out their season winning placing second at the 2019 Illinois Recreational 
Cheer Association State Competition on December 8th. Vote by voice call. President Vandenberg 
declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Brady, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to ADOPT RESOLUTION 
2020-R-004 RECOGNIZING THE KOWALCZYK FAMILY ON WINNING ABC-7 
CHICAGO'S 2019 CHRISTMAS "GREAT CHICAGO LIGHT FIGHT". This resolution 
celebrates the Kowalcyzk family, Village residents whose home Christmas lights display on Avon 
Lane was voted the best in the Chicagoland area for the 2019 ABC-7 Chicago "Great Chicago Light 
Fight". The Kowalcyzks' display was chosen from six (6) finalists in the Chicagoland area and 
represented the Village nationally. Vote by voice call. President Vandenberg declared the motion 
carried. 

Page | 9AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                              January 21, 2020 2

At this time a presentation was received by Peter Dumon of The Harp Group and Daniel Fitzgerald 
of the Tinley Park Convention Center regarding activities at the Tinley Park Convention Center and 
Hotel including their partnership with the Even Hotel Chain and an overview of the financials at the 
Convention Center. 

At this time a presentation of a Technical Innovation Award from the Southwest Branch of the 
American Public Works Association (APWA) for the North Street Reconstruction Project was given. 
Representatives of the Village receiving the award were Trustee Glotz and Assistant Public Works 
Director John Urbanski. Others present were Christopher King and Van Calombaris of Robinson 
Engineering. The Southwest Branch of the American Public Works Association (APWA) recently 
presented the Village with a Technical Innovation award for its North Street Reconstruction Project. 
The APWA cited the project’s use of permeable interlocking paver stones as a major factor in its 
decision to select North Street as the award recipient. The interlocking paver stones help to capture 
almost 60,000 gallons of water at the front-end of any storm, which prevents runoff within the North 
Street right of way. This $1.3 million project was completed in 2019 and was funded in part by a 
$200,000 Green Infrastructure Grant from the Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater 
Chicago. Work included reconstruction and beautification, including new paver stones and 
crosswalks that resemble piano keys. In addition to Public Works Director Kevin Workowski and his 
team, the North Street Project included Robinson Engineering, Austin-Tyler Construction and LPS 
Pavement Company. 

Motion was made by Trustee Galante, seconded by Trustee Berg, to APPOINT ANDREW 
BROWN TO THE POSITON OF ASSISTANT FINANCE DIRECTOR / ASSISTANT 
TREASURER. The Village recently conducted recruitment for the position of Assistant Finance 
Director/Assistant Treasurer. Twelve applications were received and quickly shortlisted to three 
candidates. Two candidates were requested to participate in a second interview with our panel, and 
Andrew Brown was identified as the most qualified to fill this vacancy. Mr. Brown earned a 
Bachelor of Business Administration from Western Michigan University and a Master of 
Professional Accountancy from Elmhurst College.  He previously served the town of Cicero as 
Senior Accountant and most recently the Village of Buffalo Grove as Deputy Director of Finance, 
where he has direct involvement in community and economic development, as well as government 
finance. Mr. Brown has served on the Illinois Government Finance Officers Association (IGFOA) 
Executive Board, Continuing Professional Education Committee and as Chair of the Growth and 
Engagement network.  In his free time, he is the Head Coach for the Orland Park Vikings Hockey 
Club and Park Ridge Express Hockey Club. President Vandenberg asked if the Board had any 
comments. No one came forward.  Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, 
Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent: None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to consider approving the 
following Consent Agenda items:

The following Consent Agenda items were read by the Village Clerk:

A. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM THE KNIGHTS OF COLUMBUS TO CONDUCT A TAG 
DAY FUNDRAISER ON FRIDAY, SEPTEMBER 18, AND SATURDAY, SEPTEMBER 
19, 2020, AT CERTAIN INTERSECTIONS IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK.

B. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM PARK LAWN TO CONDUCT A TAG DAY 
FUNDRAISER ON FRIDAY AND SATURDAY APRIL 10 AND 11 AND FRIDAY, 

Page | 10AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                              January 21, 2020 3

APRIL 17, 2020, AT CERTAIN INTERSECTIONS IN THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY 
PARK.

C. CONSIDER REQUEST FROM THE KNIGHTS OF COLUMBUS, TO CONDUCT A 
RAFFLE ON SATURDAY, APRIL 4, 2020, AT ST. GEORGE CHURCH, 6707 W. 175TH 
STREET, WITH THE MAXIMUM VALUE OF THE PRIZE NOT TO EXCEED $12,025. 
WINNERS WILL BE DRAWN AT THE CHURCH.

D. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF IMPACT FEES IN THE AMOUNT OF $7,600 TO KIRBY 
SCHOOL DISTRICT 140 FROM THE ESCROW FUND.

E. CONSIDER ADOPTING A RESOLUTION RELEASING THE LETTER OF CREDIT 
ISSUED IN RELATION TO 179 OPA, LLC’S FOUNDATION ONLY PERMIT FOR 
UNION SQUARE TOWNHOMES DEVELOPMENT.

F. CONSIDER PAYMENT OF OUTSTANDING BILLS IN THE AMOUNT OF 
$2,803,521.86 AS LISTED ON THE VENDOR BOARD APPROVAL REPORTS DATED 
JANUARY 10 AND JANUARY 17, 2020.

President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board would like to remove or discuss any items 
from the Consent Agenda. No items were removed or discussed. Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, 
Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent:  None.  President Vandenberg 
declared the motion carried.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first reading 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-003 GRANTING A MAP AMENDMENT (REZONING) FOR 
TWO (2) PROPERTIES LOCATED AT 17100 AND 17110 HARLEM AVENUE FROM THEIR 
EXISTING B-4 (OFFICE AND SERVICE BUSINESS) AND R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICTS TO THE B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD SHOPPING) ZONING 
DISTRICT. The Petitioner, Vequity LLC, is seeking to rezone the two properties located at the Southwest 
Corner of Harlem Avenue and 171st Street from their current zoning to the B-1, Neighborhood Shopping 
zoning district. The purpose of the rezoning is to allow for the construction of an automotive service (gas) 
station. The proposed gas station site includes ten (10) vehicle fueling stations and a 3,511 sq. ft. 
convenience store building.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 2, 2020 and voted 5-0 to recommend 
approval of the Map Amendment (Rezoning) in accordance with the plans as listed in the “Listed 
Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the January 2, 2020, Staff Report. President Vandenberg 
asked if the Board cared to comment.  

Trustee Mueller asked Kimberly Clarke to brief the Board on how this development has been 
communicated to the public.  Ms. Clarke stated that due to the proximity of this development to 
residential homes the Village tasked the developer to community clearly to the residents. The Village 
did the required notice, which is 250 square feet from property to all surrounding properties 
informing them of the public hearing. No feedback was received from this notice.  The developer 
then went door to door to meet the residents to be sure they were aware of the project. Prior to this 
Village Board meeting another notice went out to residents. One response was received from the 
property owner to west, their concerns were addressed. 

President Vandenberg asked if commercial properties were notified. Ms. Clarke stated yes, and 
additional notice was given to the residents. 

Page | 11AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                              January 21, 2020 4

Trustee Galante stated her concerns with the zoning change, noting this is going from small 
business/office use to a gas station. She wants to be sure the nearby residents are fully aware of the 
change.  She also stated concerns about traffic issues due to this development.  She is uncomfortable 
with a gas station being built close to homes. 

Trustee Glotz asked if the whole block was contacted.  Ms. Clarke stated that the east side of Oconto 
Avenue received the second notice from the Village.  The first notice went to properties within 250 
feet. The developer went door to door and sent out their own certified letter to residents. 

The developer’s attorney, David Sosin, stated this project has been vetted very carefully and he spoke 
to the cleanup of the homes directly behind the development on Harlem Avenue. 

Vote by voice call. Ayes Five (5), Nays One (1). President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brennan, to place on first reading 
RESOLUTION NUMBER 2020-R-003 APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF 
RESUBDIVISION FOR SOUTHLANDS FIRST CONSOLIDATION LOCATED AT 17100-17110 
HARLEM AVENUE. The Petitioner, Vequity LLC (contract purchaser/developer), has requested Final 
Plat approval for the Southlands First Consolidation associated with the proposed 7-Eleven gas station and 
convenience store at 17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue. The Plat will consolidate two (2) parcels along 
Harlem Ave resulting in a single .961-acre parcel. The Plat also includes all existing utility easements, 
cross-access easements to neighboring properties, and a sidewalk easement for installation of a public 
sidewalk on a portion of the property.

The Plan Commission reviewed the Final Plat of Resubdivision with a recommended condition that 
the approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the Village Engineer on January 2, 
2020, and voted 5-0 to recommend approval.  President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board 
cared to comment. He asked if the Village’s long range plans include any cross access for Harlem 
Avenue from 171st to 173rd Streets. Kimberly Clarke stated no this is not included, but the Village is 
requested this developer include cross access in the plan for this project. Vote by voice call. Ayes 
Five (5), Nays One (1). President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Brady, to place on first reading 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-004 GRANTING A SPECIAL USE FOR AN AUTOMOBILE 
SERVICE (GAS) STATION TO PERMIT THE CONSTRUCTION OF A 7-ELEVEN GAS 
STATION AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE IN THE B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD SHOPPING) 
ZONING DISTRICT. The Petitioner, Vequity LLC, is seeking a Special Use Permit for an 
automobile service (gas) at 17100 Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) Zoning 
District. The proposed gas station site includes ten (10) vehicle fueling stations and a 3,511 sq. ft. 
convenience store building.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 2, 2020, and voted 5-0 to recommend 
approval of the Special Use with recommended conditions in accordance with the plans as listed in 
the “Listed Reviewed Plans” and Findings of Fact in the January 2, 2020, Staff Report.  President 
Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board cared to comment.  No one came forward. Vote by 
voice call. Ayes Five (5), Nays One (1). President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Page | 12AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                              January 21, 2020 5

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Berg, to place on first reading 
ORDINANCE NUMBER 2020-O-005 GRANTING VARIATIONS FROM THE ZONING 
ORDINANCE RELATED TO THE LOT SIZE, LOT WIDTH, LOT DEPTH, DRIVE AISLE 
WIDTH AND FREESTANDING SIGN SETBACK FOR THE PROPOSED 7-ELEVEN GAS 
STATION AND CONVENIENCE STORE SITE LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE 
IN THE B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT. The Petitioner, Vequity 
LLC (contract purchaser/developer), is seeking the five (5) variations related to lot size, lot width, lot 
depth, drive aisle width and freestanding sign setback as part of their proposal to redevelop the 
properties at 17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue for a 7-Eleven gas station site that includes ten (10) 
vehicle fueling stations and a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store building.

The Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on January 2, 2020 and voted 5-0 to recommend 
approval of the five Variations and adopt the Findings of Fact in accordance with the plans as listed 
in the “Listed Reviewed Plans” as indicated in the January 2, 2020 Staff Report.  President 
Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board cared to comment.  No one came forward. Vote by 
voice call. Ayes Five (5), Nays One (1). President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Glotz, seconded by Trustee Brady, to ADOPT RESOLUTION 2020-
R-005 AUTHORIZING A CONTRACT WITH AQUAMIST PLUMBING AND LAWN 
SPRINKLING, CO. FOR IRRIGATION MAINTENANCE. The proposed irrigation contract 
entails winterization, spring start up and repairs to the system at seven (7) locations (LaGrange Road, 
Harlem Avenue, 171st Street median, Fire Station #4 at 191st Street, Oak Park Avenue Metra 
Station, Village Hall, and the Police Station.) President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board 
cared to comment.  No one came forward. Vote on roll call:  Ayes: Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, 
Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent:  None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried.

At this time, President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Staff would care to address the Board. No one 
came forward.

At this time, President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Board would care to address the Board. No 
one came forward.

At this time, President Vandenberg asked if anyone from the Public would care to address the Board. 

A citizen stated his concerns with the conduct and officials duties of the Village Board. 

Trustee Glotz asked Mr. Niemeyer to verify that the BKD Report was reviewed by the Finance Committee 
and signed by former Trustee Michael Mangin. Mr. Niemeyer stated that the BKD contract was signed by 
former Trustee Michael Mangin. To the best of his recollection the contract was reviewed by the Finance 
Committee. 

Motion was made by Trustee Berg, seconded by Trustee Brennan, at 8:43 p.m. to adjourn to Executive 
Session to discuss the following: 

A. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION, DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, 
OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL 

Page | 13AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Regular Meeting of the Board of Trustees – Minutes                              January 21, 2020 6

FOR THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A COMPLAINT 
LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL 
COUNSEL FOR THE PUBLIC BODY TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY.

B. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE PUBLIC BODY AND ITS 
EMPLOYEES OR THEIR REPRESENTATIVES, OR DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING 
SALARY SCHEDULES FOR ONE OR MORE CLASSES OF EMPLOYEES.

C. LITIGATION, WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON BEHALF OF THE 
PARTICULAR PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR 
ADMINISTRATIVE TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN ACTION 
IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE BASIS FOR THE FINDING SHALL 
BE RECORDED AND ENTERED INTO THE MINUTES OF THE CLOSED MEETING.

Vote on roll call:  Ayes:  Berg, Brady, Brennan, Galante, Glotz, Mueller.  Nays: None.  Absent:  
None.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried. 

Motion was made by Trustee Brady, seconded by Trustee Mueller, to adjourn the Executive Session 
and reconvene the regular Board meeting. Vote by voice call. President Vandenberg declared the 
motion carried and reconvened the special Board meeting at 9:56 p.m.

Motion was made by Trustee Mueller, seconded by Trustee Berg, to adjourn the regular Board meeting.  
Vote by voice call.  President Vandenberg declared the motion carried and adjourned the special Board 
meeting at 9:56 p.m.

PLEASE NOTE: Where there is no summary of discussion on any items in the minutes, this reflects that 
no discussion occurred other than the introduction of the item.

APPROVED:

_____________________________________
                     Village President 

ATTEST:

_____________________________________
            Village Clerk

Page | 14AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

CONSIDER RECEIVING A 
PRESENTATION FROM AUDREY 
MAHER, OWNER OF PEKOE AND 
BEAN, 17028 OAK PARK AVENUE  

Clerk Thirion 

Page | 15AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



RAFFLE LICENSE APPLICATION

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

16250 South Oak Park Avenue

DATE: 1/14/19

1. NAME OF ORGANIZATION:
Frankfort School District I 57C Education Foundation

2. ADDRESS__________

__________________ __________________

3. MAILING ADDRESS IF DIFFERENT FROM ABOVE:

4. ADDRESS OF PLACE FOR RAFFLE DRAWING
The Odyssey Country Club 19100 Ridgeland Aye, Tinley Park, IL 60477

5. CHECK TYPE OF NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANIZATION: (MUST BE IN EXISTENCE FOR A
PERIOD OF FIVE (5) YEARS AND A TTACHED DOCUMENTARYEVIDENCE)

RELIGIOUSjI CHARITABLEi:i LABORLZI FRA TERNAL

EDUCA TIONAL VETERANS BUSINESSLJ

6. HOW LONG HAS THE ORG4NIZATION BEEN IN XI24 years

7. PLACE AND DATE OF INCORPORATION: July 1 995; FSD 1 57-C; 1 1 0 Oregon St. Frankfort

8. NUMBER OF MEMBERS IN GOOD STANDING:1 0-15

9. PRESIDENT/CHAIRPERSON:TaY0_Hill

ADDRESS: PHONE:____________

10. RAFFLE MANAGER: Leann Knollenberg

ADDRESS:___________________

________________________

PHONE. Email:_______________________

____________

11. DESIGNATED MEMBER(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR CONDUCT & OPERATION OF RAFFLE:

NAME: Leann Knollenberg

ADDRESS:____________________

____PHONE____________________

NAME: Nnhon knI
ADDRESS:

________PHONE:(

(A TTA CHED ADDITIuNAL SHEETIF NECESSARY)

Page | 16AGENDA - 2/4/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



RAFFLE APPLICATION 2

RAFFLE INFORMATION

12. DATE(S) FOR RAFFLE TICKET SALES (INCLUDE DAYS OF THE WEEK)

Friday, March 6, 2020

13. LOCATION OF TICKET SALES:

The Odyssey Country Club, 19110 Ridgeland Avenue, Tinley Park, IL 60477

14. LOCATION FOR DETERMINING WINNERS:

The Odyssey Country Club, 19110 Ridgeland Avenue, Tinley Park, IL 60477

15. DATE(S) FOR DETERMINING WINNERS: (INCLUDE DAYS OF THE WEEK)

Friday, March 6, 2020

16. TOTAL RETAIL VALUE OF ALL PRIZES: NEst. $30,000
(MAXIMUMPRIZE AMOUNT $250,000)

17. MAXiMUM RETAIL VALUE OF EACH PRIZE: $ $800$1 ,000 (many will be less)

18. MAXIMUM PRICE CHARGED OF EACH TICKET(CHANCE) SOLD $2500

19. § 132.38 FIDELITY BOND REQUIRED

All operations ofand the conduct ofraffles as providedfor in this subchapter shall be under the
supervision ofa single manager designated by the organization. Such manager shall give a
fidelity bond in the sum of$165,000 or two times the aggregate value ofprizes, whichever is less,
infavor ofthe licensee conditioned upon his honesty in theperformance ofhis duties. The bond
shallprovide that notice shall be given in writing to the Village ofTinley Park not less than 30
daysprior to cancellation. Bonds asprovidedfor in this section may be waivedprovided the
license issuedfor such raffle shall contain a waiverprovision and shall be approved only by
unanimous vote ofthe members ofthe licensed organization.

FIDELTITY BOND LI WAiVER OF BOND STATEMENT BY ORGANIZATION 1
“The undersigned attest that the above named organization is an organized not—for-profit under the law of
the State ofliinois and has been continuously in existenceforfive (5) years, preceding date ofthis application,
and that during this entirefive (5) yearperiodpreceding date ofapplication, it has maintained a bonafide
membership actively engaged in carrying out its objections. The undersigned do hereby state underpenalties
ofperjury that all statements in the foregoing application are true and correct; that the officers, operators
and workers of the game are bona fide members of the sponsoring organization and are all ofgood moral
character and have not been convicted ofafelony; that fa license is granted hereunder, the undersigned will
be responsible for the conduct of the games in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the State of
illinois and this jurisdiction governing the conduct ofsuch games.”

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: Frankfort School District I 57C Education Foundation

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR:TaY0 Hill

Page | 17AGENDA - 2/4/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



January 14, 2020

Laura Godette
Deputy Village Clerk
Village ofTinley Park
16250 S. Oak Park Ave.
Tinley Park, IL 60477

RE: FSD 157C Education Foundation
Waiver of Bond Statement

Dear Ms. Godette,

The Education Foundation of Frankfort School District 157-C has a charity event scheduled at
The Odyssey in Tinley Park on Friday, March 6th,2020 We will be raffling off a few baskets at
that time. This letter shall serve as a confirmation that the organization will waive the Fidelity
Bond requirement.

Sincerely,

Tayo Hill
FSD 157-C President

Kim Miller
FSD 157-C Treasurer

11 I/oo

MELISSA THEOBALD
Official Seal

Notary Public - State of Illinois
My Commission Expires Jan 17, 2023

Page | 18AGENDA - 2/4/2020, A -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



RAFFLE LICENSE APPLICATION

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
16250 South Oak Park Avenue

DATE: 1/14/2020

1. NAME OF ORGANIZATION: Riverside Healthcare Foundation

2. ADRE35° N Wall St. Kankakee, IL 60901

3. MAILING ADDRESS IF DIFFERENT FROM ABOVE:

4. ADDRESS OF PLACE FOR RAFFLE DRAWING

Tinley Park Convention Center 18451 Convention Center Dr. Tinley Park, IL

5. CHECK TYPE OF NOT-FOR-PROFIT ORGANIZATION: (MUST BE IN EXISTENCE FOR A
PERIOD OF FIVE (5) YEARS AND A TTACHED DOCUMENTARYEVIDENCE)

RELIGIOUSj CHARITABLE1 LABORLJ FRA TERNAL LI
EDUCA TIONAL LI VETERANSLI BUSINESS

6. HOW LONG HAS THE ORGANIZATION BEEN IN 52 Years

7. PLACE AND DATE OF INCORPORATION: Kankakee/July 26, 1968

8. NUMBER OF MEMBERS IN GOOD 20 Board Members

9. PRESIDENT/CHAIRPERSON: P h illi M . Kam b ic

ADRE35° N Wall St. Kankakee, IL 60901 8’ 59357549

10. RAFFLE MANAGER: Jenna Charles, Foundation Coordinator

ADDRESS:35° N Wall St. Kankakee, IL 60901

PHONE: 815-933-7799 Email: jcharles@rhc.net

11. DESIGNATED MEMBER(S) RESPONSIBLE FOR CONDUCT & OPERATION OF RAFFLE:

NAME: Joseph Giacchino, Advancement Officer

ADDRESS:35° N Wall St. Kankakee, IL 60901 PHONE:81 59337799

NAME:

ADDRESS: PHONE:____________________

(A TTACHED ADDITIONAL SHEETIF NECESSARY)

1

Page | 19AGENDA - 2/4/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

dmelone
Text Box

dmelone
Text Box

dmelone
Text Box

dmelone
Text Box

dmelone
Text Box

dmelone
Text Box

dmelone
Text Box



RAFFLE APPLICATION 12

RAFFLE INFORMATION

12. DATE(S) FOR RAFFLE TICKET SALES (INCLUDE DAYS OF THE WEEK)

Saturday, March 21 , 2020

13. LOCATION OF TICKET SALES:

Tinley Park Convention Center

14. LOCATION FOR DETERMINING WINNERS:

Tinley Park Convention Center

15. DATE(S) FOR DETERMINING WINNERS: (INCLUDE DAYS OF THE WEEK)

Saturday, March 21 , 2020

16. TOTAL RETAIL VALUE OF ALL PRIZES: 4,999.00
(MAXIMUMPRIZE AMOUNT $250,000)

17. MAXIMUM RETAIL VALUE OF EACH PRIZE: $ 4,99900

18. MAXIMUM PRICE CHARGED OF EACH TICKET(CHANCE) SOLD $ 00.00

19. § 132.38 FIDELITY BOND REQUIRED

All operations ofand the conduct ofraffles as providedfor in this subchapter shall be under the
supervision ofa single manager designated by the organization. Such manager shall give a
fidelity bond in the sum of$165, 000 or two times the aggregate value ofprizes, whichever is less,
infavor ofthe licensee conditioned upon his honesty in theperformance ofhis duties. The bond
shallprovide that notice shall be given in writing to the Village ofTinley Park not less than 30
days prior to cancellation. Bonds as providedfor in this section may be waivedprovided the
license issuedfor such raffle shall contain a waiverprovision and shall be approved only by
unanimous vote ofthe members ofthe licensed organization.

FIDELTITY BOND El WAIVER OF BOND STATEMENT BY ORGANIZATION_____

“The undersigned attest that the above named organization is an organized not-for-profit under the law of
the State oflllinois and has been continuously in existenceforfive (5) years, preceding date ofthis application,
and that during this entirefive (5) yearperiodpreceding date ofapplication, it has maintained a bonafide
membership actively engaged in carrying out its objections. The undersigned do hereby state underpenalties
ofperjuiy that all statements in the foregoing application are true and correct; that the officers, operators
and workers of the game are bona fide members of the sponsoring organization and are all ofgood moral
character and have not been convicted ofafelony; that fa license is granted hereunder, the undersigned will
be responsible for the conduct of the games in accordance with the provisions of the laws of the State of
Illinois and this jurisdiction governing the conduct ofsuch games.”

NAME OF ORGANIZATION: Riverside Healthcare Foundation

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR: Matthew McBu rn ie, VP of Institutional Advancement

Page | 20AGENDA - 2/4/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



January 27, 2020

Village of Tinley Park
16250 S. Oak Park Ave.
Tiriley Park, illinois 60477

To Whom It May Concern,

We are writing this letter to inform you that the Riverside Healthcare Foundation board
members have decided to waive the fidelity bond requirement for the raffle we will have at the
Riverside Heart Ball held on Saturday, March 21, 2020 at Tin ley Park Convention Center.

LJL
Phil Kambic, President & CEO Tim Milner, Chairman

k(,QQJ

RIVERSIDE
HEALTHCARE FOUNDATION

OFFICIAL SEAL
PAMELA S. HULL

Notary Public - State of Illinois
My Commission Expires 6/07/2021

330 North Wall Street Kankakee, IliflolS 60901 t8i3: 9337799 R/erSideHealthCareOrCJ

Page | 21AGENDA - 2/4/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



R
IV

E
R

S
ID

E
H

EA
LT

H
C

A
R

E
FO

U
N

D
A

T
IO

N

35
0

N
or

th
W

al
l

S
tr

ee
t

K
an

ka
ke

e,
ll

li
no

s
60

90
1

U.
S.

PO
ST

A
G

E>
>

PI
TN

EY
B

O
W

E
S

i
4
’

-
_
I
-
-

Z
f
l
’
6
O

9
0
1

5
O

02
4V

Y
W

0
0
0
0
3
6
5
0
4
4

JA
N

20
2
0
2
0

Fs
4

2
O

2
O

JJ

VI
LL

AG
E

OF
TI

NL
EY

PA
RK

I
2

0
{
•

(J
oq

l 7
c:

.a
i

Page | 22AGENDA - 2/4/2020, B -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



:LES:. :.

TURNER
ALS
FOUNDATION

Lu TumA1.S FaundatJc,
55OW. TouyAvn te3O2
SkI L 600Th3254

847 679 3311
8476799109 fex

eslumerals,org

January 21, 2020

Village of Tinley Park 16250
S. Oak Park Ave.
Tinley Park, IL 60477

To Whom It May Concern:

ei Hfman

VCna
inn F.
John M Co II MD
Fobo Fern
Joei A. Schechrer

Secrnrary
moan

This letter is to request permission for local volunteer, Melissa Wilder, to hold a Tag
Days drive in Tinley Park on Saturday, May 9, 2020. During the month of May, Tag
Days drives are held in communities across Chicago in honor of National ALS
Awareness Month.

Tag Days volunteers will be stationed at various locations. I understand that
businesses need to be contacted directly for permission to tag on their property and
volunteers are able to stand in intersections at their own risk. Volunteers will wear
bright yellow aprons that identify themselves as volunteers for the Les Turner ALS
Foundation. They will distribute baseball card-sized “tags” with information about
ALS and the Foundation.

Amyotrophic Lateral Sclerosis (ALS), is a rapidly progressive disease that causes
muscle weakness, difficulty speaking and swallowing and, generally, complete
paralysis. In most cases, while the body continues to deteriorate, the mind remains
unaffected. The disease does not discriminate, striking any age, gender and race.
Every 90 minutes, someone in the US is diagnosed with ALS and every 90 minutes,
someone in the US dies of ALS. There is no known cure for ALS and, once diagnosed,
patients typically live only three to five years.

Please contact me at 847 745 6024 or jromacklesturnerals.org with questions.
Thank you for your continued assistance.

Sincerely,

Jenni Romack
Events Manager

Crnnr Enerzun
Homey Gaffen

f3OARD OF DIRfCTSRS
Matthew S. 6mnwn
Eon Feardon Cohn
Deborah Crcclc€C
Boflny J Gaffen
Jon oars
Dank. T. honpa
oane L!bJ
Joshua P Newnome
Ehana Prnone
Mary ..ourne Poone
Sarnanh Sol
h1e Poonny
Phip Schoaro
Mefnon

COMMfTTEE ADUSOPS
Scorn. - ho MD
Un Moo
Mary Ffonniar

iDNORARV
Jendy Aborts
Morne Srner’
Maneferne and Joe Gfssr
A. WAco Hanfow
Pcn frscrr
James V rsoira
non Low
Jemen W No.an
Jon and Pan Fuhncrnbge

AFFfLfATfONS
Len Thoer AS Cnntnr
ott Northwestern Mndrcfnn

Community Hearth
Cnammies of Aris

mneemnstonaAtnson of
A.S/MtD Ascitos

Ct-iSP EY.ECUDVE CFFtDSR
AnJmeaPnisBnrmmnnn

Page | 23AGENDA - 2/4/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



J4mRL
CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW. THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

IMPORTANT: If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement. A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

CONTACTPRODUCER NAME:
Mavco Insurance Agency, Inc. PHONE I FAX
10 W. Chicago Ave. (NC, No, Ext): (630) 655241 0 (NC, No):(63O) 6544447

E-MAIL :Hinsdale, IL 60521 ADDRESS: “ .foQmavcoinsurance.com

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE NAIC #

INSURERA:FWSt Non-Profit Insurance Agency, Inc.
INSURED INSURER B:

Les Turner ALS Foundation Ltd.
INSURER C:

5550 W. Touhy Ave.
Suite 302 INSURER D:

Skokie, IL 60077-3254 INSURER E:

INSURER F:

COVERAGES CERTIFICATE NUMBER: REVISION NUMBER:
THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED. NOTWTHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WiTH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY DAID CLAIMS.

INSR ADDL SUBR POLICY EFF POLICY EXP
LIE TYPE OF INSURANCE iNP WYP POLICY NUMBER MMIDDIYYYY) (MMIDDIYYYY) LIMITS__________________

A

CIMS-MADE OCCUR X NPP1003763 06 11112020 11112021

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY EACH OCCURRENCE $
I ,000,000

DAMAGE TO RENTED I 00,000PREMISES (Ea occurrence) $

5,000MED EXP (Any one person) $
I ,000,000PERSONAL & ADV INJURY $
3,000,000GEN’L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER: GENERAL AGGREGATE $

:j
POLICY El D LOC PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG $ 3,000,000

OTHER General Aggregate .

AUTOMOBILE LIABIUTY COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT I ,000,000(Ea accident) $

ANYAUTO NPP1003763 06 1/112020 111/2021 BODILY INJURY (Perperson) $ 1000000
—

OWNED ii SCHEDULED
AUTOS ONLY L__J AUTOS BODILY INJURY (Peraccident’ $

X HIRED

-H

NON-OWNED PROPERTY DAMAGE
AUTOS ONLY AUTOS ONLY (Per accident) $—

$

5 UMBRELLA LIAB X OCCUR EACH OCCURRENCE $ 2,000,000

EXCESS LIAB CLAIMS-MADE NMB1003764 06 1I1I2020 1I112021
AGGREGATE $

2,000,000

— : DED RETENTION $ $
WORKERS COMPENSATiON I PER I 0TH-
AND EMPLOYERS’ LIABILITY

Y I N
I STATUTE I ER

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE EL. EACH ACCIDENT $OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED? [J N I A
(Mandatory in NH) EL. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYE $
If yes, describe under
DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below EL. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT $

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATiONS I LOCATiONS I VEHICLES (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)
Tag Days Special Event to be held on Saturday, May 9, 2020

Certificate holder is an additional insured when required by written contract.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER CANCELLATION

SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
‘ . THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED INVillage of Tinley Park ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

I 6250 S. Oak Park Avenue
Tinley Park, IL 60477

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

LESTURN-Ol MDEWITT
DATE (MMIDDIYYYY)

112212020

ACORD 25 (2016I03) © 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION. All rights reserved.

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

Page | 24AGENDA - 2/4/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



;c;
Department ofthe Treasury
lntcrnat Revenue Service

In reply refer to: 0248188028CINCINNATI
OH 45999-0038 Mar. 02, 2017 LTR 4168C 0

36-2916466 000000 00
00015318

BOOC: TE

LES TURNER AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL
SCLEROSIS FOUNDATION

5550 TOUI-IY AVE STE 302
SKOKIE IL 60077

022036

Employer ID Number: 36-2916466
Form 990 required: Yes

Dear Taxpayer:

This is in response to your request dated Feb. 21, 2017, regarding
your tax-exempt status.

We issued you a determination letter in May 1977, recognizing
you as tax-exempt under Internal Revenue Code (IRC) Section 501(c)
(3).

Our records also indicate you’re not a private foundation as defined
under IRC Section 509(a) because you’re described in IRC Sections
509(a)(1) and 170(b)(1)(A)(vi).

Donors can deduct contributions they make to you as provided in IRC
Section 170. You’re also qualified to receive tax deductible bequests,
legacies, devises, transfers, or gifts under IRC Sections 2055, 2106,
and 2522.

In the heading of this letter, we indicated whether you must file an
annual information return. If a return is required, you must file Form
990, 990-EZ, 990—N, or 990-PF by the 15th day of the fifth month after
the end of your annual accounting period. IRC Section 6033(j) provides
that, if you don’t file a required annual information return or notice
for three consecutive years, your exempt status will be automatically
revoked on the filing due date of the third required return or notice.

For tax forms, instructions, and publications, visit www.irs.gov or
call 1-800-TAX-FORM (1-800-829-3676).

If you have questions, call 1-877-829-5500 between 8 a.m. and 5 p.m.,
local time, Monday through Friday’:(Alaska and Hawaii follow Pacific
Time).

Page | 25AGENDA - 2/4/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



02481 E 028
Mar. 02, 2017 LTR 4168C 0
36-2916466 000000 00

000 15319

LES TURNER AMYOTROPHIC LATERAL
SCLEROSIS FOUNDATION

5550 TOUHY AVE STE 302
SKOKIE IL 60077

Sincerely yours,

Kim A. Billups, Operations Manager
Accounts Management Operations 1

Page | 26AGENDA - 2/4/2020, C -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-006

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND 
RELEASE BETWEEN THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION AUTHORITY 
(RTA); COUNTY OF COOK; VILLAGE OF FOREST VIEW; VILLAGE OF 
TINLEY PARK; VILLAGE OF LEMONT; VILLAGE OF ORLAND PARK; 
ELK GROVE VILLAGE; VILLAGE OF MELROSE PARK; VILLAGE OF 

HAZEL CREST; VILLAGE OF NORTH BROOK AS PLAINTIFFS AND THE 
VILLAGE OF CHANNAHON, MINORITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, 

LLC, AND MTS CONSULTING, LLC, AND NON-PARTY SOUTHWEST JET 
FUEL CO.  AS DEFENDANTS RELATIVE TO COOK COUNTY 

CONSOLIDATED CASES 2011 CH 29744 AND 2011 CH 34266 INVOLVING 
THE MATTER OF SOURCING AND REPORTING OF SALES TAXES

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125, Chicago, IL  60606
 

Page | 27AGENDA - 2/4/2020, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-006

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT AND 
RELEASE BETWEEN THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 

AUTHORITY (RTA); COUNTY OF COOK; VILLAGE OF FOREST 
VIEW; VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK; VILLAGE OF LEMONT; 

VILLAGE OF ORLAND PARK; ELK GROVE VILLAGE; VILLAGE OF 
MELROSE PARK; VILLAGE OF HAZEL CREST; VILLAGE OF 

NORTH BROOK AS PLAINTIFFS AND THE VILLAGE OF 
CHANNAHON, MINORITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC, AND 

MTS CONSULTING, LLC, AND NON-PARTY SOUTHWEST JET FUEL 
CO.  AS DEFENDANTS RELATIVE TO COOK COUNTY 

CONSOLIDATED CASES 2011 CH 29744 AND 2011 CH 34266 
INVOLVING THE MATTER OF SOURCING AND REPORTING OF 

SALES TAXES

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park believe and 
hereby declare that it is in the best interest of the Village and its residents in order to avoid 
uncertainties of litigation and without admitting any liability to authorize the Village President 
and/or Village Manager to execute the Settlement Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein.

SECTION 2: The President and Board of Trustees hereby authorize the Village President and/or 
Village Manager to execute the Settlement Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, subject to 
review as to form by the Village Attorney.  

SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.

Page | 28AGENDA - 2/4/2020, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 4TH day of February, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
VILLAGE PRESIDENT 

ATTEST:

__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 29AGENDA - 2/4/2020, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-006, “A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING A SETTLEMENT 

AGREEMNT AND RELEASE BETWEEN THE REGIONAL TRANSPORTATION 

AUTHORITY (RTA); COUNTY OF COOK; VILLAGE OF FOREST VIEW; VILLAGE 

OF TINLEY PARK; VILLAGE OF LEMONT; VILLAGE OF ORLAND PARK; ELK 

GROVE VILLAGE; VILLAGE OF MELROSE PARK; VILLAGE OF HAZEL CREST; 

VILLAGE OF NORTH BROOK AS PLAINTIFFS AND THE VILLAGE OF 

CHANNAHON, MINORITY DEVELOPMENT COMPANY, LLC, AND MTS 

CONSULTING, LLC, AND NON-PARTY SOUTHWEST JET FUEL CO.  AS 

DEFENDANTS RELATIVE TO COOK COUNTY CONSOLIDATED CASES 2011 CH 

29744 AND 2011 CH 34266 INVOLVING THE MATTER OF SOURCING AND 

REPORTING OF SALES TAXES,” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees 

of the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 2020.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
       VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 30AGENDA - 2/4/2020, D -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: February 4, 2020

To: Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director

From: Paula J. Wallrich, AICP
Planning Manager

Subject:  Utility Easement, 17309 Oak Park Avenue

As part of the Harmony Square Plaza and the Com Ed utility 
pole burial project on 173rd Street, the Village requested a 
five (5) foot easement along the east property line of Mr. 
James Fuentes’ property located at 17309 Oak Park Avenue. 
Combined with a five (5) foot easement along the west 
property line of the proposed plaza, the ten (10) foot utility 
easement will allow for the burial of the Com Ed electric 
lines and removal of the utility poles ( ) and overhead 
service lines. 

The easement is necessary not only for the burial of the 
service line but also to locate a transformer that will serve 
the Fuentes property. The transformer will be approximately 
3’ x 3’ x 3’.  As part of the utility burial project and the 
granting of the easement the Village will absorb the cost of 
the service line connection for the Fuentes property.

Upon Village Board approval of the five (5) foot utility 
easement, staff will record the document and provide copies 
to Com Ed and the project engineers for completion of the 
project. 

Interoffice

Memo

Page | 31AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2020-R-007 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A GRANT OF 
UTILITY EASEMENT FOR 17309 OAK PARK AVENUE  

 
 

 
JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 

KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

CYNTHIA A. BERG 
WILLIAM P. BRADY 

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 
DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
 

  

Page | 32AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-007 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A GRANT OF 

UTILITY EASEMENT FOR 17309 OAK PARK AVENUE  
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”), has considered a Plat of Easement 
(“Plat”) for ingress and egress from James FuentesXXX (“Owner”), in preparation for the 
Harmony Square Plaza and the Com Ed Utility Pole Burial Project within the Village; and   

 
WHEREAS, a true and correct copy of said Plat is attached hereto and made a part hereof 

as Exhibit 1; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of said Village of Tinley Park that 
said Plat be approved and accepted; and      
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1:  The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 
 
SECTION 2:  That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
approve and accept the Plat, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and all necessary Village Officials are 
hereby authorized to execute the Plat prior to the final recording subject to review and revision as 
to form by the Village Attorney and Village Staff.    
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 
 
SECTION 4: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.  
 

Page | 33AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020. 
 
AYES:              

NAYS:              

ABSENT:              

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
            VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 

 

__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

 
  

Page | 34AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 

 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-007, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A 

GRANT OF UTILITY EASEMENT FOR 17309 OAK PARK AVENUE,” which was 

adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 

2020. 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020. 

 

       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

Page | 35AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit 1 

Page | 36AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 37AGENDA - 2/4/2020, E -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
Consent Agenda  

Item F 

 
CONSIDER ADOPTING RESOLUTION 2020-R-008 
AUTHORIZING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 

VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK AND PROVIDENCE BANK & 
TRUST CONSENTING TO THE COLLATERAL 

ASSIGNMENT OF THE SOUTH STREET 
REDEVELOPMENT PROJECT. 

 

 

BACK UP TO FOLLOW 

 

Page | 38AGENDA - 2/4/2020, F -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ap_py

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

126239 1/24/2020 003127  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD PR020120 IL065LB000001212-0 HEALTH INS EXP-JAN PM
86-00-000-20430 1,768.00

Total : 1,768.00

126240 1/24/2020 004640  HEALTHCARE SERVICE CORPORATION PR020120 A/C#271855-HEALTH INS-JAN PMT/FEB COVERA
86-00-000-20430 12,398.77

Total : 12,398.77

Bank total : 14,166.772 Vouchers for bank code : ap_py

1Page:

Page | 39AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185899 1/24/2020 010955  A T & T LONG DISTANCE 827776689 CORP ID 931719 LB TIP LINE
01-17-225-72120 32.22

Total : 32.22

185900 1/24/2020 011227  AMERICAN SOLUTIONS FOR INV04548454 2019 TAX FORMS
01-14-000-73110 241.55VTP-017531

Total : 241.55

185901 1/24/2020 002424  AMERICAN WATER WORKS ASSOC 012320 MEMBERSHIP KEITH HARVEY
60-00-000-72720 29.05
63-00-000-72720 29.05
64-00-000-72720 24.90

Total : 83.00

185902 1/24/2020 018764  B & B HOLIDAY DECORATING LLC 3339 HOLIDAY DECORATIONS & BUYOUT AFTER RENTA
01-35-000-73112 16,894.95VTP-017407
C7 (3500 COUNT) FOR 2 EVERGREEN TREES-RE3371
01-35-000-73112 1,750.00
HOLIDAY DECORATIONS-ILLUMINATED SNOWFLAK3372
01-35-000-73112 16,744.00VTP-017408
INSTALL TRUMPETS 140 STREET POLES,TOWER3373
01-35-000-73112 32,925.82

Total : 68,314.77

185903 1/24/2020 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P23435125 BATTERIES
01-19-000-74614 33.50

Total : 33.50

185904 1/24/2020 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV200006 HAULING WOOD CHIPS
01-26-023-72890 850.00
HAULING WOOD CHIPS,LEAVES,SWEEPINGS200007
01-26-023-72890 700.00
HAULING STONES200008
01-26-023-73860 60.00
70-00-000-73860 20.00
60-00-000-73860 75.60
63-00-000-73860 8.40

2Page:

Page | 40AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185904 1/24/2020 (Continued)002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV
64-00-000-73860 36.00
HAULING SPOILS LEAVES SWEEPINGS200009
01-26-023-72890 240.00
60-00-000-73681 352.80
63-00-000-73681 39.20
64-00-000-73681 168.00

Total : 2,550.00

185905 1/24/2020 016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC 42378 TINLEY CREEK BRIDGE
01-26-023-72785 210.00
PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING LOT42379
01-26-023-72785 850.00
FIRE STATION 342380
01-26-023-72785 480.00
FIRESTATION 442381
01-26-023-72785 720.00
HELIPORT & EMA42382
01-26-023-72785 2,440.00
HICKORY ST PARKING STALLS42383
01-26-023-72785 1,390.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS (ED & JOES)42384
01-26-023-72785 390.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS SUBWAY42385
01-26-023-72785 650.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS-BATH & KITCHEN42386
01-26-023-72785 285.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS CARDINAL42387
01-26-023-72785 295.00
80TH AVENUE NORTH TRAIN LOT42388
70-00-000-72740 7,500.00
OAK PARK AVE TRAIN STATION42389
70-00-000-72740 1,375.00
01-26-023-72785 1,375.00
PAWS42390
01-26-023-72785 395.00
POLICE DEPARTMENT42391

3Page:

Page | 41AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185905 1/24/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
01-26-023-72785 1,095.00
POST 1142392
01-26-023-72785 280.00
80TH AVENUE SOUTH TRAIN LOT42393
70-00-000-72740 8,000.00
MUNICIPAL LOT-UNITED METHODIST CHURCH42394
01-26-023-72785 570.00
VILLAGE HALL42395
01-26-023-72785 2,150.00
VOGT PLAZA42396
01-26-023-72785 420.00
ZABROCKI PLAZA42397
01-26-023-72785 710.00

Total : 31,580.00

185906 1/24/2020 003127  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD AP020120 IL065LB000001212-0 HEALTH INS EXP-JAN PM
01-26-023-72435 156.00
01-33-300-72435 101.00
60-00-000-72435 52.63
63-00-000-72435 10.02
64-00-000-72435 26.85
60-00-000-72435 52.63
63-00-000-72435 10.02
64-00-000-72435 26.85
60-00-000-72435 52.63
63-00-000-72435 10.02
64-00-000-72435 26.85
60-00-000-72435 59.39
63-00-000-72435 11.31
64-00-000-72435 30.30
01-12-000-72435 107.00
01-19-020-72435 226.00
01-26-023-72435 304.00
01-33-300-72435 80.00
60-00-000-72435 49.39
63-00-000-72435 9.41

4Page:

Page | 42AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185906 1/24/2020 (Continued)003127  BLUE CROSS BLUE SHIELD
64-00-000-72435 25.20
60-00-000-72435 52.63
63-00-000-72435 10.02
64-00-000-72435 26.85

Total : 1,517.00

185907 1/24/2020 018495  BLUEBERRY HILL CAFE 011520 CATERING - DEPARTMENT MTG
01-17-205-72220 383.92

Total : 383.92

185908 1/24/2020 003504  C & M PIPE & SUPPLY CO., INC 12645 CONCRETE,FLAT TOP
01-26-023-73790 473.00

Total : 473.00

185909 1/24/2020 003337  CALIBRE PRESS INC. 79051 BRIAN KROTSER STOPPING ONLINE CHILD PRED
01-17-220-72140 359.00

Total : 359.00

185910 1/24/2020 014148  CALL ONE 1210676 VILLAGE LANDLINE PHONE SERV
01-19-000-72120 1,923.35
60-00-000-72120 3,160.33
63-00-000-72120 351.15
64-00-000-72120 1,504.91
01-33-300-72120 25.01
01-33-310-72120 25.01
01-33-320-72120 16.32
01-35-000-72120 16.32
01-53-000-72120 8.70
60-00-000-72120 52.42
63-00-000-72120 5.81
64-00-000-72120 24.96
01-17-205-72120 1,461.05
01-14-000-72120 620.00
01-11-000-72120 14.49
01-12-000-72120 33.33
01-17-205-72120 33.33

5Page:

Page | 43AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185910 1/24/2020 (Continued)014148  CALL ONE
01-19-000-72120 7.25
01-26-023-72120 8.70
01-26-024-72120 8.70
01-33-310-72120 8.70
01-33-320-72120 8.70
60-00-000-72120 21.73
01-12-000-72120 41.33
01-14-000-72120 138.13
01-15-000-72120 25.01
01-17-205-72120 82.67
01-19-000-72120 36.98
01-19-020-72120 12.51
01-26-023-72120 16.32
01-26-024-72120 16.32

Total : 9,709.54

185911 1/24/2020 011929  CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A. 00061423 **** 6452 STAFF LUNCHEON MTG
01-15-000-72220 183.70
**** 6452 CAR WASH COUPONS010220
01-17-205-72540 900.00
**** 6452 SHIPPING010320
01-35-000-72982 89.69
**** 6452 REGISTRATION PAT CARR011020
01-12-000-72170 225.00
**** 6452 GIFT CARD0115
84-00-000-20199 50.00
**** 6452 TRAINING FIRE INSPECTOR I100806418
01-19-020-72140 215.00
**** 6452 WIRELESS MICROPHONE SYSTEM11102745502427478
01-35-000-72982 219.95
**** 6452 SUPPLIES FOR HOLIDAY PARTY11218536097971464
84-00-000-20199 632.76
**** 6452 ADAPTER11257392029082642
01-35-000-72982 95.83
**** 6452 KEYBOARD11269241129916213
01-17-220-72565 449.85

6Page:

Page | 44AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185911 1/24/2020 (Continued)011929  CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A.
**** 6452 CORTNEY KRISTUFEK,NICOLE BRAZI1211639719
01-21-210-72170 500.00
**** 6452 REGISTRATION BRAD BETTENHAUSEN122119
01-15-000-72170 109.00
**** 6452 GIFT CARD123019
01-35-000-72954 50.00
**** 6452 PROPERTY CHECK123020
01-15-000-72790 18.95
**** 6452 NICOLE GARDINER WORKSHOP12536
01-35-000-72170 200.00
**** 6452 FIRE STATION FLOOR DRAIN154981
01-26-025-72520 112.97
**** 6452 SUBSCRIPTION164353150
01-35-000-72720 15.96
**** 6452 COPY OF RECORDED DOCUMENT20200102514101
01-14-000-72355 6.50
**** 6452 MONITORS2087309
01-26-025-72530 3,715.10
**** 6452 DISHGARDEN PLANTER25374
01-11-000-73110 60.00
**** 6452 RECORDING FEE27561333
01-14-000-72355 85.00
**** 6452 GIFT CARDS30213278
84-00-000-20199 50.00
**** 6452 CONF DAN RITTER3127021
01-33-000-72140 820.00
**** 6452 SEARCH FOR CONTACT INFO3685120
01-15-000-72790 39.95
**** 6452 SUBSCRIPTION41964
01-15-000-72720 292.00
**** 6452 RECORDING FEE4445016660795
01-14-000-72355 1,706.09
**** 6452 FILING RELEASE FEE47186170
01-14-000-72355 189.91
**** 6452 AD POST5077631
01-35-000-72653 34.28

7Page:

Page | 45AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185911 1/24/2020 (Continued)011929  CAPITAL ONE BANK (USA), N.A.
**** 6452 AD POST5090100
01-35-000-72653 50.00
**** 6452 AD POST5112932
01-35-000-72653 75.00
**** 6452 GIFT CARDS7313
84-00-000-20199 20.00
**** 6452 10 IMAGES A MONTH936145298
01-35-000-72985 29.99
**** 6452 ECHOGEAR FULL MOTION94967119
01-26-025-72530 212.48
**** 6452 MEMBERSHIP DAVID NIEMEYERdnf1b3a96c
01-12-000-72720 230.00
**** 6452 DATA HUB 3613Oiv-200122-02
01-26-025-72520 320.00

Total : 12,004.96

185912 1/24/2020 003396  CASE LOTS INC 2021 TOWELS,TOILET PAPER,CAN LINERS
01-26-025-73580 651.40

Total : 651.40

185913 1/24/2020 003243  CDW GOVERNMENT INC WHZ0617 HP SB400 ITEM#5143618
01-16-000-74128 709.95
<PD> - VISIO LICENSING FOR CRASH REPORTIWMB8593
30-00-000-74137 10,706.15VTP-017593

Total : 11,416.10

185914 1/24/2020 003229  CED/EFENGEE 5025-529856 BALLIST FOR LIGHTS
01-26-025-73570 39.01
PHIL5025-529857
01-26-025-73570 269.30
PHIL5025-529948
01-26-025-73570 63.50

Total : 371.81

185915 1/24/2020 003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG 151521 01.R160373.0003A ST LIGHTING LED CONV PH
30-00-000-75500 5,282.40

8Page:

Page | 46AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185915 1/24/2020 (Continued)003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG
01.R160373.0003A STREET LIGHTING LED CON152537
30-00-000-75500 759.00
01.R160373.00006 POST 3 STORM WATER PUMP155825
65-00-000-72525 4,422.81

Total : 10,464.21

185916 1/24/2020 012315  CLASSY FLOWERS 100002048 SYMPATHY PLANT
01-11-000-73110 60.00

Total : 60.00

185917 1/24/2020 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810010702 ACCT#8771401810010702  1/16-2/15/20
01-35-000-72517 21.82

Total : 21.82

185918 1/24/2020 013892  COMED 6771163052 ACCT#6771163052 LITE RT/25
01-26-024-72510 2,128.75

Total : 2,128.75

185919 1/24/2020 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0385440022 ACCT#0385440022 SS BRKSIDE GLN 1E MEADOW
64-00-000-72510 448.38
ACCT#0471006425 LITE CONTROLLER 19948 SI0471006425
01-26-024-72510 73.52
ACCT#0637059039 7950 W TIMBER DR 12/10/10637059039
64-00-000-72510 136.53
ACCT#2922039023 LITE CONTROLLER 9342 PAR2922039023
01-26-024-72510 22.19
ACCT#4943163008 7650 TIMBER DR 12/10/19-4943163008
01-26-024-72510 20.26
ACCT#5437131000 7980 W 183RD ST 12/16-1/5437131000
01-26-025-72510 317.64
ACCT#5983017013 WATER MONITOR 19112 S 805983017013
63-00-000-72510 248.21

Total : 1,266.73

185920 1/24/2020 018311  CONNECTION 57411092 CABLE
01-16-000-72565 85.53

9Page:

Page | 47AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 85.53185920 1/24/2020 018311 018311  CONNECTION

185921 1/24/2020 012410  CONSERV FS, INC. 105007195 DIESELEX GOLD
60-00-000-73545 374.59
63-00-000-73545 93.65
64-00-000-73545 200.67
RAKE66034152
01-26-023-73410 58.91

Total : 727.82

185922 1/24/2020 003644  COOK COUNTY SHERIFF'S POLICE 2010016 RECRUIT TUITION FEE JOSEPH HICKEY
01-17-220-72140 3,250.00VTP-017602

Total : 3,250.00

185923 1/24/2020 018325  DAILY SOUTHTOWN 197792300 ACCT#197792300 SUBSCRIPTION
01-17-205-72720 95.01

Total : 95.01

185924 1/24/2020 011236  DAJANI, OSAMAH 012220 PER DIEM LODG,MEALS/SUPERV POLICE PERSON
01-17-205-72140 1,941.56

Total : 1,941.56

185925 1/24/2020 003770  DUSTCATCHERS INC 69772 MATS/PD
01-26-025-72790 85.41

Total : 85.41

185926 1/24/2020 004094  EJ EQUIPMENT INC. P21520 CLAMP,HOSE
60-00-000-72540 266.39
63-00-000-72540 88.79
64-00-000-72540 152.22

Total : 507.40

185927 1/24/2020 018512  ENVOY DATA CORPORATION 406969 <IT> - 2FACTOR AUTH - AWID USB NANO READ
01-17-220-72565 1,505.00VTP-017567

Total : 1,505.00

185928 1/24/2020 004119  ETP LABS INC. 20-134301 COLIFORM SAMPLES
60-00-000-72865 395.92

10Page:

Page | 48AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185928 1/24/2020 (Continued)004119  ETP LABS INC.
63-00-000-72865 169.68

Total : 565.60

185929 1/24/2020 004019  EVON'S TROPHIES & AWARDS 011420 NAME PLATES FOR PICTURES
01-26-025-72520 66.40

Total : 66.40

185930 1/24/2020 016212  F H PASCHEN, S N NIELSEN & 4603-024-1 METRA STATION WARMING SHELTER
27-00-000-75302 48,244.95VTP-017588

Total : 48,244.95

185931 1/24/2020 018691  FGM ARCHITECTS 18-2533.01-15 FD ST #47 11/23/19-12/27/19
33-00-000-75907 5,400.00

Total : 5,400.00

185932 1/24/2020 012941  FMP 52-445693 CREDIT CORE
01-26-024-72540 -29.05
01-19-000-72540 -24.50
CREDIT BATTERY CORE52-445800
01-19-000-72540 -24.50
FUEL DRIVER MODULE52-446684
01-26-023-72540 90.81
WIPER BLADES52-446777
01-26-023-72530 37.94
OIL & AIR FILTER52-447257
01-26-024-72540 35.57

Total : 86.27

185933 1/24/2020 004185  FOREST LUMBER COMPANY 60684 LUMBER,RAKE
01-26-023-73410 159.46

Total : 159.46

185934 1/24/2020 012902  GO PARTS INC. 170179 FLUID,OIL FILTER
01-26-023-72540 62.97
60-00-000-72540 33.06
63-00-000-72540 11.02

11Page:

Page | 49AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185934 1/24/2020 (Continued)012902  GO PARTS INC.
64-00-000-72540 18.90

Total : 125.95

185935 1/24/2020 004538  GOLDY LOCKS 678981 KEY
01-26-025-73840 60.00

Total : 60.00

185936 1/24/2020 004438  GRAINGER 9405867632 SWIFFER WET CLOTHS,GLOVES
60-00-000-73845 45.14
63-00-000-73845 5.02
64-00-000-73845 21.50
01-26-023-73845 71.66
01-26-024-73845 35.84
01-26-025-73580 148.54
MARKING & SPRAY PAINT9413146151
60-00-000-73620 57.00
63-00-000-73620 57.00
64-00-000-73620 48.84

Total : 490.54

185937 1/24/2020 004640  HEALTHCARE SERVICE CORPORATION AP020120 A/C#271855-HEALTH INS EXPENSE-JAN WH/FEB
01-26-023-72435 378.00
01-21-210-72435 295.25
01-26-025-72435 189.00
60-00-000-72435 111.14
63-00-000-72435 21.17
64-00-000-72435 56.69
01-26-025-72435 775.80
01-26-023-72435 1,278.62
01-33-300-72435 378.00
01-26-023-72435 378.00
01-26-024-72435 900.62
01-17-220-72430 0.09

Total : 4,762.38

185938 1/24/2020 017373  HEARTLINE FITNESS SYSTEMS INV2223965b REPAIRS & MAINT/EXERCISE ROOM EQUIP

12Page:

Page | 50AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185938 1/24/2020 (Continued)017373  HEARTLINE FITNESS SYSTEMS
01-17-205-72530 1,782.08VTP-017592

Total : 1,782.08

185939 1/24/2020 012328  HOMER INDUSTRIES S138055 DROP CHARGE - CHIPS
01-26-023-72890 250.00

Total : 250.00

185940 1/24/2020 004955  ILCMA 2053 JOB AD IT MANAGER
01-16-000-72446 50.00

Total : 50.00

185941 1/24/2020 012469  ILEAS 012220 MATT WALSH CONF
01-17-205-72170 100.00

Total : 100.00

185942 1/24/2020 004959  ILLINOIS ASSOC.FOR FLOODPLAIN 012220 REGIST COLBY ZEMAITIS
60-00-000-72170 50.16
63-00-000-72170 50.16
64-00-000-72170 43.00
01-26-023-72170 286.68

Total : 430.00

185943 1/24/2020 004813  ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL LEAGUE 012120 MEMBERSHIPS
01-11-000-72720 1,645.00
01-12-000-72720 705.00
01-14-000-72720 1,150.00

Total : 3,500.00

185944 1/24/2020 015497  ILLINOIS SECRETARY OF STATE 012120 1FM5K8D89KGB28824 & 1FM5K8D86KGB28828 MU
01-17-205-72860 16.00

Total : 16.00

185945 1/24/2020 015545  IMAGING SYSTEMS, INC. SS200102954 <HR> - ONBASE CSS FOR HR - PHASE 1
01-12-000-72790 925.00VTP-017414

Total : 925.00

185946 1/24/2020 005127  INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL MEDICINE 285355 PHYSICAL~

13Page:

Page | 51AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185946 1/24/2020 (Continued)005127  INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL MEDICINE
01-41-040-72846 45.00
PHYSICAL,DRUG SCREEN,VACCINE285524
01-15-000-72150 124.00
01-17-205-72446 59.00
01-15-000-72150 59.00
01-14-000-72985 65.00
DRUG SCREEN285874
01-26-023-72735 59.00

Total : 411.00

185947 1/24/2020 016752  INSITUFORM TECHNOLOGIES, LLC 587769 RIDGELAND AVENUE LINING PROJECT
16-00-000-75305 127,316.29VTP-017236
18-00-000-75305 96,347.46VTP-017236
61-00-000-75305 120,434.33VTP-017236

Total : 344,098.08

185948 1/24/2020 018232  INTERNAT'L ASSOC OF ARSON 2922-53-1-152b TRANS ID 2922 HEATHER TRINIDAD,SZYMUSIAK
01-17-205-72170 250.00

Total : 250.00

185949 1/24/2020 018935  JX ENTERPRISES INC 2224924S REPAIRS VIN#3BPPHM7XXJF591958
01-26-023-72530 1,119.86

Total : 1,119.86

185950 1/24/2020 005356  KROTSER, BRIAN 012220. PER DIEM: LODG,MEALS/BCKGRD INVEST POLIC
01-17-220-72140 301.73

Total : 301.73

185951 1/24/2020 005356  KROTSER, BRIAN 012220 REIM.EXP. TRNG ILL FIN CRIMES SEMINAR
01-17-220-72140 100.00

Total : 100.00

185952 1/24/2020 016801  LIBERTY FLAG & BANNER 17012 REMOVAL OF HOLIDAY BANNERS
01-35-000-73112 2,147.00VTP-017560
REMOVAL OF HOLIDAY BANNERS FROM MAJOR IN17021
01-35-000-73112 2,470.00VTP-017559

14Page:

Page | 52AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 4,617.00185952 1/24/2020 016801 016801  LIBERTY FLAG & BANNER

185953 1/24/2020 012371  LIFE FITNESS 6368745 LABOR & TRIP CHARGE EXERCISE EQUIP
01-19-000-72530 155.00

Total : 155.00

185954 1/24/2020 014846  LORENCE, BRUCE 020120 FEB'20 OPA STATION TRAIN MAINT
01-26-025-72530 30.00

Total : 30.00

185955 1/24/2020 003440  M. COOPER WINSUPPLY CO. S2071360.001 LEAD WOOL
60-00-000-73630 51.17
63-00-000-73630 5.69
64-00-000-73630 24.37

Total : 81.23

185956 1/24/2020 013969  MAP AUTOMOTIVE OF CHICAGO 40-544238 ELEMENT ASY
01-26-023-72540 60.30
60-00-000-72540 31.66
63-00-000-72540 10.55
64-00-000-72540 18.09

Total : 120.60

185957 1/24/2020 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-83054 BRAKE PAD SETS,ROTORS
01-17-205-72540 348.59
MAINT DOE15030-83107
01-21-000-72540 31.39

Total : 379.98

185958 1/24/2020 019338  MCGILL CONSTRUCTION CO LLC 19-206 PROJ#17-R0338.014 REC TRAIL PATH
33-00-000-75205 179,718.62

Total : 179,718.62

185959 1/24/2020 006074  MENARDS 79188 DIP AND WASH BRUSH
01-26-023-73870 9.96
CORD79279
01-26-025-73570 19.54
GLUES79300

15Page:

Page | 53AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185959 1/24/2020 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
01-26-025-73410 7.87
LATCH BOX79312
01-26-025-73870 24.95
UTIL TUB,TIDE79436
01-26-025-73580 24.78
CONN,BOX,OUTLET PLATE,INSERT79451
01-26-025-73570 14.91
WINGNUT,WIREGARD79506
01-26-025-73570 13.36

Total : 115.37

185960 1/24/2020 005746  MIDWEST TRANSIT EQUIPMENT INC. X102123647:01 ASM BLOCK GUIDE PLATFORM
01-53-000-72540 2.83

Total : 2.83

185961 1/24/2020 017487  MONDT, FREDERICK 012220 PER DIEM:LODG,MEALS/BACKGRD INVEST POLIC
01-17-220-72140 301.73

Total : 301.73

185962 1/24/2020 005664  MORTON SALT INC 5402004168 ROAD SALT FOR 2019/2020 WINTER SEASON
01-26-023-73810 34,873.78VTP-017494
70-00-000-73810 2,000.00VTP-017494

Total : 36,873.78

185963 1/24/2020 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 3550413001 PAINT,BRAKE CLNR,DRILL BITS,QUICK LINK ,
60-00-000-72540 27.93
64-00-000-72540 15.96
01-26-023-72540 53.20
01-26-024-72540 53.20
01-17-205-72540 79.80
01-33-300-72540 26.61
63-00-000-72540 9.31

Total : 266.01

185964 1/24/2020 015723  NICOR 33079168366 ACCT#33-07-91-6836 6 9322 LAPORTE ROAD 1
64-00-000-72511 41.50

16Page:

Page | 54AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185964 1/24/2020 (Continued)015723  NICOR
ACCT#64-42-37-1000 9 6825 173RD PL 12/1664423710009
01-26-025-72511 923.12
ACCT#81-42-37-1000 3 17375 69TH AVE 12/181423710003
01-26-025-72511 106.48

Total : 1,071.10

185965 1/24/2020 013224  NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY 15194 EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
01-17-205-72140 2,300.00VTP-017605

Total : 2,300.00

185966 1/24/2020 001487  NUWAY DISPOSAL SERVICE INC 6851993 SWEEPING
01-26-023-72890 1,024.50

Total : 1,024.50

185967 1/24/2020 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 062744/1 #891431 SQUARE BIT
60-00-000-73410 4.33
64-00-000-73410 2.06
63-00-000-73410 0.48
#9404 GRILL BRUSH,MAGNET,TAPE,TOILET BRU062765/1
01-19-000-73580 32.75
#891431 PEN LIGHT,FILTER FURNACE062773/1
60-00-000-72528 11.18
63-00-000-72528 11.17
#9404 SNOW PUSHER,SNOW DOMINATOR062774/1
01-19-000-73410 80.98
SCRAPER,BLADES,SEAL TAPE,PLUGS062804/1
60-00-000-73410 5.03
63-00-000-73410 0.56
64-00-000-73410 2.39
60-00-000-73630 6.82
64-00-000-73630 3.25
63-00-000-73630 0.76

Total : 161.76

185968 1/24/2020 017268  PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY 130422 4118.0001 JABER (OMAR) & OTHERS SERVICES
60-00-000-72850 526.50

17Page:

Page | 55AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185968 1/24/2020 (Continued)017268  PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
4130.0001 VOTP-GENERAL MATTERS THRU 12/3130434
01-14-000-72850 20,523.50
4130.0003 FOIA SERV THRU 12/31/19130435
01-14-000-72850 844.00
4130.0022 NEW BREMEN TIF SERV THRU 12/31130436
27-00-000-72850 490.00
4130.0023 RUDSINSKI VS VOTP SERV THRU 12130437
60-00-000-72850 390.00
4130.0031  TP EMINENT DOMAIN SERV THRU 1130439
27-00-000-72850 5,387.00
VOTP GENERAL LABOR MATTER THRU 12/31/19130440
01-14-000-72855 5,518.50
4160.0001 VOTP PROSECUTIONS SERV THRU 12130444
01-14-000-72850 4,294.00

Total : 37,973.50

185969 1/24/2020 006780  POMP'S TIRE SERVICE, INC 410737689 (20) P245 55VR 18 RSA GOODYEAR TIRES
01-17-205-73560 2,897.20VTP-017534
(6) LT225 75 R16 TRANS TIRES (PACE)410743747
01-53-000-73560 729.92VTP-017582
LT265/70R17 TIRES UNIT 1401410744346
01-19-000-72570 686.12VTP-017581

Total : 4,313.24

185970 1/24/2020 006507  POSTMASTER, U. S. POST OFFICE 012220 STAMPS
01-19-020-72110 550.00
STAMPS012220.
01-19-000-72110 110.00

Total : 660.00

185971 1/24/2020 006509  POULOS, TIMOTHY 012220 PER DIEM: LODG,MEALS,AIRFARE,RENTA CAR 2
01-17-225-72130 1,545.22

Total : 1,545.22

185972 1/24/2020 007680  PUBLIC STORAGE 51624287 STORAGE FIRE ST #47 51624287 3/1/20-3/31
01-19-000-73870 217.20

18Page:

Page | 56AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 217.20185972 1/24/2020 007680 007680  PUBLIC STORAGE

185973 1/24/2020 006850  QUILL CORPORATION 3837729 HOOK,CRATE
01-33-300-73110 26.76
LASER LABELS3963378
01-35-000-73110 42.49

Total : 69.25

185974 1/24/2020 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2004086-IN HELMET
01-17-220-73610 290.00
HELMET2004087-IN
01-17-220-73610 301.96

Total : 591.96

185975 1/24/2020 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 19120507 16-R0364 BIKE PATH EXTENSIONS 163-159 &
01-26-023-72840 211.00
17-R0338.014 REREATIONAL TRLS PROJ MULTI19120508
33-00-000-75205 16,703.25
19-R0005.024 2019 CRACKSEALING PROG SERV19120509
01-26-023-75406 2,968.00

Total : 19,882.25

185976 1/24/2020 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 1962 SENIOR CENTER SUPPLIES,WATER
01-41-056-72937 113.98
60-00-000-73115 6.69
64-00-000-73115 2.86
01-26-023-73115 9.55
01-26-024-73115 4.78
SMART TV,MNT1963
01-26-025-72530 239.86
PLATES,COOKIE TRAYS,SODA,NAPKINS2083
01-26-023-73115 151.06
COOKIE TRAYS,WIPES2650
01-14-000-73115 62.62

Total : 591.40

185977 1/24/2020 018104  SBA STEEL,LLC IN14051374 TOWER SITE RENT #IL46494-A-03 2/1-2/29/2

19Page:

Page | 57AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
20

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185977 1/24/2020 (Continued)018104  SBA STEEL,LLC
60-00-000-72631 182.33
63-00-000-72631 182.33
64-00-000-72631 182.33
01-17-205-72631 364.65
01-19-000-72631 303.87

Total : 1,215.51

185978 1/24/2020 007346  SCHMECKPEPER, GREGORY 012220 PER DIEMLODG,MEALS/SUPERV POLICE PERSONN
01-17-205-72140 1,941.56

Total : 1,941.56

185979 1/24/2020 019209  SEWER ASSESSMENT SERVICES, LLC 012220 BAL DUE  INFLOW & INFILTRATION INVEST
61-00-000-75305 5,084.94

Total : 5,084.94

185980 1/24/2020 018814  SIDE STREET AMERICAN TAVERN 011520 12/18/19 COMMISSION APPRECIATION
01-14-000-72975 3,500.00
01-11-000-72220 1,557.30

Total : 5,057.30

185981 1/24/2020 013950  SSWWA MEMBERSHIP 012320 MEMBERSHIPS~(6)
60-00-000-72720 75.25
63-00-000-72720 75.25
64-00-000-72720 64.50

Total : 215.00

185982 1/24/2020 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3435467821 TONER,FILE FOLDER,HP LASER
01-17-205-73110 204.41
EXPANDABLE MESSENGER BA3435467822
01-17-205-73110 33.79
NOTEBOOK MESSENGER3435467823
01-17-205-73110 31.99
LETTER TRAY,BINDER,DIVIDERS,WITE-OUT3435467824
01-17-205-73110 127.26
2020 CALENDAR3436078437
01-12-000-73110 62.99

20Page:

Page | 58AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
21

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185982 1/24/2020 (Continued)012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE
INKING,BINDERCLIPS,POST ITS,TAPE,STAPLES3436078439
01-14-000-73110 54.67
01-15-000-73110 6.45
POS ROLLS3436078440
01-15-000-73110 41.05
CD/DEV SLEEVES,STAMP,ENVELOPE3436078441
01-17-205-73110 157.21
STAMPS3436078442
01-17-205-73110 9.79

Total : 729.61

185983 1/24/2020 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY S006541936.001 LAMPS
01-26-025-73570 26.00

Total : 26.00

185984 1/24/2020 019227  STREET COP TRAINING LLC 15225-165-1-cebe COURSE VINCE VAN SCHOUWEN
01-17-220-72140 249.00

Total : 249.00

185985 1/24/2020 011248  TEMPERATURE EQUIPMENT CORP. 012120 19TH SEMI-ANNUAL INCENTIVE PAYMENT
01-97-000-79129 303,039.00

Total : 303,039.00

185986 1/24/2020 004400  THE GORMAN GROUP, LTD. 011720 APPRAISAL 6775 SOUTH ST
27-00-000-72790 1,200.00

Total : 1,200.00

185987 1/24/2020 018724  THE LOCKER SHOP OE 68526 POLOS
01-19-000-73610 57.00

Total : 57.00

185988 1/24/2020 007886  THEODORE POLYGRAPH SERVICE 6911 POLYGRAPH EXAM MORGAN DUNN CSO
01-17-205-72446 200.00

Total : 200.00

185989 1/24/2020 007777  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION 20-0129 15 ELEV CODE REINSPECTIONS
01-33-300-72853 570.00

21Page:

Page | 59AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
22

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 570.00185989 1/24/2020 007777 007777  THOMPSON ELEVATOR INSPECTION

185990 1/24/2020 007800  THYSSENKRUPP ELEVATOR CORP 5001211490 MAINT WATER IN PIT
01-26-025-72530 1,033.00

Total : 1,033.00

185991 1/24/2020 012480  TOTAL ADMINISTRATIVE SERV.CORP IN1693103 FSA-ADMIN FEES 3/1/20-3/31/20
01-12-000-72449 213.39

Total : 213.39

185992 1/24/2020 004106  TYLER TECHNOLOGIES, INC 045-288678 EXECUTIME LICENSE INCREASE
30-00-000-74139 90.00VTP-016786
60-00-000-74139 30.00VTP-016786

Total : 120.00

185993 1/24/2020 008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO 040698 ADAPTER,FLG KIT,CLAMP,COUPLING
60-00-000-73630 698.04
63-00-000-73630 77.56
64-00-000-73630 332.40

Total : 1,108.00

185994 1/24/2020 002613  UNITED HEALTHCARE AARP 010820 JAN 20 PYMT FOR FEBRUARY 20 COVERAGE
01-33-300-72435 257.46
01-13-000-72435 211.26
60-00-000-72435 64.37
01-26-023-72435 64.36
60-00-000-72435 208.95
01-17-205-72435 126.02
60-00-000-72435 295.44
01-26-024-72435 207.66
01-26-023-72435 104.48
60-00-000-72435 204.58
01-17-205-72435 78.04
60-00-000-72435 37.14
01-26-025-72435 37.13
01-17-205-72435 156.09

Total : 2,052.98

22Page:

Page | 60AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
23

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185995 1/24/2020 007987  UNITED METHODIST CHURCH 020120 FEB'20 PARKING LOT RENTAL
70-00-000-72621 1,200.00

Total : 1,200.00

185996 1/24/2020 002754  UNITED RENTALS NW, INC. 177883965-001 CONFINED SPACE & EXCAVATION SAFETY CLASS
01-26-023-72140 600.00
01-26-025-72140 200.00
01-26-024-72140 600.00
60-00-000-72140 70.00
63-00-000-72140 70.00
64-00-000-72140 60.00

Total : 1,600.00

185997 1/24/2020 011416  VERIZON WIRELESS 9846259671 ACCT 280481333-00001
11-00-000-72127 72.02
01-16-000-72127 72.02
01-17-220-72127 1,820.86
01-17-205-72127 396.15
01-19-000-72127 535.61
01-19-020-72127 101.09
01-26-025-72127 216.06
01-33-300-72127 144.04
01-33-310-72127 108.03
01-33-320-72127 72.02
01-35-000-72127 144.04
01-12-000-72127 144.04
01-13-000-72127 72.02
01-11-000-72127 180.05
01-26-023-72127 540.15
01-21-210-72127 241.64
60-00-000-72127 176.45
63-00-000-72127 176.45
64-00-000-72127 151.24
ACCT 2804813333-000039846259672
01-15-000-72120 46.39
01-11-000-72120 327.76
01-12-000-72120 9.20

23Page:

Page | 61AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
24

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

185997 1/24/2020 (Continued)011416  VERIZON WIRELESS
01-13-000-72120 91.04
01-14-000-72120 12.41
01-17-205-72120 4,303.53
01-19-000-72120 233.20
01-19-020-72120 233.26
01-21-000-72120 138.25
01-21-210-72120 230.98
01-26-023-72120 1,344.83
01-26-024-72120 199.90
01-26-025-72120 308.34
01-33-300-72120 227.60
01-33-310-72120 136.56
01-42-000-72120 26.78
01-53-000-72120 7.42
60-00-000-72120 297.86
63-00-000-72120 297.86
64-00-000-72120 255.31
01-16-000-72120 93.24
285837077-000019846261123
01-17-205-72127 8.45

Total : 14,194.15

185998 1/24/2020 008085  VERMEER MIDWEST/VERMEER IL PE5158 SWITCH,SOCKET,NUTS
01-26-023-72530 309.18

Total : 309.18

185999 1/24/2020 014938  VILLAGE OF LANSING 012120 19TH SEMI-ANNUAL INCENTIVE PAYMENT
01-97-000-79129 153,039.00

Total : 153,039.00

186000 1/24/2020 006429  VILLAGE OF ORLAND HILLS 012120 14TH IGA PAYMENT SEPT-OCT 2019
01-97-000-79125 12,081.33

Total : 12,081.33

186001 1/24/2020 008158  VIOLETTO JR, RAYMOND 012220 PER DIEM:MEALS LANE BRYANT INVEST 2/9/20
01-17-225-72130 70.00

24Page:

Page | 62AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
25

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 70.00186001 1/24/2020 008158 008158  VIOLETTO JR, RAYMOND

186002 1/24/2020 011055  WARREN OIL CO. W1284282 N. L. GAS USED 12/31/19-1/16/20
01-17-205-73530 6,596.24
01-19-000-73530 325.53
01-19-020-73530 63.23
01-21-000-73530 105.49
60-00-000-73530 575.91
63-00-000-73530 143.98
64-00-000-73530 308.52
01-26-023-73530 562.67
01-26-024-73530 311.77
01-33-300-73530 183.31
01-12-000-73530 226.75
01-14-000-73532 55.34
14-00-000-73530 32.03
01-42-000-73530 162.67
DIESEL USED 12/31/19-1/16/20W1284283
01-19-000-73545 1,380.02
60-00-000-73545 206.84
63-00-000-73545 51.71
64-00-000-73545 110.81
01-26-023-73545 4,062.70
01-26-024-73545 85.11
01-14-000-73531 2,661.01

Total : 18,211.64

186003 1/24/2020 013263  WEST SIDE TRACTOR SALES S79366 FILTERS
60-00-000-72530 162.36
63-00-000-72530 54.12
64-00-000-72530 92.77

Total : 309.25

186004 1/24/2020 012976  ZYLKA, MATTHEW 012220 PER DIEM: MEALS PEER SUPPORT PUBLIC SAFE
01-17-220-72140 75.00

Total : 75.00

25Page:

Page | 63AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/24/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
26

 9:28:19AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

Bank total : 1,393,421.68106 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

1,407,588.45Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report108

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

26Page:

Page | 64AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
1

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186005 1/31/2020 018948  ADAPT PHARMA INC 25130 NARCAN NASAL SPRAY (2) CASES
01-17-220-73550 1,800.00VTP-017584

Total : 1,800.00

186006 1/31/2020 002734  AIR ONE EQUIPMENT, INC 152637 SAFETY GLASSES
01-19-000-74619 82.21
AIR PACK REPAIR152737
01-19-000-72578 1,452.07VTP-017620
PREV MAINT152744
01-19-000-72578 734.00
PREV MAINT AIR TEST GAUGE REBUILD KIT VA152745
01-19-000-72578 926.94

Total : 3,195.22

186007 1/31/2020 002856  AIRY'S, INC 23639 POST 1 IMPROVEMENT
62-00-000-75702 75,579.90VTP-017625
POST 1 GENERATOR23639.
62-00-000-74240 176,416.00VTP-017616
WATER MAIN BREAK 17724 OAK PK AVE23640
60-00-000-72745 7,355.44

Total : 259,351.34

186008 1/31/2020 002628  AMERICAN WATER 4000184694 FLAT MONTHLY FEE
64-00-000-73225 455.67

Total : 455.67

186009 1/31/2020 002424  AMERICAN WATER WORKS ASSOC 7001727200 MEMBERSHIP ALLEN LORENZEN
60-00-000-72720 29.05
63-00-000-72720 29.05
64-00-000-72720 24.90
MEMBERSHIP JASON ZIMBAUERS7001736670
60-00-000-72720 29.05
63-00-000-72720 29.05
64-00-000-72720 24.90

Total : 166.00

1Page:

Page | 65AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
2

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186010 1/31/2020 010062  B & H PHOTO. VIDEO .PRO AUDIO 167219263 CAMERA
01-19-020-73615 599.00VTP-017596

Total : 599.00

186011 1/31/2020 019341  BARNES, ELIZABETH 012720 REFUND PARKING PLACARD NO LONGER NEEDED
70-00-000-79000 67.50

Total : 67.50

186012 1/31/2020 010953  BATTERIES PLUS - 277 P23205027 BATTERY
01-26-025-73870 12.95
BATTERIESP23275372
14-00-000-74150 140.00
BATTERIESP23650375
14-00-000-74150 140.00

Total : 292.95

186013 1/31/2020 002938  BEST TECHNOLOGY SYSTEMS INC. BTL-19042-5 BULLET TRAP BASIC CLEAN
01-26-025-72779 1,070.00

Total : 1,070.00

186014 1/31/2020 002974  BETTENHAUSEN CONSTRUCTION SERV200010 HAULING SPOILS
01-26-023-72890 240.00
60-00-000-73681 352.80
63-00-000-73681 39.20
64-00-000-73681 168.00

Total : 800.00

186015 1/31/2020 016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC 42516 FIRE STATION 3
01-26-023-72785 260.00
FIRE STATION 342517
01-26-023-72785 330.00
PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING LOT42520
01-26-023-72785 590.00
PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING LOT42521
01-26-023-72785 390.00
FIRESTATION 442522
01-26-023-72785 400.00

2Page:

Page | 66AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
3

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186015 1/31/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
FIRESTATION 442523
01-26-023-72785 480.00
HELIPORT & EMA42524
01-26-023-72785 1,280.00
HELIPORT & EMA42525
01-26-023-72785 1,740.00
HICKORY ST PARKING STALLS42526
01-26-023-72785 790.00
HICKORY ST PARKING STALLS42527
01-26-023-72785 900.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS (ED & JOES)42529
01-26-023-72785 270.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS SUBWAY42530
01-26-023-72785 370.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS SUBWAY42531
01-26-023-72785 420.00
80TH AVENUE NORTH TRAIN LOT42536
70-00-000-72740 3,900.00
80TH AVENUE NORTH TRAIN LOT42537
70-00-000-72740 5,400.00
OAK PARK AVE TRAIN STATION42538
70-00-000-72740 775.00
01-26-023-72785 775.00
OAK PARK AVE TRAIN STATION42539
70-00-000-72740 900.00
01-26-023-72785 900.00
PAWS42541
01-26-023-72785 270.00
POLICE DEPARTMENT42542
01-26-023-72785 605.00
POLICE DEPARTMENT42543
01-26-023-72785 735.00
80TH AVENUE SOUTH TRAIN LOT42546
70-00-000-72740 4,200.00
80TH AVENUE SOUTH TRAIN LOT42547
70-00-000-72740 5,700.00

3Page:

Page | 67AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
4

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186015 1/31/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
MUNICIPAL LOT-UNITED METHODIST CHURCH42548
01-26-023-72785 310.00
MUNICIPAL LOT-UNITED METHODIST CHURCH42549
01-26-023-72785 390.00
VILLAGE HALL42550
01-26-023-72785 1,170.00
VILLAGE HALL42551
01-26-023-72785 1,470.00
VOGT PLAZA42553
01-26-023-72785 270.00
ZABROCKI PLAZA42554
01-26-023-72785 410.00
ZABROCKI PLAZA42555
01-26-023-72785 450.00
HELIPORT & EMA42569
01-26-023-72785 580.00
HICKORY ST PARKING STALLS42570
01-26-023-72785 300.00
80TH AVENUE NORTH TRAIN LOT42575
70-00-000-72740 1,800.00
OAK PARK AVE TRAIN STATION42576
70-00-000-72740 300.00
01-26-023-72785 300.00
POLICE DEPARTMENT42578
01-26-023-72785 245.00
80TH AVENUE SOUTH TRAIN LOT42580
70-00-000-72740 1,900.00
VILLAGE HALL42582
01-26-023-72785 490.00

Total : 42,765.00

186016 1/31/2020 016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC 42518 TINLEY CREEK BRIDGE
01-26-023-72785 110.00
TINLEY CREEK BRIDGE42519
01-26-023-72785 150.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS (ED & JOES)42528

4Page:

Page | 68AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
5

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186016 1/31/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
01-26-023-72785 210.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS-BATH & KITCHEN42532
01-26-023-72785 155.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS-BATH & KITCHEN42533
01-26-023-72785 195.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS CARDINAL42534
01-26-023-72785 165.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS CARDINAL42535
01-26-023-72785 195.00
PAWS42540
01-26-023-72785 215.00
POST 1142544
01-26-023-72785 160.00
POST 1142545
01-26-023-72785 180.00
VOGT PLAZA42552
01-26-023-72785 240.00
TINLEY CREEK BRIDGE42565
01-26-023-72785 50.00
PUBLIC SAFETY BUILDING LOT42566
01-26-023-72785 130.00
FIRE STATION 342567
01-26-023-72785 110.00
FIRESTATION 442568
01-26-023-72785 160.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS (ED & JOES)42571
01-26-023-72785 90.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS SUBWAY42572
01-26-023-72785 140.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS-BATH & KITCHEN42573
01-26-023-72785 65.00
MUNICIPAL LOTS CARDINAL42574
01-26-023-72785 65.00
PAWS42577
01-26-023-72785 90.00
POST 1142579

5Page:

Page | 69AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
6

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186016 1/31/2020 (Continued)016817  BEVERLY SNOW AND ICE INC
01-26-023-72785 60.00
MUNICIPAL LOT-UNITED METHODIST CHURCH42581
01-26-023-72785 130.00
VOGT PLAZA42583
01-26-023-72785 90.00
ZABROCKI PLAZA42584
01-26-023-72785 150.00

Total : 3,305.00

186017 1/31/2020 019342  BURKE, PATRICK 012220 REFUND OVERPAYMENT CRIME FREE HOUSING LI
01-14-000-79000 50.00

Total : 50.00

186018 1/31/2020 003388  CAMPBELL, ANTHONY 012920 PER DIEM: LODGING-CRIM LAW & PROCEDURES
01-17-220-72140 108.48

Total : 108.48

186019 1/31/2020 003334  CCP INDUSTRIES, INC IN02459818 BATH TOWELS
01-19-000-72710 592.49
WIPESIN02460027
01-26-024-72710 88.57
01-26-023-72710 177.12
60-00-000-72710 61.99
63-00-000-72710 61.99
64-00-000-72710 53.14

Total : 1,035.30

186020 1/31/2020 003229  CED/EFENGEE 5025-529714 BUTT CONN
60-00-000-73631 66.92
64-00-000-73631 28.68
BULBS5025-530104
01-26-024-73570 381.96
BULBS5025-530106
01-26-023-73570 381.96
BULBS5025-530107
01-26-024-73570 194.88

6Page:

Page | 70AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
7

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186020 1/31/2020 (Continued)003229  CED/EFENGEE
01-26-024-73520 -3.90

Total : 1,050.50

186021 1/31/2020 017741  CENTRAL STATES BUS SALES, INC. IN457945 BLOWER ASSY PACE BUS
01-53-000-72540 207.85
CIRCUIT BOARD AND BOOST PUMP FOR PACE BUIN458329
01-53-000-72540 756.39VTP-017621

Total : 964.24

186022 1/31/2020 015199  CHICAGO PARTS & SOUNDS LLC 2-0000525 DEV DOC ST
01-17-205-72540 579.00

Total : 579.00

186023 1/31/2020 003137  CHRISTOPHER B.BURKE ENGINEERNG 155826 01.R160373.00007 POST 4 LIFT ST IMPROV D
61-00-000-75320 4,673.50
01.R160373.00002 INTERIM ENG SERV 12/1/1155829
01-26-023-72840 375.00
64-00-000-72840 3,088.00
01.R160373.00012 UTIL ENG SERV 12/1/19-1155831
27-00-000-75300 714.00
01.R160373.00013 RIDGELAND AVE SANITARY155832
61-00-000-75305 168.35
16-00-000-75305 177.97
18-00-000-75305 134.68
ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR BOULEVARD PROJE155833
27-00-000-75300 2,997.00VTP-017392
01.R160373.C0014 POST 7 FORCE MAIN LININ155834
61-00-000-75305 9,028.00

Total : 21,356.50

186024 1/31/2020 013820  CINTAS CORPORATION 5015801184 MEDICAL SUPPLIES/PUBLIC WORKS GARAGE
01-26-025-73117 444.26
MEDICAL SUPPLIES PUMP HOUSE #25015801185
01-26-025-73117 54.87
MEDICAL SUPPLIES PUMP HOUSE 1 6640 W 1675015801186
01-26-025-73117 81.52

7Page:

Page | 71AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
8

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186024 1/31/2020 (Continued)013820  CINTAS CORPORATION
MEDICAL SUPPLIES VILLAGE HALL5015801187
01-26-025-73117 228.28
MEDICAL SUPPLIES PUBLIC SAFETY BLDG5015801188
01-26-025-73117 306.64
MEDICAL SUPPLIES POLICE SHOOTING RANGE5015801189
01-26-025-73117 90.69
MEDICAL SUPPLIES EMA GARAGE5015801190
01-26-025-73117 89.50
MEDICAL SUPPLIES POLICE DEPT5015801191
01-26-025-73117 180.67

Total : 1,476.43

186025 1/31/2020 012057  COMCAST CABLE 8771401810265348 ACCT#8771401810265348 1/22/20-2/21/20 FI
01-19-000-72517 81.30
ACCT#8771401810316240 1/21/20-2/20/208771401810316240
01-17-205-72517 54.35

Total : 135.65

186026 1/31/2020 013892  COMED 6771163052 ACCT#6771163052 LITE RT/25 12/16/19-1/17
01-26-024-72510 4,354.59

Total : 4,354.59

186027 1/31/2020 013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON 0021100130 ACCT#0021100130 RT/23 METERED 17529 66TH
01-26-024-72510 54.22
ACCT#0052035006 6720 SOUTH ST 12/19-1/230052035006
01-26-025-72510 1,738.01
ACCT#0363058226 TFLT 9340 W 179TH ST 12/0363058226
01-26-024-72510 112.99
ACCT#0369095018 6761 NORTH ST LOT N TEMP0369095018
01-26-024-72510 74.70
ACCT#0421064066 0 LAPORTE RD & WATERVIEW0421064066
64-00-000-72510 131.74
ACCT#0519019106 6750 SOUTH ST 12/19/19-10519019106
12-00-000-72510 7.39
ACCT#0522112018 LITE RT/25 PARK LOT 17040522112018
01-26-024-72510 40.33

8Page:

Page | 72AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
9

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186027 1/31/2020 (Continued)013878  COMED - COMMONWEALTH EDISON
ACCT#1222218001 1 E OAK PK SS N ST 12/191222218001
70-00-000-72510 126.48
ACCT#1224165129 LIGHTING 7053 W 183RD ST1224165129
01-26-024-72510 174.03
ACCT#2587063010 REAR TEMP 17311 OAK PK A2587063010
12-00-000-72510 19.36
ACCT#3784064010 16301 CENTRAL AVE 12/19/3784064010
60-00-000-72510 134.48
63-00-000-72510 134.48
ACCT#4329016037 TEMP PRK LOT REAR 172384329016037
12-00-000-72510 25.17
ACCT#4803158058 0 RIDGELAND LN LIFT STN4803158058
64-00-000-72510 148.62
ACCT#7090006006 TEMP/PARK LOT REAR 172317090006006
12-00-000-72510 19.36
ACCT#7398024011 7000 W 183RD ST 12/19-1/7398024011
01-26-024-72510 111.75

Total : 3,053.11

186028 1/31/2020 018311  CONNECTION 57439501 CABLE
01-16-000-72565 36.86
MONITOR57446268
01-19-000-72565 171.60

Total : 208.46

186029 1/31/2020 012826  CONSTELLATION NEWENERGY, INC. 16590703801 ACCT#8368394 UTIL #4384028017 12/16/19-1
01-26-024-72510 129.18
ACCT ID 8368396  UTIL#4623055116 12/19/116622754001
01-26-024-72510 18,971.40

Total : 19,100.58

186030 1/31/2020 019337  CRISIS ASSOCIATES LLC 012420 PEER SUPPORT WORKSHOP/ZYLKA,ANICHINI
01-17-220-72140 600.00VTP-017614
01-21-210-72140 600.00VTP-017614

Total : 1,200.00

9Page:

Page | 73AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
10

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186031 1/31/2020 003635  CROSSMARK PRINTING, INC 77185 FIELD DIRECTORY 2020
01-17-205-72310 905.31VTP-017579
30 ESDA MAP SHEETS77534
01-21-000-72310 314.59
UTILITY TERMINATION NOTICE77541
60-00-000-72310 215.39
64-00-000-72310 92.31

Total : 1,527.60

186032 1/31/2020 017958  CUES 552408 GRANITE SOFTWARE RENEWAL
64-00-000-72655 1,250.00VTP-017589

Total : 1,250.00

186033 1/31/2020 015554  DALEY-MOMMSEN ENTERPRISES 012920 BOX OF JOE,DONUTS
01-17-217-72220 25.50

Total : 25.50

186034 1/31/2020 014690  DARLING INGREDIENTS  INC 10853285 SERV FEE TRAP INT/CAVALLINI'S CAFE
01-26-025-72530 127.00

Total : 127.00

186035 1/31/2020 003770  DUSTCATCHERS INC 70228 MATS/ VH
01-26-025-72790 65.93
MATS/PW GARAGE70230
01-26-025-72790 99.08

Total : 165.01

186036 1/31/2020 018996  ECOVOLT POWER CORP 2126 BATTERY
01-17-205-72540 75.00

Total : 75.00

186037 1/31/2020 004010  ED & JOE'S PIZZA 972822 PIZZAS - FIRE DEPT
01-19-000-72220 176.40
PIZZAS FOR TABLETOP EXERCISE973823
01-21-000-72220 165.55

Total : 341.95

186038 1/31/2020 012784  EMERGENCY VEHICLE TECHNOLOGIES 4801 REPAIR LIGHT BAR

10Page:

Page | 74AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
11

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186038 1/31/2020 (Continued)012784  EMERGENCY VEHICLE TECHNOLOGIES
01-19-000-72540 22.50

Total : 22.50

186039 1/31/2020 004019  EVON'S TROPHIES & AWARDS 111919 NAME BADGES
01-26-024-72310 124.25

Total : 124.25

186040 1/31/2020 019272  FIRE CAM LLC 1572 DRONES
30-00-000-74025 15,798.00VTP-017524

Total : 15,798.00

186041 1/31/2020 004265  FIRE PROTECTION PUBLICATION 145724 8TH EDITION INSTRUCTOR RESOURCE KIT
01-19-020-72720 235.50

Total : 235.50

186042 1/31/2020 015058  FLEETPRIDE 43243662 LED,ANGLE,PRONG
01-53-000-72540 58.66
LAMP,MOUNT KIT44454943
60-00-000-72530 32.81
63-00-000-72530 10.94
64-00-000-72530 18.75

Total : 121.16

186043 1/31/2020 012941  FMP 52-444821 COOLING METER
01-53-000-72540 38.91
OIL52-444853
01-42-000-73535 43.20
GEAR PWR REPL52-446018
01-53-000-72540 439.70
CREDIT CORE CHARGE,AUTOMATIC TRANS52-446644
01-53-000-72540 -229.60
01-19-000-72540 -14.23G

Total : 277.98

186044 1/31/2020 017852  FUN EXPRESS, INC. 701034028-01 ST PAT'S & EASTER DECOR
01-35-000-72923 101.43

11Page:

Page | 75AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
12

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 101.43186044 1/31/2020 017852 017852  FUN EXPRESS, INC.

186045 1/31/2020 016889  GALLAGHER MATERIALS INC. 14218 COLD PATCH
01-26-023-73780 2,887.02VTP-017585

Total : 2,887.02

186046 1/31/2020 004458  GATTO'S RESTAURANT & BAR 155952 MEALS
01-41-046-72220 297.00

Total : 297.00

186047 1/31/2020 010419  GLOBAL EMERGENCY PRODUCTS, INC AGJ14571 REPAIRS
01-19-000-72540 469.08

Total : 469.08

186048 1/31/2020 004538  GOLDY LOCKS 679063 DUPL KEY
01-26-025-73840 11.80

Total : 11.80

186049 1/31/2020 015397  GOVTEMPSUSA LLC 2956874 1/12 & 1/19/20 PAULA WALLRICH
01-33-310-72750 5,114.35

Total : 5,114.35

186050 1/31/2020 004438  GRAINGER 9409472454 GLOVES
01-26-025-73580 408.30
EAR MUFFS9409472462
01-26-023-73845 81.88
TOILET BOWL CLEANER9409863801
01-26-025-73580 152.25
CLEANER/DEGREASER9418558103
01-26-025-73580 115.92
TOILET WAND DISPOSABLE CLEANING SYSTEM/R9418565140
01-26-025-73580 331.28

Total : 1,089.63

186051 1/31/2020 012328  HOMER INDUSTRIES S138079 CHIPS DROP CHARGE
01-26-023-72890 250.00
CHIPS DROP CHARGES138089
01-26-023-72890 150.00

12Page:

Page | 76AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
13

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 400.00186051 1/31/2020 012328 012328  HOMER INDUSTRIES

186052 1/31/2020 004820  I.A.F.C MEMBERSHIP RENEWAL 012920 MEMBERSHIP  STEPHEN KLOTZ
01-19-000-72720 240.00

Total : 240.00

186053 1/31/2020 004813  ILLINOIS MUNICIPAL LEAGUE 012820 PUBLICATIONS
01-13-000-73110 62.00

Total : 62.00

186054 1/31/2020 015545  IMAGING SYSTEMS, INC. 2119-02 CAPSYS SOFTWARE CAPTURE
01-13-000-72650 2,980.49

Total : 2,980.49

186055 1/31/2020 010377  JIMMY JOHN'S GOURMET SANDWICH 2228500 DELI ITEMS
01-12-000-72220 131.70
SUBS2241606
01-15-000-72140 133.50

Total : 265.20

186056 1/31/2020 015288  KIESLER POLICE SUPPLY IN125743 AMMUNITION
01-17-220-73760 673.15VTP-017603

Total : 673.15

186057 1/31/2020 005379  KLEIN, THORPE & JENKINS, LTD 012120 LEGAL SERV THRU 12/31/19
01-14-000-72850 561.00

Total : 561.00

186058 1/31/2020 019248  K-TECH SPECIALTY COATINGS INC 202001-K0050 BEET HEET ANTI-ICER/PRE-WETTING AGENT
01-26-023-73812 5,968.47VTP-017591

Total : 5,968.47

186059 1/31/2020 014190  LEHIGH HANSON 5797036 BED/BACKFILL
70-00-000-73860 53.00
01-26-023-73860 159.01
60-00-000-73860 200.35
63-00-000-73860 22.26
64-00-000-73860 95.40

13Page:

Page | 77AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
14

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 530.02186059 1/31/2020 014190 014190  LEHIGH HANSON

186060 1/31/2020 014402  LEXISNEXIS RISK DATA MNGMNT 1038013-20191231 DEC'19  MINIMUM COMMITMENT REPORTS,SEARC
01-17-225-72852 150.00

Total : 150.00

186061 1/31/2020 013059  MAIOLO, DENISE 012020 REIM.EXP. MILEAGE 36.5 @ .58 DEC'19
01-12-000-72130 21.18

Total : 21.18

186062 1/31/2020 013969  MAP AUTOMOTIVE OF CHICAGO 40-544237 EVOL CER,FILTER ASY
01-17-205-72540 298.14
EVOL CER,BRAKE ROTOR,ACMLTR ASY,ELEMENT40-544517
01-17-205-72540 165.10

Total : 463.24

186063 1/31/2020 017802  MARTIN PLUMBING 010720 REMOVE & INSTALL BALL VALVE 6601 MARTIN
60-00-000-72745 295.00
REMOVE & INSTALL BALL VALVE 6621 177TH S080519
60-00-000-72745 245.00
REMOVE & INSTALL METER 17824 S 65TH CT091819
60-00-000-72745 295.00
REMOVE & INSTALL WATER METER 17809 S 64T101019
60-00-000-72745 185.00

Total : 1,020.00

186064 1/31/2020 012631  MASTER AUTO SUPPLY, LTD. 15030-83495 EXHAUST PIPE
01-53-000-72540 60.00

Total : 60.00

186065 1/31/2020 006074  MENARDS 79479 HOSE,CLAMPS,COUPLINGS,ELBOWS,ADAPTERS
60-00-000-72528 72.92
63-00-000-72528 72.91
PAIL79701
01-26-023-73410 5.98
PUSH BROOM79702
01-19-000-73410 188.93
PAIL, SPRING SNAP79734

14Page:

Page | 78AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
15

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186065 1/31/2020 (Continued)006074  MENARDS
01-26-023-73410 5.07
FLIPTOGGLE79759
01-26-023-72540 19.98
LADDER79842
01-26-025-73410 25.00
SUPPLIES79846
01-21-000-72530 4.23
CREDIT HOSE,COUPLING,ADAPTER,ELBOW,CLAMP79990
60-00-000-72528 -38.10
63-00-000-72528 -38.10
CHEST,TOOL BAG,COMFORT MAT79991
60-00-000-73870 33.94
63-00-000-73870 33.94
64-00-000-73870 29.08

Total : 415.78

186066 1/31/2020 018372  METROPOLITAN FIRE CHIEFS ASSOC 012920 DUES FOREST REEDER
01-19-000-72720 40.00

Total : 40.00

186067 1/31/2020 005904  MIDWEST AIR PRO 13595 SERV EXHAUST SYSTEM
01-19-000-72520 2,311.30

Total : 2,311.30

186068 1/31/2020 017764  MONTANA & WELCH, LLC. 12475 HEARING OFFICER
01-14-000-72876 1,365.00

Total : 1,365.00

186069 1/31/2020 005664  MORTON SALT INC 5402010831 ROAD SALT FOR 2019/2020 WINTER SEASON
01-26-023-73810 1,845.92VTP-017494
ROAD SALT FOR 2019/2020 WINTER SEASON5402012140
01-26-023-73810 39,129.09VTP-017494
70-00-000-73810 2,000.00VTP-017494

Total : 42,975.01

186070 1/31/2020 017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO. 3590219001 SWIVEL,PARKRIMP,TUBE,HOSE,FITTING,COUPLE

15Page:

Page | 79AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
16

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186070 1/31/2020 (Continued)017651  MSC INDUSTRIAL SUPPLY CO.
01-26-023-72540 456.85
CPLRS,SEALANT,LOCTITE,SEIZE STICK,BULB,D3590296001
01-26-023-72540 427.70
PARKRIMP3590309001
01-26-023-72540 103.48

Total : 988.03

186071 1/31/2020 014443  MURPHY & MILLER, INC SVC00023905 ROOF TOP A/C REPAIR AT POLICE DEPARTMENT
01-26-025-72530 6,944.00VTP-017384

Total : 6,944.00

186072 1/31/2020 018604  NAPA MONEE 154129 MIRROR
01-17-205-72540 26.99
BELT154137
01-17-205-72540 34.18

Total : 61.17

186073 1/31/2020 015723  NICOR 90223493009 ACCT#90-22-34-9300 9 6700 SOUTH ST 12/18
01-26-025-72511 286.95

Total : 286.95

186074 1/31/2020 013224  NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY 15213 NUCPS REGIST GREG SCHMECKPEPER
01-17-205-72140 1,000.00VTP-017613
NUCPS REGIST SAM DAJANI15214
01-17-205-72140 1,000.00VTP-017613
NUCPS REGISTRATION15220
01-17-220-72140 900.00VTP-017612

Total : 2,900.00

186075 1/31/2020 006714  PAPER DIRECT INC. 7953225 CERTIFICATES
01-14-000-73110 360.06
01-33-300-73110 59.83
01-14-000-73110 -108.02
01-33-300-73110 -17.95
01-14-000-73110 39.61
01-33-300-73110 6.58

16Page:

Page | 80AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
17

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 340.11186075 1/31/2020 006714 006714  PAPER DIRECT INC.

186076 1/31/2020 006475  PARK ACE HARDWARE 062763/1 #891431 BIT INSERT
60-00-000-73410 2.51
63-00-000-73410 0.28
64-00-000-73410 1.20
#891432 HOME/GARD SPRAYER062808/1
01-26-023-73410 19.19
#9404 TIE DOWNS062831/1
01-19-000-72140 39.98
#891431 SCREWDRIVER062835/1
60-00-000-73410 3.32
63-00-000-73410 0.37
64-00-000-73410 1.58
#891432 LINK CHAIN062849/1
60-00-000-72552 0.72
63-00-000-72552 0.72
64-00-000-72552 0.63
#891432 RULE TAPE062868/1
01-26-023-73410 19.18

Total : 89.68

186077 1/31/2020 017268  PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY 130438 4130.0030 NEW HORIZON-MARRIOT HOTEL
01-14-000-72850 312.00

Total : 312.00

186078 1/31/2020 006559  PRAXAIR DISTRIBUTION, INC 94403448 ACETYLENE,HIGH PRESSURE
01-26-024-73730 45.78
01-26-023-73730 91.55
60-00-000-73730 32.04
63-00-000-73730 32.04
64-00-000-73730 27.47

Total : 228.88

186079 1/31/2020 019344  QUICK, BILL Ref001387463 UB Refund Cst #00504061
60-00-000-20599 4.60

Total : 4.60

17Page:

Page | 81AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
18

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186080 1/31/2020 006361  RAY O' HERRON CO INC 2004867-IN ARMOR/S BISHOP
01-17-220-74618 753.21

Total : 753.21

186081 1/31/2020 012268  REGIONAL TRUCK EQUIPMENT CO 205561 REPLACEMENT FUEL TANK UNIT 39
60-00-000-72530 597.94VTP-017619
63-00-000-72530 66.44VTP-017619
64-00-000-72530 284.73VTP-017619

Total : 949.11

186082 1/31/2020 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 19110368 18-R0616 TP NORTH ST MUSIC PLAZA THRU 11
30-00-000-75905 403.13
14-541 THE MAGNUSON SERV THRU 11/29/1919120506
01-14-000-72840 1,122.50
17-R0338.014 RECREATNAL TRAILS PROJ MULT20010314
33-00-000-75205 2,140.00
18-R0617 TP NORTH ST RECONSTR OAK PK AV20010321
27-00-000-75300 3,983.80

Total : 7,649.43

186083 1/31/2020 006874  ROBINSON ENGINEERING CO. LTD. 20010193 14-653.04 TP OAK PK AVE RECONSTR 167-159
33-00-000-75806 2,558.33

Total : 2,558.33

186084 1/31/2020 019343  ROSOLOWSKI, JESSICA Ref001387462 UB Refund Cst #00488649
60-00-000-20599 26.64

Total : 26.64

186085 1/31/2020 015423  ROY ZENERE TRUCKING & 9258 CUL-DE-SACS SNOW REMOVAL
01-26-023-72785 14,042.40

Total : 14,042.40

186086 1/31/2020 013079  ROYAL PUBLISHING, INC. 7983026 AD/2019-20 ANDEW WINTER SPORTS PROGRAM
01-11-000-72310 350.00

Total : 350.00

186087 1/31/2020 016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS 3018056768 STAINLESS OIL PAN AND GASKET UNIT 57
01-26-023-72540 1,208.43VTP-017617

18Page:

Page | 82AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
19

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 1,208.43186087 1/31/2020 016334 016334  RUSH TRUCK CENTERS

186088 1/31/2020 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT 2216 WTR,CPY PPR,FOIL,TISSUE,GLUE,WIPES,BTTER
01-21-000-72220 3.36
01-21-000-73110 32.94
01-21-210-73110 121.39
01-21-000-73110 9.32
01-21-210-73110 9.33
01-19-000-73110 9.33
COPY PAPER,TISSUE,LYSOL,SWIFFER,WIPES,WA2764
01-26-025-73580 57.52
01-14-000-73115 5.49
01-26-023-73115 5.49
01-33-300-73115 5.49
01-33-310-73115 5.49
01-14-000-73110 50.97
60-00-000-73110 32.11
63-00-000-73110 3.57
64-00-000-73110 15.29
01-33-300-73110 50.97
01-33-310-73110 50.97
01-14-000-73115 5.97
60-00-000-73115 4.18
64-00-000-73115 1.79
01-33-300-73115 5.97
01-33-310-73115 5.97
60-00-000-73115 6.68
64-00-000-73115 2.87
01-26-023-73115 9.55
01-26-024-73115 4.78
TEA,TOWELS,COFFEE,COPY PAPER,POST-ITS,TO3410
60-00-000-73115 26.82
64-00-000-73115 11.50
01-26-023-73115 38.32
01-26-024-73115 19.16
01-26-025-73110 44.74
01-26-025-73580 14.98

19Page:

Page | 83AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
20

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 672.31186088 1/31/2020 007629 007629  SAM'S CLUB DIRECT

186089 1/31/2020 019239  SECURE WESTERN STORAGE INC 484 GUN RACK
01-17-220-73760 643.18VTP-017466

Total : 643.18

186090 1/31/2020 007350  SOUTH SUB. MAYORS & MANAGERS 2020-135 2020 MEMBERSHIP DUES /DINNER MTG ASSESSM
01-12-000-72720 30,176.00
01-11-000-72220 200.00
01-12-000-72220 200.00

Total : 30,576.00

186091 1/31/2020 007195  ST. JOHN, PATRICK 012820 PER DIEM: MEALS ALICE INSTRUCTOR CERT TR
01-17-220-72140 30.00

Total : 30.00

186092 1/31/2020 012238  STAPLES BUSINESS ADVANTAGE 3436685745 CREDIT EXPANDABLE MESSENGER BA
01-17-205-73110 -33.79
CREDIT STAMP3436685746
01-17-205-73110 -9.79
STAMP3436685747
01-17-205-73110 9.79
CALC RIBBON,PAPER,PENS,MOIST TIPS,FLDR,B3436685748
01-17-205-73110 119.15
TONER3436685749
01-17-205-73110 203.49

Total : 288.85

186093 1/31/2020 015452  STEINER ELECTRIC COMPANY S006549813.001 6FT FIBERGLASS STEP/SHELF LADDER
01-26-025-73410 145.67

Total : 145.67

186094 1/31/2020 014368  SUBURBAN PW DIRECTORS ASSOC. 2020-56 DUES KEVIN WORKOWSKI
60-00-000-72720 17.50
63-00-000-72720 17.50
64-00-000-72720 15.00
01-26-023-72720 50.00

20Page:

Page | 84AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
21

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 100.00186094 1/31/2020 014368 014368  SUBURBAN PW DIRECTORS ASSOC.

186095 1/31/2020 007297  SUTTON FORD INC./FLEET SALES 497424 KIT
01-17-205-72540 34.04
HINGE ASY497781
01-17-205-72540 54.46
MOULDING DOOR497859
01-17-205-72540 175.99
SOCKET & WIRE ASY497977
01-17-205-72540 285.31
WHEEL ASY498025
01-17-205-72540 108.92
KEYS633280
01-17-205-72540 293.88
FILTER,OIL633504
01-17-205-72540 39.99
2019 FORD TRANSIT VAN- REPLACE UNIT 34K00934
30-00-000-74225 40,108.00VTP-017550

Total : 41,100.59

186096 1/31/2020 018264  THE LAKOTA GROUP, INC. 18047.01-01 DOWNTOWN STREETSCAPE ADDL SERV
01-33-310-72847 930.00

Total : 930.00

186097 1/31/2020 007886  THEODORE POLYGRAPH SERVICE 6919 POLY EXAM /HEMZA SHAIBI/POLICE
01-41-040-72846 200.00

Total : 200.00

186098 1/31/2020 007691  TINLEY PARK CHAMBER/COMMERCE 011320 2019 TRIM-A-TREE SPONSOR
01-11-000-72220 200.00
NIEMEYER,GALANTE/65 ANNV/INAUGURAL DINNE013020
01-12-000-72220 40.00
01-11-000-72220 40.00

Total : 280.00

186099 1/31/2020 019006  TRAFFIC CONTROL COMPANY 14786 RE-STRIPPING VARIOUS PARKING LOTS/ HANDI
01-26-025-72520 4,800.00VTP-017382

21Page:

Page | 85AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
22

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 4,800.00186099 1/31/2020 019006 019006  TRAFFIC CONTROL COMPANY

186100 1/31/2020 019336  TRAINING FORCE USA LLC LEO-012020-0075 REGIST/BORDEN,STAMBAUGH
01-17-220-72140 398.00VTP-017615
REGIST BISHOP,BONAREKRR-012020-0076
01-17-220-72140 398.00VTP-017615

Total : 796.00

186101 1/31/2020 018759  TYSSEN, ROXANE 120319 REIM. EXP. FRAME PRINCE PRESENTING FLORA
01-41-057-72220 21.94
PRINTING PIC 30TH ANNIVERSARY136854
01-41-057-72220 25.00

Total : 46.94

186102 1/31/2020 008040  UNDERGROUND PIPE & VALVE CO 040833 TAP
60-00-000-73630 244.44
63-00-000-73630 37.16
64-00-000-73630 106.40

Total : 388.00

186103 1/31/2020 006362  VILLAGE OF OAK LAWN 6913 NORTHERN TRUST UNUSED COMMITMENT FEE 4TH
60-00-000-73221 215.55

Total : 215.55

186104 1/31/2020 010851  VISU-SEWER OF ILLINOIS, LLC 011620 POST 7 LINING PROJECT
61-00-000-75305 447,857.19VTP-017232

Total : 447,857.19

186105 1/31/2020 013654  VOSS EQUIPMENT INC 101170495 PAINT
60-00-000-72530 21.01
63-00-000-72530 7.00
64-00-000-72530 12.00

Total : 40.01

186106 1/31/2020 010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS4554762-0 CART,STAPLER
01-26-025-73580 117.22
01-26-025-73110 117.21
PAPER4555401-0

22Page:

Page | 86AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
23

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : apbank

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

186106 1/31/2020 (Continued)010165  WAREHOUSE DIRECT WORKPL SOLTNS
01-17-205-73110 478.90

Total : 713.33

186107 1/31/2020 012034  WITMER PUBLIC SAFETY GROUP,INC E1923652 EQUIP MARKER
01-19-000-73410 37.99

Total : 37.99

Bank total : 1,028,658.70103 Vouchers for bank code : apbank

23Page:

Page | 87AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
24

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

2611 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 343.75

Total : 343.75

2612 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021-2 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 343.75

Total : 343.75

2613 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021-3 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 392.24

Total : 392.24

2614 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021-4 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 392.24

Total : 392.24

2615 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021-5 PAYEE-ALIGN NETWORKS INC
01-14-000-72542 392.24

Total : 392.24

2616 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP191224W003 PAYEE-INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
01-14-000-72542 81.27

Total : 81.27

2617 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP191224W003 PAYEE-INGALLS OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
01-14-000-72542 473.21

Total : 473.21

2618 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021 PAYEE-OAK SURGICAL INSTITUTE
01-14-000-72542 4,494.51

Total : 4,494.51

2619 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190326W026 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 78.00

Total : 78.00

2620 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP191105W030 PAYEE-PETERSON JOHNSON & MURRAY
01-14-000-72542 560.00

24Page:

Page | 88AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



01/31/2020
Voucher List

Village of Tinley Park
25

 9:19:11AM
Page:vchlist

Bank code : ipmg

Voucher Date Vendor Invoice PO # Description/Account Amount

(Continued) Total : 560.002620 1/29/2020 018837 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP

2621 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP190912W021-6 PAYEE-TODD SWARTZENTRUBER
01-14-000-72542 587.52

Total : 587.52

2622 1/29/2020 018837  INSURANCE PROGRAM MANAGERS GRP200123W026 PAYEE-MEADE, INC.
01-14-000-72542 8,550.00

Total : 8,550.00

Bank total : 16,688.7312 Vouchers for bank code : ipmg

1,045,347.43Total vouchers :Vouchers in this report115

The Tinley Park Village Board having duly met at Village
Hall do hereby certify that the following claims or demands
against said village were presented and are approved for
payment as presented on the above listing.

In witness thereof, the Village President and Clerk of
the Village of Tinley Park, hereunto set their hands.

______________________________Village President

______________________________Village Clerk

______________________________Date

25Page:

Page | 89AGENDA - 2/4/2020, G -... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-003

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY FROM A B-4 (OFFICE AND SERVICE 

BUSINESS) ZONING DISTRICT AND R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICT TO B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD 

SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT TO ALLOW FOR AN AUTOMOBILE 
SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 90AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-003

AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A MAP AMENDMENT TO REZONE 
CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY FROM A B-4 (OFFICE AND SERVICE 

BUSINESS) ZONING DISTRICT AND R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL) ZONING DISTRICT TO B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD 

SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT TO ALLOW FOR AN AUTOMOBILE 
SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for granting a rezoning of certain real property from the B-4 (Office 
and Service Business) zoning district and R-1 (Single-Family Residential) to B-1 (Neighborhood 
Shopping) (“Rezoning”) located at 17100 & 17110 Harlem Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 
(“Subject Property”) to construct a gas station and convenience store has been filed by Vequity, 
LLC (“Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village and has been referred to the Plan 
Commission of the Village and has been processed in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning 
Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Rezoning should be granted on January 2, 2020 at the Village Hall of this Village, at which time 
all persons present were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and  

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 5-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Rezoning be approved with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Rezoning; and 

Page | 91AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting a Rezoning as set forth below and the 
proposed granting of the Rezoning as set forth herein is in the public good and in the best interest 
of the Village and its residents and is consistent with and fosters the purpose and spirit of the 
Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

1. The existing uses and zoning of nearby property;
The area is in a transition from residential to commercial uses. The surrounding areas and 
other corners of the intersection are all commercial zoning districts (B-4 and B-3). The 
area south of the subject property has similar infill/redevelopment properties that have 
been rezoned to similar low-intensity commercial districts (B-1 and B-4) upon their 
redevelopment.

2. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning;
The area along Harlem Avenue transitioning from residential to commercial uses and is 
indicated as commercial/office in the Village’s Comprehensive Plan. The development of 
the vacant properties will not diminish property values.

3. The extent to which the destruction of property values of the complaining party benefits the 
health, safety, or general welfare of the public;

No negative effects on property values are expected. The project will contribute directly to 
the economic development of the community by providing fuel, retail, and food services to 
visitors, providing additional jobs, and providing additional property and sales tax 
revenue where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue and 
convenience for residents and visitors.

4. The relative gain to the public as compared to the hardship imposed on the individual property 
owner;

No hardship is expected from neighboring properties due to the landscape and fence 
buffering provided. Lighting, dumpster locations, and overall site design was designed to 
avoid any issues with the neighboring residential properties. The project will contribute 
directly to the economic development of the community by providing fuel, retail, and food 
services to visitors, providing additional jobs, and providing additional property and sales 
tax revenue where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue and 
convenience for residents and visitors.

Page | 92AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



5. The suitability of the property for the zoned purpose;
The proposed use as a convenience store and gas station is suitable for the subject property 
due to the availability of high traffic volumes and available access points.

6. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, compared to development in the 
vicinity of the property;

The existing R-1 zoning house has remained vacant for 4-5 years and is not expected to be 
suitable for residential use. The B-4 zoned parcel had a vacant office building on it from 
2014-2016 and has been vacant since the building’s demolition in 2016.

7. The public need for the proposed use; and
There is a demand for additional automotive service (gas) stations and convenience stores 
in the area. Competition is limited at the two nearest gas stations (Shell and Speedway).

8. The thoroughness with which the municipality has planned and zoned its land use.
The property is shown as a Commercial/Office use in the Comprehensive Plan. The 
rezoning as a B-1, Neighborhood Shopping zoning district limits the ability for non-
desirable uses to be located adjacent to residential properties.

SECTION 3: The Rezoning as set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property: 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOTS 1 AND 2 IN BLOCK 1 IN ARTHUR T. MCINTOSH AND 
COMPANY’S SPUTHLANDS IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 25, 
TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 27-25-403-013-0000 and 27-25-403-014-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  17100 – 17110 Harlem Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That a Rezoning of the Subject Property from the B-4 (Office and Service Business) 
zoning district and R-1 (Single-Family Residential) to B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) 
(“Rezoning”) to permit the construction a gas station and convenience store is hereby granted to 
the Petitioner.

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

Page | 93AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 94AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-003 “AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A MAP AMENDMENT 

TO REZONE CERTAIN REAL PROPERTY FROM A B-4 (OFFICE AND SERVICE 

BUSINESS) ZONING DISTRICT AND R-1 (SINGLE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL) ZONING 

DISTRICT TO B-1 (NEIGHBORHOOD SHOPPING) ZONING DISTRICT TO ALLOW FOR 

AN AUTOMOBILE SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE 

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 95AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE DECEMBER 19, 2019 REGULAR MEETING

Item #2          PUBLIC HEARING: 7-ELEVEN GAS STATION – 171st STREET & HARLEM 
AVENUE  
Consider a request to recommend that the Village Board consider granting Vequity, 
LLC (Contract Purchaser) a map amendment to rezone the subject properties 
from B-4 (Office and Service Business) and R-1 (Single-Family Residential) 
to a B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning district. Additionally, the Petitioner 
is requesting a special use for an automobile service (gas) station with a 
convenience 
store and a variation from the Zoning Ordinance to permit a reduced ground sign 
setback. The requests will permit a 7-Eleven gas station and convenience store to 
be constructed at the properties located at 17100 - 17110 Harlem Avenue. Site Plan 
and Final Plat approval will also be considered at the meeting.

Present were the following: 

Plan Commissioners: Garrett Gray, Chairman
Stephen Vick
Tim Stanton
Lucas Engel
MaryAnn Aitchison

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): Eduardo Mani 
Angela Gatto
James Gaskill
Curt Fielder 

Guests: George Arnold, Attorney
Chris Ilekis, Petitioner
Dan Aykroyd, Sr. Real Estate Rep. – 7-Eleven
Ivan Nockov, Developer
William Perry, Engineer
Javier Millan, KLOA Traffic Consultant

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to open 
the Public

Hearing for 7-ELEVEN GAS STATION – 171st & HARLEM AVENUE.  The Motion was approved by 
voice call.

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved. 

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the 
Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village 
requirements. 

Page | 96AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHAIRMAN GRAY requested anyone present in the audience who wished to give testimony, comment, 
engage in cross-examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in.

Daniel Ritter, Senior Planner gave a presentation as noted in the Staff Report. The Petitioner is here with 
his design team; they will be available for questions.  The site will be a 7- Eleven convenience store and a 
gas station with 10 fueling stations.  The site is on the southwest corner of 171st and Harlem Avenue. The 
subject property consists of two lots. The lot furthest north is vacant and is currently zoned B-4 (Office and 
Service Business).  The site was previously home to an office building that was demolished in 2016.  The 
south portion of the subject property is zoned R-1 (Single-Family Residential) with a vacant single-family 
home and detached garage located on the property, both slated for demolition. There are two vacant single-
family home lots zoned R-1 to the south of the subject properties as well, and are not part of this 
development. The developer has agreed with the property owner (who is the owner of all four lots) and staff 
to demolish those two homes as well as part of the 7-Eleven project and the lots.  Staff recommended the 
demolition be a condition of the approval for the rezoning and special use requests as a substitution for 
completing a concept plan approval for the remaining lots.

The general history of that westerm block along Harlem Avenue is that it was developed as R-1 single 
family homes back to the 1950’s and 1960’s.  Over time it has converted to commercial uses starting in the 
1980s due to the high traffic volumes along Harlem Avenue. As they have redeveloped it has either been 
B-4 (Service and Office) or B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping).  To the north of the subject property is the 
Tinley Park Post Office, and to the west is a bank both zoned B-4 (Office and Service Business).  To the 
northeast is a multi-tenant office building and car wash zoned B-3 (General Business).  Directly to the east 
of the property is a Shell gas station/car wash, Jewel-Osco, and Tinley Park Commons Shopping Center 
zoned B-3 (General Business). To the west is single-family residential zoned R-1, which was a strong 
consideration in the site design and layout.

Automobile service (gas) stations are a special use in all commercial zoning districts, with the exception of 
B-5 (Automotive Service). The proposed gas station site is .961 acres and includes a 3,511 sq. ft. 
convenience store building, vehicle fueling area/canopy, vehicle parking, walkways, exterior storage areas, 
landscaping, and a dumpster enclosure.  There will be no truck/diesel fueling available at this site. Access 
to the site will primarily be through two curb cuts, one on Harlem Avenue and one on 171st Street. 
Additionally, there will be cross-access for vehicles to the west through the existing First Merchants Bank 
and a future cross-access to the south.  The cross-access through the bank will only be used for personal 
vehicles; truck access will be prohibited.  Fueling trucks will primarily access the site from 171st Street and 
exit southbound onto Harlem Avenue. 

The access points on both Harlem Avenue and 171st Street will be limited to right-in/right-out turns.  The 
median at Harlem Avenue is likely to make any illegal turns unlikely at that location. The 171st Street access 
includes limited access and a raised island to discourage illegal or dangerous turning movements. The 
geometrics of the access has been altered slightly to allow for fuel truck and fire engine access.  Drive aisles 
will meet the 26 foot width minimum with the exception of one on the north of the property that connects 
to the existing bank cross-access. 24 feet is standard in many situations, including in the Legacy District, 
and staff has no concerns with matching the existing bank aisle width to the west. There is a Variation to 
reduce a drive aisle to 24 feet.  The Village code is 26 feet, typically for extra width in case there are 
multiple trucks. 24 feet is typical for most communities. This site is tight and they have requested the 
reduction. Staff and Fire have no concerns.   

The parking and traffic were a primary concern staff and the developer has been reviewing and revising the 
plans to best address those concerns. The intersection can be very busy and has a history of traffic issues. 
There was originally a full access on 171st Street. Staff did not feel this worked and pushed for the right-
in/right-out with raised curbing to prevent vehicles from making turns they should not be and that could 

Page | 97AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



create traffic issues on 171st Street. Staff feels this plan will work with Cook County Dept. of Transportation 
requirements and the Village Engineer.

A Gas Station and convience store is not a specific use listed in the Zoning Ordiances parking requirements. 
With the 3,511 sq. ft. proposed convenience store would require 23 parking spaces if analyzed under the 
“retail store” requirements. The proposed site plan provides 17 total spaces based on the similar retail 
requirements.  Due to the unique nature of a gas station where some of the retail users may be stationed at 
the pumps, it yields the potential for 10 additional parking spaces.  Customers are usually on the site for 
short very periods as opposed to typical retail stores with longer shopping periods. This results in high 
turnover and thereby lowering the demand for parking stalls. Staff believes that the parking supply is 
adequate on the proposed site.

The Plan Commission did not have concerns about the parking supply on the site due to the experiences 
with other locations and the expected quick turnover of customers.  The Commission did request a review 
of the traffic analysis findings by the Petitioners’ traffic consultant (KLOA).  There are some deficiencies 
in the landscaping.  The Village’s Landscape Architect
has reviewed the plan and finds it to be in general conformance with the Village’s Landscape Ordinance 
with a few exceptions due to the site’s constraints.  The Petitioner has indicated that they have worked to 
meet the landscape requirements to the greatest extent possible and focused their available bufferyard width 
and landscaping to adequately buffer views from the residential properties to the west.  The deficiencies 
are outlined in the table below.  

Table A
Please note the following abbreviations: CT = Canopy Tree, US = Understory Tree, SH = Shrub, T = Tree.

BUFFERYARD REQUIREMENTS

Bufferyard 
Location

Required 
Width

Proposed 
Width Length Required 

Plantings
Proposed 
Plantings Deficit

North
(“C” 

Bufferyard)

10’ 10’ 117’

6 CT

3 US

24 SH

4 CT

2 US

24 SH

-2 CT

-

+9 SH

East
(“C” 

Bufferyard)

10’ 10’ 149’

8 CT

3 US

30 SH

4 CT

3 US

30 SH

-4 CT

-

-

South
(“B” 

Bufferyard)

20’ 20’ 154’

4 CT

1 US

19 SH

4 CT

3 US

8 SH

0

+2 US

-11 SH

West (top)
(“B” 

Bufferyard)

10’ 10’ 83’

3 CT

1 US

14 SH

3 CT

1 US

12 SH

-

-

+1 SH

Page | 98AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



West (bottom)
(“D” 

Bufferyard)

30’ 30’ 82’

6 CT

3 US

23 SH

5 CT

1 US

23 SH

-1 CT

-2 US

-

PARKWAY STANDARDS

Location Requirement Required 
Trees

Proposed 
Trees Deficit Comments

Parkway 1 tree per 25 lineal ft. 9 0 -9

Adequate room does not exist.   
CT in bufferyards could be 

further upsized to compensate 
for this deficiency.

PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING STANDARDS

Location Requirement Provided Deficit Comments

Parking Lot
15% of parking lot area to 
be landscaped or 3,130 sq. 

ft.
1,425 sq. ft. -1,705 sq. ft. 20,870 sq. ft. of parking lot 

shown on landscape plan

Parking Lot Screening of adjacent 
properties and streets.

Continuous 
screening not 

provided.
~40 lineal ft.

Parking in northwest corner of 
site not screened along drive 

aisle – this could also help with 
Parking Lot deficit outlined 

above

The Village’s consultant supports the bufferyard and parkway requests with a couple of 
recommendations/changes listed below.  Staff recommends these few revisions be made to reduce the 
landscape waivers were possible.  

1. They have only upsized shade trees to a combination of 3” and 4” cal.  It is recommended that all 
CT trees be increased to a minimum of 4.5” cal.  

2. Add some shrubs along the north drive aisle in the NW corner of the site to help offset the 
deficiencies. 

3. Revise the west bufferyard design to add two additional shrubs.  

A fence is proposed running between the site and the parcels to the west.  The fence is proposed to match 
the adjacent bank’s fence (beige PVC fence).  Plans currently show a six foot high fence.  The bank’s 
existing fence is eight foot high.  Eight foot high fences are recommended for the separation of commercial 
and residential uses.  

The north and west bufferyards were revised to better meet the Landscape Code’s requirements.  The 
revised waivers are listed in the table above.  The Petitioner agreed to utilize a minimum tree caliber of 4-
inches at installation to help offset some of the deficiencies and ensure a buffer is established quickly.  They 
also agreed to revise the fence height to 8 feet and to match the existing bank.  These two changes (tree 
caliber and fencing) were made to plan details but there are also some contradicting notes left on the plans 
due to the quick resubmittal timeframe.  To clarify, the requirements were added as recommended 
conditions of Site Plan Approval and will be revised prior to permitting.  The Plan Commission did not 

Page | 99AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



have concerns at the workshop in regards to the interior landscaping and parkway tree waivers due to the 
limited space on the site and auto-oriented use.  The proposed landscaping is expected to meet or exceed 
the neighboring commercial properties.  

The design of the convenience store building and gas station canopy utilizes high-quality materials, 
including face brick (76% of the exterior, excluding glazing) with fiber cement and metal cornice 
architectural treatments. All mechanical equipment on the rooftop will be screened by the parapet. The face 
brick will be a beige/grey color and the fiber cement accents will be dark brown/espresso in color.  The 
proposed structure will have metal architectural canopies on the front façade over windows and doors.  The 
fueling canopy and dumpster enclosure are also proposed to match the building’s materials, colors, and 
style.  

Staff recommended a more residential roof for the convenience store building, utilizing more residential 
elements such as shingles and peaks. A peak was added to the front entrance and caps to the architectural 
treatments to give a more traditional look to the building.  The architectural design is prototypical of 7-
Eleven’s new branding initiative. The Plan Commission did not have concerns about the proposed building 
or canopy designs and preferred the peaked roof element at the entrance.  

The Petitioner is requesting a Variation for a 5 foot sign setback.  Due to the tight space, a ground sign size 
and location were presented.  The proposed location will require a five foot setback Variation to allow the 
sign to be setback 5 feet from the property line instead of 10 feet.  The Petitioner has decided to leave the 
final proposal up to the 7- Eleven operator and it will meet the zoning code.  Staff is comfortable with the 
proposed 5 foot setback Variation.

The Petitioner has provided a Photometric Plan that provides lighting via 8 LED light poles, 12 LED canopy 
fixtures, and 6 LED wall mount fixtures throughout the site.  The light spillage will be less than one foot 
candle at the roadway and zero at the south and western property lines, which are adjacent to the residential 
uses.  All light fixtures are full cut-off and downcast to prevent glare on adjacent properties and roadways.  
Particular thought was put into the light placement and height to avoid their visibility from the residential 
properties to the west.  Lighting appeared to be placed approximately to avoid off-site light spillage and 
glare.  There is also an 8 foot fence that matches the bank fence that will block light to the residents.     

Due to the rezoning of the lots to a B-1 zoning district, three lot bulk variations are required for the 
following:

1. Lot size of .961 acres instead of the required min. of 4 acres.
2. Lot width of 186.53 feet instead of the required min. of 600 feet.
3. Lot depth of 198.52 feet instead of the required min. of 250 feet.  

An automobile service (gas) station is a special use in B-1, B-2, and B-3 commercial zoning districts.  Gas 
stations are a special use in all commercial zoning districts except B-5.  Gas stations are generally in high 
traffic areas and the sites require a unique site design that accounts for safe/efficient access, proper 
circulation, sufficient parking, and adequate light levels.  

The proposed Plat of Subdivision will consolidate two existing lots (17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue) 
resulting in a single lot that is .961 acres in size. Existing drainage and utility easements will remain on the 
property. Easements for the public sidewalk and cross-access to east and south have been included in the 
Final Plat of Subdivision. However, the public sidewalk easement need to be extended across the north 
property line. The Plat of Subdivision will need to be revised to add a sidewalk easement covering the full 
length of the sidewalk along the northern property line. The Final Plat of Subdivision was revised with the 
appropriate public sidewalk easements in place.  Staff has no further concerns.  

Page | 100AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Commissioners.  

There were none.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked the Petitioner to speak.  

George Arnold, Attorney for the Petitioner thanked staff for a thorough presentation.  He introduced his 
project team and noted they are available for any questions. They would have their traffic consultant give 
an overview of the existing and proposed traffic situation.

Javier Millan, KLOA Traffic Consultant noted the development will be served by two right-in/right-outs, 
one on Harlem Avenue and the other on 171st Street.  The one on 171st Street will be constructed with a 
raised triangular island to enforce the turn restrictions.  It will also be enhanced with larger radius to accept 
the tanker trucks.  In addition to the access drives there will be additional cross-access connectivity to the 
west with the First Merchants Bank. The Bank has a full access on 171st Street and they also have a right-
in/right-out access on Oconto Drive.  This will ensure efficient flexibility with access.  There will also be 
cross-access to the south when that land is developed in the future.    

Also in the traffic study he observed the traffic in the area. 171st Street during the peak traffic time backs 
up quite a bit travelling east bound.  The reason for the backup is that Harlem Avenue gets the majority of 
the green time with three times the amount of traffic than 171st Street.  More often than not, the que/backup 
clears or gets signifigantly reduced and allows people to get out.  Most of the trips will be from pass-by 
traffic.  They are already on the road and just looking for a convient gas station.  It is our professional 
opinion that the traffic will be dispersed in an efficient manner.  Both intersections, Harlem Avenue and 
171st Street will operate in an acceptable level of service.  The county and the state have preliminarily 
reviewed the site plan and are in agreement with an acceptable level of service.  In conclusion, the proposed 
development of the gas station is only proposed to increase traffic 1-2%.  This is so minimal that it will not 
have a large impact.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY agreed with the benefit of cross-access to the other sites to the west and south.  What 
does 1-2% equate to in terms of vehicles?  Mr. Millan replied during the peak hours there will only be 
approximately 15 vehicles per hour.  

CHAIRMAN GRAY inquired about the curb cuts on Harlem Avenue.  Mr. Ritter replied that final details 
would be decided and permitted by IDOT.  At this point IDOT is okay with this and the Village does not 
have signifigant concerns.

Mr. Ritter noted that Mr. Ilekis was proactive and met with the neighbors to show the proposal and receive 
feedback.  The car wash was removed from the plan to avoid neighbor concerns about noise and the 
proximity to the lot line. The adjacent residential was one of the biggest concerns taken into account by the 
developer in regards to the design of lighting and landscaping.

COMMISSIONER VICK inquired about adding trees in the back on the west side of the property. Mr. 
Ritter replied this has been taken care of along the west property line.
 
CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the public.  There were none.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER VICK, to close the 
Public Hearing for 7-ELEVEN GAS STATION – 171st & HARLEM AVENUE.  The Motion was approved 

Page | 101AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



by voice call. CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved. 

Mr. Ritter reviewed the Standards for rezoning:

a. The existing uses and zoning of nearby property;
 The area is in a transition from residential to commercial uses. The surrounding areas 

and other corners of the intersection are all commercial zoning districts (B-4 and B-3). 
The area south of the subject property has similar infill/redevelopment properties that 
have been rezoned to similar low-intensity commercial districts (B-1 and B-4) upon their 
redevelopment.

b. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning;
 The area along Harlem Avenue transitioning from residential to commercial uses and is 

indicated as commercial/office in the Village’s Comprehensive Plan. The development of 
the vacant properties will not diminish property values.

c. The extent to which the destruction of property values of the complaining party benefits the 
health, safety, or general welfare of the public;
 No negative effects on property values are expected. The project will contribute directly 

to the economic development of the community by providing fuel, retail, and food 
services to visitors, providing additional jobs, and providing additional property and 
sales tax revenue where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue 
and convenience for residents and visitors.

d. The relative gain to the public as compared to the hardship imposed on the individual property 
owner;
 No hardship is expected from neighboring properties due to the landscape and fence 

buffering provided. Lighting, dumpster locations, and overall site design was designed 
to avoid any issues with the neighboring residential properties. The project will 
contribute directly to the economic development of the community by providing fuel, 
retail, and food services to visitors, providing additional jobs, and providing additional 
property and sales tax revenue where the existing vacant property is generating minimal 
tax revenue and convenience for residents and visitors.

e. The suitability of the property for the zoned purpose;
 The proposed use as a convenience store and gas station is suitable for the subject 

property due to the availability of high traffic volumes and available access points.

f. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, compared to development in the 
vicinity of the property;
 The existing R-1 zoning house has remained vacant for 4-5 years and is not expected to 

be suitable for residential use. The B-4 zoned parcel had a vacant office building on it 
from 2014-2016 and has been vacant since the building’s demolition in 2016.

g. The public need for the proposed use; and
 There is a demand for additional automotive service (gas) stations and convenience stores 

in the area. Competition is limited at the two nearest gas stations (Shell and Speedway).

h. The thoroughness with which the municipality has planned and zoned its land use.

Page | 102AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 The property is shown as a Commercial/Office use in the Comprehensive Plan. The 
rezoning as a B-1, Neighborhood Shopping zoning district limits the ability for non-
desirable uses to be located adjacent to residential properties.

Mr. Ritter reviewed the Standerds for Special Use:

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to 
or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;
 The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, 

comfort, or general welfare because the proposed project will encompass the 
development of an automobile service (gas) station and convenience store that will 
service for visitors and residents of the community. The project will be constructed 
meeting current Village building codes and is among the highest and best uses of a 
parcel at a heavily traveled intersection.

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;
 The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 

immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood because the proposed project will 
develop land that is currently vacant and provide services for visitors and residents of the 
community. The site will be well-landscaped and will have an eight-foot fence to buffer 
the property from the residential homes to the west. The building will be constructed with 
quality materials. This proposed use is similar and compatible with existing nearby uses 
along Harlem Avenue.

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;
 The Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement 

of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district because the majority of the 
property within this area has already been developed. Landscape buffers have been 
supplied to the west and cross-access has been supplied for the vacant lots to the south.

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or 
are being provided;
 The proposed plans provide evidence of existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities 

and any necessary modifications to be accommodated on the 7-Eleven site. Drainage has 
been accounted for on the site and utilizes the existing storm sewer system. All on-site 
and accepted existing off-site drainage has been accounted for within the plans.

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and
 The proposed plans include site access by utilizing two curb cuts on Harlem Avenue and 

171st Street that allow for ingress/egress to the site and efficient site circulation. Cross-
access for passenger vehicles is also provided by a cross-access easement to the east 
through the neighboring bank property. Cross-access is also supplied to the vacant lots 
to the south for possible future cross-access as well. The site incorporates proposed 
public and private walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and from the site.

Page | 103AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by 
the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board 
shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use 
Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or 
minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better 
carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or 
restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.
 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and 

Village regulations except for certain Variations applied herein related to the 
redevelopment of an existing infill site. These Variations are consistent with other 
properties within along Harlem Avenue and the intent of the regulations are met where 
possible.

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.
 The proposed 7-Eleven project will contribute directly to the economic development of 

the community by providing fuel, retail, and food services to visitors, providing 
additional jobs, and providing additional property and sales tax revenue where the 
existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue.

Mr. Ritter reviewed the Standards for Variation:

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.
 The property is an infill site with limited ability to expand its size, dimensions, and 

setbacks. The overall area on the west side of Harlem Avenue will eventually meet the 
intent of the Zoning Code’s minimum lot requirements upon its full redevelopment. The 
Variations allow the fairly small and limited sized lot to be reasonably developed with a 
commercial use.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.
 The small properties offer a challenging situation for redevelopment as they were 

originally residential lots. Residential uses on the lots are no longer preferred or 
marketable along the heavily traveled Harlem Avenue commercial corridor.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
 The lot Variations will be similar to other properties that have redeveloped along Harlem 

Avenue in regards to the lot size and sign setbacks. The drive aisle width is a standard 
width in many other municipalities and is not expected to be noticeable.

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are 
practical difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the 
following facts favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence:

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific 
property involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as 
distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were 
carried out;

Page | 104AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be 
applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property;

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, 
or by a previous owner;

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious 
to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is 
located; and

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an 
adjacent property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or 
increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or 
impair property values within the neighborhood.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for Motions:

Motion 1 (Site Plan): 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER VICK, seconded by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON to grant 
the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, Site Plan Approval to construct an automobile service (gas) station and a 3,511 
sq. ft. 7-Eleven convenience store building at 17100 Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) 
Zoning District, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and subject to the following 
conditions:

1. The two vacant single-family homes to the south of the subject property (17118 & 17130 
Harlem Avenue) owned by the same property owner shall be demolished as proposed by 
the Petitioner.

2. The proposed fence shall be a minimum of 8 feet in height and match the existing fence on 
the neighboring bank property (7231 171st Street) in height, color, and style.

3. All Canopy Trees on the site shall be installed at a minimum of 4” trunk caliper.

4. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Rezoning, Special Use, and Variations by 
the Village Board.

5. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval.”

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, AITCHISON, VICK & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

Motion 2 (Rezoning): 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER ENGEL to 
recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, a rezoning of the properties located 
at 17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue from their existing B-4 (Office and Service Business) and R-1 (Single-

Page | 105AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Family Residential) zoning districts to the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning district and adopt the 
Findings of Fact submitted by the applicant and as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report.”

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, AITCHISON, VICK & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

Motion 3 (Variations): 
A motion was made by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON, seconded by COMMISSIONER STANTON to 
recommend that the Village Board grant the following Variations to the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, at the 
property located at 17100 Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) Zoning District, in 
accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village 
Staff in the Staff Report.

1. A five foot Variation from Section IX-D-2-c. to permit a freestanding sign to be located five feet 
from the property instead of the required minimum of ten feet.

2. A two foot Variation from Section VIII-C-Table 2 (Parking Lot Dimension Guidelines) to permit 
a 24 foot wide two-way drive aisle instead of the required 26 foot minimum.

3. A 3.039 sq. ft. Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) to 
permit a lot size of .961 acres, instead of the required minimum of 4 acres.

4. A 413.47 foot Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) to 
permit a lot width of 186.53 feet instead of the required minimum of 600 feet.

5. A 51.48 foot Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) to permit 
a lot depth of 198.52 feet instead of the required minimum of 250 feet.

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, AITCHISON, VICK & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

Motion 4 (Special Use): 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON to 
recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, to permit an 
automobile service (gas) station and a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store on the property located at 17100 
Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) Zoning District, in accordance with the plans 
submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report.

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, AITCHISON, VICK & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

Motion 5 (Final Plat): 
A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER ENGEL, seconded by COMMISSIONER STANTON to 
recommend that the Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, Final Plat of 

Page | 106AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Subdivision Approval for Southlands First Consolidation in accordance with the Final Plat submitted and 
listed herein, subject to the following condition:

1. The Final Plat approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the Village Engineer.

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, AITCHISON, VICK & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

Page | 107AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 1 of 8 

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE  

PLAN COMMISSION, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 

COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS 

 

December 19, 2019 

 

 

 

The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on December 19, 2019 at 

7:00 p.m. 

 

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 

ROLL CALL 

 

Plan Commissioners:  Curt Fielder, Acting Chairman 

James Gaskill 

Tim Stanton 

Angela Gatto 

Stephen Vick 

 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  Garrett Gray 

Eduardo Mani  

Lucas Engel 

Mary Aitchison 

 

Village Officials and Staff: Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director 

Dan Ritter, Senior Planner 

Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary  

CALL TO ORDER 

 

PLAN COMMISSION ACTING CHAIRMAN FIELDER called to order the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission for 

December 19, 2019 at 7:00 p.m. 

  

COMMUNICATIONS 

 

None 

 

APPROVAL OF MINUTES 

 

Minutes of the November 21, 2019 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for approval.  A Motion was 

made by COMMISSIONER STANTON, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL to approve the minutes as presented.  

ACTING CHAIRMAN FIELDER declared the Motion approved by voice call.      

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 108AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 2 of 8 

TO:   VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES 

FROM:  VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION 

 

SUBJECT:  MINUTES OF THE DECEMBER 19, 2019 REGULAR MEETING 
 

Item #1           WORKSHOP: 7-ELEVEN GAS STATION – 171st & HARLEM AVENUE   

Consider a request to recommend that the Village Board consider granting Vequity,  

LLC (Contract Purchaser) a map amendment to rezone the subject properties  

from B-4 (Office and Service Business) and R-1 (Single-Family Residential)  

to a B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning district. Additionally, the Petitioner  

is requesting a special use for an automobile service (gas) station with a convenience  

store and a variation from the Zoning Ordinance to permit a reduced ground sign  

setback. The requests will permit a 7-Eleven gas station and convenience store to be constructed 

at the properties located at 17100 - 17110 Harlem Avenue. Site Plan and Final Plat approval will 

also be considered at the meeting. 

 
Present were the following:  

 

Plan Commissioners:  Curt Fielder, Acting Chairman 

James Gaskill 

Stephen Vick 

Tim Stanton 

Angela Gatto 

 

Absent Plan Commissioner(s):  Garrett Gray 

Eduardo Mani  

Lucas Engel 

MaryAnn Aitchison 

 

Guests:    David Sosin, Attorney 

Dan Aykroyd, Sr. Real Estate Rep. – 7-Eleven 

    Ivan Nockov, Developer 

    William Perry, Engineer 

 

Daniel Ritter, Senior Planner gave a presentation as noted in the Staff Report. The Petitioner is here with his design team; 

they will give a short presentation of their project and respond to any open items. The site will be a 7- Eleven convenience 

store and a gas station with 10 fueling stations.  The site is on the southwest corner of 171st and Harlem Avenue. The subject 

property consists of two lots. The lot furthest north is vacant and is currently zoned B-4 (Office and Service Business).  The 

site was previously home to an office building that was demolished in 2016.  The south portion of the subject propoerty is 

zoned R-1 (Single-Family Residential) with a vacant single-family home and detached garage located on the property, both 

slated for demolition. There are two vacant single-family home lots zoned R-1 to the south of the subject properties as well, 

and are not part of this development. The developer has agreed with the property owner (who is the owner of all four lots) 

and staff to demolish those two homes as well as part of the 7-Eleven project and the lots.  Staff recommended the demolition 

be a condition of the approval for the rezoning and special use requests as a substitution for completing a concept plan 

approval for the remaining lots. 

 

To the north of the subject property is the Tinley Park Post Office, and to the west is a bank.  Both are zoned B-4 (Office 

and Service.  To the northeast is a multi-tenant office building and car wash zoned B-3 General Business).  Directly to the 

Page | 109AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 3 of 8 

east of the property is a Shell gas station/car wash and the Jewel-Osco and Tinley Park Commons Shopping Center zoned 

B-3 (General Business). To the west is single-family residential. 

 

Automobile service (gas) stations are a special use in all commercial zoning districts, with the exception of B-5 (Automotive 

Service). The proposed gas station site includes a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store building, vehicle fueling area/canopy, 

vehicle parking, walkways, exterior storage areas, landscaping, and a dumpster enclosure.  There will be no truck/diesel 

fueling available at this site. Access to the site will primarily be through two curb cuts, one on Harlem Avenue and one on 

171st Street. Additionally, there will be cross-access for vehicles to the west through the existing First Merchants Bank and 

a future cross-access to the south.  The cross-access through the bank will only be used for personal vehicles; truck access 

will be prohibited.  Fueling trucks will primarily access the site from 171st Street and exit southbound onto Harlem Avenue.  

 

The access points on both Harlem Avenue and 171st Street will be limited to right-in/right-out turns.  The median at Harlem 

Avenue is likely to make any illegal turns unlikely at that location. The 171st Street Access includes limited access and a 

raised island to discourage illegal or dangerous turning movements. The geometrics of the access has been altered slightly 

to allow for fuel truck and fire engine access.  Drive aisles will meet the 26 foot width minimum with the exception of one 

on the north of the property that connects to the existing bank cross-access. 24 feet is standard in many situations and staff 

has no concerns with matching the existing bank aisle width. 

 

The parking and traffic were a primary concern staff and the developer has been reviewing and revising the plans to best 

address those concerns. The intersection can be very busy and has a history of traffic issues. There was originally a full 

access on 171st Street. Staff did not feel this worked and pushed for the right-in/right-out with raised curbing to prevent 

vehicles to make turns they should not do and could create traffic issues on 171st Street. Staff feels this plan will work with 

Cook County Dept. of Transportation and the Village Engineer.  This should control the access in and out.  The Petitioner’s 

transportation expert (KLOA) will be available at the Public Hearing to discuss their report and answer any other specific 

questions. 

 

With the 3,511 sq. ft. proposed convenience store requires 23 parking spaces per the Zoning Ordinance requirements.  The 

proposed site plan provides 17 total spaces based on the similar retail requirements.  Due to the unique nature of a gas station 

where some of the retail users may be stationed at the pumps yields the potential for 10 additional parking spaces.  Customers 

are usually on the site for short periods, resulting in high turnover and thereby lowering the demand for parking.  Staff 

believes that the parking supply is adequate on the proposed site.   

 

COMMISSIONER GASKILL inquired about the parking.  He was not sure there is enough parking at this location. Mr. 

Sosin, Attorney replied that per the Petitioner’s experience with his other locations, he is confident that this parking is 

adequate.  

 

There are some deficiencies in the landscaping.  The Village’s Landscape Architect has reviewed the plan and finds it to be 

in general conformance with the Village’s Landscape Ordinance with a few exceptions due to the site’s constraints.  The 

Petitioner has indicated that they have worked to meet the landscape requirements to the greatest extent possible and focused 

their available bufferyard width and landscaping to adequately buffer views from the residential properties to the west.  The 

deficiencies are outlined in the table below.   

 

Table A 

Please note the following abbreviations: CT = Canopy Tree, US = Understory Tree, SH = Shrub, T = Tree. 
 

BUFFERYARD REQUIREMENTS 

Bufferyard 

Location 

Required 

Width 

Proposed 

Width 
Length 

Required 

Plantings 

Proposed 

Plantings 
Deficit 

Page | 110AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 4 of 8 

North 

(“C” Bufferyard) 
10’ 10’ 117’ 

6 CT 

3 US 

24 SH 

4 CT 

2 US 

24 SH 

-2 CT 

-1 US 

- 

East 

(“C” Bufferyard) 
10’ 10’ 149’ 

8 CT 

3 US 

30 SH 

4 CT 

3 US 

30 SH 

-4 CT 

- 

- 

South 

(“B” Bufferyard) 
20’ 20’ 154’ 

4 CT 

1 US 

19 SH 

4 CT 

3 US 

8 SH 

0 

+2 US 

-11 SH 

West (top) 

(“B” Bufferyard) 
10’ 10’ 83’ 

3 CT 

1 US 

14 SH 

3 CT 

1 US 

12 SH 

- 

- 

-2 SH 

West (bottom) 

(“D” Bufferyard) 
30’ 30’ 82’ 

6 CT 

3 US 

23 SH 

5 CT 

1 US 

23 SH 

-1 CT 

-2 US 

- 
 

PARKWAY STANDARDS 

Location Requirement 
Required 

Trees 

Proposed 

Trees 
Deficit Comments 

Parkway 1 tree per 25 lineal ft. 9 0 -9 

Adequate room does not exist.   

CT in bufferyards could be 

further upsized to compensate 

for this deficiency. 

 

PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING STANDARDS 

Location Requirement Provided Deficit Comments 

Parking Lot 
15% of parking lot area to be 

landscaped or 3,130 sq. ft. 
1,425 sq. ft. -1,705 sq. ft. 

20,870 sq. ft. of parking lot 

shown on landscape plan 

Parking Lot 
Screening of adjacent 

properties and streets. 

Continuous 

screening not 

provided. 

~40 lineal ft. 

Parking in northwest corner of 

site not screened along drive 

aisle – this could also help with 

Parking Lot deficit outlined 

above. 

    

A fence is proposed running between the site and the parcels to the west.  The fence is proposed to match the adjacent 

bank’s fence (beige PVC fence).  Plans currently show a six foot high fence.  The bank’s existing fence is eight foot high.  

Eight foot high fences are recommended for the separation of commercial and residential uses.  The Petitioner will need to 

revise the plans to indicate an eight foot fence matching the existing bank fence in color, height, and style.  

 

The design of the convenience store building and gas station canopy utilizes high-quality materials, including face brick 

with fiber cement and metal cornice architectural treatments.  All mechanical equipment on the rooftop parapet will be 

screened. The architectural design is prototypical of 7-Eleven’s new branding initiative. Staff recommended a more 

residential roof for the convenience store building, utilizing more residential elements such as shingles and peaks. A peak 

was added to the front entrance and caps to the architectural treatments to give a more traditional look to the building. 

Page | 111AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 5 of 8 

Due to the tight space, a ground sign size and location were presented.  The proposed location will require a five foot setback 

Variation to allow the sign to be setback five feet from the property line instead of ten feet.  The Petitioner has decided to 

leave the final proposal up to the 7- Eleven operator.  Staff is comfortable with the proposed five foot setback Variation. 

 

The Petitioner has provided a Photometric Plan.  Particular thought was put into the light placement and height (20’ pole 

height) to avoid their visibility from the residential properties to the west.  No light or glare (0 foot candle spillage) will be 

visible to the neighboring properties. The property will require rezoning.  The existing properties are zoned B-4 (Office and 

Service Business) and R-1 (Single-Family Residential). The B-1 zoning district was chosen due to the cohesiveness with 

adjacent residential uses. The B-1 zoning district also allows for the Petitioner to request a special use to permit an 

automobile service (gas) station to be constructed on the site.   

 

Due to the rezoning of the lots to a B-1 zoning district, three lot bulk variations are required for the following: 

 

1. Lot size of .961 acres instead of the required min. of 4 acres. 

2. Lot width of 186.53 feet instead of the required min. of 600 feet. 

3. Lot depth of 198.52 feet instead of the required min. of 250 feet.   

 

An automobile service (gas) station is a special use in B-1, B-2, and B-3 commercial zoning districts.  Gas stations are a 

special use in all commercial zoning districts except B-5.  Gas stations are generally in high traffic areas and the sites require 

a unique site design that accounts for safe/efficient access, proper circulation, sufficient parking, and adequate light levels.   

 

The proposed Plat of Subdivision will consolidate two existing lots (17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue) resulting in a single 

lot that is .961 acres in size. Existing drainage and utility easements will remain on the property. Easements for the public 

sidewalk and cross-access to east and south have been included in the Final Plat of Subdivision. However, the public 

sidewalk easement need to be extended across the north property line. The Plat of Subdivision will need to be revised to 

add a sidewalk easement covering the full length of the sidewalk along the northern property line. 

 

ACTING CHAIRMAN FIELDER asked the Petitioner to speak.   

 

David Sosin, Attorney for the Petitioner noted regarding the parking that most customers would only spend 3-5 minutes 

while they get gas and enter the store to pay for the gas and do minor shopping. 17 parking spaces are considered to be more 

than adequate due to their experience with the other 7-Eleven stores, of which they have many. 

 

Mr. Sosin noted they have been working on this plan for over a year and have done 10 major changes to try and address the 

access and neighboring property issues. The car wash was eliminated due to the proximity of the residents to the west and 

that allowed for additional buffering. There is no Master Plan at this time but he is working with the developer on a use for 

the property to the south. The drive aisle of 24’ is standard for other Villages and works well on this site. 

 

Adding 2 feet in height to the fence is not a problem at all. Signage is important to any user and they will work with the 

Village to meet the code requirements.  The houses will be buffered from Harlem Avenue with the 0 foot-candle lighting 

and the buffering from landscaping and an 8 foot fence.  The site actually accepts stormwater from the residents to the west 

and will accommodate stormwater flow through their site. The stormwater in this area will be improved with the extensive 

engineering done. The traffic expert will be at the Public Hearing for any questions. As this is currently a busy area, they 

feel the traffic change will only be 1-2% more at most.    

 

ACTING CHAIRMAN FIELDER asked for comments from the public.  There were none. 

 

COMMISSIONER STANTON inquired if you could make a left-hand turn and enter the station on 171st Street when going 

north on Harlem, then turn into the station.  Mr. Ritter replied that it would not be possible to directly enter the gas station 

that way, you can only turn into the station when going south on Harlem Avenue and east on 171st Street.  You could make 

a left turn at the Oconto Avenue intersection or enter at the bank due to the allowable cross-access between the properties. 

Page | 112AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 6 of 8 

COMMISSIONER STANTON inquired about the hours of operation.  Mr. Sosin replied the hours of operation for most 7-

elevens are 24 hours a day.  There are no speakers or bells, and the lighting has been designed very well to avoid any issues 

off-site. They will be good neighbors.  The pumps are close to Harlem Avenue and the entrance is on the east side with the 

thought of staying away from the residential area.   

 

COMMISSIONER STANTON inquired if there was thought about a security system.  Ivan Nockov, Developer replied 

there will be a camera system that is centrally monitored. 

 

COMMISSIONER VICK inquired about Cook County allowing access on 171st Street. It seems that you are doing 

everything possible to restrict the left-hand turn. The parking seems to be fine and will work similarly to their other gas 

station location on 159th Street with quick customer turnover. 

 

COMMISSIONER GATTO inquired about the properties to the south and who would maintain them after they are 

demolished.  Mr. Sosin replied that the homes that are there now are a buffer to the residents to the west.  It could be good 

to leave them there until there is something done with that property.  Mr. Ritter replied that there is a demo plan in the 

contract with the Petitioner and they are in deteriorating condition with property maintenance issues. Staff does not want 

these properties to be reoccupied as residential as the 7-Eleven plan was designed assuming these would not be residential 

homes. 

 

ACTING CHAIRMAN FIELDER inquired if the utility poles will remain or would they be burying the lines. If not, will 

any of the poles be moved. Mr. Ritter replied the poles will stay and they will not be buried. It is very expensive to bury 

them and there are poles in the area that connect to these. They will need to adjust the utility line height for safe access amd 

it does appear one of the Harlem Avenue light poles needs to be relocated. 

 

ACTING CHAIRMAN FIELDER inquired if the triangle at the right-in/right-out would be a choke point for cars entering 

and exiting.  Mr. Nockov replied that the safety standard for 7-Eleven is to have fuel trucks enter from the back rather than 

around the front of the building.  Mr. Ritter replied that the fuel trucks would be coming into the station at slow traffic times.  

Kimberly Clarke, Community Development Director noted that the entry to the station has been very challenging but they 

have come up with a plan that should work for all properties. 

 

COMMISSIONER VICK noted that the entry is probably the best way that can be done. What are the changes to the buffer 

on the landscaping?  Mr. Ritter replied they are short a couple trees and shrubs.  Staff feels the landscape architect can make 

it work.  Parkway trees are not able to be done.  Mr. Sosin noted he would have the Petitioner’s landscape architect work 

with the Village.  A 4” tree is probably the best size.   

 

COMMISSIONER VICK inquired if the lots to the south should be rezoned now.  Mr. Ritter replied this would not be good 

to rezone at this time until there are plans for the development.   

 

COMMISSIONER GATTO noted she liked the peak that has been added to the roof.   

 

Ms. Clarke noted this has been a good team to work with.   

 

Mr. Ritter went through all the open items:   

1.  Discuss recommended condition requiring the demolition and lot restoration of the two deteriorating vacant single-

family homes south of the subject site (currently the same property owners). 

 

2. Discuss Variation to reduce the minimum drive aisle width from 26 feet to 24 feet. 

 

3. Staff is recommending a condition that site plan approval be conditioned upon final engineering review and 

approval. 

 

Page | 113AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 7 of 8 

4. Discuss the proposed landscape plan and requested Landscape Ordinance waivers. Discuss staff’s recommendations 

to best offset deficiencies. 

 

5. Revise plans to indicate that the fence between the subject site and residential properties to the west matches the 

existing bank’s fence in height (eight feet), color (taupe/beige) and style (PVC privacy). 

 

6. Review the proposed architectural design and materials used throughout the site. 

 

7. Discuss proposed ground sign setback Variation to permit a five foot setback. 

 

8. Discussed proposed parking supply of 17 parking spaces and need for the traffic analysis to include parking 

information for similar locations. 

 

9. Discuss overall light plan and light fixture placement. 

 

10. Discuss the requested rezoning of the subject property to the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning district. 

 

11. Discuss the requested Variations associated with the lot dimensions and size. 

 

12. Discuss the proposed special use for an Automobile Service (Gas) Station. 

 

13. Revise the Plat of Subdivision so that the public sidewalk easement encompasses the entire length of the sidewalk 

that runs on private property. 

 

Mr. Ritter noted most of the open items are workable with minimal concerns.   

 

Ms. Clarke noted the Traffic Consultant (KLOA) will be at the Public Hearing to talk about the improvements.  

 

Mr. Sosin noted they are fairly certain they will be able to get a permit for a curb cut from IDOT and Cook County.   

 

The Public Hearing will be on January 2, 2020.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 114AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission  

                      December 19, 2019           

Page 8 of 8 

GOOD OF THE ORDER: 

1. The Village is working towards Property Acquisition for Harmony Plaza.  

2. The Boulevard/South Street moving forward with the foundation. The weather has cooperated. They are close to 

the full permit being issued with hopefully one more set of revisions needed. 

3. Lenny’s Food N Fuel on 183rd Street was approved by the Village Board.  

4. Banging Gavel got the incentive agreement amended and will be moving forward with their loan and start the 

reconstruction. 

5. SIP Wine Bar has pretty much finished on the outside and they are working on the inside and opening soon. 

6. The Masonry amendments have been approved at the Village Board. The Fee structure is being reviewed by 

Village Board currently and will take fees out of the zoning code and put them in a comprehensive fee schedule. 

7. An English Garden, 16800 Oak Park Avenue will come before the Plan Commission at the next meeting for 

Special Use to convert commercial space to an apartment on the second floor. This will help with their taxes. 

COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSION: 

 

None at this time. 

 

PUBLIC COMMENT: 

None at this time. 

ADJOURNMENT: 

There being no further business, a Motion was made by PLAN COMMISSIONER GASKILL, seconded by PLAN 

COMMISSIONER VICK to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of December 19, 2019 at                                                                                             

8:16 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  ACTING PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN FIELDER 

declared the meeting adjourned. 

Page | 115AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 116AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



January 2, 2020 – Public Hearing 

 
7-Eleven Gas Station 

17100 Harlem Ave 

 

 
 

 
The Petitioner, Vequity LLC (Contract Purchaser), is seeking approval to construct a 7-

Eleven gas station and convenience store on the southwest corner of 171st Street and 

Harlem Avenue (17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue). The proposal includes a 3,511 sq. ft. 

convenience store and canopy area with ten vehicle fueling stations. The project includes 

installation of a dumpster enclosure, fencing, landscaping, and a public sidewalk. The 

project requires Rezoning of the properties to the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning 

district, Special Use Approval for an automobile service (gas) station with a convenience 

store, Site Plan Approval, Final Plat of Consolidation Approval and Variations for min. lot 

width, min. lot size and min. lot depth, ground sign setback, and min. drive aisle width. 

 

The subject site area on the west side of Harlem Ave was originally developed in the 

county with single-family homes for the full block. Starting in the 1980s the area began to 

transition from residential to commercial uses; the Comprehensive Plan designates the 

area as a “commercial/office” use. As the homes have been demolished and new 

commercial buildings constructed, the properties have been rezoned to either B-1 

(Neighborhood Shopping) or B-4 (Office and Service) due to their proximity to single-

family residential homes. The petitioner revised a previous plan for a car wash to be 

constructed on the site due to staff review comments and a desire to minimize potential 

negative effects on the abutting residential properties. The petitioner has also added 

fencing, additional landscaping, and amended the lighting plan to avoid any off-site glare 

or light pollution.  

 

Changes to the December 19, 2019 Plan Commission Workshop Staff Report are 

indicated in red. 

 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Vequity, LLC (Contract 

Purchaser) 

 

Property Location 

17100 & 17110 Harlem 

Avenue 

 

PIN 

27-25-403-013-0000 & 

27-25-403-014-0000 

 

Zoning 

B-4 (Office & Service 

Business) & 

R-1 (Single-Family 

Residential) 

 

Approvals Sought 

Rezoning 

Special Use Permit 

Site Plan Approval 

Variation 

Plat Approval 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 

Page | 117AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 2 of 20 

 
The subject property consists of two lots on the southwest 

corner of Harlem Avenue and 171st Street. The lot furthest 

north is vacant and currently zoned B-4 (Office and Service 

Business). This site was previously home to an office 

building that was demolished in 2016. The south portion of 

the lot is zoned R-1 (Single-Family Residential) with a vacant 

single-family home and detached garage located on the 

property that are slated for demolition. There are two 

vacant single-family home lots zoned R-1 to the south of 

the subject properties as well, and while these are not part 

of the development, the homes are in deteriorating 

condition. The developer has agreed with the property 

owner (who is the current owner of all four lots) and staff to 

demolish those two homes as well as part of the 7-Eleven 

project and restore the lots (top soil, seed and blanket). 

Staff recommends this be a condition of the approval for 

the rezoning and special use requests. This would remove 

two vacant and deteriorating homes and would leave only 

one home occupied residentially on the block. 
 

Open Item #1: Discuss recommended condition requiring 

the demolition and lot restoration of the two 

deteriorating vacant single-family homes south of the 

subject site (currently the same property owners).  
 

Petitioner has indicated they agree to demolish the vacant 

and deteriorating homes and that it is in their purchase 

contract for their project. 

 

The block where the gas station is proposed on the west 

side of Harlem Ave was originally developed with single-

family homes in the 1950s-1960s. Starting in the 1980s this 

area began to transition from residential to commercial 

uses due to their frontage along a heavily traveled 

commercial corridor. The area is shown as a 

commercial/office use in the Village’s Comprehensive Plan 

(2000). Due to the multiple curb cuts and difficulty of 

access, residential uses are not considered the highest and 

best use for this area. As the lots have been redeveloped 

with commercial buildings, the properties have been 

rezoned to either B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) or B-4 

(Office and Service) due to their proximity to the single-

family residential to the west. 

 

To the north of the subject property is the Tinley Park Post 

Office and to the west is bank, both zoned B-4 (Office and 

Service). To the northeast is a multi-tenant office building 

and car wash zoned B-3 (General Business). Directly to the 

east of the property is a Shell gas station/car wash and the 

Jewel-Osco and Tinley Park Commons Shopping Center zoned B-3 (General Business). 

 

 

Page | 118AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 3 of 20 

 

The proposed gas station site 

includes fueling stations for ten 

vehicles. There will be a 3,511 sq. ft. 

convenience store building that sells 

vehicle fuel and typical retail items 

(food, drinks, snacks, tobacco, etc.) 

There will not be any truck fueling 

available at this location. 

 

Vehicle service (gas) stations are a 

special use in all commercial zoning 

districts with the exception of B-5 

(Automotive Service). One typical 

concern with gas stations is that they 

require a unique site design that 

accounts for safe/efficient access, 

proper circulation, sufficient parking 

and adequate lighting levels, among 

other things. 

 

The Petitioner originally proposed an 

attached car wash as part of the 

proposal requiring B-3 (General Business and Commercial) zoning. Due to staff ’s concerns related to the more 

intense uses permitted in the B-3 zoning district and the possible noise from traffic and car wash equipment, the 

Petitioner agreed to remove the car wash from their proposal and revise their request to a B-1 zoning district. 
 

 

 

 

Page | 119AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 4 of 20 

 
The site plan includes the convenience store building, vehicle fueling area/canopy, vehicle parking, walkways, 

exterior storage areas, landscaping, and a dumpster enclosure. Access to the site will primarily be through two curb 

cuts, one on Harlem Avenue and one on 171st Street. Additionally, there will be cross-access for vehicles to the west 

through the existing First Merchants Bank (7231 171st Street) and a future cross-access to the south. The cross-

access through the bank will only be used for personal vehicles; truck access will be prohibited. Fueling trucks will 

primarily access the site from 171st Street and exit southbound onto Harlem Avenue. 

 

The access points on both Harlem Avenue and 171st Street will be limited to right-in/right-out turns. The median at 

Harlem Avenue is likely to make any illegal turn unlikely at that location. The 171st Street access includes limited 

access and a raised island to discourage illegal or dangerous turning movements. The geometrics of the access have 

been altered slightly to allow for fuel truck and fire engine access. The access is still subject to Cook County 

Department of Transportation approval bur Village Staff believes the raised median and limited-access will help 

avoid causing any traffic issues at the intersection. Drive aisles all meet 26 foot width minimum with the exception 

of the one on the north of the property that connects to the existing bank cross-access. 24 feet is standard in many 

situations and staff has no concerns with matching the existing bank aisle width. 

 

Open Item #2: Discuss Variation to reduce the minimum drive aisle width from 26 feet to 24 feet. 

 

 
Above: Propose Site/Geometric Plan 

Page | 120AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 5 of 20 

 
Above: Proposed Truck Circulation Plan 

 

The Subdivision Code requires that any new development or redevelopment install a public sidewalk on all public 

frontages. The other three corners of intersection have sidewalks and crossings installed. The six foot wide 

sidewalk is the standard width in commercial areas and runs along both the Harlem Avenue and 171st Street 

frontages. Due to the small parkway area along 171st Street and at the intersection, the sidewalk will encroach onto 

the development site and that portion of the sidewalk will need to be placed in a public sidewalk easement. IDOT is 

reviewing the plans currently and may require crosswalk upgrades to be completed with sidewalk installation. 

 

Engineering has a number of outstanding comments and revisions on the preliminary/final engineering plans that 

will be addressed prior to permit submittal. Staff is recommending that the site plan approval be conditioned upon 

final engineering review and approval. 

 

Open Item #3: Staff is recommending a condition that site plan approval be conditioned upon final engineering 

review and approval. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 121AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 6 of 20 

 
The proposed Landscape Plan has been reviewed by the Village’s Landscape Architect and finds it to be in general 

conformance with the Village’s Landscape Ordinance with a few exceptions due to the site’s constraints. The 

proposal requests a waiver from a few of the bufferyard requirements, parkway tree requirements, and interior 

landscaping requirements. The Petitioner has indicated that they have worked to meet the landscape requirements 

to the greatest extent possible and focused their available bufferyard width and landscaping to adequately buffer 

views from the residential properties to the west. Deficiencies are outlined in the table below. 
 

 

Table A 

Please note the following abbreviations: CT = Canopy Tree, US = Understory Tree, SH = Shrub, T = Tree. 
 

BUFFERYARD REQUIREMENTS 

Bufferyard 

Location 

Required 

Width 

Proposed 

Width 
Length 

Required 

Plantings 

Proposed 

Plantings 
Deficit 

North 

(“C” Bufferyard) 
10’ 10’ 117’ 

6 CT 

3 US 

24 SH 

4 CT 

3 US 

33 SH 

-2 CT 

- 

+9 SH 

East 

(“C” Bufferyard) 
10’ 10’ 149’ 

8 CT 

3 US 

30 SH 

4 CT 

3 US 

30 SH 

-4 CT 

- 

- 

South 

(“B” Bufferyard) 
20’ 20’ 154’ 

4 CT 

1 US 

19 SH 

4 CT 

3 US 

8 SH 

0 

+2 US 

-11 SH 

West (top) 

(“B” Bufferyard) 
10’ 10’ 83’ 

3 CT 

1 US 

14 SH 

3 CT 

1 US 

15 SH 

- 

- 

+1 SH 

West (bottom) 

(“D” Bufferyard) 
30’ 30’ 82’ 

6 CT 

3 US 

23 SH 

5 CT 

2 US 

23 SH 

-1 CT 

-1 US 

- 
 

PARKWAY STANDARDS 

Location Requirement 
Required 

Trees 

Proposed 

Trees 
Deficit Comments 

Parkway 1 tree per 25 lineal ft 9 0 -9 

Adequate room does not exist.   

CT in bufferyards could be 

further upsized to compensate 

for this deficiency. 

 

PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING STANDARDS 

Location Requirement Provided Deficit Comments 

Parking Lot 
15% of parking lot area to be 

landscaped or 3,130 sq. ft. 
1,425 sq. ft. -1,705 sq. ft. 

20,870 sq. ft. of parking lot shown 

on landscape plan 

Parking Lot 
Screening of adjacent 

properties and streets. 

Continuous 

screening not 

provided. 

~40 lineal ft 

Parking in northwest corner of 

site not screened along drive aisle 

– this could also help with Parking 

Lot deficit outlined above. 

Page | 122AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 7 of 20 

Staff has recognized the difficulty in meeting the Landscape Ordinance requirements for gas stations in recent 

reviews, especially on smaller sites. As an auto-oriented use, the fueling area needs to remain free from 

obstructions and allow room for vehicle movement throughout the site. Landscaping pots can be added but these 

are often hard to maintain throughout the year. The Petitioner has met the majority of the Landscape Ordinance, 

yet these few deficiencies remain due to site constraints. The proposed landscaping is similar in style and design 

with surrounding area properties and along Harlem Avenue. Below is a list of the landscaping deficiencies in the 

proposed plan. The species and variety of plantings are expected to increase the appeal of the property and overall 

area. The proposed plan shows a plethora of screening along the west property line to help buffer any views form 

the residential homes the property adjoins. 

 

The Village’s consultant supports the bufferyard and parkway requests with a couple of recommendations/changes 

listed below. Staff recommends these few revisions be made to reduce the landscape waivers were possible. 

 

1. They have only upsized shade trees to a combination of 3” and 4” cal. It is recommended that all CT trees be 

increased to a minimum of 4.5” cal. 

 

2. Add some shrubs along the north drive aisle in the NW corner of the site to help offset the deficiencies. 

 

3. Revise the west bufferyard design to add two additional shrubs. 

 

Open Item #4: Discuss the proposed landscape plan and requested Landscape Ordinance waivers. Discuss staff’s 

recommendations to best offset deficiencies. 

 

A fence is proposed running between the subject property and the parcels to the west. The fence is proposed to 

match the adjacent bank’s fence (beige PVC fence). Plans currently show a six foot high fence proposed. However, 

the bank’s existing fence is eight foot high. Eight foot high fences are recommended for separation of commercial 

and residential uses. It is believed this was indicated as six feet high in error. The petitioner will need to confirm this 

and revise the plans to indicate an eight foot fence matching the existing bank fence in color, height, and style. 

 

Open Item #5: Revise plans to indicate that the fence between the subject site and residential properties to the 

west matches the existing bank’s fence in height (eight feet), color (taupe/beige) and style (PVC privacy). 

 

The north and west bufferyards were revised to better meet the Landscape Code’s requirements. The revised 

waivers are listed in the table above. The Petitioner agreed to utilize a minimum tree caliber of 4-inches at 

installation to help offset some of the deficiencies and ensure a buffer is established quickly. They also agreed to 

revise the fence height to 8 feet and to match the existing bank. These two changes (tree caliber and fencing) were 

made in the plan details, but there are also some contradicting notes left on the plans due to the quick resubmittal 

timeframe. To clarify, the requirements were added as recommended conditions of Site Plan Approval and will be 

revised prior to permitting. The Plan Commission did not have concerns at the Workshop in regards to the interior 

landscaping and parkway tree waivers due to the limited space on the site and auto-oriented use. The proposed 

landscaping is expected to meet or exceed the neighboring commercial properties. 

 

Page | 123AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 8 of 20 

 
 

 

 
The design of the convenience store building and gas station canopy utilizes high-quality materials, including face 

brick (76% of exterior, excluding glazing) with fiber cement and metal cornice architectural treatments. All 

mechanical equipment will be screened by the rooftop parapet. The face brick will be a beige/grey color and the 

fiber cement accents will be dark brown/espresso in color (appears black in some renderings). The proposed 

structure will have metal architectural canopies on the front façade over windows and doors.  The fueling canopy 

and dumpster enclosure are also proposed to match the building’s materials, colors, and style.  

 

Staff originally recommended a more residential roof for the convenience store building, utilizing more residential 

elements such as shingles and peaks. However, the architectural design is prototypical of 7-Eleven’s new branding 

initiative. A peak was added to the front entrance and caps to the architectural treatments to give a more traditional 

look to the building. 

 

Open Item #6: Review the proposed architectural design and materials used throughout the site. 

 

The Commission did not have concerns about the proposed building or canopy designs and preferred the peaked 

roof element at the entrance as proposed. 

 

Page | 124AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 9 of 20 

 
 

 
 

 

Page | 125AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 10 of 20 

 
Specific wall, canopy, and ground signs are 

not proposed for the site at this time. The 

Petitioner has reviewed the Zoning Code’s 

sign requirements and believes that they 

can comply with them. Wall signs will not 

be proposed on the south and west facades 

due to their proximity to residentially zoned 

property. 

 

Due to the tight space, a ground sign size 

and location were proposed. The proposed 

location will require a five foot setback 

variation to allow the sign to be setback five 

feet from the property line instead of ten 

feet. The ground sign is required to have a 

base that matches the principal building 

and not exceed ten feet in height. Sign 

setback Variations are typically 

accompanied by a specific sign design. 

However, the petitioner has decided to 

leave the final proposal up to the operator. 

Staff is comfortable with the proposed 

variation request because of the tight site 

constraints. The request will be limited to 

the proposed location, but will avoid the 

need to request a separate Variation in the 

future. 
 

Open Item #7: Discuss proposed ground 

sign setback Variation to permit a five foot 

setback. 

 
 
 

 
The Village Zoning ordinance provides some guidance for required parking for various uses; however, there is no 

specific reference for a convenience store associated with a gas station. In these situations where a specific use is 

not listed, the Plan Commission has authority to approve the parking based on the Petitioner’s proposal and similar 

uses noted in the ordinance. A professional parking study is typically required to be supplied to assist the Plan 

Commission in their review. 

 

Convenience stores are most commonly considered a “retail use” which requires one parking stall for every 150 sq. 

ft. With a total of 3,511 sq. ft. proposed, this results in a requirement of 23 parking spaces per the Zoning Ordinance 

requirements. The proposed site plan provides 17 total spaces total (deficient six parking spaces) based on the 

similar retail requirement. However, due to the unique nature of a gas station where some of the retail users may 

be stationed at the pumps (which is not included in the parking count) yields the potential for ten additional parking 

spaces. In addition, customers are usually on the site for short periods, resulting in high turnover and thereby 

lowering the demand for parking. The gas station exceeds the parking supply compared to other gas stations in 

 
 

 
Above: Not the actual ground sign proposal. For discussion purposes only. 

Example of a typical 7-Eleven gas station sign with a solid base. 

Page | 126AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 11 of 20 

Tinley Park that are similar in size. For example, the Shell gas station across the street (17101 Harlem Avenue) has 6 

parking spaces and Mobil/7-Eleven (7601 159th Street) has 14 parking spaces. The existing 7-Eleven convenience 

store at 17055 Oak Park Avenue does not have fueling, but is comparable in size, and has 14 parking spaces. 

 

The petitioner did supply a traffic analysis from their consultant (KLOA) but that analysis did not address the 

proposed parking. Staff believes that the parking supply is adequate on the proposed site, but if the Commission 

have any parking concerns, parking counts of comparable locations can be requested. 

 

The Plan Commission did not have concerns about the parking supply on the site due to the experiences with other 

locations and the expected quick turnover of customers. The Commission did request a review of the traffic analysis 

findings by the Petitioner’s traffic consultant (KLOA) at the Public Hearing. 

 

Open Item #8: Discussed proposed parking supply of 17 parking spaces and need for the traffic analysis to include 

parking information for similar locations. 

 

 
A new lighting ordinance was recently adopted in September 2019. 

The lighting plan for the proposed development complies with the 

new lighting standards in respect to fixture type, illumination 

intensity, and light intensity at the property lines. 

 

The Petitioner has provided a Photometric Plan that provides 

lighting via 8 LED light poles, 12 LED canopy fixtures, and 6 LED wall 

mount fixtures throughout the site. The Photometric Plan indicates 

light spillage of less than one foot candle at the roadway and zero 

at the south and western property lines, which are adjacent to 

residential uses. All light fixtures are full cut-off and downcast to 

prevent glare on adjacent properties and roadways. Particular 

thought was put into the light placement and height (20’ pole 

height) to avoid their visibility from the residential properties to the 

west. Between the thoughtful placement of lights, fence and 

landscape screening, no light or glare will be visible to the 

neighboring properties. 

 

Open Item #9: Discuss overall light plan and light fixture placement. 

 

Lighting appeared to be placed approximately to avoid off-site light spillage and glare. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Above: Proposed wal-pac lighting will be 

attached to the building and downcast at a 
90 degree angle. 

Page | 127AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 12 of 20 

 

Rezoning 

 

The two existing properties are zoned B-4 (Office and Service Business) and R-1 (Single-Family Residential) and 

proposed to be rezoned to B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping). The Zoning Code’s describes the zoning district as follows:  

 

“The B-1 Neighborhood Shopping District is intended to provide areas for retail and service establishments to supply 

convenience goods or personal services for the daily needs of the residents living in adjacent residential neighborhoods. 

The district is designed to encourage shopping centers with planned off-street parking and loading and to provide for 

existing individual or small groups of local stores.” 

 

The Petitioner originally proposed an attached car wash as part of the proposal requiring B-3 (General Business and 

Commercial) zoning. Due to staff’s concerns related to the more intense uses permitted in the B-3 zoning district 

and the possible noise from traffic and car wash equipment, the Petitioner agreed to remove the car wash from 

their proposal and revise their request to a B-1 zoning district. 

 

The B-1 zoning district was chosen due to the cohesiveness with adjacent residential uses. The B-1 zoning district 

also allows for the petitioner to request a special use to permit an automobile service (gas) station to be constructed 

on the site. The other commercial zoning district traditionally used adjacent to residential properties is the B-4. 

However, the B-4 zoning district does not permit a gas station special use permit to be requested. 

 

Open Item #10: Discuss the requested rezoning of the subject property to the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning 

district. 
 

Lot Variations 

 

Due to the rezoning of the lots to a B-1 zoning district, three lot bulk variations are required for the following: 

 

1. Lot size of .961 acres instead of the required min. of 4 acres. 

2. Lot width of 186.53 feet instead of the required min. of 600 feet. 

3. Lot depth of 198.52 feet instead of the required min. 250 feet. 

 

These Variations are the result of their prior use and subdivision as residential lots. The area is shown as a 

commercial/office use in the Village’s Comprehensive Plan (2000). Due to the multiple curb cuts and difficulty of 

access, residential uses are not considered the highest and best use for this area. Since the 1980s, the lots have 

been redeveloped in the area with commercial buildings and have been rezoned to either B-1 (Neighborhood 

Shopping) or B-4 (Office and Service) due to their proximity to the single-family residential to the west. The 

properties to the south of the subject property have similar lot dimensions as the proposed lot. 

 

Open Item #11: Discuss the requested Variations associated with the lot dimensions and size. 
 

Special Use 

 

An automobile service (gas) station is a special use in B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping), B-2 (Community Shopping), and 

B-3 (General Business) commercial zoning districts. Gas stations are only a permitted use in the B-5 (Automotive 

Service) zoning district. Gas stations are a special use in all commercial zoning districts with the exception of B-5 

(Automotive Service). One typical concern with gas stations is that due to high traffic volumes, the sites require a 

unique site design that accounts for safe/efficient access, proper circulation, sufficient parking and adequate 

lighting levels. Gas stations  

 

Open Item #12: Discuss the proposed special use for an Automobile Service (Gas) Station. 

Page | 128AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 13 of 20 

Final Plat of Subdivision Approval 

 

The proposed Plat of Subdivision will consolidate two existing lots (17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue) resulting in a 

single lot that is .961 acres in size. Existing drainage and utility easements will remain on the property. Easements 

for the public sidewalk and cross-access to east and south have been included in the Final Plat of Subdivision. 

However, the public sidewalk easement need to be extended across the north property line. The Plat of Subdivision 

will need to be revised to add a sidewalk easement covering the full length of the sidewalk along the northern 

property line (see image below). 

 

Open Item #13: Revise the Plat of Subdivision so that the public sidewalk easement encompasses the entire length 

of the sidewalk that runs on private property. 

 

The Final Plat of Subdivision was revised with the appropriate public sidewalk easements in place. Staff has not 

further concerns. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page | 129AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 14 of 20 

 

The Zoning Code does not establish any specific criteria that must be met in order for the Village Board to approve a 

rezoning request. Likewise, Illinois Statutes does not provide any specific criteria. Historically, Illinois courts have 

used eight factors enunciated in two court cases. The following “LaSalle Standards” have been supplied for the 

Commission to consider. Staff has provided the following draft Findings for the Commission’s review. 

 

a. The existing uses and zoning of nearby property; 

 The area is in a transition from residential to commercial uses. The surrounding areas and other corners 

of the intersection are all commercial zoning districts (B-4 and B-3). The area south of the subject 

property has similar infill/redevelopment properties that have been rezoned to similar low-intensity 

commercial districts (B-1 and B-4) upon their redevelopment. 

 

b. The extent to which property values are diminished by the particular zoning; 

 The area along Harlem Avenue transitioning from residential to commercial uses and is indicated as 

commercial/office in the Village’s Comprehensive Plan. The development of the vacant properties will not 

diminish property values. 

 

c. The extent to which the destruction of property values of the complaining party benefits the health, 

safety, or general welfare of the public; 

 No negative effects on property values are expected. The project will contribute directly to the economic 

development of the community by providing fuel, retail, and food services to visitors, providing additional 

jobs, and providing additional property and sales tax revenue where the existing vacant property is 

generating minimal tax revenue and convenience for residents and visitors. 

 

d. The relative gain to the public as compared to the hardship imposed on the individual property owner; 

 No hardship is expected from neighboring properties due to the landscape and fence buffering provided. 

Lighting, dumpster locations, and overall site design was designed to avoid any issues with the 

neighboring residential properties. The project will contribute directly to the economic development of the 

community by providing fuel, retail, and food services to visitors, providing additional jobs, and providing 

additional property and sales tax revenue where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax 

revenue and convenience for residents and visitors. 

 

e. The suitability of the property for the zoned purpose; 

 The proposed use as a convenience store and gas station is suitable for the subject property due to the 

availability of high traffic volumes and available access points. 

 

f. The length of time the property has been vacant as zoned, compared to development in the vicinity of 

the property; 

 The existing R-1 zoning house has remained vacant for 4-5 years and is not expected to be suitable for 

residential use. The B-4 zoned parcel had a vacant office building on it from 2014-2016 and has been 

vacant since the building’s demolition in 2016. 

 

g. The public need for the proposed use; and 

 There is a demand for additional automotive service (gas) stations and convenience stores in the area. 

Competition is limited at the two nearest gas stations (Shell and Speedway). 

 

h. The thoroughness with which the municipality has planned and zoned its land use. 

 The property is shown as a Commercial/Office use in the Comprehensive Plan. The rezoning as a B-1, 

Neighborhood Shopping zoning district limits the ability for non-desirable uses to be located adjacent to 

residential properties. 

Page | 130AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 15 of 20 

 

 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 

has provided the following draft Findings for the Commission’s review. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or 

general welfare because the proposed project will encompass the development of an automobile service 

(gas) station and convenience store that will service for visitors and residents of the community. The 

project will be constructed meeting current Village building codes and is among the highest and best uses 

of a parcel at a heavily traveled intersection. 

 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood; 

 The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 

for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 

neighborhood because the proposed project will develop land that is currently vacant and provide services 

for visitors and residents of the community. The site will be well-landscaped and will have an eight-foot 

fence to buffer the property from the residential homes to the west. The building will be constructed with 

quality materials. This proposed use is similar and compatible with existing nearby uses along Harlem 

Avenue. 

 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

 The Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of surrounding 

property for uses permitted in the district because the majority of the property within this area has already 

been developed. Landscape buffers have been supplied to the west and cross-access has been supplied for 

the vacant lots to the south. 

 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 

 The proposed plans provide evidence of existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities and any necessary 

modifications to be accommodated on the 7-Eleven site. Drainage has been accounted for on the site and 

utilizes the existing storm sewer system. All on-site and accepted existing off-site drainage has been 

accounted for within the plans. 

 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

 The proposed plans include site access by utilizing two curb cuts on Harlem Avenue and 171st Street that 

allow for ingress/egress to the site and efficient site circulation. Cross-access for passenger vehicles is also 

provided by a cross-access easement to the east through the neighboring bank property. Cross-access is 

also supplied to the vacant lots to the south for possible future cross-access as well. The site incorporates 

proposed public and private walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and from the site. 

 

Page | 131AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 16 of 20 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 

conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 

ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 

other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  

Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and Village 

regulations except for certain Variations applied herein related to the redevelopment of an existing infill 

site. These Variations are consistent with other properties within along Harlem Avenue and the intent of 

the regulations are met where possible. 

 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 

the community as a whole. 

 The proposed 7-Eleven project will contribute directly to the economic development of the community by 

providing fuel, retail, and food services to visitors, providing additional jobs, and providing additional 

property and sales tax revenue where the existing vacant property is generating minimal tax revenue. 

 

It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 

Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 

to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 

conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 

 

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Variation of the 

regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented 

for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan Commission must provide findings for the first three 

standards; the remaining standards are provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff has 

provided the following draft Findings of the Statutorily required Standards for the Commission’s review. 

 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

 The property is an infill site with limited ability to expand its size, dimensions, and setbacks. The overall 

area on the west side of Harlem Avenue will eventually meet the intent of the Zoning Code’s minimum lot 

requirements upon its full redevelopment. The Variations allow the fairly small and limited sized lot to be 

reasonably developed with a commercial use. 

 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

 The small properties offer a challenging situation for redevelopment as they were originally residential lots. 

Residential uses on the lots are no longer preferred or marketable along the heavily traveled Harlem 

Avenue commercial corridor. 

 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

 The lot Variations will be similar to other properties that have redeveloped along Harlem Avenue in 

regards to the lot size and sign setbacks. The drive aisle width is a standard width in many other 

municipalities and is not expected to be noticeable. 

 

4. Additionally, the Plan Commission shall also, in making its determination whether there are practical 

difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts 

favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 

Page | 132AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 17 of 20 

 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 

involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 

inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, 

generally, to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 

 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 

 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent 

property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of 

fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood. 

 

 

 

Section III.T.2. of the Zoning Ordinance requires that Planning Staff must find that the conditions listed below must 

be met prior to presenting the proposal to the Plan Commission. The Standards are listed below for the 

Commission’s consideration for reviewing the site plan as well. 

 

a. That the proposed Use is a Permitted Use in the district in which the property is located. 

 

b. That the proposed arrangement of buildings, off-street parking, access, lighting, landscaping, and 

drainage is compatible with adjacent land uses.   

 

c. That the vehicular ingress and egress to and from the site and circulation within the site provides for 

safe, efficient, and convenient movement of traffic, not only within the site but on adjacent roadways as 

well. 

 

d. That the Site Plan provides for the safe movement of pedestrians within the site.  

 

e. That there is a sufficient mixture of grass, trees, and shrubs within the interior and perimeter (including 

public right-of-way) of the site so that the proposed development will be in harmony with adjacent land 

uses and will provide a pleasing appearance to the public; any part of the Site Plan area not used for 

buildings, structures, parking, or access-ways shall be landscaped with a mixture of grass, trees, and 

shrubs. 

 

f. That all outdoor trash storage areas are adequately screened. 

 

 

 

 

Page | 133AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 18 of 20 

 

 

If the Plan Commission wishes to take action on the Petitioner’s requests, the appropriate wording of the motions 

are listed below. The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative 

recommendation correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate  a specific 

recommendation in support or against the plan. 

 

Motion 1 (Site Plan):  

“…make a motion to grant the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, Site Plan Approval to construct an automobile service (gas) station 

and a 3,511 sq. ft. 7-Eleven convenience store building at 17100 Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) 

Zoning District, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The two vacant single-family homes to the south of the subject property (17118 & 17130 Harlem Avenue) 

owned by the same property owner shall be demolished as proposed by the Petitioner. 

2. The proposed fence shall be a minimum of 8 feet in height and match the existing fence on the neighboring 

bank property (7231 171st Street) in height, color, and style. 

3. All Canopy Trees on the site shall be installed at a minimum of 4” trunk caliper. 

4. Site Plan Approval is subject to approval of the Rezoning, Special Use, and Variations by the Village Board. 

5. Site Plan Approval is subject to final engineering plan review and approval.” 

[any conditions that the Commission would like to add] 

 

Motion 2 (Rezoning):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, a rezoning of the properties 

located at 17100 and 17110 Harlem Avenue from their existing B-4 (Office and Service Business) and R-1 (Single-Family 

Residential) zoning districts to the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) zoning district and adopt the Findings of Fact submitted 

by the applicant and as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report.” 

 

Motion 3 (Variations):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the following Variations to the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, at the 

property located at 17100 Harlem Avenue in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) Zoning District, in accordance with the 

plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report. 

 

1. A five foot Variation from Section IX-D-2-c. to permit a freestanding sign to be located five feet from the property 

instead of the required minimum of ten feet. 

2. A two foot Variation from Section VIII-C-Table 2 (Parking Lot Dimension Guidelines) to permit a 24 foot wide two-

way drive aisle instead of the required 26 foot minimum. 

3. A 3.039 sq. ft. Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) to permit a lot size of .961 

acres, instead of the required minimum of 4 acres. 

4. A 413.47 foot Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) to permit a lot width of 

186.53 feet instead of the required minimum of 600 feet. 

5. A 51.48 foot Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) to permit a lot depth of 

198.52 feet instead of the required minimum of 250 feet. 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 

 

Page | 134AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 19 of 20 

Motion 4 (Special Use):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant a Special Use Permit to the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, to permit 

an automobile service (gas) station and a 3,511 sq. ft. convenience store on the property located at 17100 Harlem Avenue 

in the B-1 (Neighborhood Shopping) Zoning District, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt 

Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report. 

 

[any conditions that the Commission would like to add] 

 

Motion 5 (Final Plat):  

“…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant approval to the Petitioner, Vequity LLC, Final Plat of 

Subdivision Approval for Southlands First Consolidation in accordance with the Final Plat submitted and listed herein, 

subject to the following condition: 

 

1. The Final Plat approval is subject to Final Engineering Plan approval by the Village Engineer.” 

 

[any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add] 

 
 

 

 

Page | 135AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7-Eleven Gas Station – 17100 Harlem Ave 

 

Page 20 of 20 

 

Submitted Sheet Name 
Prepared 

By 

Date On 

Sheet 

 Project Narrative Vequity 7/15/19 

 LaSalle Standard Responses Vequity N/A 

 Standards for a Special Use Responses Vequity N/A 

AS1.01 Site Plan Ilekis 11/22/19 

AS1.02 Site Details Ilekis 11/22/19 

A1.01 Floor Plan Ilekis 11/22/19 

A3.01 Exterior Elevations and Schedule Ilekis 11/22/19 

A3.02 Exterior Color Elevations and Schedule Ilekis 11/22/19 

A3.03 Fuel Canopy Elevations Ilekis 11/22/19 

A3.04 3D Views Ilekis 11/22/19 

PH1.01 Photometric Plan Ilekis 11/22/19 

PH1.02 Photometric Schedules Ilekis 11/22/19 

C-1 Engineering Plan – Cover Sheet Watermark 11/22/19 

C-1.1 Demolition Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

C-2 Geometric Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

C-3 Grading Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

C-4 Accessible Route Grades and Details Watermark 11/22/19 

C-5 Utility Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

C-6 Phase 1 Soil Erosion Control Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

C-7 Phase 2 Soil Erosion Control Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

C-8 Soil Erosion Control Details and Specs Watermark 11/22/19 

C-9 Project Details Watermark 11/22/19 

C-10 Project Specifications Watermark 11/22/19 

C-11 MWRD General Notes Watermark 11/22/19 

C-12 – C-15 IDOT Details Watermark 11/22/19 

1 ALTA/NSPS Land Title & Topographic Survey Compass 8/5/19 

L-1 Landscape Plan (Revised) Watermark 12/27/19 

L-2 Landscape Details and Specifications Watermark 11/22/19 

1 of 1 MWRD Drainage Exhibit Watermark 11/22/19 

2pg Final Plat of Subdivision – Southlands First Consolidation 

(Revised) 

Compass 12/27/19 

 Fire Truck Circulation Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

 Fuel Truck Circulation Plan Watermark 11/22/19 

 Traffic Impact Study – Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station KLOA 8/23/19 

  

 Vequity – Vequity Inc. 

 Ilekis – Ilekis Associates (Architect) 

Watermark – Watermark Engineering Resources LTD 

 Compass – Compass Surveying LTD 

 KLOA – Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. 

 

Page | 136AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 137AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 138AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 139AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 140AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 141AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 142AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 143AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 144AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 145AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 146AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
 

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois  
Will County, Illinois 

 

 
 

RESOLUTION 
NO. 2020-R-003 

 

 
 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF 
RESUBDIVISION FOR SOUTHLANDS FIRST CONSOLIDATION 

 

 
 

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT 
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

 
CYNTHIA A. BERG 

WILLIAM P. BRADY 
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN 

DIANE M. GALANTE 
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ 

MICHAEL G. MUELLER 
Board of Trustees 

 
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park 

Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys 
200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606 

  
  

Page | 147AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK 
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois 

 
RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-003 

 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A FINAL PLAT OF 

RESUBDIVISION FOR SOUTHLANDS FIRST CONSOLIDATION 
 

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) has considered the Plat of Subdivision 
for Southlands First Consolidation (“Plat”) pertaining to certain real property located at 17100 
Harlem Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”), a true and correct copy of which 
is attached hereto and made a part hereof as Exhibit 1; and  

 
WHEREAS, said Plat, was referred to the Plan Commission of the Village and has been 

processed in accordance with the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Plan Commission held a public hearing on the proposed Plat on January 

2, 2020, at which time all persons were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and  
 
WHEREAS, the Plan Commission voted 5-0 in favor to recommend that said Plat be 

approved; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission of this Village has filed its report of findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Plat be approved by this President and Board of Trustees, and 
this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and recommendations; and   

 
WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 

Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Plat; and  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS: 
 
SECTION 1:  That the report and findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission of this 
Village are herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this Board of Trustees, as 
completely, as if fully recited herein at length. 
 

Page | 148AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 2: That the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park, hereby 
approve and accept said Plat, attached hereto as Exhibit 1, and all necessary Village Officials and 
staff are hereby authorized to execute said Plat prior to final recording, subject to review and 
revision as to form by the Village Attorney and Village staff.  
 
SECTION 3: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Resolution shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  
 
SECTION 4: That this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval.  
 
SECTION 5: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Resolution in 
pamphlet form, and this Resolution shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law.  
 
PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020. 
 
AYES:   
            
NAYS:   
            
ABSENT:  
             
APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020. 
 
       ____________________________________ 
                      VILLAGE PRESIDENT 
ATTEST: 
__________________________________ 
                VILLAGE CLERK  

Page | 149AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS ) 
COUNTY OF COOK  ) SS 
COUNTY OF WILL  ) 
 
 

CERTIFICATE 
 
 I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Resolution No. 2020-R-006, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING AND ACCEPTING A 

FINAL PLAT OF RESUBDIVISION FOR SOUTHLANDS FIRST CONSOLIDATION,” which 

was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 

2020.  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of  

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020. 

 
       ____________________________________ 
       KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Page | 150AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



C

L

171ST

STREET

C

L

S
.
 
 
 
H

A
R

L
E

M

A
V

E
N

U
E

I
L
L
I
N

O
I
S

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
R

O
U

T
E

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
4
3

1

PROJ. NO.: 19.0018-01

SO
U

TH
LA

N
D

S 
 F

IR
ST

  C
O

N
SO

LI
D

A
TI

O
N

C
LI

EN
T

Ti
nl

ey
 P

ar
k,

 Il
lin

oi
s

1 OF 2

PR
O

JE
C

T

SCALE:  1"  =  20'

V
EQ

U
IT

Y
40

0 
N

. S
ta

te
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 4

00
C

hi
ca

go
, I

lli
no

is
 6

06
54

SOUTHLANDS  FIRST  CONSOLIDATION
FINAL  PLAT  OF  SUBDIVISION

A
LT

A
  S

U
R

V
EY

S 
l

 T
O

PO
G

R
A

PH
Y

 l
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
 S

TA
K

IN
G

26
31

 G
IN

G
ER

 W
O

O
D

S 
PA

R
K

W
A

Y
,  

ST
E.

 1
00

A
U

R
O

R
A

, I
L 

60
50

2
PH

O
N

E:
 (6

30
) 8

20
-9

10
0 

 F
A

X
: (

63
0)

 8
20

-7
03

0 
 E

M
A

IL
: A

D
M

IN
@

C
LS

U
R

V
EY

IN
G

.C
O

M

ABBREVIATIONS

LINE LEGEND

LEGEND

AREA  SUMMARY

P.I.N. 27-25-403-013-0000  LOT 1
P.I.N. 27-25-403-014-0000  LOT 2

VICINITY MAP
NO SCALE

171ST    STREET

NOTE

J:\Psdata\2019 Projects\19.0018\19.0018-01 Plat of Subdivision\19.0018-01 POSubd.dwg, 12/26/2019 12:57:54 PM

Page | 151AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SURVEYOR’S CERTIFICATE

OWNER'S CERTIFICATE

’

NOTARY'S CERTIFICATE

VILLAGE PLAN COMMISSION

SURVEYOR’S AUTHORIZATION TO RECORD

VILLAGE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

PROJ. NO.: 19.0018-01

SO
U

TH
LA

N
D

S 
 F

IR
ST

  C
O

N
SO

LI
D

A
TI

O
N

C
LI

EN
T

Ti
nl

ey
 P

ar
k,

 Il
lin

oi
s

2 OF 2

PR
O

JE
C

T

SCALE:  NONE

V
EQ

U
IT

Y
40

0 
N

. S
ta

te
 S

tre
et

, S
ui

te
 4

00
C

hi
ca

go
, I

lli
no

is
 6

06
54

A
LT

A
  S

U
R

V
EY

S 
l

 T
O

PO
G

R
A

PH
Y

 l
 C

O
N

ST
R

U
C

TI
O

N
 S

TA
K

IN
G

26
31

 G
IN

G
ER

 W
O

O
D

S 
PA

R
K

W
A

Y
,  

ST
E.

 1
00

A
U

R
O

R
A

, I
L 

60
50

2
PH

O
N

E:
 (6

30
) 8

20
-9

10
0 

 F
A

X
: (

63
0)

 8
20

-7
03

0 
 E

M
A

IL
: A

D
M

IN
@

C
LS

U
R

V
EY

IN
G

.C
O

M

SOUTHLANDS  FIRST  CONSOLIDATION
FINAL  PLAT  OF  SUBDIVISION

SIDEWALK EASEMENT PROVISIONS

“ ” 

DRAINAGE CERTIFICATE

VILLAGE ENGINEER

ACCESS EASEMENT PROVISIONS

’

J:\Psdata\2019 Projects\19.0018\19.0018-01 Plat of Subdivision\19.0018-01 POSubd.dwg, 12/26/2019 12:57:55 PM

Page | 152AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-004

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR AN AUTOMOBILE 
SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 153AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-004

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR AN 
AUTOMOBILE SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM 

AVENUE
(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for the granting of a Special Use Permit to construct a gas station 
and convenience store at 17100 Harlem Avenue Tinley, Park, Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”) 
has been filed by Vequity, LLC (“Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village and has been 
referred to the Plan Commission of the Village and has been processed in accordance with the 
Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Special use Permit should be granted on January 2, 2020 at the Village Hall of this Village, at 
which time all persons present were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and  

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 5-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Special Use Permit be approved with this President and Board 
of Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Special Use Permit; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

Page | 154AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Special Use Permit as set forth in 
Section X.J.5 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Special Use Permit as set 
forth herein is in the public good and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and is 
consistent with and fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said 
Commission shall find:

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental 
to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;

The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, 
comfort, or general welfare because the proposed project will encompass the development 
of an automobile service (gas) station and convenience store that will service for visitors 
and residents of the community. The project will be constructed meeting current Village 
building codes and is among the highest and best uses of a parcel at a heavily traveled 
intersection.

2. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;

The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood because the proposed project will develop 
land that is currently vacant and provide services for visitors and residents of the 
community. The site will be well-landscaped and will have an eight-foot fence to buffer the 
property from the residential homes to the west. The building will be constructed with 
quality materials. This proposed use is similar and compatible with existing nearby uses 
along Harlem Avenue.

3. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;

The Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and improvement of 
surrounding property for uses permitted in the district because the majority of the property 
within this area has already been developed. Landscape buffers have been supplied to the 
west and cross-access has been supplied for the vacant lots to the south.

4. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or 
are being provided;

The proposed plans provide evidence of existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities 
and any necessary modifications to be accommodated on the 7-Eleven site. Drainage has 

Page | 155AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



been accounted for on the site and utilizes the existing storm sewer system. All on-site and 
accepted existing off-site drainage has been accounted for within the plans.

5. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and

The proposed plans include site access by utilizing two curb cuts on Harlem Avenue and 
171st Street that allow for ingress/egress to the site and efficient site circulation. Cross-
access for passenger vehicles is also provided by a cross-access easement to the east 
through the neighboring bank property. Cross-access is also supplied to the vacant lots to 
the south for possible future cross-access as well. The site incorporates proposed public 
and private walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and from the site.

6. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by 
the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board 
shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use 
Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or 
minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better 
carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or 
restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.

The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and 
Village regulations except for certain Variations applied herein related to the 
redevelopment of an existing infill site. These Variations are consistent with other 
properties within along Harlem Avenue and the intent of the regulations are met where 
possible.

7. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.

The proposed 7-Eleven project will contribute directly to the economic development of the 
community by providing fuel, retail, and food services to visitors, providing additional 
jobs, and providing additional property and sales tax revenue where the existing vacant 
property is generating minimal tax revenue.

SECTION 3: The Special Use Permit set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOTS 1 AND 2 IN BLOCK 1 IN ARTHUR T. MCINTOSH AND 
COMPANY’S SPUTHLANDS IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 25, 
TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 27-25-403-013-0000 and 27-25-403-014-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  17100 – 17110 Harlem Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

Page | 156AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 4: That a Special Use Permit to allow for the construction of a gas station and 
convenience store at the Subject Property is hereby granted to the Petitioner.  

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 157AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-004, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 

FOR AN AUTOMOBILE SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM 

AVENUE (VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER),” which was adopted by the President and Board of 

Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park February 4, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 158AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



7- Eleven

17100 S HARLEM AVE

TINLEY PARK, IL 60477

OWNER

VEQUITY LLC

400 N. STATE ST.

SUITE 400

CHICAGO, IL 60654

P. 312-985-0987

SCALE:

NORTH

2

PROJECT KEY PLAN

NTSSCALE:

NORTH

1

VICINITY AERIAL MAP

NTS

PROJECT STATEMENTS

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER

MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY

KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH ALL LOCAL

BUILDING CODES.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS

LICENSE EXPIRES 11/30/18

ENERGY STATEMENT

I CERTIFY THAT I AM A REGISTERED ENERGY PROFESSIONAL (REP). I ALSO CERTIFY THAT TO THE BEST

OF MY PROFESSIONAL KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF THAT THE PLANS FOR

ADDRESS: 17100 S HARLEM AVE TINLEY PARK IL 60477

FULL COMPLY WITH THE REQUIREMENTS OF CHAPTER 18-13. ENERGY CONSERVATION OF THE

MUNICIPAL CODE OF ARLINGTON HEIGHTS  AS WELL AS THE STATE OF ILLINOIS ENERGY

CONSERVATION AS REQUIRED BY STATE LEGISLATION

DATE: 07/15/19       ILLINOIS LICENSE # 01-8612

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS (ARCHITECT)

LICENSE EXPIRES 11/30/20

CODE SUMMARY

· SEE AS1.01 FOR ALL  REVIEW AND SUMMARIES.

DIGGING NOTICE

CONTRACTOR TO VERIFY ALL LOCAL REQUIREMENTS IF

DIGGING IS REQUIRED.

ARCHITECT OF RECORD

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 WEST JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

P. 312-419-0009

SCALE:

3

PERSPECTIVE VIEW

NTS FOR REFERENCE ONLY

CIVIL ENGINEER:

WATERMARK ENGINEERING RESOURCES, LTD

2631 GINGER WOODS PARKWAY SUITE 100

AURORA, IL 60502

P. 630-375-1800

CL 171ST STREET

CL
S.   H

A
R

LEM
AVE

ILLIN
O

IS           R
O

U
TE           43

F

F

F

F

F

F

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

COVER SHEET,

DRAWING INDEX

& PROJECT INFO

G0.00

Page | 159AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



GENERAL NOTES:

NEW CONCRETE

SIGNAGE

FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION

KEY  NOTES:

LEGEND:

SCALE:

NORTH

1

SITE PLAN

1/16"=1'-0"

1. ADA PARKING SIGN MOUNTED ON POST. SEE CIVIL FOR DETAILS.

2. ADA SIDEWALK RAMP TYP. SEE CIVIL.

3. EXISTING CONCRETE CURB AND GUTTER TO REMAIN.

4. NEW CONCRETE PAVEMENT TYP. SEE CIVIL.

5. PROVIDE ASPHALT PAVEMENT. SEE CIVIL PLANS FOR PAVING AND GRADING DETAILS.

6. CONCRETE SIDEWALK. REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS.

7. 1/2" ISOLATION JOINT ALONG PROFILE OF BUILDING AND WHERE INDICATED, USE

BITUMINOUS FILLER AND SEALANT ALONG EDGE.

8. FD CONNECTION, SEE CIVIL

9. FIRE HYDRANT

10. PROVIDE TRASH ENCLOSURE. REFER TO AS1.02 FOR DETAILS.

11. AIR /  VAC REFER TO CIVIL SHEETS FOR LOCATION.

12. MAIN DOOR

13. EXIT DOOR

14. PROPOSED FUEL CANOPY. REFER TO CIVIL.

15. PROPOSED UNDERGROUND FUEL TANKS. REFER TO CIVIL.

16. NEW PYLON SIGN UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

17. NEW BIKE RACK

18. VENT STACK REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS

19. NEW LIGHT POLE , REFER TO PHOTOMETRIC PLAN.

A. SEE CIVIL FOR GRADING PLAN. SEE CIVIL DRAWING FOR SITE DEMOLITION, NEW

PAVEMENT, SITE UTILITIES, SIGNAGE AND FINAL SITE DIMENSIONS.

B. SEE AS1.02 FOR ADDITIONAL SITE DETAILS.

C. VERIFY THE EXISTENCE OF AND PROTECT ALL EXISTING UTILITY LINES. EXCAVATE WITH

CARE.

D. INSTALL ADDRESS ON BUILDING AS REQUIRED BY LOCAL CODE.

E. PROVIDE KNOX BOX , PER FIRE DEPARTMENT REQUIREMENTS.

F. SEE CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR ADDITIONAL SITE SIGNAGE REQUIREMENTS.

G. CLEAN LOT AFTER SITE WORK AND AFTER CONSTRUCTION COMPLETION.

H.  PROTECT ADJACENT PROPERTY.  ANY DAMAGE IS TO BE REPAIRED AT CONTRACTOR

EXPENSE WITH PERMISSION OF ADJACENT BUILDING OWNER.  FOR EXAMPLE, IF SOD IS

DAMAGED IT WILL BE REPLACED AND WATERED REGULARLY UNTIL ESTABLISHED.

I. PROVIDE EXPANSION JOINTS IN  CONCRETE PAVING AND CURBS AS REQUIRED BY MFGR

SPECS, OR 30FT SPACING WHICHEVER IS LESS. REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS FOR MORE

INFORMATION AND DETAILS.

  

171ST STREET

CL
S.   H

A
R

LEM
A

V
EN

U
E

ILLIN
O

IS           R
O

U
TE 

F

F

F

F

F

F

RETAIL

3,511 SF

50' SETBACK

50' SETBACK

1
5
'
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

1
0
'
 
U

T
I
L
I
T

Y
 
E

A
S

E
M

E
N

T

5
0
'
 
S

E
T

B
A

C
K

F

F

F

NOTE:

· SITE PLAN SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY. REFER TO CIVIL DRAWINGS.

· FUEL CANOPY AND UNDERGROUND TANKS UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

· INTERIOR BUILD OUT UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

SITE PLAN

AS1.01

Page | 160AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
FDC

AutoCAD SHX Text
#

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32'

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
13

AutoCAD SHX Text
14

AutoCAD SHX Text
15

AutoCAD SHX Text
16

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
2

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
18

AutoCAD SHX Text
17

AutoCAD SHX Text
12

AutoCAD SHX Text
7



AS1.02

AS1.02

9

AS1.02

AS1.02

8

1
/
4
"
 
P

E
R

 
F

O
O

T
 
S

L
O

P
E

 
T

O
 
D

R
A

I
N

10

AS1.02

7

S.S. HANDLE

AS1.02

4

20 GA. DARK BRONZE CAP

FLASHING, GC SUPPLIED

BR-1

20 GA. DARK BRONZE CAP

FLASHING, GC SUPPLIED

6

DUMPSTER ENCL. FOUNDATION SECTION

3/8" = 1'-0"

DUMPSTER

ENCL. SLAB

REF. CIVIL

DUMPSTER ENCL. SLAB

REF. CIVIL

10

SIDE DUMPSTER ENCL. ELEVATION

3/8" = 1'-0"

1

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE PLAN

3/8" = 1'-0"

8

FRONT DUMPSTER ENCL. ELEVATION

3/8" = 1'-0"

9

REAR  DUMPSTER ENCL. ELEVATION

3/8" = 1'-0"

T.O. ENCLOSURE FRAMING

7'-4"

T.O. ENCLOSURE

FRAMING

7'-4"

REF. A6.1 FOR EXT.

FINISH SCHEDULE

DUMPSTER

ENCL. SLAB

REF. CIVIL

T.O. ENCLOSURE

FRAMING

7'-4"

PROVIDE PVC

SLEEVES

IN CONCRETE. TYP.

7
'
-
4
"

PROVIDE 3/4"PVC

SLEEVES IN

CONCRETE. TYP.

8 C.Y. DUMPSTER

PROVIDED BY

OTHERS

PROVIDE CONCRETE PAD IN FRONT OF

DUMPSTER ENCLOSURE ENTRANCE AND SHALL

BE CAPABLE OF WITHSTANDING A 20 TON

STATIONARY LOAD; REFERENCE CIVIL

1'-8" 9'-4" HOLD 1'-8" HOLD

7
"

1
'
-
0
"

1'-1" 9'-11" HOLD 1'-1" 11"11"

13'-10"

1
0
'
-
0
"

3'-4" 3'-0" 3'-0" 3'-4"

MUELLER COR-6

ENCLOSURE DOOR

EDGE OF SLAB

6" PIPE BOLLARD FILLED

WITH CONCRETE, REF

DETAIL 5/AS1.02

TYP OF (5)

12'-8"

1
2
'
-
8
"

MUELLER URETHANE

GATES PER MATERIAL

SCHEDULE, SHEET

A6.1 - PAINTED P-3

PROVIDE 3/4" PVC

SLEEVES IN

CONCRETE. TYP.

5/8" X 24" S.S. CANE

BOLT AT EACH GATE.

(ALTERNATE

SIDES OF PANEL)

2

AS1.02

_____________________________________________________________

6

_____________________________________________________________

1
'
-
8
"

11'-0"

BR-1

6" MIN.

COMPACTED

FILL TYP.

1

2

" PREMODLDED EXPANSION

JOINT FILLER TYP.

8" CONCRETE SLAB-WITH #5

REINF BARS

24" O.C. EA. WAY

2

DUMPSTER ENCL. WALL SECTION

3/8" = 1'-0"

SEE FNDN DETAIL BELOW

12'-8"

5
'
-
0
"

20 GA. DARK BRONZE CAP

FLASHING GC SUPPLIED
6x8 CMU BACKUP

TO EXTERIOR

MASONRY

1

2

" PREMOLDED

EXPANSION JOINT

FILLER

CONCRETE

REINFORCING

BARS- (2) #5

T&B

MORTAR AS

SCHEDULED

T.O. ENCLOSURE SLAB

REF CIVIL

BR-1

T.O. ENCLOSURE

7'-4"

3

AS1.02

5
'
-
0
"

#6 BARS @ 12" O.C. E. W.

CENTERED.

1
'
-
3
"

4'-0"

(4)#6 BARS TOP AND

BOTTOM

#6 BARS @ 12" O.C. TOP

AND BOTTOM

10"

AS1.02

2

AS1.02

2

#6 BARS AT 12"

O.C. TOP & BOT.

(4) #6 BARS TOP

AND BOT.

#5 VERTICAL

BARS AT 16" O.C.

IN SOLID

GROUTED CELLS

5

TYPICAL BOLLARD SECTION

1/2" = 1'-0"

1'-0"

6
"

3
'
-
0
"

3
'
-
6
"

M
I
N

I
M

U
M

1'-6"

DIAMETER

CONC. (MIN. 3000

PSI @ 28 DAYS)

6" STEEL PIPE FILLED

W/ CONC. - SMOOTH

TROWEL CROWN TOP

CROWN

FOOTING

REINF'G TOP,

BOT. & MIDDLE

1" STL. BOTTOM

1/2" x 14" REBAR

ANCHORS THRU

PIPE BOTH WAYS

6" STEEL PIPE

PAINTED PER

PAINT SCHEDULE

1
'
-
0

"

18" DIAMETER

CONCRETE

FOOTING

PLAN

UNO

U
N

O

6
'
-
0
"

GC SUPPLIED

UPPER ALUM. BRACKET

LOWER ALUM. BRACKET

6" RD. STEEL SCHEDULE 40

GALV. PIPE SHOWN DASHED

SET IN 18" CONC. FOOTING;

CONC. FOOTING 48" DEEP.

TOP OF STEEL PIPE CONCRETE

FILL TO BE STRIKED OFF FLAT

POST AND FOOTING. REF

STRUCTURAL SHEETS

4

GATE BOLLARD DETAIL

1/2" = 1'-0"

1
'
-
4
"

5
'
-
8
"

6
'
-
0
"

7

DETAIL - GATE

1 1/2" = 1'-0"

G
A

T
E

 
O

P
E

N

P
O

S
I
T

I
O

N

GATE CLOSED

POSITION

MUELLER

ENCLOSURE GATE

BRICK AND CMU

CONSTRUCTION

ALIGNED

6" STEEL JAMB POST.

CONCRETE FILLED.

PAINTED (P-3)

PIPE BOLLARD REF

5/AS1.02

3

DETAIL - COPING

3" = 1'-0"

3
"

4" CMU BACKUP

FINISH AS SCHEDULED

20 GA. DARK BRONZE CAP

FLASHING, GC SUPPLIED

1/2" APA RATED PLYWOOD

T.O. MASONRY

REF ELEVATIONS

SHIM

TREATED 2X BLOCKING

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

SITE DETAILS

AS1.02

Page | 161AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



A. FIRE SAFE ALL PENETRATIONS THRU PARTITIONS.

B. PROVIDE ACCESSIBLE THRESHOLD AT EACH EXTERIOR DOOR-SEE DOOR SCHEDULE

C. PRIME INTERIOR WALLS, COLUMNS TRIM AND DOOR FRAMES

D. SEE STRUCTURAL FOR CONTROL AND ISOLATION JOINTS AT CONCRETE SLAB AND AROUND

COLUMNS

E. CONTACT OWNER REGARDING HOW THEY WANT TO REKEY THE LOCK FOR THE MAIN ENTRY VS

THE SERVICE DOOR, LANDLORD ROOM TO HAVE ELECTRONIC KEY PAD KEY LOCK.

F. ARABIC NUMERALS AT LEAST FOUR INCHES HIGH WITH A MINIMUM STROKE WIDTH OF 0.5

INCHES SHOWING THE ADDRESS OF THE BUILDING SHALL CONTRAST WITH THE BACKGROUND,

SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED OF DURABLE MATERIALS, BE PERMANENTLY INSTALLED AND BE

READILY VISIBLE. SCRIPT OR WRITTEN NUMBERS ARE NOT PERMITTED. ADDITIONAL NUMBERS

SHALL ALSO BE PLACED ON THE SIDE OF THE BUILDINGS STREET ADDRESS.

G. AT SERVICE DOORS USED AS EXIT/ACCESS FOR FIRE FIGHTING, ARABIC NUMERALS A MINIMUM

OF FOUR INCHES IN HEIGHT WITH A MINIMUM STROKE OF 0.5 INCH SHALL BE APPLIED TO THE

ADDITIONAL DOOR TO INDICATE THE ADDRESS. THE ADDRESS SHALL BE VISIBLE FROM THE

PARKING LOT OR FIRE APPARATUS ACCESS.

H. THIS IS A SPRINKLERED BUILDING PER REQUIREMENT OF VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

       SEE FP DRAWINGS FOR LAYOUT.

I. SEE STRUCTURAL FOR CONTROL JOINTS AND EXPANSION JOINTS.

J. ALL JOINT SYSTEMS IN RATED WALL ASSEMBLIES SHALL COMPLY WITH UL 2079.

K. ANY PENETRATIONS THROUGH RATED ASSEMBLIES SHALL COMPLY WITH UL 263.

L. PROVIDE A KNOX BOX TO ENABLE THE FIRE DISTRICT TO HAVE ACCESS TO THE BUILDING AND

THE BUILDING'S FIRE PROTECTION FEATURES.

M. G.C. TO PROVIDE PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHERS WITHIN THE BUILDING. THE TYPE, SIZE, AND

SPACING MUST MATCH THE SPECIFIC HAZARD THEY ARE TO PROTECT. CONTACT THE FIRE

DISTRICT FOR APPROVAL OF THE TYPES AND LOCATIONS OF PORTABLE FIRE EXTINGUISHERS

TO BE USED PRIOR TO FINAL OCCUPANCY.

WALL LEGEND

NEW SIP WALL SYSTEM

GENERAL NOTES

SCALE:

NORTH

1

FLOOR PLAN

3/16"=1'-0"

MASONRY WALL

A3.01

3

A3.01

4

A3.01

1

A3.01

2

RETAIL

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

FLOOR PLAN

A1.01

Page | 162AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
1'

AutoCAD SHX Text
2'

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'



THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

EXTERIOR

ELEVATIONS AND

SCHEDULE

A3.01

Page | 163AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL SCHEDULE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANUFACTURER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SYMBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUPERSHADE BY MAPES ARCHITECTURAL CANOPIES OR APPROVED EQUAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4' PROJECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARK BROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL PACK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAR ANODIZED STOREFRONT WITH 1" INSULATED GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARK BRONW ANODIZED

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREFRONT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEALSKIN SW7675

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL DOORS  AND FRAME 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERWIN WILLIAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR LED WALL PACK # EWLS01_15AF750EWLS01_15AF750

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOURTOWN BRICK BY HEBRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 5/8"X2 1/4"X7 5/8"-SMOOTH FACE & MONOTONE PALLETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOURTOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLOMON COLORS: GRAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BMI OR APPROVED EQUAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
950 TYPE S /W WATER REPELLENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK (BR-1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: GRAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MORTAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL JOINT  SEALANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 790

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL COPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: DARK BRONZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAC-CLAD PETERSEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NICHIHA ROUGH SAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESPRESSO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBER CEMENT PANEL (N-1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: BRONZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL JOINT  SEALANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 790

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL COPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: DARK BRONZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAC-CLAD PETERSEN



THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

EXTERIOR COLOR

ELEVATIONS AND

SCHEDULE

A3.02

Page | 164AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
MATERIAL SCHEDULE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANUFACTURER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TYPE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SYMBOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL CANOPY

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUPERSHADE BY MAPES ARCHITECTURAL CANOPIES OR APPROVED EQUAL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
4' PROJECTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARK BROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
GE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALL PACK 

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEAR ANODIZED STOREFRONT WITH 1" INSULATED GLASS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DARK BRONW ANODIZED

AutoCAD SHX Text
STOREFRONT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEGEND

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEALSKIN SW7675

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL DOORS  AND FRAME 

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERWIN WILLIAMS

AutoCAD SHX Text
EXTERIOR LED WALL PACK # EWLS01_15AF750EWLS01_15AF750

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOURTOWN BRICK BY HEBRON

AutoCAD SHX Text
3 5/8"X2 1/4"X7 5/8"-SMOOTH FACE & MONOTONE PALLETE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARBOURTOWN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOLOMON COLORS: GRAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BMI OR APPROVED EQUAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
950 TYPE S /W WATER REPELLENT 

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRICK (BR-1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: GRAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
MORTAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL JOINT  SEALANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 790

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL COPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: DARK BRONZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAC-CLAD PETERSEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NICHIHA ROUGH SAWN 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ESPRESSO

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIBER CEMENT PANEL (N-1)

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: BRONZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONTROL JOINT  SEALANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOW CORNING 790

AutoCAD SHX Text
METAL COPING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COLOR: DARK BRONZE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAC-CLAD PETERSEN



THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

FUEL CANOPY

ELEVATIONS

A3.03

Page | 165AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: CANOPY UNDER SEPARATE PERMIT



SCALE:

1

3D VIEW

SCALE:

2

3D VIEW

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

3D VIEWS

A3.04

Page | 166AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SCALE:

NORTH

1

PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

1/16"=1'-0"

EM

MH: 9

EM

MH: 9

8ft Batten

MH: 11

8ft Batten

MH: 11

8ft Batten

MH: 11

8ft Batten

MH: 11

8ft Batten

MH: 11

4ft batten

MH: 11

EWLS 40

MH: 11

EWLS 15

MH: 11

EWLS 15

MH: 11

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

SA4_BL

MH: 20

SA4_BL

MH: 20

SA4_BL

MH: 20

SA4

MH: 20

SA4

MH: 20

SA4_R1

MH: 20

SA4_BL

MH: 20

EWLS 15

MH: 11

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

ECBBA

MH: 14.5

EWLS 15

MH: 11

SA4_BL

MH: 20

EWLS 15

MH: 11

0.1

0.2

2.6

0.1

0.1

0.1

1.0 1.7 1.7 1.6

1.2

1.8

1.6

1.2

0.1 0.1 0.1

13.2 13.4

13.3 13.5

11.1 11.4

8.8 9.1

11.5 11.7

8.9 9.1

11.3 11.4

8.6 8.6

10.5 10.5

11.4 11.5

11.6 11.7

0.2 0.3

1.7 1.4 1.1

2.8 3.0 2.9 2.7 2.2 1.8 1.3

3.0 4.5 5.2 5.4 4.7 3.1 2.5 1.9

3.2 6.7 9.4 4.1 3.0 2.3

2.7 7.1 10.9 4.8 2.7 1.7

2.3 6.7 11.0 4.8 2.5

1.9 4.8 7.7 3.8 2.3

1.9 5.6 9.5 3.9 2.3

1.8 5.1 8.1 3.9 1.9

1.8 5.3 8.3 3.4 1.7

1.7 5.2 8.1 3.1 1.3

0.8 1.7 4.7 7.1 3.0 1.2

0.8 1.9 6.0 9.6 3.4 1.2

0.8 1.9 5.8 9.0 3.3 1.2

0.3 0.7 1.3 1.2 1.2 1.2 1.1 1.0 0.9 0.9 1.7 5.0 8.2 3.2 1.5

0.4 1.0 1.5 2.0 1.6 1.9 1.9 1.7 1.3 0.9 1.2 2.2 3.6 3.9 3.6 2.2 1.6

0.5 1.4 2.3 2.4 2.1 2.0 1.7 1.5 1.5 1.1 0.9 1.1 1.3 1.7 1.7 1.5 1.6

2.5 3.0 2.1 1.8 1.6 1.6 1.2 1.0 0.8 0.7 0.7 1.1 1.4 1.5

1.9 2.1 1.7

2.2 1.8

2.9 2.1

2.4 1.5

2.0 1.2

2.7 1.1

3.4 1.2

4.3 1.4

4.6 1.4

2.8 1.1

1.5 0.8

0.3 0.7 1.7 2.8 2.3 1.6

0.4 0.6 0.9 1.1 1.0 0.9

0.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.00.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0

0.0 0.4 1.0 1.8 1.7 1.0 0.6 0.3 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.3 0.3 0.4 0.6 0.6 0.4

0.2

0.1

0.1

0.1

0.3

0.6

0.5

0.4

0.3

0.3

0.3

0.4

0.3

0.5

0.6

0.6

1.1

1.7

1.5

1.4

0.4

0.1

0.0

General Approach

Entrance 1

Entrance 2

Entrance 3

Entrance 4

Dumpster

Air Pump

Parking 1

Parking 2

Gas Canopy

F

F

F

SIGN

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

PHOTOMETRIC PLAN

PH1.01

Page | 167AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
4'

AutoCAD SHX Text
8'

AutoCAD SHX Text
16'

AutoCAD SHX Text
32'

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: PHOTOMETRIC PLAN WAS DEVELOPED BY GE COMPANY.



THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST

OF MY KNOWLEDGE, COMPLY WITH THE ALL APPLICABLE CODES.

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES, ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

Vequity

400 N. State

Suite 400

Chicago, IL 60654

312-985-0987

Email info@vequity.com

www.vequity.com

COPYRIGHT 2017 ILEKIS ASSOCIATES-ALL RIGHTS RESERVED

THESE DOCUMENTS WERE PREPARED UNDER MY

SUPERVISION AND, TO THE BEST OF MY KNOWLEDGE,

COMPLY WITH THE APPLICABLE CODES AND BUILDING

REGULATIONS.

ALPHONSE A. ILEKIS, AIA

c

ILEKIS ASSOCIATES

223 W. JACKSON BLVD.

SUITE 1000

CHICAGO, IL 60606

312-419-0009 www.ILEKIS.com

     L    E    K    I    S
a r c h i t e c t s  +  p l a n n e r s

07/15/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

08/22/19 ISSUED PER CITY COMMENTS

09/09/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

11/22/19 ISSUED FOR CITY REVIEW

PHOTOMETRIC

SCHEDULES

PH1.02

Page | 168AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTE: PHOTOMETRIC PLAN WAS  DEVELOPED BY GE COMPANY.



Page | 169AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 170AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 171AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 172AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 173AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 174AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 175AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 176AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 177AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 178AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 179AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 180AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 181AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 182AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 183AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 184AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 185AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 186AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 187AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 188AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 189AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 190AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 191AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 192AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

 

 
Traffic Impact Study 

Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 
 

Tinley Park, Illinois 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Prepared For: 

  
 

 

Prepared By: 

 

  

August 23, 2019 

Page | 193AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 1 

1. Introduction 
 

 

This report summarizes the methodologies, results, and findings of a traffic impact study 

conducted by Kenig, Lindgren, O’Hara, Aboona, Inc. (KLOA, Inc.) for a proposed 7-Eleven gas 

station to be located in Tinley Park, Illinois. The site, which is currently occupied by a single-

family home, is located in the southwest quadrant of the intersection of Harlem Avenue (IL Route 

43) with 171st Street. As proposed, the site will be developed with a 7-Eleven convenience store 

with 20 fueling positions and an automated car wash. Access to the gas station will be provided 

via a proposed right-in/right-out access drive off Harlem Avenue, a right-in/right-out access drive 

off 171st Street, and a cross connection to the existing First Merchants Bank. 

 

The purpose of this study was to examine background traffic conditions, assess the impact that the 

proposed gas station will have on traffic conditions in the area, and determine if any roadway or 

access improvements are necessary to accommodate the traffic generated by the proposed gas 

station.  

 

Figure 1 shows the location of the site in relation to the area roadway system. Figure 2 shows an 

aerial view of the site. 

 

The sections of this report present the following: 
 

• Existing roadway conditions 

• A description of the proposed gas station 

• Directional distribution of the gas station traffic 

• Vehicle trip generation for the gas station 

• Future traffic conditions including access to the gas station 

• Traffic analyses for the weekday morning and weekday evening peak hours 

• Recommendations with respect to adequacy of the site access and adjacent roadway system 

 

Traffic capacity analyses were conducted for the weekday morning and evening peak hours for the 

following conditions:  

 

1. Existing Conditions – Analyze the capacity of the existing roadway system using existing 

peak hour traffic volumes in the surrounding area. 

 

2. No-Build Conditions – Analyze the capacity of the future roadway system using 

background traffic volumes that include the existing traffic volumes increased by an 

ambient growth factor. 

 

3. Projected Conditions – Analyze the capacity of the future roadway system using the 

projected traffic volumes that include the existing traffic volumes, ambient traffic growth, 

and the traffic estimated to be generated by the full buildout of the proposed gas station. 

  

Page | 194AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 2 

 

 
Site Location Figure 1 

Figure 1 – Site Location 

  

SITE 

Page | 195AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 3 

 

 
Aerial View of Site Figure 2 

Figure 2 – Aerial View of Site Location 

Page | 196AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 4 

2. Existing Conditions 
 

 

Existing transportation conditions in the vicinity of the site were documented based on field visits 

conducted by KLOA, Inc. in order to obtain a database for projecting future conditions. The 

following provides a description of the geographical location of the site, physical characteristics 

of the area roadway system including lane usage and traffic control devices, and existing peak hour 

traffic volumes. 

 

Site Location 
 

The site, which is currently occupied by a single-family home, is located in the southwest quadrant 

of the intersection of Harlem Avenue with 171st Street and is bounded by First Merchants Bank to 

the west and a single-family home to the south.  Land uses in the area include single family homes 

to the west, the United States Postal Service (USPS) to the north, Creekview Offices, Montego 

Bay Car Wash, and Tinley Park Commons to the west and DuPage Medical Group and single-

family homes to the south.  

 

Existing Roadway System Characteristics 
 

The characteristics of the existing roadways near the gas station are described below and illustrated 

in Figure 3. 

 

Harlem Avenue (IL Route 43) is a north-south arterial roadway that in the vicinity of the site 

provides two through lanes in each direction separated by a raised barrier median. At its signalized 

intersection with 171st Street, Harlem avenue provides an exclusive left-turn lane, a through lane 

and a shared through/right-turn lane on the northbound and southbound approaches. The north leg 

of the intersection provides a standard style crosswalk and pedestrian countdown signals. Harlem 

Avenue is under the jurisdiction of the Illinois Department of Transportation (IDOT), is classified 

as a Strategic Regional Arterial (SRA) route, carries an annual average daily traffic (AADT) 

volume of 32,500 vehicles north of 171st Street and an AADT volume of 35,300 vehicles south of 

171st Street (IDOT AADT 2017) and has a posted speed limit of 40 miles per hour.  

 

171st Street is an east-west collector roadway that in the vicinity of the site provides two through 

lanes in each direction separated by a mountable/striped median. At its signalized intersection with 

Harlem Avenue, 171st Street provides an exclusive left-turn lane, a through lane and a shared 

through/right-turn lane on the eastbound and westbound approaches. The east leg provides a 

standard style crosswalks and pedestrian countdown signals. At its unsignalized intersection with 

Oconto Avenue, 171st Street provides a through lane and a shared through/right-turn lane on the 

eastbound approach and an exclusive left-turn lane, a through lane and a shared through/right-turn 

lane on the westbound approach. West of Harlem Avenue, 171st Street is under the jurisdiction of 

the Cook County Department of Transportation and Highways, carries an AADT volume of 16,00 

vehicles (IDOT AADT 2018) and has a posted speed limit of 40 miles per hour. East of Harlem 

Avenue, 171st Street is under the jurisdiction of the Village of Tinley Park, carries an AADT 

volume of 11,800 vehicles (IDOT AADT 2018) and has a posted speed limit of 35 miles per hour.  

Page | 197AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



S
IT

E

A
S

S
E

M
B

L
Y

L
I
F

E

A
B

U
N

D
A

N
T

O
F

F
I
C

E
S

C
R

E
E

K
V

IE
W

S
H

E
L

L

U
S

P
S

B
A

N
K

M
E

R
C

H
A

N
T

S

F
I
R

S
T

C
O

M
M

O
N

S

P
A

R
K

T
I
N

L
E

Y

4
3

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 3

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 R

o
a
d
w

a
y
 C

h
a
r
a
c
te

r
is

ti
c
s

L
E

G
E

N
D

- 
T

R
A

V
E

L
 L

A
N

E

- 
T

R
A

F
F

IC
 S

IG
N

A
L

- 
S

T
O

P
 S

IG
N

- 
S

P
E

E
D

 L
IM

IT
X

X

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

- 
S

T
A

N
D

A
R

D
 C

R
O

S
S

W
A

L
K

4
0

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

AVENUE

OCONTO 

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

4
0

3
5

4
0

2
0

5

Page | 198AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 6 

Oconto Avenue is a north-south local roadway that provides one through lane in each direction and 

extends from 171st Street to its terminus at 173rd Street approximately 1,300 feet to the south. At 

its unsignalized intersection with 171st Street, Oconto Avenue provides a shared left/right-turn lane 

under stop-sign control. Oconto Avenue is under the jurisdiction of the Village of Tinley Park and 

has a posted speed limit of 20 miles per hour.  

 

Traffic Signal Interconnect 
 

The intersection of Harlem Avenue with 171st Street is part of a 16-signal interconnect system that 

extends along Harlem Avenue from 175th Street (located one-half mile to the south) to 151st Street 

(approximately 2.5 miles to the north) and also includes the traffic signals along US Route 6 (159th 

Street) between the Park Center/Home Depot Signalized Access Drives and Laramie Avenue. 

These traffic signals are maintained by IDOT. 

 

Existing Traffic Volumes 
 

In order to determine current traffic conditions in the vicinity of the site, KLOA, Inc. conducted 

peak period traffic counts utilizing Miovision Scout Collection Units during the weekday morning 

(7:00 to 9:00 A.M.) and evening (4:00 to 6:00 P.M.) peak periods on Tuesday, August 6, 2019 at 

the following intersections: 

 

• Harlem Avenue with 171st Street  

• 171st Street with the First Merchants Bank Access Drive  

• 171st Street with Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive 

• 171st Street with USPS Easterly Access Drive  

 

The results of the traffic counts indicated that the weekday morning peak hour of traffic occurs 

from 7:45 A.M. to 8:45 A.M. and the weekday evening peak hour of traffic occurs from 5:00 P.M. 

to 6:00 P.M. Figure 4 illustrates the existing peak hour traffic volumes. Copies of the traffic count 

summary sheets are included in the Appendix.  

 

Crash Analysis 
 

KLOA, Inc. obtained crash data1 for the most recent available past five years (2013 to 2017) for 

the intersection of Harlem Avenue with 171st Street as summarized in Table 1. A review of the 

crash data indicated that no fatalities were reported.  

 

  

 
1 IDOT DISCLAIMER: The motor vehicle crash data referenced herein was provided by the Illinois Department of 

Transportation. Any conclusions drawn from analysis of the aforementioned data are the sole responsibility of the data 

recipient(s).  Additionally, for coding years 2015 to present, the Bureau of Data Collection uses the exact 

latitude/longitude supplied by the investigating law enforcement agency to locate crashes. Therefore, location data 

may vary in previous years since data prior to 2015 was physically located by bureau personnel.  

Page | 199AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



S
IT

E

4
3

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 4

E
x
is

ti
n
g
 T

ra
ff

ic
 V

o
lu

m
e
s

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

5
1

 (
5

6
)

50 (120)

71 (141)

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

25 (49)

16 (44)

AVENUE

OCONTO 

7
8

 (
1

5
)

U
S

P
S

 E
A

S
T

 A
C

C
E

S
S

1
7

1
S

T
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 @

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

2
6
 (

3
0
)

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

7
:4

5
-8

:4
5

 A
M

)

0
 (

3
)

5
0
2
 (

8
1
3
)

1
 (

1
6
)

4
 (

4
)

4
6

4
 (

7
8

1
)

6
 (

1
8
)

2 (3)

3 (2)

0 (0)

6 (15)

7 (25)

6 (4)

5
0
8
 (

8
4
7
)

4
6

7
 (

7
7

8
)

5
3
3
 (

8
7
7
)

0
 (

0
)

0
 (

0
)

4
7
4
 (

8
0
3
)

0 (0)

1 (0)

2
1
2
 (

3
2
7
)

1
1
5
 (

2
4
3
)

1
8
7
 (

2
3
1
)

1
8
7
 (

4
0
2
)

1
4

0
 (

2
1

8
)

785 (1292)

182 (228)

753 (1168)

151 (238)

7

Page | 200AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 8 

Table 1 

HARLEM AVENUE WITH 171st STREET - CRASH SUMMARY 

 Type of Accident Frequency 

Year Angle Object Rear End Sideswipe Turning Other Total 

2013 2 1 21 3 8 0 35 

2014 1 0 12 2 4 0 19 

2015 2 1 14 3 10 0 30 

2016 2 1 23 5 5 1 37 

2017 1 0 6 2 7 1 17 

Total 8 3 76 15 34 2 138 

Average/Year 1.6 < 1 15.2 3 6.8 < 1 27.6 

 

  

Page | 201AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 9 

3. Traffic Characteristics of the Proposed Gas Station 
 

 

In order to properly evaluate future traffic conditions in the surrounding area, it was necessary to 

determine the traffic characteristics of the proposed gas station, including the directional 

distribution and volumes of traffic that it will generate. 

 

Proposed Site and Development Plan 
 

As proposed, the site will be developed with a 7-Eleven gas station with an approximately 3,500 

square-foot convenience store with 20 fueling positions and an automated car wash. Access to the 

gas station will be provided via the following: 

 

• A right-in/right-out access drive off Harlem Avenue located approximately 200 feet south 

of 171st Street. This access drive will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane with 

outbound movements under stop-sign control. Turning movements at this access drive will 

be restricted to right-turns only via the existing raised median along Harlem Avenue and 

will be supplemented with appropriate striping and signage.   

 

• A right-in/right-out access drive off 171st Street located approximately 225 feet west of 

Harlem Avenue. This access drive will provide one inbound lane and one outbound lane 

with outbound movements under stop-sign control. Turning movements at this access drive 

will be physically restricted to right-turns only via a raised triangular median, striping and 

signage. 

 

• A cross access to the existing First Merchants Bank site that borders the west side of the 

site. This cross access will allow traffic generated by the subject site to access the existing 

full movement access drive serving the bank that is located approximately 275 feet west of 

Harlem Avenue and the existing three-quarter (rights in, rights out, lefts in) access drive 

off Oconto Avenue that is located approximately 110 feet south of 171st Street.  

 

It should be noted that the site will be developed with an additional cross access curb cut along the 

southern frontage to provide additional site connectivity to the future development of the two 

residential homes located south of the site. A site plan depicting the proposed gas station layout 

and access is included in the Appendix.  

 

Directional Distribution 
 

The directions from which patrons and employees will approach and depart the site were estimated 

based on existing travel patterns, as determined from the traffic counts. Figure 5 illustrates the 

directional distribution of the gas station-generated traffic. 

 

 

 

  

Page | 202AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2
2

5
'

5
0
'

200'

S
IT

E

4
3

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 5

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 D

ir
e
c
ti

o
n

a
l 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

2
0
%

0
0
'

0
0

%
- 

P
E

R
C

E
N

T
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

- 
D

IS
T

A
N

C
E

 I
N

 F
E

E
T

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

AVENUE

OCONTO 

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

1
5

%
35%

30%

10

Page | 203AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 11 

Peak Hour Traffic Volumes 
 

The number of peak hour trips estimated to be generated by the proposed gas station was based on 

vehicle trip generation rates contained in Trip Generation Manual, 10th Edition, published by the 

Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE).  The “Convenience Market/Gas Station” (Land-Use Code 

960) rate was utilized. In addition, it is important to note that surveys conducted by ITE have shown 

that approximately 60 percent of trips made to gas stations are diverted from the existing traffic on 

the roadway system. This is particularly true during the weekday morning and evening peak hours 

when traffic is diverted from the home-to-work and work-to-home trips. Such diverted trips are 

referred to as pass-by traffic. Table 2 summarizes the trips projected to be generated by the 

proposed gas station.  

 

 

Table 2 

PROJECTED SITE-GENERATED TRAFFIC VOLUMES 

ITE Land 

Use Code 

 
Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 
 

Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Type/Size In Out Total  In Out Total 

960 
Convenience Market/Gas Station 

(3,500 s.f.) 
146 145 291  121 121 242 

 60% Pass-By Reduction -87 -87 -174  -73 -73 -146 

 Total New Trips 49 50 99  42 42 84 

 

  

Page | 204AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 12 

4. Projected Traffic Conditions 
 

 

The total projected traffic volumes include the existing traffic volumes, increase in background 

traffic due to growth, and the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed subject gas station. 

 

Gas Station Traffic Assignment 
 

The estimated weekday morning and evening peak hour traffic volumes that will be generated by 

the proposed gas station were assigned to the roadway system in accordance with the previously 

described directional distribution (Figure 5). Figure 6 illustrates the traffic assignment of the new 

passenger vehicle trips. As previously indicated, a 60 percent pass-by reduction was applied, and 

Figure 7 illustrates the traffic assignment of the pass-by trips. 

 

Background Traffic Conditions 
 

The existing traffic volumes (Figure 4) were increased by a regional growth factor to account for 

the increase in existing traffic related to regional growth in the area (i.e., not attributable to any 

particular planned development). Based on Average Daily Traffic (ADT) projections provided by 

the Chicago Metropolitan Agency for Planning (CMAP), the existing traffic volumes are projected 

to increase by a total of 4.3 percent (0.7 percent compounded annually) to represent Year 2025 

total projected conditions (one-year buildout plus five years). Figure 8 illustrates the Year 2025 

no-build traffic volumes. A copy of the CMAP projections letter is included in the Appendix. 

 

Total Projected Traffic Volumes 
 

The gas station-generated traffic (Figures 6 and 7) was added to the existing traffic volumes 

increased by the regional growth factor (Figure 8) to determine the Year 2025 total projected traffic 

volumes, shown in Figure 9. 

  

Page | 205AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



2
2

5
'

5
0
'

200'

S
IT

E

4
3

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 6

E
s
ti

m
a
te

d
 D

ir
e
c
ti

o
n

a
l 

D
is

tr
ib

u
ti

o
n

2
0
%

0
0
'

0
0

%
- 

P
E

R
C

E
N

T
 D

IS
T

R
IB

U
T

IO
N

- 
D

IS
T

A
N

C
E

 I
N

 F
E

E
T

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

AVENUE

OCONTO 

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

1
5

%
35%

30%

13

Page | 206AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



S
IT

E

4
3

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 7

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

AVENUE

OCONTO 

U
S

P
S

 E
A

S
T

 A
C

C
E

S
S

1
7

1
S

T
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 @

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

7
:4

5
-8

:4
5

 A
M

)

P
a
s
s
-
B

y
 S

it
e
 T

r
a
f
f
ic

 A
s
s
ig

n
m

e
n
t

-
2

4
 (

-
2

0
)

+
2
4
 (

+
2
0
)

+24 (+20)

+22 (+19)

+
2
2
 (

+
1
9
)

-
2

2
 (

-
1

9
)

+41 (+34)

-41 (-34)

+
4
1
 (

+
3
4
)

14

Page | 207AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



S
IT

E

4
3

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 8

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

5
3
 (

5
8
)

52 (125)

74 (147)

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

25 (49)

16 (44)

AVENUE

OCONTO 

7
8

 (
1

5
)

U
S

P
S

 E
A

S
T

 A
C

C
E

S
S

1
7

1
S

T
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 @

2
6
 (

3
0
)

Y
e
a
r 

2
0

2
5

 N
o

-B
u

il
d

T
ra

ff
ic

 V
o

lu
m

e
s

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

7
:4

5
-8

:4
5

 A
M

)4
 (

4
)

4
8
7
 (

8
1
5
)

6
 (

1
8
)

0
 (

3
)

5
2
4
 (

8
4
9
)

1
 (

1
6
)

2 (3)

3 (2)

0 (0)

6 (15)

5
5
5
 (

9
1
3
)

0
 (

0
)

4
9
7
 (

8
3
7
)

0
 (

0
)

0 (0)

1 (0)

6 (4)

7 (25)

4
9
0
 (

8
1
2
)

5
3
0
 (

8
8
3
)

2
2
1
 (

3
4
1
)

1
2
0
 (

2
5
3
)

157 (248)

785 (1218)

1
9
5
 (

2
4
1
)

1
9
5
 (

4
1
9
)

1
4

6
 (

2
2

7
)

190 (238)

819 (1348)

15

Page | 208AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



S
IT

E

4
3

N

N
O

T
  
T

O
  
S

C
A

L
E

F
ig

u
r
e
: 

 9

L
E

G
E

N
D

0
0

(
0

0
)

- 
P

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

5
:0

0
-6

:0
0
 P

M
)

K
e
n

ig
,L

in
d

g
r
e
n

,O
'H

a
r
a
,A

b
o

o
n

a
,I

n
c
.

J
o
b
 N

o
: 

1
9
-
0
5
6

5
3
 (

5
8
)

52 (125)

74 (147)

31 (27)

S
T

R
E

E
T

1
7
1
S

T

T
in

le
y
 P

a
rk

, 
Il

li
n
o
is

G
a
s
 S

ta
ti

o
n

7
 E

le
v

e
n

AVENUE

HARLEM

ACCESS

USPS EAST

ACCESS

USPS W EST

25 (49)

16 (44)

AVENUE

OCONTO 

7
8

 (
1

5
)

50 (41)

4
3
 (

3
8
)

U
S

P
S

 E
A

S
T

 A
C

C
E

S
S

1
7

1
S

T
 S

T
R

E
E

T
 @

59 (49)

2
6
 (

3
0
)

3
4
 (

2
8
)

Y
e
a
r 

2
0

2
5

 T
o

ta
l 

P
ro

je
c
te

d
 T

ra
ff

ic
 V

o
lu

m
e
s

- 
A

M
 P

E
A

K
 H

O
U

R
 (

7
:4

5
-8

:4
5

 A
M

)

5
6
 (

4
7
)

2
2
3
 (

3
4
3
)

1
2
5
 (

2
5
7
)

2
1

3
 (

2
5

6
)

2
0
3
 (

4
2
5
)

1
4

6
 (

2
2

7
)

205 (251)

819 (1348)

798 (1229)

161 (252)

1 (0)

5
6

5
 (

9
2

1
)

0
 (

0
)

4
7
5
 (

8
1
8
)

5
1
1
 (

8
3
1
)

5
0

6
 (

8
6

3
)

6 (4)

7 (25)

4
 (

4
)

4
9

6
 (

8
2

3
)

6
 (

1
8
)

2 (3)

0
 (

3
)

5
3
4
 (

8
5
7
)

1
 (

1
6
)

3 (2)

0 (0)

6 (15)

1010 (1664)

1076 (1724)

16

Page | 209AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 17 

5. Traffic Analysis and Recommendations 
 

 

The following provides an evaluation conducted for the weekday morning and weekday evening 

peak hours. The analysis includes conducting capacity analyses to determine how well the roadway 

system and access drives are projected to operate and whether any roadway improvements or 

modifications are required. 

 

Traffic Analyses 
 

Roadway and adjacent or nearby intersection analyses were performed for the weekday morning 

and evening peak hours for the existing (Year 2019) and Year 2025 total projected traffic volumes. 

 

The traffic analyses were performed using the methodologies outlined in the Transportation 

Research Board’s Highway Capacity Manual (HCM), 6th Edition and analyzed using the 

Synchro/SimTraffic 10 software. The analysis for the traffic-signal controlled intersections were 

accomplished using actual cycle lengths and phasings to determine the average overall vehicle 

delay and levels of service. 

 

The analyses for the unsignalized intersections determine the average control delay to vehicles at 

an intersection. Control delay is the elapsed time from a vehicle joining the queue at a stop sign 

(includes the time required to decelerate to a stop) until its departure from the stop sign and 

resumption of free flow speed. The methodology analyzes each intersection approach controlled 

by a stop sign and considers traffic volumes on all approaches and lane characteristics. 

 

The ability of an intersection to accommodate traffic flow is expressed in terms of level of service, 

which is assigned a letter from A to F based on the average control delay experienced by vehicles 

passing through the intersection. The Highway Capacity Manual definitions for levels of service 

and the corresponding control delay for signalized intersections and unsignalized intersections are 

included in the Appendix of this report. 

 

Summaries of the traffic analysis results showing the level of service and overall intersection delay 

(measured in seconds) for the existing and total projected conditions are presented in Tables 3 

through 6. A discussion of each intersection follows. Summary sheets for the capacity analyses are 

included in the Appendix. 

Page | 210AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 18 

Table 3 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – HARLEM AVENUE WITH 171st STREET – SIGNALIZED 
 

Peak Hour 
Eastbound Westbound Northbound Southbound 

Overall 
L T R L T R L T R L T R 

Y
ea

r 
2
0
1
9

 

E
x
is

ti
n

g
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 
 

Weekday 

Morning 

Peak Hour 

D 

40.2 

D 

50.2 

C 

34.9 

D 

54.8 

B 

16.4 

C 

20.3 

B 

11.2 

C 

25.9 C – 30.0 

D – 46.5 D – 48.7 B – 19.6 C – 24.9 

Weekday 

Evening 

Peak Hour 

E 

64.4 

F 

99+ 

F 

92.4 

E 

64.7 

E 

67.0 

D 

43.7 

D 

54.0 

E 

63.8 E – 72.3 

F – 99+ E – 75.5 D – 46.9 E – 62.9 

Y
ea

r 
2
0
2
5
 N

o
-B

u
il

d
 

T
ra

ff
ic

 V
o
lu

m
es

 Weekday 

Morning 

Peak Hour 

D 

40.2 

D 

49.6 

C 

34.7 

D 

54.2 

B 

19.3 

C 

21.5 

B 

11.8 

C 

27.5 C – 30.9 

D – 46.2 D – 48.2 C – 21.1 C – 26.3 

Weekday 

Evening 

Peak Hour 

E 

73.9 

F 

99+ 

F 

99+ 

E 

66.8 

E 

69.7 

D 

50.4 

E 

55.8 

E 

78.8 F – 82.5 

F – 99+ F – 80.4 D – 53.0 E – 76.7 

Y
ea

r 
2
0
2
5
 T

o
ta

l 

P
ro

je
ct

ed
 C

o
n

d
it

io
n

s 

Weekday 

Morning 

Peak Hour 

D 

42.4 

D 

49.5 

C 

34.9 

D 

54.2 

C 

22.8 

C 

21.7 

B 

12.0 

C 

29.1 C – 31.9 

D – 46.8 D – 48.2 C – 21.9 C – 27.9 

Weekday 

Evening 

Peak Hour 

F 

85.2 

F 

99+ 

F 

99+ 

E 

67.0 

E 

74.0 

D 

50.4 

E 

55.3 

F 

87.2 
F – 86.7 

F – 156.6 F – 82.1 D – 53.8 F – 84.4 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

L – Left     T – Through     R – Right  

 

Page | 211AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 19 

Table 4 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – EXISTING CONDITIONS – UNSIGNALIZED 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

 Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

171st Street with Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive 

• Northbound Approach B 13.7  C 15.0 

• Southbound Approach C 17.6  E 47.0 

• Eastbound Left Turn -- --  B 10.7 

• Westbound Left Turn A 8.6  A 9.9 

171st Street with First Merchants Bank Full Access Drive 

• Northbound Approach B 10.1  -- -- 

• Westbound Left Turn -- --  -- -- 

171st Street with USPS Easterly Access Drive 

• Southbound Approach B 14.2  C 15.3 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 8.8  A 9.8 

LOS = Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

 

  

Page | 212AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 20 

Table 5 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – NO-BUILD CONDITIONS – UNSIGNALIZED 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

 Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

171st Street with Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive 

• Northbound Approach B 14.1  C 15.6 

• Southbound Approach C 18.6  F 55.7 

• Eastbound Left Turn -- --  B 10.9 

• Westbound Left Turn A 8.7  B 10.1 

171st Street with First Merchants Bank Full Access Drive 

• Northbound Approach B 10.2  -- -- 

• Westbound Left Turn -- --  -- -- 

171st Street with USPS Easterly Access Drive 

• Southbound Approach B 14.6  C 15.9 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 8.8  B 10.0 

LOS = Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

 

 

  

Page | 213AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 21 

Table 6 

CAPACITY ANALYSIS RESULTS – PROJECTED CONDITIONS – UNSIGNALIZED 

 Weekday Morning 

Peak Hour 

 Weekday Evening 

Peak Hour 

Intersection LOS Delay  LOS Delay 

171st Street with Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive 

• Northbound Approach B 14.2  C 15.8 

• Southbound Approach C 19.0  F 57.7 

• Eastbound Left Turn -- --  B 11.0 

• Westbound Left Turn A 8.7  B 10.1 

171st Street with First Merchants Bank Full Access Drive 

• Northbound Approach C 22.6  E 46.4 

• Westbound Left Turn A 8.9  B 10.2 

171st Street with USPS Easterly Access Drive/Proposed Right-In/Right-Out 

• Northbound Approach B 10.5  B 12.4 

• Southbound Approach C 16.8  C 18.4 

• Eastbound Left Turn A 8.9  B 10.1 

Harlem Avenue with Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive 

• Eastbound Approach B 13.7  C 20.3 

LOS = Level of Service 

Delay is measured in seconds. 

 

Page | 214AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 22 

Discussion and Recommendations 
 

The following summarizes how the intersections are projected to operate and identifies any 

roadway and traffic control improvements necessary to accommodate the gas station-generated 

traffic. 
 

Harlem Avenue with 171st Street 
 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that overall this intersection currently operates at Level 

of Service (LOS) LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS E during the weekday 

evening peak hour. The level of service during the weekday evening peak hours is a result of the 

eastbound approach which operates at LOS F and the westbound and southbound approaches 

which operate at LOS E during the peak hour.  
 

Under Year 2025 no-build conditions, this intersection overall is projected to operate at LOS C 

during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS F during the weekday evening peak hour with 

increases in delay of less than one second and approximately 10 seconds, respectively. The 

eastbound and westbound approaches are projected to continue operating at LOS F and the 

southbound approach is projected to continue operating at LOS E during the weekday evening 

peak hour.  
 

Under Year 2025 total projected conditions, the intersection overall is projected to continue 

operating at LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS F during th weekday 

evening peak hour with increases in delay of approximately one second and four seconds over no 

build conditions.  
 

Overall, the proposed development is only projected to increase the traffic traversing this 

intersection by approximately two percent during the weekday morning peak hour and 

approximately one percent during the weekday evening peak hour. As such, the proposed 

development traffic will have a limited impact on the operations of this intersection.  
 

171st Street with Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive 
 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that the northbound approach currently operates at 

LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS C during the weekday evening peak 

hour. Outbound movements from the westerly USPS access drive onto 171st Street currently 

operate at LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS E during the weekday 

evening peak hour.  
 

Under Year 2025 no-build conditions, the northbound approach is projected to continue operating 

at LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS C during the weekday evening peak 

hour with increases in delay of less than one second. Outbound movements from the westerly 

USPS access drive onto 171st Street are projected to operate at LOS C during the weekday morning 

peak hour and at LOS F during the weekday evening peak hour with increases in delay of 

approximately one and eight seconds, respectively. This level of service is expected for an access 

driveway that has an intersection with a major roadway such as 171st Street and the increases in 

delay are attributed to the background traffic growth.  

Page | 215AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 23 

Under Year 2025 total projected conditions, the northbound approach is projected to continue 

operating at LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS C during the weekday 

evening peak hour with increases in delay of less than one second over no build conditions. 

Outbound movements from the westerly USPS access drive onto 171st Street are projected to 

operate at LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS F during the weekday 

evening peak hour with increases in delay of less than one and approximately two seconds, 

respectively. As previously indicated, this level of service is expected for an access driveway that 

has an intersection with a major roadway such as 171st Street and the increases in delay are 

attributed to the background traffic growth. Eastbound and westbound left-turns onto the access 

drive/Oconto Avenue are projected to continue operating at LOS B or better during the peak hours 

with 95th percentile queues of one to two vehicles. As such, the traffic projected to be generated 

by the proposed gas station will have a limited impact on the operations of this intersection an no 

roadway or traffic control improvements will be required.  

 

171st Street with First Merchants Bank  

 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that outbound movements from the First Merchants 

Bank access drive onto 171st Street currently operate at LOS B during the weekday morning peak 

hour. Under Year 2025 no-build conditions, outbound movements from the access drive onto 171st 

Street are projected to continue operate at LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour with 

increases in delay of less than one second.  

 

Under Year 2025 total projected conditions outbound movements from the access drive onto 171st 

Street are projected to operate at LOS C to the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS E during 

the weekday evening peak hour. However, this level of service is expected for an access driveway 

that has an unsignalized intersection with a major roadway such as 171st Street. Furthermore, it 

should be noted that this access drive will primarily accommodate left-turning movements to/from 

171st Street given the proposed right-in/right-out access drive that serves the site directly. 

Westbound left-turning movements from 171st Street onto the access drive are projected to operate 

at LOS B or better during the peak hours with 95th percentile queues of one to two vehicles.  

 

Overall, the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed gas station will have a limited impact 

on the operations of First Merchants Bank, as the bank will generate a minimal volume of traffic 

during the peak hours. As such, this access drive will be adequate in accommodating the traffic 

estimated to be generated by the proposed development and will ensure efficient and flexible 

access is provided.  

 

171st Street with USPS Easterly Access Drive/Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive 

 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that outbound movements from the easterly USPS 

access drive currently operate at LOS B during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS C 

during the weekday evening peak hour. Under Year 2025 no-build conditions, outbound 

movements from the easterly USPS access drive are projected to continue operating at LOS B 

during the weekday morning peak hour and at LOS C during the weekday evening peak hour with 

increases in delay of less than one second.  

 

Page | 216AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 24 

Under Year 2025 total projected conditions, outbound movements from the easterly USPS access 

drive are projected to continue operating at LOS C during the weekday morning peak hour 

weekday evening peak hours with increases in delay of approximately two seconds or less. 

Eastbound left-turning movements onto the access drive are projected to continue operating at 

LOS B or better during the peak hours with 95th percentile queues of one to two vehicles. 

 

Outbound movements from the proposed right-in/right-out access drive onto 171st Street are 

projected to operate at LOS B during the peak hours with 95th percentile queues of one to two 

vehicles. As such, the proposed right-in/right-out access drive will be adequate in accommodating 

the traffic estimated to be generated by the proposed development and will have a limited impact 

n the operations of the USPS easterly access drive.  

 

Harlem Avenue with Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive 

 

The results of the capacity analysis indicate that outbound movements from the proposed access 

drive onto Harlem Avenue are projected to operate at LOS B during the weekday morning peak 

hour and at LOS C during the weekday evening peak hour with 95th percentile queues of one to 

two vehicles. As such, this access drive will be adequate in accommodating the traffic estimated 

to be generated by the proposed development and will ensure efficient and flexible access is 

provided.  

 

  

Page | 217AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Proposed 7-Eleven Gas Station 

Tinley Park, Illinois 25 

6. Conclusion 
 

 

Based on the preceding analyses and recommendations, the following conclusions have been 

made: 

 

• The traffic projected to be generated by the proposed gas station will be reduced due to the 

volume of pass-by traffic generated by the gas station.  

 

• The proposed access system, including cross access to the First Merchants Bank, will be 

adequate in accommodating the traffic projected to be generated by the proposed gas 

station with limited impact on the external roadway system. 

 

• The proposed gas station is only projected to increase the traffic traversing the intersection 

of Harlem Avenue with 171st Street by approximately two percent during the weekday 

morning peak hour and approximately one percent during the weekday evening peak hour 

and as such will have a limited impact on the operations of the intersection. 

Page | 218AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 

Appendix 
 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets 
Preliminary Site Plan  

ITE Trip Generation Sheets 
CMAP Projections Letter 
Level of Service Criteria 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 

Page | 219AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Traffic Count Summary Sheets  

Page | 220AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

H
a

rl
e

m
 A

v
e

n
u

e
 w

it
h

 1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
1

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

D
a

ta

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

H
a

rl
e

m
 A

v
e

n
u

e
H

a
rl

e
m

 A
v
e

n
u

e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

7
:0

0
 A

M
0

3
5

4
2

2
3

0
1

0
0

0
3

1
3

1
9

0
7

1
0

2
9

1
3

6
2

0
1

6
7

0
1

1
1

5
6

1
5

0
1

8
2

5
2

0

7
:1

5
 A

M
0

2
2

4
5

4
0

0
1

0
7

0
3

0
2

5
8

0
6

3
0

2
8

2
1

1
1

3
0

2
5

2
0

7
2

0
5

2
4

0
2

3
6

6
5

8

7
:3

0
 A

M
0

3
4

5
3

2
6

0
1

1
3

0
3

4
3

6
1

2
0

8
2

1
2

7
1

7
7

1
1

0
2

1
6

0
1

6
2

2
0

2
6

1
2

6
2

6
7

3

7
:4

5
 A

M
0

3
9

4
6

3
5

0
1

2
0

0
2

7
4

7
1

2
0

8
6

0
4

6
2

0
8

1
4

0
2

6
8

0
2

5
2

4
0

4
6

0
3

1
1

7
8

5

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

1
3

0
1

8
6

1
2

4
0

4
4

0
0

1
2

2
1

3
9

4
1

0
3

0
2

1
1

3
0

7
3

2
4

0
0

9
0

3
0

5
9

8
2

1
1

1
1

1
9

9
1

2
6

3
6

8
:0

0
 A

M
0

3
5

2
7

3
2

0
9

4
0

2
4

6
3

1
3

0
1

0
0

0
4

2
1

9
4

1
0

0
2

4
6

0
1

3
1

5
7

2
8

0
1

9
8

6
3

8

8
:1

5
 A

M
0

5
1

4
9

3
6

0
1

3
6

0
3

1
3

1
7

0
6

9
0

5
2

2
0

5
1

3
0

2
7

0
0

1
7

2
1

1
3

8
0

2
6

6
7

4
1

8
:3

0
 A

M
0

6
2

5
9

3
7

0
1

5
8

0
3

3
6

0
1

9
0

1
1

2
0

4
2

1
7

8
1

3
0

2
3

3
0

1
6

1
4

5
3

9
0

2
0

0
7

0
3

8
:4

5
 A

M
0

3
0

4
1

3
1

0
1

0
2

0
2

6
4

3
2

0
0

8
9

0
4

8
1

9
5

1
1

0
2

5
4

0
9

1
6

6
4

1
0

2
1

6
6

6
1

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

1
7

8
1

7
6

1
3

6
0

4
9

0
0

1
1

4
1

9
7

5
9

0
3

7
0

0
1

8
4

7
7

2
4

7
0

1
0

0
3

0
5

5
6

7
9

1
4

6
0

8
8

0
2

7
4

3

**
* 

B
R

E
A

K
 *

**
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

4
:0

0
 P

M
0

5
1

9
3

3
5

0
1

7
9

0
3

7
9

2
1

6
0

1
4

5
0

4
1

2
7

7
2

3
0

3
4

1
0

3
6

2
6

9
5

6
0

3
6

1
1

0
2

6

4
:1

5
 P

M
0

6
2

8
1

5
2

0
1

9
5

0
4

2
8

6
2

9
0

1
5

7
0

3
6

2
6

2
2

8
0

3
2

6
0

3
1

2
5

6
5

1
0

3
3

8
1

0
1

6

4
:3

0
 P

M
0

5
0

9
2

4
1

0
1

8
3

1
5

5
8

0
1

4
0

1
5

0
0

6
2

3
3

2
3

3
0

4
2

7
0

2
8

2
8

9
5

8
0

3
7

5
1

1
3

5

4
:4

5
 P

M
0

5
5

8
6

6
5

0
2

0
6

0
6

8
8

0
2

2
0

1
7

0
0

5
3

3
0

2
3

6
0

3
9

1
0

3
5

2
6

7
4

3
0

3
4

5
1

1
1

2

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

2
1

8
3

5
2

1
9

3
0

7
6

3
1

2
0

2
3

3
8

8
1

0
6

2
2

0
1

9
2

1
1

7
3

1
2

0
0

1
4

8
5

0
1

3
0

1
0

8
1

2
0

8
0

1
4

1
9

4
2

8
9

5
:0

0
 P

M
0

5
0

9
0

4
6

0
1

8
6

0
5

7
7

1
1

7
0

1
4

5
0

4
0

3
2

5
3

8
0

4
0

3
0

3
0

3
1

3
6

1
0

4
0

4
1

1
3

8

5
:1

5
 P

M
0

6
6

1
0

7
5

2
0

2
2

5
0

6
4

8
6

1
4

0
1

6
4

0
5

7
3

1
4

3
1

0
4

0
2

0
4

7
2

9
5

6
6

0
4

0
8

1
1

9
9

5
:3

0
 P

M
0

5
4

8
5

5
9

0
1

9
8

0
6

1
8

9
1

5
0

1
6

5
0

6
9

3
0

3
2

2
0

3
9

4
0

3
0

2
7

3
5

2
0

3
5

5
1

1
1

2

5
:4

5
 P

M
0

6
1

8
7

6
1

0
2

0
9

0
6

1
8

1
1

0
0

1
5

2
1

6
2

3
5

0
2

9
0

4
4

2
0

3
4

2
8

7
5

9
0

3
8

0
1

1
8

3

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

2
3

1
3

6
9

2
1

8
0

8
1

8
0

2
4

3
3

2
7

5
6

0
6

2
6

1
2

2
8

1
2

9
2

1
2

0
0

1
6

4
1

0
1

4
1

1
1

6
8

2
3

8
0

1
5

4
7

4
6

3
2

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

0
7

5
7

1
0

8
3

6
7

1
0

2
5

1
1

1
6

8
1

1
0

0
1

2
3

7
0

1
9

2
0

2
7

3
4

3
9

6
9

3
2

7
0

5
0

3
2

0
3

8
5

3
7

4
9

7
0

3
1

4
8

3
7

1
4

3
0

0

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
3

0
.1

4
3

.1
2

6
.7

-
-

0
.1

3
5

.5
5

2
.1

1
2

.3
-

-
0

.0
1

4
.6

7
8

.9
6

.5
-

-
0

.0
8

.0
7

7
.5

1
4

.5
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

5
.3

7
.6

4
.7

-
1

7
.6

0
.0

4
.8

7
.0

1
.7

-
1

3
.4

0
.0

5
.1

2
7

.8
2

.3
-

3
5

.2
0

.0
2

.7
2

6
.2

4
.9

-
3

3
.8

-

L
ig

h
ts

0
7

4
0

1
0

7
2

6
5

6
-

2
4

6
8

1
6

7
4

9
8

5
2

3
0

-
1

8
9

0
2

7
1

9
3

8
5

8
3

1
9

-
4

8
9

8
0

3
8

2
3

6
4

1
6

8
5

-
4

7
0

8
1

3
9

6
4

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

9
7

.8
9

9
.0

9
7

.8
-

9
8

.3
1

0
0

.0
9

9
.0

9
8

.4
9

7
.0

-
9

8
.4

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.0
9

7
.2

9
7

.6
-

9
7

.3
-

9
9

.2
9

7
.1

9
7

.4
-

9
7

.3
9

7
.7

B
u

s
e

s
0

5
4

0
-

9
0

0
4

1
-

5
0

5
1

1
2

-
1

8
0

0
9

8
-

1
7

4
9

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

0
.7

0
.4

0
.0

-
0

.4
0

.0
0

.0
0

.4
0

.4
-

0
.3

0
.0

0
.7

0
.3

0
.6

-
0

.4
-

0
.0

0
.2

1
.1

-
0

.4
0

.3

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
5

6
8

-
1

9
0

6
1

0
5

-
2

1
0

3
5

4
5

-
6

2
0

2
5

9
7

-
6

8
1

7
0

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.7
0

.6
1

.2
-

0
.8

0
.0

0
.9

1
.0

2
.1

-
1

.1
0

.0
0

.4
1

.4
1

.5
-

1
.2

-
0

.5
1

.6
1

.0
-

1
.4

1
.2

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
7

1
7

-
1

5
0

1
2

1
-

4
0

7
4

6
1

-
5

4
0

1
4

0
3

-
4

4
1

1
7

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.9
0

.1
1

.0
-

0
.6

0
.0

0
.1

0
.2

0
.4

-
0

.2
0

.0
1

.0
1

.2
0

.3
-

1
.1

-
0

.3
1

.1
0

.4
-

0
.9

0
.8

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

Page | 221AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
1

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1

0
0

.0
-

-

Page | 222AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

H
a

rl
e

m
 A

v
e

n
u

e
 w

it
h

 1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
3

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
e

a
k
 H

o
u

r 
D

a
ta

 (
7

:4
5

 A
M

)

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

H
a

rl
e

m
 A

v
e

n
u

e
H

a
rl

e
m

 A
v
e

n
u

e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

7
:4

5
 A

M
0

3
9

4
6

3
5

0
1

2
0

0
2

7
4

7
1

2
0

8
6

0
4

6
2

0
8

1
4

0
2

6
8

0
2

5
2

4
0

4
6

0
3

1
1

7
8

5

8
:0

0
 A

M
0

3
5

2
7

3
2

0
9

4
0

2
4

6
3

1
3

0
1

0
0

0
4

2
1

9
4

1
0

0
2

4
6

0
1

3
1

5
7

2
8

0
1

9
8

6
3

8

8
:1

5
 A

M
0

5
1

4
9

3
6

0
1

3
6

0
3

1
3

1
7

0
6

9
0

5
2

2
0

5
1

3
0

2
7

0
0

1
7

2
1

1
3

8
0

2
6

6
7

4
1

8
:3

0
 A

M
0

6
2

5
9

3
7

0
1

5
8

0
3

3
6

0
1

9
0

1
1

2
0

4
2

1
7

8
1

3
0

2
3

3
0

1
6

1
4

5
3

9
0

2
0

0
7

0
3

T
o

ta
l

0
1

8
7

1
8

1
1

4
0

0
5

0
8

0
1

1
5

2
0

1
5

1
0

3
6

7
0

1
8

2
7

8
5

5
0

0
1

0
1

7
0

7
1

7
5

3
1

5
1

0
9

7
5

2
8

6
7

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
3

6
.8

3
5

.6
2

7
.6

-
-

0
.0

3
1

.3
5

4
.8

1
3

.9
-

-
0

.0
1

7
.9

7
7

.2
4

.9
-

-
0

.0
7

.3
7

7
.2

1
5

.5
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

6
.5

6
.3

4
.9

-
1

7
.7

0
.0

4
.0

7
.0

1
.8

-
1

2
.8

0
.0

6
.3

2
7

.4
1

.7
-

3
5

.5
0

.0
2

.5
2

6
.3

5
.3

-
3

4
.0

-

P
H

F
0

.0
0

0
0

.7
5

4
0

.7
6

7
0

.9
4

6
-

0
.8

0
4

0
.0

0
0

0
.8

7
1

0
.7

9
8

0
.6

7
1

-
0

.8
1

9
0

.0
0

0
0

.8
7

5
0

.9
4

4
0

.8
9

3
-

0
.9

4
2

0
.0

0
0

0
.7

1
0

0
.7

8
4

0
.8

2
1

-
0

.7
8

4
0

.9
1

3

L
ig

h
ts

0
1

7
9

1
7

7
1

3
9

-
4

9
5

0
1

1
4

1
9

2
5

0
-

3
5

6
0

1
7

7
7

4
7

4
7

-
9

7
1

0
7

1
7

0
9

1
4

0
-

9
2

0
2

7
4

2

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

9
5

.7
9

7
.8

9
9

.3
-

9
7

.4
-

9
9

.1
9

5
.5

9
8

.0
-

9
7

.0
-

9
7

.3
9

5
.2

9
4

.0
-

9
5

.5
-

1
0

0
.0

9
4

.2
9

2
.7

-
9

4
.4

9
5

.6

B
u

s
e

s
0

4
1

0
-

5
0

0
4

0
-

4
0

4
3

1
-

8
0

0
5

7
-

1
2

2
9

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

2
.1

0
.6

0
.0

-
1

.0
-

0
.0

2
.0

0
.0

-
1

.1
-

2
.2

0
.4

2
.0

-
0

.8
-

0
.0

0
.7

4
.6

-
1

.2
1

.0

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
2

3
1

-
6

0
1

4
1

-
6

0
1

2
0

2
-

2
3

0
0

1
9

3
-

2
2

5
7

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
1

.1
1

.7
0

.7
-

1
.2

-
0

.9
2

.0
2

.0
-

1
.6

-
0

.5
2

.5
4

.0
-

2
.3

-
0

.0
2

.5
2

.0
-

2
.3

2
.0

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
2

0
0

-
2

0
0

1
0

-
1

0
0

1
5

0
-

1
5

0
0

2
0

1
-

2
1

3
9

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
1

.1
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.4

-
0

.0
0

.5
0

.0
-

0
.3

-
0

.0
1

.9
0

.0
-

1
.5

-
0

.0
2

.7
0

.7
-

2
.2

1
.4

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Page | 223AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

H
a

rl
e

m
 A

v
e

n
u

e
 w

it
h

 1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
4

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
e

a
k
 H

o
u

r 
D

a
ta

 (
5

:0
0

 P
M

)

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

H
a

rl
e

m
 A

v
e

n
u

e
H

a
rl

e
m

 A
v
e

n
u

e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

5
:0

0
 P

M
0

5
0

9
0

4
6

0
1

8
6

0
5

7
7

1
1

7
0

1
4

5
0

4
0

3
2

5
3

8
0

4
0

3
0

3
0

3
1

3
6

1
0

4
0

4
1

1
3

8

5
:1

5
 P

M
0

6
6

1
0

7
5

2
0

2
2

5
0

6
4

8
6

1
4

0
1

6
4

0
5

7
3

1
4

3
1

0
4

0
2

0
4

7
2

9
5

6
6

0
4

0
8

1
1

9
9

5
:3

0
 P

M
0

5
4

8
5

5
9

0
1

9
8

0
6

1
8

9
1

5
0

1
6

5
0

6
9

3
0

3
2

2
0

3
9

4
0

3
0

2
7

3
5

2
0

3
5

5
1

1
1

2

5
:4

5
 P

M
0

6
1

8
7

6
1

0
2

0
9

0
6

1
8

1
1

0
0

1
5

2
1

6
2

3
5

0
2

9
0

4
4

2
0

3
4

2
8

7
5

9
0

3
8

0
1

1
8

3

T
o

ta
l

0
2

3
1

3
6

9
2

1
8

0
8

1
8

0
2

4
3

3
2

7
5

6
0

6
2

6
1

2
2

8
1

2
9

2
1

2
0

0
1

6
4

1
0

1
4

1
1

1
6

8
2

3
8

0
1

5
4

7
4

6
3

2

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
2

8
.2

4
5

.1
2

6
.7

-
-

0
.0

3
8

.8
5

2
.2

8
.9

-
-

0
.1

1
3

.9
7

8
.7

7
.3

-
-

0
.0

9
.1

7
5

.5
1

5
.4

-
-

-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

5
.0

8
.0

4
.7

-
1

7
.7

0
.0

5
.2

7
.1

1
.2

-
1

3
.5

0
.0

4
.9

2
7

.9
2

.6
-

3
5

.4
0

.0
3

.0
2

5
.2

5
.1

-
3

3
.4

-

P
H

F
0

.0
0

0
0

.8
7

5
0

.8
6

2
0

.8
9

3
-

0
.9

0
9

0
.0

0
0

0
.9

4
9

0
.9

1
9

0
.8

2
4

-
0

.9
4

8
0

.2
5

0
0

.8
2

6
0

.9
2

3
0

.7
8

9
-

0
.9

2
8

0
.0

0
0

0
.7

5
0

0
.9

3
3

0
.9

0
2

-
0

.9
4

8
0

.9
6

6

L
ig

h
ts

0
2

2
8

3
6

8
2

1
1

-
8

0
7

0
2

3
9

3
2

7
5

6
-

6
2

2
1

2
2

6
1

2
7

2
1

1
8

-
1

6
1

7
0

1
4

1
1

1
5

5
2

3
7

-
1

5
3

3
4

5
7

9

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

9
8

.7
9

9
.7

9
6

.8
-

9
8

.7
-

9
8

.4
1

0
0

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

9
9

.4
1

0
0

.0
9

9
.1

9
8

.5
9

8
.3

-
9

8
.5

-
1

0
0

.0
9

8
.9

9
9

.6
-

9
9

.1
9

8
.9

B
u

s
e

s
0

1
0

0
-

1
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
2

0
-

2
0

0
1

0
-

1
4

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

0
.4

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.1
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.2
0

.0
-

0
.1

-
0

.0
0

.1
0

.0
-

0
.1

0
.1

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

0
3

-
3

0
3

0
0

-
3

0
1

1
0

1
-

1
2

0
0

7
1

-
8

2
6

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
0

.0
1

.4
-

0
.4

-
1

.2
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.5

0
.0

0
.4

0
.8

0
.8

-
0

.7
-

0
.0

0
.6

0
.4

-
0

.5
0

.6

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
2

1
4

-
7

0
1

0
0

-
1

0
1

8
1

-
1

0
0

0
5

0
-

5
2

3

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.9
0

.3
1

.8
-

0
.9

-
0

.4
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.2

0
.0

0
.4

0
.6

0
.8

-
0

.6
-

0
.0

0
.4

0
.0

-
0

.3
0

.5

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Page | 224AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 O
c
o

n
to

 A
v
e

n
u

e
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
1

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

D
a

ta

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

O
c
o

n
to

 A
v
e

n
u

e
U

S
P

S
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

7
:0

0
 A

M
0

0
9

3
0

0
9

3
0

0
7

5
1

0
7

6
0

0
0

1
0

1
0

3
0

3
0

6
1

7
6

7
:1

5
 A

M
0

0
1

1
4

1
0

1
1

5
0

0
7

2
0

0
7

2
0

1
0

0
0

1
0

4
0

1
0

5
1

9
3

7
:3

0
 A

M
0

1
1

0
4

1
0

1
0

6
0

1
8

1
0

0
8

2
0

2
0

2
0

4
0

5
0

4
0

9
2

0
1

7
:4

5
 A

M
0

0
1

2
0

0
0

1
2

0
0

0
1

3
0

0
0

1
3

0
0

0
0

2
0

2
0

5
1

3
0

9
2

6
1

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

1
4

3
1

2
0

4
3

4
0

1
3

5
8

1
0

3
6

0
0

3
0

5
0

8
0

1
7

1
1

1
0

2
9

8
3

1

8
:0

0
 A

M
0

0
8

4
0

0
8

4
1

0
1

0
7

3
0

1
1

1
0

1
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

7
2

0
4

8
:1

5
 A

M
0

0
1

3
8

1
0

1
3

9
1

4
9

8
0

0
1

0
3

0
1

0
2

0
3

0
8

1
4

0
1

3
2

5
8

8
:3

0
 A

M
0

0
1

5
0

0
0

1
5

0
0

0
1

2
1

1
0

1
2

2
0

1
0

1
0

2
0

9
0

5
0

1
4

2
8

8

8
:4

5
 A

M
0

0
1

1
6

2
1

1
1

8
0

2
1

2
3

0
0

1
2

5
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

3
0

4
0

7
2

5
0

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

0
4

8
8

3
1

4
9

1
2

6
4

4
9

4
0

4
6

1
0

3
0

4
0

7
0

2
3

1
1

7
0

4
1

1
0

0
0

**
* 

B
R

E
A

K
 *

**
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

4
:0

0
 P

M
0

2
1

6
9

3
0

1
7

4
0

2
1

8
0

0
0

1
8

2
0

3
0

3
0

6
0

1
3

0
1

4
0

2
7

3
8

9

4
:1

5
 P

M
0

0
1

7
7

5
0

1
8

2
0

1
1

4
9

1
0

1
5

1
0

2
0

4
0

6
0

1
5

0
1

1
0

2
6

3
6

5

4
:3

0
 P

M
0

3
1

8
7

4
0

1
9

4
0

5
1

8
4

0
0

1
8

9
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

9
1

1
8

1
2

8
4

1
4

4
:4

5
 P

M
0

4
1

8
9

7
0

2
0

0
0

4
1

7
0

0
0

1
7

4
0

1
0

3
0

4
0

1
1

0
1

9
0

3
0

4
0

8

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

9
7

2
2

1
9

0
7

5
0

0
1

2
6

8
3

1
0

6
9

6
0

7
0

1
2

0
1

9
0

4
8

1
6

2
1

1
1

1
1

5
7

6

5
:0

0
 P

M
0

2
2

0
3

2
0

2
0

7
0

8
1

6
6

1
0

1
7

5
0

1
0

1
0

0
1

1
0

1
1

2
1

0
1

2
3

4
1

6

5
:1

5
 P

M
0

0
2

0
0

2
0

2
0

2
0

3
1

8
1

0
0

1
8

4
0

0
0

5
0

5
0

1
3

0
1

4
0

2
7

4
1

8

5
:3

0
 P

M
1

1
2

0
2

7
0

2
1

1
0

4
2

0
4

1
0

2
0

9
0

1
0

0
0

1
0

1
4

1
8

0
2

3
4

4
4

5
:4

5
 P

M
0

0
2

0
8

5
0

2
1

3
2

3
1

8
5

2
0

1
9

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
1

0
1

2
0

2
3

4
2

8

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
1

3
8

1
3

1
6

0
8

3
3

2
1

8
7

3
6

4
0

7
6

0
0

2
0

1
5

0
1

7
0

4
9

3
4

4
1

9
6

1
7

0
6

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

1
1

3
2

4
5

4
4

0
1

2
5

0
8

4
3

7
2

2
2

6
1

0
0

2
2

7
7

0
1

5
0

3
6

0
5

1
0

1
3

7
6

1
3

4
2

2
7

7
5

1
1

3

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
0

.5
9

7
.8

1
.6

-
-

0
.2

1
.6

9
7

.8
0

.4
-

-
0

.0
2

9
.4

0
.0

7
0

.6
-

-
0

.0
4

9
.5

2
.2

4
8

.4
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

0
.3

4
8

.0
0

.8
-

4
9

.1
0

.1
0

.7
4

3
.5

0
.2

-
4

4
.5

0
.0

0
.3

0
.0

0
.7

-
1

.0
0

.0
2

.7
0

.1
2

.6
-

5
.4

-

L
ig

h
ts

1
1

0
2

4
1

0
4

0
-

2
4

6
1

4
3

5
2

1
8

2
1

0
-

2
2

3
1

0
1

4
0

3
5

-
4

9
0

1
3

4
6

1
3

4
-

2
7

4
5

0
1

5

%
 L

ig
h

ts
1

0
0

.0
7

6
.9

9
8

.2
1

0
0

.0
-

9
8

.1
1

0
0

.0
9

4
.6

9
8

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

9
8

.0
-

9
3

.3
-

9
7

.2
-

9
6

.1
-

9
7

.8
1

0
0

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

9
8

.9
9

8
.1

B
u

s
e

s
0

0
8

0
-

8
0

0
1

9
0

-
1

9
0

0
0

1
-

1
0

0
0

0
-

0
2

8

%
 B

u
s
e

s
0

.0
0

.0
0

.3
0

.0
-

0
.3

0
.0

0
.0

0
.9

0
.0

-
0

.8
-

0
.0

-
2

.8
-

2
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.5

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
3

2
6

0
-

2
9

0
2

1
7

0
-

1
9

0
1

0
0

-
1

0
0

0
0

-
0

4
9

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

0
.0

2
3

.1
1

.1
0

.0
-

1
.2

0
.0

5
.4

0
.8

0
.0

-
0

.8
-

6
.7

-
0

.0
-

2
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

1
.0

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

1
0

0
-

1
0

0
0

8
0

-
8

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
3

0
0

-
3

2
1

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

0
.0

0
.0

0
.4

0
.0

-
0

.4
0

.0
0

.0
0

.4
0

.0
-

0
.4

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

2
.2

0
.0

0
.0

-
1

.1
0

.4

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

Page | 225AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
1

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
2

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
1

0
0

.0
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

1
0

0
.0

-
-

Page | 226AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 O
c
o

n
to

 A
v
e

n
u

e
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
3

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
e

a
k
 H

o
u

r 
D

a
ta

 (
7

:4
5

 A
M

)

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

O
c
o

n
to

 A
v
e

n
u

e
U

S
P

S
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

7
:4

5
 A

M
0

0
1

2
0

0
0

1
2

0
0

0
1

3
0

0
0

1
3

0
0

0
0

2
0

2
0

5
1

3
0

9
2

6
1

8
:0

0
 A

M
0

0
8

4
0

0
8

4
1

0
1

0
7

3
0

1
1

1
0

1
0

1
0

2
0

3
0

4
0

7
2

0
4

8
:1

5
 A

M
0

0
1

3
8

1
0

1
3

9
1

4
9

8
0

0
1

0
3

0
1

0
2

0
3

0
8

1
4

0
1

3
2

5
8

8
:3

0
 A

M
0

0
1

5
0

0
0

1
5

0
0

0
1

2
1

1
0

1
2

2
0

1
0

1
0

2
0

9
0

5
0

1
4

2
8

8

T
o

ta
l

0
0

4
9

2
1

0
4

9
3

2
4

4
5

6
4

0
4

6
6

0
3

0
6

0
9

0
2

5
2

1
6

0
4

3
1

0
1

1

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
0

.0
9

9
.8

0
.2

-
-

0
.4

0
.9

9
7

.9
0

.9
-

-
0

.0
3

3
.3

0
.0

6
6

.7
-

-
0

.0
5

8
.1

4
.7

3
7

.2
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

0
.0

4
8

.7
0

.1
-

4
8

.8
0

.2
0

.4
4

5
.1

0
.4

-
4

6
.1

0
.0

0
.3

0
.0

0
.6

-
0

.9
0

.0
2

.5
0

.2
1

.6
-

4
.3

-

P
H

F
0

.0
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.8
2

0
0

.2
5

0
-

0
.8

2
2

0
.5

0
0

0
.2

5
0

0
.8

7
7

0
.3

3
3

-
0

.8
9

6
0

.0
0

0
0

.7
5

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.7
5

0
-

0
.7

5
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.6

9
4

0
.5

0
0

0
.8

0
0

-
0

.7
6

8
0

.8
7

8

L
ig

h
ts

0
0

4
8

0
1

-
4

8
1

2
4

4
3

3
4

-
4

4
3

0
3

0
5

-
8

0
2

4
2

1
6

-
4

2
9

7
4

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

-
9

7
.6

1
0

0
.0

-
9

7
.6

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

9
5

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

9
5

.1
-

1
0

0
.0

-
8

3
.3

-
8

8
.9

-
9

6
.0

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

-
9

7
.7

9
6

.3

B
u

s
e

s
0

0
4

0
-

4
0

0
1

6
0

-
1

6
0

0
0

1
-

1
0

0
0

0
-

0
2

1

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

-
0

.8
0

.0
-

0
.8

0
.0

0
.0

3
.5

0
.0

-
3

.4
-

0
.0

-
1

6
.7

-
1

1
.1

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

2
.1

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

7
0

-
7

0
0

6
0

-
6

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

1
3

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
-

1
.4

0
.0

-
1

.4
0

.0
0

.0
1

.3
0

.0
-

1
.3

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
1

.3

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

1
0

-
1

0
0

1
0

-
1

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
1

0
0

-
1

3

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
-

0
.2

0
.0

-
0

.2
0

.0
0

.0
0

.2
0

.0
-

0
.2

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

4
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
2

.3
0

.3

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

-
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Page | 227AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 O
c
o

n
to

 A
v
e

n
u

e
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
4

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
e

a
k
 H

o
u

r 
D

a
ta

 (
5

:0
0

 P
M

)

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

O
c
o

n
to

 A
v
e

n
u

e
U

S
P

S
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

5
:0

0
 P

M
0

2
2

0
3

2
0

2
0

7
0

8
1

6
6

1
0

1
7

5
0

1
0

1
0

0
1

1
0

1
1

2
1

0
1

2
3

4
1

6

5
:1

5
 P

M
0

0
2

0
0

2
0

2
0

2
0

3
1

8
1

0
0

1
8

4
0

0
0

5
0

5
0

1
3

0
1

4
0

2
7

4
1

8

5
:3

0
 P

M
1

1
2

0
2

7
0

2
1

1
0

4
2

0
4

1
0

2
0

9
0

1
0

0
0

1
0

1
4

1
8

0
2

3
4

4
4

5
:4

5
 P

M
0

0
2

0
8

5
0

2
1

3
2

3
1

8
5

2
0

1
9

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
1

0
1

2
0

2
3

4
2

8

T
o

ta
l

1
3

8
1

3
1

6
0

8
3

3
2

1
8

7
3

6
4

0
7

6
0

0
2

0
1

5
0

1
7

0
4

9
3

4
4

1
9

6
1

7
0

6

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.1
0

.4
9

7
.6

1
.9

-
-

0
.3

2
.4

9
6

.8
0

.5
-

-
0

.0
1

1
.8

0
.0

8
8

.2
-

-
0

.0
5

1
.0

3
.1

4
5

.8
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.1

0
.2

4
7

.7
0

.9
-

4
8

.8
0

.1
1

.1
4

3
.1

0
.2

-
4

4
.5

0
.0

0
.1

0
.0

0
.9

-
1

.0
0

.0
2

.9
0

.2
2

.6
-

5
.6

-

P
H

F
0

.2
5

0
0

.3
7

5
0

.9
7

7
0

.5
7

1
-

0
.9

7
8

0
.2

5
0

0
.5

6
3

0
.9

0
2

0
.5

0
0

-
0

.9
0

9
0

.0
0

0
0

.5
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.3
7

5
-

0
.3

8
6

0
.0

0
0

0
.8

7
5

0
.3

7
5

0
.7

8
6

-
0

.8
8

9
0

.9
6

1

L
ig

h
ts

1
2

8
0

2
1

6
-

8
2

1
2

1
7

7
3

6
4

-
7

5
9

0
2

0
1

5
-

1
7

0
4

8
3

4
4

-
9

5
1

6
9

2

%
 L

ig
h

ts
1

0
0

.0
6

6
.7

9
8

.6
1

0
0

.0
-

9
8

.6
1

0
0

.0
9

4
.4

1
0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

-
9

9
.9

-
1

0
0

.0
-

1
0

0
.0

-
1

0
0

.0
-

9
8

.0
1

0
0

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

9
9

.0
9

9
.2

B
u

s
e

s
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

u
s
e

s
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
1

7
0

-
8

0
1

0
0

-
1

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

9

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

0
.0

3
3

.3
0

.9
0

.0
-

1
.0

0
.0

5
.6

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.1
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.5

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

4
0

-
4

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
1

0
0

-
1

5

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

0
.0

0
.0

0
.5

0
.0

-
0

.5
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

2
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
1

.0
0

.3

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
1

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1

0
0

.0
-

-

Page | 228AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 U
S

P
S

/F
ir

s
t

M
e

rc
h

a
n

ts
 B

a
n

k
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

s
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
1

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

D
a

ta

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

F
ir

s
t 
M

e
rc

h
a

n
ts

 B
a

n
k
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

U
S

P
S

 A
c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

7
:0

0
 A

M
0

3
9

5
0

0
9

8
0

0
7

9
6

0
8

5
0

0
0

1
0

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

8
4

7
:1

5
 A

M
0

4
1

1
7

0
0

1
2

1
0

0
7

1
5

0
7

6
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

2
0

1
0

3
2

0
0

7
:3

0
 A

M
0

5
1

0
6

0
0

1
1

1
0

0
8

4
7

0
9

1
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

1
0

2
2

0
4

7
:4

5
 A

M
0

4
1

2
2

0
0

1
2

6
0

0
1

3
0

1
3

0
1

4
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
2

0
4

2
7

3

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

1
6

4
4

0
0

0
4

5
6

0
0

3
6

4
3

1
0

3
9

5
0

0
0

1
0

1
0

5
0

4
0

9
8

6
1

8
:0

0
 A

M
0

5
9

1
0

0
9

6
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

0
1

3
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
3

0
5

2
3

4

8
:1

5
 A

M
0

9
1

4
5

0
0

1
5

4
0

0
1

0
2

2
6

0
1

2
8

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

0
1

0
2

2
8

4

8
:3

0
 A

M
0

8
1

4
9

0
0

1
5

7
0

0
1

2
4

1
8

0
1

4
2

0
0

0
1

0
1

0
1

0
1

0
2

3
0

2

8
:4

5
 A

M
0

5
1

2
2

0
0

1
2

7
0

0
1

2
1

1
1

0
1

3
2

0
0

0
1

0
1

0
0

0
2

0
2

2
6

2

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

2
7

5
0

7
0

0
5

3
4

1
0

4
5

8
7

6
0

5
3

5
0

0
0

2
0

2
0

4
0

7
0

1
1

1
0

8
2

**
* 

B
R

E
A

K
 *

**
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

4
:0

0
 P

M
0

1
0

1
7

5
0

0
1

8
5

0
0

1
7

0
2

7
0

1
9

7
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

2
0

4
0

6
3

8
8

4
:1

5
 P

M
0

7
2

0
2

0
0

2
0

9
0

0
1

4
8

2
3

0
1

7
1

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
5

0
1

0
6

3
8

6

4
:3

0
 P

M
0

7
1

8
2

0
0

1
8

9
0

0
1

7
5

2
6

0
2

0
1

0
0

0
2

0
2

0
3

1
8

1
1

2
4

0
4

4
:4

5
 P

M
0

1
7

1
9

6
0

0
2

1
3

0
0

1
6

5
2

0
0

1
8

5
0

0
1

1
0

2
0

2
0

5
0

7
4

0
7

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

4
1

7
5

5
0

0
7

9
6

0
0

6
5

8
9

6
0

7
5

4
0

0
1

3
0

4
0

1
2

1
1

8
1

3
1

1
5

8
5

5
:0

0
 P

M
0

7
1

9
7

0
0

2
0

4
0

0
1

7
5

1
8

0
1

9
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

0
7

1
8

4
0

5

5
:1

5
 P

M
0

1
0

2
2

3
0

0
2

3
3

0
0

1
7

8
2

4
0

2
0

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

5
0

6
4

4
1

5
:3

0
 P

M
0

7
1

9
8

0
0

2
0

5
0

0
2

0
7

1
8

0
2

2
5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
7

0
9

4
3

9

5
:4

5
 P

M
0

6
2

2
8

0
0

2
3

4
0

0
1

8
7

1
5

0
2

0
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
6

0
6

4
4

2

H
o

u
rl

y
 T

o
ta

l
0

3
0

8
4

6
0

0
8

7
6

0
0

7
4

7
7

5
0

8
2

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

4
0

2
5

1
2

9
1

7
2

7

G
ra

n
d

 T
o

ta
l

0
1

1
4

2
5

4
8

0
0

2
6

6
2

1
0

2
2

2
7

2
7

8
0

2
5

0
6

0
0

1
6

0
7

0
2

5
1

5
4

2
8

0
5

2
5

5

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
4

.3
9

5
.7

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

8
8

.9
1

1
.1

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

1
4

.3
8

5
.7

-
-

0
.0

3
1

.3
1

.3
6

7
.5

-
-

-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

2
.2

4
8

.5
0

.0
-

5
0

.7
0

.0
0

.0
4

2
.4

5
.3

-
4

7
.7

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.1

-
0

.1
0

.0
0

.5
0

.0
1

.0
-

1
.5

-

L
ig

h
ts

0
1

1
4

2
5

0
2

0
-

2
6

1
6

1
0

2
1

8
3

2
7

5
-

2
4

5
9

0
0

1
6

-
7

0
2

5
1

5
4

-
8

0
5

1
6

2

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.2
-

-
9

8
.3

1
0

0
.0

-
9

8
.0

9
8

.9
-

9
8

.1
-

-
1

0
0

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

1
0

0
.0

-
1

0
0

.0
1

0
0

.0
1

0
0

.0
-

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.2

B
u

s
e

s
0

0
1

0
0

-
1

0
0

0
1

8
0

-
1

8
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
2

8

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

0
.0

0
.4

-
-

0
.4

0
.0

-
0

.8
0

.0
-

0
.7

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.5

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

2
4

0
-

2
4

0
0

1
8

1
-

1
9

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

4
3

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
0

.9
-

-
0

.9
0

.0
-

0
.8

0
.4

-
0

.8
-

-
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.8

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

1
2

0
-

1
2

0
0

8
2

-
1

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
2

2

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
0

.5
-

-
0

.5
0

.0
-

0
.4

0
.7

-
0

.4
-

-
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.4

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

Page | 229AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
2

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1

0
0

.0
-

-

Page | 230AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 U
S

P
S

/F
ir

s
t

M
e

rc
h

a
n

ts
 B

a
n

k
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

s
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
3

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
e

a
k
 H

o
u

r 
D

a
ta

 (
7

:4
5

 A
M

)

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

F
ir

s
t 
M

e
rc

h
a

n
ts

 B
a

n
k
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

U
S

P
S

 A
c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

7
:4

5
 A

M
0

4
1

2
2

0
0

1
2

6
0

0
1

3
0

1
3

0
1

4
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
2

0
4

2
7

3

8
:0

0
 A

M
0

5
9

1
0

0
9

6
1

0
1

1
1

2
1

0
1

3
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
3

0
5

2
3

4

8
:1

5
 A

M
0

9
1

4
5

0
0

1
5

4
0

0
1

0
2

2
6

0
1

2
8

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

0
1

0
2

2
8

4

8
:3

0
 A

M
0

8
1

4
9

0
0

1
5

7
0

0
1

2
4

1
8

0
1

4
2

0
0

0
1

0
1

0
1

0
1

0
2

3
0

2

T
o

ta
l

0
2

6
5

0
7

0
0

5
3

3
1

0
4

6
7

7
8

0
5

4
6

0
0

0
1

0
1

0
6

0
7

0
1

3
1

0
9

3

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
4

.9
9

5
.1

0
.0

-
-

0
.2

0
.0

8
5

.5
1

4
.3

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

1
0

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

4
6

.2
0

.0
5

3
.8

-
-

-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

2
.4

4
6

.4
0

.0
-

4
8

.8
0

.1
0

.0
4

2
.7

7
.1

-
5

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.1

-
0

.1
0

.0
0

.5
0

.0
0

.6
-

1
.2

-

P
H

F
0

.0
0

0
0

.7
2

2
0

.8
5

1
0

.0
0

0
-

0
.8

4
9

0
.2

5
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.8

9
8

0
.7

5
0

-
0

.9
5

5
0

.0
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.2
5

0
-

0
.2

5
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.7

5
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.5

8
3

-
0

.6
5

0
0

.9
0

5

L
ig

h
ts

0
2

6
4

9
5

0
-

5
2

1
1

0
4

4
4

7
7

-
5

2
2

0
0

0
1

-
1

0
6

0
7

-
1

3
1

0
5

7

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

1
0

0
.0

9
7

.6
-

-
9

7
.7

1
0

0
.0

-
9

5
.1

9
8

.7
-

9
5

.6
-

-
-

1
0

0
.0

-
1

0
0

.0
-

1
0

0
.0

-
1

0
0

.0
-

1
0

0
.0

9
6

.7

B
u

s
e

s
0

0
5

0
-

5
0

0
1

6
0

-
1

6
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
2

1

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

0
.0

1
.0

-
-

0
.9

0
.0

-
3

.4
0

.0
-

2
.9

-
-

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
1

.9

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

5
0

-
5

0
0

6
0

-
6

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

1
1

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
1

.0
-

-
0

.9
0

.0
-

1
.3

0
.0

-
1

.1
-

-
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

1
.0

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

2
0

-
2

0
0

1
1

-
2

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

4

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
0

.4
-

-
0

.4
0

.0
-

0
.2

1
.3

-
0

.4
-

-
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.4

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
-

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

Page | 231AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

K
e

n
ig

 L
in

d
g

re
n

 O
'H

a
ra

 A
b

o
o

n
a

, 
In

c
.

9
5

7
5

 W
. 

H
ig

g
in

s
 R

d
.,

 S
u

it
e

 4
0

0

R
o

s
e

m
o

n
t,

 I
lli

n
o

is
, 

U
n

it
e

d
 S

ta
te

s
  

6
0

0
1

8
(8

4
7

)5
1

8
-9

9
9

0

C
o

u
n

t 
N

a
m

e
: 

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t 
w

it
h

 U
S

P
S

/F
ir

s
t

M
e

rc
h

a
n

ts
 B

a
n

k
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

s
S

it
e

 C
o

d
e

:
S

ta
rt

 D
a

te
: 

0
8

/0
6

/2
0

1
9

P
a

g
e

 N
o

: 
4

T
u

rn
in

g
 M

o
v
e

m
e

n
t 

P
e

a
k
 H

o
u

r 
D

a
ta

 (
5

:0
0

 P
M

)

S
ta

rt
 T

im
e

1
7

1
s
t 

S
tr

e
e

t
1

7
1

s
t 
S

tr
e

e
t

F
ir

s
t 
M

e
rc

h
a

n
ts

 B
a

n
k
 A

c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

U
S

P
S

 A
c
c
e

s
s
 D

ri
v
e

E
a

s
tb

o
u

n
d

W
e

s
tb

o
u

n
d

N
o

rt
h

b
o

u
n

d
S

o
u

th
b

o
u

n
d

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

U
-T

u
rn

L
e

ft
T

h
ru

R
ig

h
t

P
e

d
s

A
p

p
.

T
o

ta
l

In
t.
 T

o
ta

l

5
:0

0
 P

M
0

7
1

9
7

0
0

2
0

4
0

0
1

7
5

1
8

0
1

9
3

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
1

0
7

1
8

4
0

5

5
:1

5
 P

M
0

1
0

2
2

3
0

0
2

3
3

0
0

1
7

8
2

4
0

2
0

2
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

1
0

5
0

6
4

4
1

5
:3

0
 P

M
0

7
1

9
8

0
0

2
0

5
0

0
2

0
7

1
8

0
2

2
5

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
2

0
7

0
9

4
3

9

5
:4

5
 P

M
0

6
2

2
8

0
0

2
3

4
0

0
1

8
7

1
5

0
2

0
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
6

0
6

4
4

2

T
o

ta
l

0
3

0
8

4
6

0
0

8
7

6
0

0
7

4
7

7
5

0
8

2
2

0
0

0
0

0
0

0
4

0
2

5
1

2
9

1
7

2
7

A
p

p
ro

a
c
h

 %
0

.0
3

.4
9

6
.6

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

9
0

.9
9

.1
-

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
0

.0
-

-
0

.0
1

3
.8

0
.0

8
6

.2
-

-
-

T
o

ta
l 
%

0
.0

1
.7

4
9

.0
0

.0
-

5
0

.7
0

.0
0

.0
4

3
.3

4
.3

-
4

7
.6

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.0
0

.2
0

.0
1

.4
-

1
.7

-

P
H

F
0

.0
0

0
0

.7
5

0
0

.9
2

8
0

.0
0

0
-

0
.9

3
6

0
.0

0
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.9

0
2

0
.7

8
1

-
0

.9
1

3
0

.0
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.0
0

0
0

.0
0

0
-

0
.0

0
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.5

0
0

0
.0

0
0

0
.8

9
3

-
0

.8
0

6
0

.9
7

7

L
ig

h
ts

0
3

0
8

3
3

0
-

8
6

3
0

0
7

4
5

7
4

-
8

1
9

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
4

0
2

5
-

2
9

1
7

1
1

%
 L

ig
h

ts
-

1
0

0
.0

9
8

.5
-

-
9

8
.5

-
-

9
9

.7
9

8
.7

-
9

9
.6

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1

0
0

.0
-

1
0

0
.0

-
1

0
0

.0
9

9
.1

B
u

s
e

s
0

0
1

0
-

1
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
1

%
 B

u
s
e

s
-

0
.0

0
.1

-
-

0
.1

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.1

S
in

g
le

-U
n

it
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

7
0

-
7

0
0

2
0

-
2

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

9

%
 S

in
g

le
-U

n
it

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
0

.8
-

-
0

.8
-

-
0

.3
0

.0
-

0
.2

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.5

A
rt

ic
u

la
te

d
 T

ru
c
k
s

0
0

5
0

-
5

0
0

0
1

-
1

0
0

0
0

-
0

0
0

0
0

-
0

6

%
 A

rt
ic

u
la

te
d

T
ru

c
k
s

-
0

.0
0

.6
-

-
0

.6
-

-
0

.0
1

.3
-

0
.1

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
0

.3

B
ic

y
c
le

s
 o

n
 R

o
a

d
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

0
0

0
-

0
0

%
 B

ic
y
c
le

s
 o

n
R

o
a

d
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

-
-

0
.0

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

0
.0

-
0

.0
-

0
.0

0
.0

P
e

d
e

s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
0

-
-

-
-

-
1

-
-

%
 P

e
d

e
s
tr

ia
n

s
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
1

0
0

.0
-

-

Page | 232AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

 Preliminary Site Plan 

  

Page | 233AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 234AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

ITE Trip Generation Sheets 

  

Page | 235AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 236AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 237AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

CMAP Projections Letter 
  

Page | 238AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 
August 21, 2019 

Brendan May 

Consultant 

Kenig Lindgren, O’Hara and Aboona, Inc. 

9575 West Higgins Road  

Suite 400 

Rosemont, IL 60018 

 

Subject:  Harlem Avenue (IL 43) @ 171st Street 

  IDOT 

 

Dear Mr. May:  

 

In response to a request made on your behalf and dated August 20, 2019, we have 

developed year 2050 average daily traffic (ADT) projections for the subject location.    

 
ROAD SEGMENT Current Volumes Year 2050 ADT 

Harlem Avenue North of 171st St 32,500 42,800 

Harlem Avenue South of 171st St 35,300 43,200 

171st Street West of Harlem Avenue 16,000 20,700 

171st Street East of Harlem Avenue 11,800 14,100 

 

Traffic projections are developed using existing ADT data provided in the request letter 

and the results from the March 2019 CMAP Travel Demand Analysis. The regional travel 

model uses CMAP 2050 socioeconomic projections and assumes the implementation of 

the ON TO 2050 Comprehensive Regional Plan for the Northeastern Illinois area.  The 

provision of this data in support of your request does not constitute a CMAP endorsement 

of the proposed development or any subsequent developments. 
 

If you have any questions, please call me at (312) 386-8806. 

 

Sincerely, 

 
Jose Rodriguez, PTP, AICP 

Senior Planner, Research & Analysis 
 

cc: Quigley (IDOT)    

S:\AdminGroups\ResearchAnalysis\2019_ForecastsTraffic\TinleyPark\ck-108-19\ck-108-19.docx 
 

Page | 239AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Level of Service Criteria  

Page | 240AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

LEVEL OF SERVICE CRITERIA 

Signalized Intersections 

 

Level of 

Service 

 

 

Interpretation 

Average Control 

Delay  

(seconds per vehicle) 

A 

 

 

 

Favorable progression.  Most vehicles arrive during the 

green indication and travel through the intersection without 

stopping. 

10 

B 

 

 

Good progression, with more vehicles stopping than for 

Level of Service A. 

>10 - 20 

C 

 

 

 

Individual cycle failures (i.e., one or more queued vehicles 

are not able to depart as a result of insufficient capacity 

during the cycle) may begin to appear.  Number of vehicles 

stopping is significant, although many vehicles still pass 

through the intersection without stopping. 

 

>20 - 35 

D 

 

 

 

The volume-to-capacity ratio is high and either progression 

is ineffective or the cycle length is too long.  Many vehicles 

stop and individual cycle failures are noticeable. 

 

>35 - 55 

E Progression is unfavorable.  The volume-to-capacity ratio 

is high and the cycle length is long.  Individual cycle 

failures are frequent. 

 

>55 - 80 

F The volume-to-capacity ratio is very high, progression is 

very poor, and the cycle length is long.  Most cycles fail to 

clear the queue. 

>80.0 

Unsignalized Intersections 

Level of Service Average Total Delay (SEC/VEH) 

A      0 - 10 

B > 10 - 15 

C > 15 - 25 

D > 25 - 35 

E > 35 - 50 

F > 50 

Source:  Highway Capacity Manual, 2010. 

   

Page | 241AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Existing Weekday Morning Peak Hour Conditions  

Page | 242AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/21/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 187 187 140 115 212 51 182 785 50 71 753 151
Future Volume (vph) 187 187 140 115 212 51 182 785 50 71 753 151
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 0 150 0 160 0 190 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 145 145 125 125
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.936 0.971 0.991 0.975
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1736 3327 0 1787 3383 0 1752 3405 0 1805 3315 0
Flt Permitted 0.371 0.504 0.183 0.261
Satd. Flow (perm) 678 3327 0 948 3383 0 338 3405 0 496 3315 0
Right Turn on Red No No No No
Satd. Flow (RTOR)
Link Speed (mph) 40 35 40 40
Link Distance (ft) 212 789 383 516
Travel Time (s) 3.6 15.4 6.5 8.8
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 4% 2% 1% 1% 4% 2% 3% 5% 6% 0% 6% 7%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 205 359 0 126 289 0 200 918 0 78 993 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 3.0 15.0 3.0 15.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0
Total Split (s) 19.0 36.0 14.0 31.0 14.0 56.0 14.0 56.0
Total Split (%) 15.8% 30.0% 11.7% 25.8% 11.7% 46.7% 11.7% 46.7%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None None None None None C-Min None C-Min
Act Effct Green (s) 36.9 21.0 28.8 16.4 76.1 64.4 68.5 58.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.31 0.18 0.24 0.14 0.63 0.54 0.57 0.49

Page | 243AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/21/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.61 0.62 0.43 0.63 0.57 0.50 0.21 0.62
Control Delay 40.2 50.2 34.9 54.8 16.4 20.3 11.2 25.9
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 40.2 50.2 34.9 54.8 16.4 20.3 11.2 25.9
LOS D D C D B C B C
Approach Delay 46.5 48.7 19.6 24.9
Approach LOS D D B C
Queue Length 50th (ft) 123 136 72 112 61 240 22 294
Queue Length 95th (ft) 182 180 115 154 105 335 46 411
Internal Link Dist (ft) 132 709 303 436
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 150 160 190
Base Capacity (vph) 344 831 305 704 358 1827 409 1613
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.60 0.43 0.41 0.41 0.56 0.50 0.19 0.62

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:NBTL and 6:SBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 75
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.63
Intersection Signal Delay: 30.0 Intersection LOS: C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 70.2% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street

Page | 244AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
2: 171st Street & USPS Easterly Access Drive 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 26 508 467 78 6 7
Future Vol, veh/h 26 508 467 78 6 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 5 1 0 0
Mvmt Flow 29 558 513 86 7 8
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 599 0 - 0 893 300
          Stage 1 - - - - 556 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 337 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 988 - - - 285 702
          Stage 1 - - - - 544 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 701 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 988 - - - 273 702
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 273 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 521 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 701 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.6 0 14.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 988 - - - 407
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.029 - - - 0.035
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 0.2 - - 14.2
HCM Lane LOS A A - - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 0.1

Page | 245AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
3: First Merchant Bank Access Drive & 171st Street 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 533 0 0 474 0 1
Future Vol, veh/h 533 0 0 474 0 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 0 0 5 0 0
Mvmt Flow 586 0 0 521 0 1
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 586 0 847 293
          Stage 1 - - - - 586 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 261 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 999 - 305 709
          Stage 1 - - - - 525 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 765 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 999 - 305 709
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 305 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 525 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 765 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 10.1
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 709 - - 999 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.1 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS B - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -

Page | 246AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive & 171st Street 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 502 1 6 464 4 3 0 6 25 2 16
Future Vol, veh/h 0 502 1 6 464 4 3 0 6 25 2 16
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 50 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 17 4 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 570 1 7 527 5 3 0 7 28 2 18
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 532 0 0 571 0 0 850 1117 286 829 1115 266
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 571 571 - 544 544 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 279 546 - 285 571 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.5 6.5 7.24 7.58 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.58 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.58 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.47 3.54 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1046 - - 1012 - - 257 209 668 260 210 738
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 478 508 - 486 522 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 710 521 - 693 508 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1046 - - 1012 - - 247 208 668 256 209 738
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 247 208 - 256 209 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 478 508 - 486 518 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 685 517 - 686 508 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.1 13.7 17.6
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 426 1046 - - 1012 - - 334
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.024 - - - 0.007 - - 0.146
HCM Control Delay (s) 13.7 0 - - 8.6 - - 17.6
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0 - - 0 - - 0.5

Page | 247AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Existing Weekday Evening Peak Hour Conditions  

Page | 248AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 231 402 218 243 327 56 228 1292 120 141 1168 238
Future Volume (vph) 231 402 218 243 327 56 228 1292 120 141 1168 238
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 0 150 0 160 0 190 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 145 145 125 125
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.947 0.978 0.987 0.975
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 3407 0 1787 3423 0 1770 3385 0 1770 3395 0
Flt Permitted 0.279 0.173 0.060 0.063
Satd. Flow (perm) 515 3407 0 325 3423 0 112 3385 0 117 3395 0
Right Turn on Red No No No No
Satd. Flow (RTOR)
Link Speed (mph) 40 35 40 40
Link Distance (ft) 212 789 346 516
Travel Time (s) 3.6 15.4 5.9 8.8
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 0% 1% 1% 3% 4% 2% 5% 8% 2% 4% 2%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 254 682 0 267 421 0 251 1552 0 155 1546 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 3.0 15.0 3.0 15.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0
Total Split (s) 20.0 29.0 20.0 29.0 24.0 73.0 18.0 67.0
Total Split (%) 14.3% 20.7% 14.3% 20.7% 17.1% 52.1% 12.9% 47.9%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None None None None None C-Min None C-Min
Act Effct Green (s) 41.9 23.0 42.1 23.1 87.5 69.4 77.7 63.1
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.30 0.16 0.30 0.16 0.62 0.50 0.56 0.45

Page | 249AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.85 1.22 0.99 0.75 0.87 0.92 0.75 1.01
Control Delay 64.4 162.5 92.4 64.7 67.0 43.7 54.0 63.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 64.4 162.5 92.4 64.7 67.0 43.7 54.0 63.8
LOS E F F E E D D E
Approach Delay 135.9 75.5 46.9 62.9
Approach LOS F E D E
Queue Length 50th (ft) 183 ~400 193 194 170 687 86 ~802
Queue Length 95th (ft) #283 #527 #376 256 #305 #878 163 #942
Internal Link Dist (ft) 132 709 266 436
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 150 160 190
Base Capacity (vph) 300 559 269 565 312 1678 238 1530
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.85 1.22 0.99 0.75 0.80 0.92 0.65 1.01

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 140
Actuated Cycle Length: 140
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:NBTL and 6:SBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 110
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 1.22
Intersection Signal Delay: 72.3 Intersection LOS: E
Intersection Capacity Utilization 100.7% ICU Level of Service G
Analysis Period (min) 15
~    Volume exceeds capacity, queue is theoretically infinite.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street

Page | 250AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
2: 171st Street & USPS Easterly Access Drive 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 30 847 778 15 4 25
Future Vol, veh/h 30 847 778 15 4 25
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 1 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 33 931 855 16 4 27
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 871 0 - 0 1395 436
          Stage 1 - - - - 863 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 532 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 783 - - - 135 574
          Stage 1 - - - - 378 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 559 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 783 - - - 123 574
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 123 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 345 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 559 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.7 0 15.3
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 783 - - - 381
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.042 - - - 0.084
HCM Control Delay (s) 9.8 0.4 - - 15.3
HCM Lane LOS A A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 0.3

Page | 251AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
3: First Merchant Bank Access Drive & 171st Street 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 877 0 0 803 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 877 0 0 803 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 98 98 98 98 98 98
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 1 0 0
Mvmt Flow 895 0 0 819 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 895 0 1305 448
          Stage 1 - - - - 895 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 410 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 767 - 154 564
          Stage 1 - - - - 364 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 644 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 767 - 154 564
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 154 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 364 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 644 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 767 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -

Page | 252AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive & 171st Street 08/20/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Existing Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 2.8

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 813 16 18 781 4 2 0 15 49 3 44
Future Vol, veh/h 3 813 16 18 781 4 2 0 15 49 3 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 50 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 33 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 3 847 17 19 814 4 2 0 16 51 3 46
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 818 0 0 864 0 0 1309 1718 432 1284 1724 409
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 862 862 - 854 854 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 447 856 - 430 870 -
Critical Hdwy 4.76 - - 4.22 - - 7.5 6.5 6.9 7.54 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.54 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.54 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.53 - - 2.26 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.52 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 634 - - 750 - - 119 91 577 122 90 597
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 320 375 - 320 378 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 566 377 - 574 372 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 634 - - 750 - - 104 88 577 116 87 597
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 104 88 - 116 87 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 317 372 - 317 369 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 505 368 - 553 369 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.2 15 47
HCM LOS C E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 376 634 - - 750 - - 181
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.047 0.005 - - 0.025 - - 0.552
HCM Control Delay (s) 15 10.7 0 - 9.9 - - 47
HCM Lane LOS C B A - A - - E
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0 - - 0.1 - - 2.9

Page | 253AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
No-Build Weekday Morning Peak Hour Conditions

Page | 254AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 195 195 146 120 221 53 190 819 52 74 785 157
Future Volume (vph) 195 195 146 120 221 53 190 819 52 74 785 157
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 0 150 0 160 0 190 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 145 145 125 125
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.936 0.971 0.991 0.975
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1736 3327 0 1787 3357 0 1752 3405 0 1805 3315 0
Flt Permitted 0.365 0.485 0.164 0.242
Satd. Flow (perm) 667 3327 0 912 3357 0 303 3405 0 460 3315 0
Right Turn on Red No No No No
Satd. Flow (RTOR)
Link Speed (mph) 40 35 40 40
Link Distance (ft) 212 789 383 516
Travel Time (s) 3.6 15.4 6.5 8.8
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 4% 2% 1% 1% 5% 2% 3% 5% 6% 0% 6% 7%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 214 374 0 132 301 0 209 957 0 81 1036 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 3.0 15.0 3.0 15.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0
Total Split (s) 19.0 36.0 14.0 31.0 14.0 56.0 14.0 56.0
Total Split (%) 15.8% 30.0% 11.7% 25.8% 11.7% 46.7% 11.7% 46.7%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None None None None None C-Min None C-Min
Act Effct Green (s) 37.7 21.8 29.6 17.1 75.3 63.5 67.6 57.4
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.31 0.18 0.25 0.14 0.63 0.53 0.56 0.48

Page | 255AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.63 0.62 0.44 0.63 0.63 0.53 0.23 0.65
Control Delay 40.2 49.6 34.7 54.2 19.3 21.5 11.8 27.5
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 40.2 49.6 34.7 54.2 19.3 21.5 11.8 27.5
LOS D D C D B C B C
Approach Delay 46.2 48.2 21.1 26.3
Approach LOS D D C C
Queue Length 50th (ft) 128 141 75 117 65 257 23 318
Queue Length 95th (ft) 186 184 118 157 115 364 49 436
Internal Link Dist (ft) 132 709 303 436
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 150 160 190
Base Capacity (vph) 347 831 305 699 338 1800 387 1585
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.62 0.45 0.43 0.43 0.62 0.53 0.21 0.65

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:NBTL and 6:SBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 80
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.65
Intersection Signal Delay: 30.9 Intersection LOS: C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 72.5% ICU Level of Service C
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street

Page | 256AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
2: 171st Street & USPS Easterly Access Drive 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.5

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 26 530 490 78 6 7
Future Vol, veh/h 26 530 490 78 6 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 5 1 0 0
Mvmt Flow 29 582 538 86 7 8
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 624 0 - 0 930 312
          Stage 1 - - - - 581 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 349 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 967 - - - 270 690
          Stage 1 - - - - 528 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 691 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 967 - - - 258 690
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 258 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 505 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 691 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.6 0 14.6
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 967 - - - 389
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.03 - - - 0.037
HCM Control Delay (s) 8.8 0.2 - - 14.6
HCM Lane LOS A A - - B
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 0.1

Page | 257AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
3: First Merchant Bank Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 555 0 0 497 0 1
Future Vol, veh/h 555 0 0 497 0 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 0 0 5 0 0
Mvmt Flow 610 0 0 546 0 1
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 610 0 883 305
          Stage 1 - - - - 610 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 273 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 979 - 289 697
          Stage 1 - - - - 510 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 754 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 979 - 289 697
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 289 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 510 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 754 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 10.2
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 697 - - 979 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.002 - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.2 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS B - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0 - - 0 -

Page | 258AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 524 1 6 487 4 3 0 6 25 2 16
Future Vol, veh/h 0 524 1 6 487 4 3 0 6 25 2 16
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 50 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 17 4 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 595 1 7 553 5 3 0 7 28 2 18
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 558 0 0 596 0 0 888 1168 298 868 1166 279
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 596 596 - 570 570 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 292 572 - 298 596 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.5 6.5 7.24 7.58 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.58 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.58 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.47 3.54 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1023 - - 990 - - 241 195 656 243 196 724
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 462 495 - 469 509 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 697 508 - 680 495 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1023 - - 990 - - 232 194 656 239 195 724
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 232 194 - 239 195 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 462 495 - 469 505 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 672 504 - 673 495 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.1 14.1 18.6
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 408 1023 - - 990 - - 314
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.025 - - - 0.007 - - 0.156
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.1 0 - - 8.7 - - 18.6
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0 - - 0 - - 0.5

Page | 259AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
No-Build Weekday Evening Peak Hour Conditions

Page | 260AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 241 419 227 253 341 58 238 1348 125 147 1218 248
Future Volume (vph) 241 419 227 253 341 58 238 1348 125 147 1218 248
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 0 150 0 160 0 190 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 145 145 125 125
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.947 0.978 0.987 0.975
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 3407 0 1787 3423 0 1770 3385 0 1770 3395 0
Flt Permitted 0.254 0.174 0.061 0.064
Satd. Flow (perm) 469 3407 0 327 3423 0 114 3385 0 119 3395 0
Right Turn on Red No No No No
Satd. Flow (RTOR)
Link Speed (mph) 40 35 40 40
Link Distance (ft) 212 789 346 516
Travel Time (s) 3.6 15.4 5.9 8.8
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 0% 1% 1% 3% 4% 2% 5% 8% 2% 4% 2%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 265 709 0 278 439 0 262 1618 0 162 1611 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 3.0 15.0 3.0 15.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0
Total Split (s) 20.0 29.0 20.0 29.0 24.0 73.0 18.0 67.0
Total Split (%) 14.3% 20.7% 14.3% 20.7% 17.1% 52.1% 12.9% 47.9%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None None None None None C-Min None C-Min
Act Effct Green (s) 42.0 23.0 42.0 23.0 87.5 69.1 77.5 62.6
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.30 0.16 0.30 0.16 0.62 0.49 0.55 0.45

Page | 261AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.91 1.27 1.03 0.78 0.89 0.97 0.77 1.06
Control Delay 73.9 180.7 101.8 66.8 69.7 50.4 55.8 78.8
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 73.9 180.7 101.8 66.8 69.7 50.4 55.8 78.8
LOS E F F E E D E E
Approach Delay 151.7 80.4 53.0 76.7
Approach LOS F F D E
Queue Length 50th (ft) 192 ~426 ~212 204 180 750 91 ~866
Queue Length 95th (ft) #323 #555 #398 267 #326 #943 #179 #1005
Internal Link Dist (ft) 132 709 266 436
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 150 160 190
Base Capacity (vph) 291 559 270 562 313 1671 238 1518
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.91 1.27 1.03 0.78 0.84 0.97 0.68 1.06

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 140
Actuated Cycle Length: 140
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:NBTL and 6:SBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 110
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 1.27
Intersection Signal Delay: 82.5 Intersection LOS: F
Intersection Capacity Utilization 104.3% ICU Level of Service G
Analysis Period (min) 15
~    Volume exceeds capacity, queue is theoretically infinite.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street

Page | 262AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
2: 171st Street & USPS Easterly Access Drive 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.6

Movement EBL EBT WBT WBR SBL SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 30 883 812 15 4 25
Future Vol, veh/h 30 883 812 15 4 25
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 0 - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 0 - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 1 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 33 970 892 16 4 27
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 908 0 - 0 1451 454
          Stage 1 - - - - 900 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 551 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 758 - - - 124 559
          Stage 1 - - - - 362 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 547 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 758 - - - 112 559
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 112 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 328 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 547 -
 

Approach EB WB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.7 0 15.9
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt EBL EBT WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 758 - - - 361
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.043 - - - 0.088
HCM Control Delay (s) 10 0.4 - - 15.9
HCM Lane LOS A A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 - - - 0.3

Page | 263AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
3: First Merchant Bank Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 913 0 0 837 0 0
Future Vol, veh/h 913 0 0 837 0 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 98 98 98 98 98 98
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 1 0 0
Mvmt Flow 932 0 0 854 0 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 932 0 1359 466
          Stage 1 - - - - 932 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 427 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 743 - 142 549
          Stage 1 - - - - 348 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 632 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 743 - 142 549
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 142 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 348 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 632 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0 0
HCM LOS A
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) - - - 743 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - - - - -
HCM Control Delay (s) 0 - - 0 -
HCM Lane LOS A - - A -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - - - 0 -

Page | 264AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - No-Build Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.2

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 849 16 18 815 4 2 0 15 49 3 44
Future Vol, veh/h 3 849 16 18 815 4 2 0 15 49 3 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 50 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 33 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 3 884 17 19 849 4 2 0 16 51 3 46
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 853 0 0 901 0 0 1363 1790 451 1337 1796 427
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 899 899 - 889 889 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 464 891 - 448 907 -
Critical Hdwy 4.76 - - 4.22 - - 7.5 6.5 6.9 7.54 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.54 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.54 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.53 - - 2.26 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.52 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 612 - - 725 - - 109 82 561 111 81 582
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 304 360 - 304 364 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 553 363 - 560 357 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 612 - - 725 - - 95 79 561 105 78 582
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 95 79 - 105 78 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 301 356 - 301 355 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 492 354 - 539 353 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0.2 15.6 55.7
HCM LOS C F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 356 612 - - 725 - - 165
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.05 0.005 - - 0.026 - - 0.606
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.6 10.9 0.1 - 10.1 - - 55.7
HCM Lane LOS C B A - B - - F
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 0 - - 0.1 - - 3.3

Page | 265AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Projected Weekday Morning Peak Hour Conditions  

Page | 266AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 213 203 146 125 223 53 205 819 52 74 798 161
Future Volume (vph) 213 203 146 125 223 53 205 819 52 74 798 161
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Lane Width (ft) 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12 12
Grade (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Storage Length (ft) 160 0 150 0 160 0 190 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 145 145 125 125
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95
Ped Bike Factor
Frt 0.937 0.971 0.991 0.975
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1736 3330 0 1787 3357 0 1752 3405 0 1805 3315 0
Flt Permitted 0.362 0.481 0.152 0.247
Satd. Flow (perm) 661 3330 0 905 3357 0 280 3405 0 469 3315 0
Right Turn on Red No No No No
Satd. Flow (RTOR)
Link Speed (mph) 40 35 40 40
Link Distance (ft) 212 789 218 516
Travel Time (s) 3.6 15.4 3.7 8.8
Confl. Peds. (#/hr)
Confl. Bikes (#/hr)
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Growth Factor 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%
Heavy Vehicles (%) 4% 2% 1% 1% 5% 2% 3% 5% 6% 0% 6% 7%
Bus Blockages (#/hr) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Parking  (#/hr)
Mid-Block Traffic (%) 0% 0% 0% 0%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 234 383 0 137 303 0 225 957 0 81 1054 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 3.0 15.0 3.0 15.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0
Total Split (s) 19.0 36.0 14.0 31.0 14.0 56.0 14.0 56.0
Total Split (%) 15.8% 30.0% 11.7% 25.8% 11.7% 46.7% 11.7% 46.7%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None None None None None C-Min None C-Min
Act Effct Green (s) 38.1 22.1 29.7 17.2 74.9 63.1 66.0 55.8
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.32 0.18 0.25 0.14 0.62 0.53 0.55 0.46

Page | 267AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
v/c Ratio 0.68 0.63 0.46 0.63 0.67 0.53 0.24 0.68
Control Delay 42.4 49.5 34.9 54.2 22.8 21.7 12.0 29.1
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 42.4 49.5 34.9 54.2 22.8 21.7 12.0 29.1
LOS D D C D C C B C
Approach Delay 46.8 48.2 21.9 27.9
Approach LOS D D C C
Queue Length 50th (ft) 142 145 78 117 71 258 23 335
Queue Length 95th (ft) 203 188 121 158 144 364 49 447
Internal Link Dist (ft) 132 709 138 436
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 150 160 190
Base Capacity (vph) 349 832 304 699 336 1790 386 1542
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.67 0.46 0.45 0.43 0.67 0.53 0.21 0.68

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 120
Actuated Cycle Length: 120
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:NBTL and 6:SBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 80
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 0.68
Intersection Signal Delay: 31.9 Intersection LOS: C
Intersection Capacity Utilization 74.9% ICU Level of Service D
Analysis Period (min) 15

Splits and Phases:     1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street

Page | 268AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive/USPS Easterly Access Drive & 171st Street08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 26 506 34 0 511 78 0 0 50 6 0 7
Future Vol, veh/h 26 506 34 0 511 78 0 0 50 6 0 7
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - 0 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 0 5 1 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 29 556 37 0 562 86 0 0 55 7 0 8
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 648 0 0 - - 0 - - 297 941 1256 324
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - - - 605 605 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - 336 651 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - - - - - 6.9 7.5 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - - - - - 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 947 - - 0 - - 0 0 705 221 173 678
          Stage 1 - - - 0 - - 0 0 - 456 491 -
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 0 0 - 657 468 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 947 - - - - - - - 705 197 165 678
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - - - - 197 165 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - - - 435 491 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - 578 446 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.6 0 10.5 16.8
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 705 947 - - - - 319
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.078 0.03 - - - - 0.045
HCM Control Delay (s) 10.5 8.9 0.2 - - - 16.8
HCM Lane LOS B A A - - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.1 - - - - 0.1

Page | 269AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
3: First Merchant Bank Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 565 0 43 475 31 1
Future Vol, veh/h 565 0 43 475 31 1
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 2 0 0 5 0 0
Mvmt Flow 621 0 47 522 34 1
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 621 0 976 311
          Stage 1 - - - - 621 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 355 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 969 - 252 691
          Stage 1 - - - - 504 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 686 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 969 - 235 691
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 235 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 470 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 686 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 1 22.6
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 240 - - 969 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.147 - - 0.049 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 22.6 - - 8.9 0.3
HCM Lane LOS C - - A A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.5 - - 0.2 -

Page | 270AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.9

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 534 1 6 496 4 3 0 6 25 2 16
Future Vol, veh/h 0 534 1 6 496 4 3 0 6 25 2 16
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 50 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88 88
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 0 5 0 0 0 17 4 0 0
Mvmt Flow 0 607 1 7 564 5 3 0 7 28 2 18
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 569 0 0 608 0 0 905 1191 304 885 1189 285
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 608 608 - 581 581 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 297 583 - 304 608 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - 4.1 - - 7.5 6.5 7.24 7.58 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.58 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.58 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - 2.2 - - 3.5 4 3.47 3.54 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 1013 - - 980 - - 235 189 649 236 190 718
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 454 489 - 462 503 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 693 502 - 675 489 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 1013 - - 980 - - 226 188 649 232 189 718
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 226 188 - 232 189 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 454 489 - 462 499 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 668 498 - 668 489 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.1 14.2 19
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 400 1013 - - 980 - - 306
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.026 - - - 0.007 - - 0.16
HCM Control Delay (s) 14.2 0 - - 8.7 - - 19
HCM Lane LOS B A - - A - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.1 0 - - 0 - - 0.6

Page | 271AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Harlem Avenue & Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
A.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 56 0 1076 1010 59
Future Vol, veh/h 0 56 0 1076 1010 59
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 5 5 0
Mvmt Flow 0 59 0 1133 1063 62
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 563 - 0 - 0
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.9 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.3 - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 475 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 475 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 13.7 0 0
HCM LOS B
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) - 475 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - 0.124 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - 13.7 - -
HCM Lane LOS - B - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0.4 - -

Page | 272AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

Capacity Analysis Summary Sheets 
Projected Weekday Evening Peak Hour Conditions  

Page | 273AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Volume (vph) 256 425 227 257 343 58 251 1348 125 147 1229 252
Future Volume (vph) 256 425 227 257 343 58 251 1348 125 147 1229 252
Ideal Flow (vphpl) 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900 1900
Storage Length (ft) 160 0 150 0 160 0 190 0
Storage Lanes 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0
Taper Length (ft) 145 145 125 125
Lane Util. Factor 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95 1.00 0.95 0.95
Frt 0.948 0.978 0.987 0.974
Flt Protected 0.950 0.950 0.950 0.950
Satd. Flow (prot) 1752 3410 0 1787 3423 0 1770 3385 0 1770 3392 0
Flt Permitted 0.252 0.174 0.061 0.065
Satd. Flow (perm) 465 3410 0 327 3423 0 114 3385 0 121 3392 0
Right Turn on Red No No No No
Satd. Flow (RTOR)
Link Speed (mph) 40 35 40 40
Link Distance (ft) 212 789 218 516
Travel Time (s) 3.6 15.4 3.7 8.8
Peak Hour Factor 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91 0.91
Heavy Vehicles (%) 3% 0% 1% 1% 3% 4% 2% 5% 8% 2% 4% 2%
Shared Lane Traffic (%)
Lane Group Flow (vph) 281 716 0 282 441 0 276 1618 0 162 1628 0
Turn Type pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA pm+pt NA
Protected Phases 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Permitted Phases 4 8 2 6
Detector Phase 7 4 3 8 5 2 1 6
Switch Phase
Minimum Initial (s) 3.0 8.0 3.0 8.0 3.0 15.0 3.0 15.0
Minimum Split (s) 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0 9.5 24.0
Total Split (s) 20.0 29.0 20.0 29.0 24.0 73.0 18.0 67.0
Total Split (%) 14.3% 20.7% 14.3% 20.7% 17.1% 52.1% 12.9% 47.9%
Yellow Time (s) 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0 3.5 4.0
All-Red Time (s) 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0 0.0 2.0
Lost Time Adjust (s) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Lost Time (s) 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0 3.5 6.0
Lead/Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag Lead Lag
Lead-Lag Optimize? Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes Yes
Recall Mode None None None None None C-Min None C-Min
Act Effct Green (s) 42.0 23.0 42.0 23.0 87.5 69.1 76.8 62.0
Actuated g/C Ratio 0.30 0.16 0.30 0.16 0.62 0.49 0.55 0.44
v/c Ratio 0.97 1.28 1.04 0.78 0.92 0.97 0.76 1.08
Control Delay 85.2 184.6 105.7 67.0 74.0 50.4 55.3 87.2
Queue Delay 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0
Total Delay 85.2 184.6 105.7 67.0 74.0 50.4 55.3 87.2
LOS F F F E E D E F
Approach Delay 156.6 82.1 53.8 84.4
Approach LOS F F D F
Queue Length 50th (ft) 206 ~433 ~220 205 195 750 90 ~884
Queue Length 95th (ft) #358 #561 #408 268 #359 #943 #173 #1024

Page | 274AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Lanes, Volumes, Timings
1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Lane Group EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Internal Link Dist (ft) 132 709 138 436
Turn Bay Length (ft) 160 150 160 190
Base Capacity (vph) 291 560 270 562 313 1671 239 1501
Starvation Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Spillback Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Storage Cap Reductn 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Reduced v/c Ratio 0.97 1.28 1.04 0.78 0.88 0.97 0.68 1.08

Intersection Summary
Area Type: Other
Cycle Length: 140
Actuated Cycle Length: 140
Offset: 0 (0%), Referenced to phase 2:NBTL and 6:SBTL, Start of Green
Natural Cycle: 100
Control Type: Actuated-Coordinated
Maximum v/c Ratio: 1.28
Intersection Signal Delay: 86.7 Intersection LOS: F
Intersection Capacity Utilization 105.8% ICU Level of Service G
Analysis Period (min) 15
~    Volume exceeds capacity, queue is theoretically infinite.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.
#    95th percentile volume exceeds capacity, queue may be longer.
     Queue shown is maximum after two cycles.

Splits and Phases:     1: Harlem Avenue & 171st Street

Page | 275AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
2: Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive/USPS Easterly Access Drive & 171st Street08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 30 863 28 0 831 15 0 0 41 4 0 25
Future Vol, veh/h 30 863 28 0 831 15 0 0 41 4 0 25
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - - - - - - 0 - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91 91
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 0 1 2 0 0 0 0 0 0
Mvmt Flow 33 948 31 0 913 16 0 0 45 4 0 27
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 929 0 0 - - 0 - - 490 1461 1966 465
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - - - 921 921 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - 540 1045 -
Critical Hdwy 4.1 - - - - - - - 6.9 7.5 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.2 - - - - - - - 3.3 3.5 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 744 - - 0 - - 0 0 529 92 64 550
          Stage 1 - - - 0 - - 0 0 - 295 352 -
          Stage 2 - - - 0 - - 0 0 - 499 308 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 744 - - - - - - - 529 78 58 550
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - - - - 78 58 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - - - - 266 352 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - - - - 412 278 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.8 0 12.4 18.4
HCM LOS B C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 529 744 - - - - 300
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.085 0.044 - - - - 0.106
HCM Control Delay (s) 12.4 10.1 0.5 - - - 18.4
HCM Lane LOS B B A - - - C
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.3 0.1 - - - - 0.4

Page | 276AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
3: First Merchant Bank Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 1.1

Movement EBT EBR WBL WBT NBL NBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 921 0 38 818 27 0
Future Vol, veh/h 921 0 38 818 27 0
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Stop Stop
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - - - - 0 -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 98 98 98 98 98 98
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 2 0 1 0 0
Mvmt Flow 940 0 39 835 28 0
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1
Conflicting Flow All 0 0 940 0 1436 470
          Stage 1 - - - - 940 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 496 -
Critical Hdwy - - 4.1 - 6.8 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - 5.8 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - 5.8 -
Follow-up Hdwy - - 2.2 - 3.5 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver - - 737 - 127 545
          Stage 1 - - - - 345 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 583 -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - - 737 - 114 545
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - 114 -
          Stage 1 - - - - 311 -
          Stage 2 - - - - 583 -
 

Approach EB WB NB
HCM Control Delay, s 0 0.9 46.4
HCM LOS E
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBT EBR WBL WBT
Capacity (veh/h) 114 - - 737 -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.242 - - 0.053 -
HCM Control Delay (s) 46.4 - - 10.2 0.5
HCM Lane LOS E - - B A
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.9 - - 0.2 -

Page | 277AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
4: Oconto Avenue/USPS Westerly Access Drive & 171st Street 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 3.3

Movement EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR NBL NBT NBR SBL SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 3 857 16 18 823 4 2 0 15 49 3 44
Future Vol, veh/h 3 857 16 18 823 4 2 0 15 49 3 44
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Free Free Free Free Free Free Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop Stop
RT Channelized - - None - - None - - None - - None
Storage Length - - - 50 - - - - - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Grade, % - 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96 96
Heavy Vehicles, % 33 1 0 6 0 0 0 0 0 2 0 0
Mvmt Flow 3 893 17 19 857 4 2 0 16 51 3 46
 

Major/Minor Major1 Major2 Minor1 Minor2
Conflicting Flow All 861 0 0 910 0 0 1376 1807 455 1350 1813 431
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 908 908 - 897 897 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 468 899 - 453 916 -
Critical Hdwy 4.76 - - 4.22 - - 7.5 6.5 6.9 7.54 6.5 6.9
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.54 5.5 -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - - 6.5 5.5 - 6.54 5.5 -
Follow-up Hdwy 2.53 - - 2.26 - - 3.5 4 3.3 3.52 4 3.3
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 608 - - 720 - - 106 80 558 109 79 578
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 301 357 - 301 361 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 550 360 - 556 354 -
Platoon blocked, % - - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver 608 - - 720 - - 92 77 558 103 76 578
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - - 92 77 - 103 76 -
          Stage 1 - - - - - - 298 353 - 298 352 -
          Stage 2 - - - - - - 489 351 - 535 350 -
 

Approach EB WB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 0.1 0.2 15.8 57.7
HCM LOS C F
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBLn1 EBL EBT EBR WBL WBT WBR SBLn1
Capacity (veh/h) 350 608 - - 720 - - 162
HCM Lane V/C Ratio 0.051 0.005 - - 0.026 - - 0.617
HCM Control Delay (s) 15.8 11 0.1 - 10.1 - - 57.7
HCM Lane LOS C B A - B - - F
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) 0.2 0 - - 0.1 - - 3.4

Page | 278AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



HCM 6th TWSC
5: Harlem Avenue & Proposed Right-In/Right-Out Access Drive 08/22/2019

19-056 - 7-Eleven Gas Station - Tinley Park Synchro 10 Report
P.M. Peak Hour - Projected Traffic

Intersection
Int Delay, s/veh 0.3

Movement EBL EBR NBL NBT SBT SBR
Lane Configurations
Traffic Vol, veh/h 0 47 0 1724 1664 49
Future Vol, veh/h 0 47 0 1724 1664 49
Conflicting Peds, #/hr 0 0 0 0 0 0
Sign Control Stop Stop Free Free Free Free
RT Channelized - None - None - None
Storage Length - 0 - - - -
Veh in Median Storage, # 0 - - 0 0 -
Grade, % 0 - - 0 0 -
Peak Hour Factor 95 95 95 95 95 95
Heavy Vehicles, % 0 0 0 1 1 0
Mvmt Flow 0 49 0 1815 1752 52
 

Major/Minor Minor2 Major1 Major2
Conflicting Flow All - 902 - 0 - 0
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy - 6.9 - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 1 - - - - - -
Critical Hdwy Stg 2 - - - - - -
Follow-up Hdwy - 3.3 - - - -
Pot Cap-1 Maneuver 0 285 0 - - -
          Stage 1 0 - 0 - - -
          Stage 2 0 - 0 - - -
Platoon blocked, % - - -
Mov Cap-1 Maneuver - 285 - - - -
Mov Cap-2 Maneuver - - - - - -
          Stage 1 - - - - - -
          Stage 2 - - - - - -
 

Approach EB NB SB
HCM Control Delay, s 20.3 0 0
HCM LOS C
 

Minor Lane/Major Mvmt NBT EBLn1 SBT SBR
Capacity (veh/h) - 285 - -
HCM Lane V/C Ratio - 0.174 - -
HCM Control Delay (s) - 20.3 - -
HCM Lane LOS - C - -
HCM 95th %tile Q(veh) - 0.6 - -

Page | 279AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



CL
171ST STREET

CL
S.   H

A
R

LEM
A

V
EN

U
E

ILLIN
O

IS           R
O

U
TE           43

F

F

F

2
6

3
1

 
G

i
n

g
e

r
 
W

o
o

d
s
 
P

a
r
k
w

a
y
,
 
S

u
i
t
e

 
1

0
0

,
 
A

u
r
o

r
a

,
 
I
L

 
6

0
5

0
2

p
h

o
n

e
 
6

3
0

-
3

7
5

-
1

8
0

0
 
 
 
f
a

x
 
6

3
0

-
2

3
6

-
9

8
0

0
 
 
 
w

w
w

.
w

a
t
e

r
m

a
r
k
-
e

n
g

i
n

e
e

r
i
n

g
.
c
o

m

Page | 280AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
30" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
27" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
GASLINE MARKER POST

AutoCAD SHX Text
13" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
15"MS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 STORY BRICK BUILDING

AutoCAD SHX Text
FIRST MERCHANTS BANK

AutoCAD SHX Text
7231

AutoCAD SHX Text
FRAME

AutoCAD SHX Text
RESIDENCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
THE EAST LINE OF SECTION 25-36-12

AutoCAD SHX Text
3" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
2" 

AutoCAD SHX Text
FF700.75

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIGN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. SIMAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROJECT NO.:

AutoCAD SHX Text
1" = 20'

AutoCAD SHX Text
DATE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRAWN BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
JANUARY 20, 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
S. SIMAK

AutoCAD SHX Text
19-005

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCALE:

AutoCAD SHX Text
B. PERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHECKED BY:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Vequity 400 N. State Street Chicago, IL 60654 

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROPOSED FUEL CENTER 17100 S. Harlem Avenue Tinley Park, Illinois 

AutoCAD SHX Text
Prepared For:

AutoCAD SHX Text
Prepared By:

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS

AutoCAD SHX Text
N

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
10

AutoCAD SHX Text
20

AutoCAD SHX Text
40

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC TURN SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
1 of 1

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAFFIC TURN SITE PLAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
19

AutoCAD SHX Text
3

AutoCAD SHX Text
11

AutoCAD SHX Text
P - Passenger Car

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Length

AutoCAD SHX Text
19.000ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
7.000ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Overall Body Height

AutoCAD SHX Text
5.101ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Min Body Ground Clearance

AutoCAD SHX Text
1.116ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Track Width

AutoCAD SHX Text
6.000ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
Lock-to-lock time

AutoCAD SHX Text
4.00s

AutoCAD SHX Text
Curb to Curb Turning Radius

AutoCAD SHX Text
24.000ft

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/27/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS

AutoCAD SHX Text
1/29/2020

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
REVISIONS PER VILLAGE COMMENTS



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-005

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CERTAIN VARIATIONS FOR AN AUTOMOBILE 
SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 281AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-005

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CERTAIN VARIATIONS FOR AN AUTOMOBILE 
SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for granting certain bulk variations (“Variations”) to construct a 
gas station and convenience store at 17100 Harlem Avenue Tinley, Park, Illinois 604577 (“Subject 
Property”) has been filed by Vequity, LLC (“Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village 
and has been referred to the Plan Commission of the Village and has been processed in accordance 
with the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a public hearing on the question of whether the 
Variations should be granted on January 2, 2020 at the Village Hall of this Village, at which time 
all persons present were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and  

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said public hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said public 
hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission vote 5-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Variations be approved with this President and Board of 
Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Variations; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

Page | 282AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 2: That the report of findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are herein 
incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete 
as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence 
establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Variations as set forth in Section 
X.G.4 of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Variations as set forth herein is 
in the public good and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and is consistent with and 
fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Plan Commission shall not recommend a 
Variation of the regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, 
based upon the evidence presented for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Plan 
Commission must provide findings for the first three standards; the remaining standards are 
provided to help the Plan Commission further analyze the request. Staff has provided the following 
draft Findings of the Statutorily required Standards for the Commission’s review.

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.

The property is an infill site with limited ability to expand its size, dimensions, and 
setbacks. The overall area on the west side of Harlem Avenue will eventually meet the 
intent of the Zoning Code’s minimum lot requirements upon its full redevelopment. The 
Variations allow the fairly small and limited sized lot to be reasonably developed with a 
commercial use.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.
The small properties offer a challenging situation for redevelopment as they were 
originally residential lots. Residential uses on the lots are no longer preferred or 
marketable along the heavily traveled Harlem Avenue commercial corridor.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
The lot Variations will be similar to other properties that have redeveloped along Harlem 
Avenue in regards to the lot size and sign setbacks. The drive aisle width is a standard 
width in many other municipalities and is not expected to be noticeable.

SECTION 3: That the Variations as set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOTS 1 AND 2 IN BLOCK 1 IN ARTHUR T. MCINTOSH AND 
COMPANY’S SPUTHLANDS IN THE SOUTHEAST QUARTER OF SECTION 25, 
TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 12 EAST OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN 
COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 27-25-403-013-0000 and 27-25-403-014-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  17100 – 17110 Harlem Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

Page | 283AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 4: That the following Variations are hereby granted to the Petitioner in the B-1 
(Neighborhood Shopping) Zoning District at the above-mentioned property to construction a gas 
station and convenience store:

1. A five-foot Variation from Section IX-D-2-c, to permit a freestanding sign to be located 
five feet from the property instead of the required minimum of ten feet.

2. A two-foot Variation from Section VIII-C-Table 2 (Parking Lot Dimension Guidelines) to 
permit a 24-foot wide two-way drive aisle instead of the required 26-foot minimum.

3. A 3.039 sq. ft Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) 
to permit a lot size of .961 acres, instead of the required minimum 4 acres.

4. A 413.47-foot variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) 
to permit a lot width of 186.53 feet instead of the required minimum 600 feet.

5. A 51.47 foot Variation from Section V-B-Schedule II (Schedule of District Requirements) 
to permit a lot depth of 198.52 feet instead of the required minimum of 250 feet. 

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 284AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-005, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING CERTAIN VARIATIONS FOR 

AN AUTOMOBILE SERVICE (GAS) STATION LOCATED AT 17100 HARLEM AVENUE 

(VEQUITY, LLC, PETITIONER),” which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of 

the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 285AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-006

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 16800 OAK PARK AVENUE

(AN ENGLISH GARDEN LLC)

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 286AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-006

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY 
LOCATED AT 16800 OAK PARK AVENUE

(AN ENGLISH GARDEN LLC)

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for the granting of a Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage Site 
from a standalone commercial building to a mixed-use building with a second floor apartment at 
16800 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois 60477 (“Subject Property”) has been filed by An 
English Garden, LLC (“Owner” and “Petitioner”) with the Village Clerk of this Village and has 
been referred to the Plan Commission of this Village and has been processed in accordance with 
the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and

WHEREAS, said Plan Commission held a Public Hearing on the question of whether the 
Special Use Permit should be granted on January 16, 2020 at the Village Hall of this Village, at 
which time all persons present were afforded an opportunity to be heard; and  

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said Public Hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said Public 
Hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and 

WHEREAS, the Plan Commission voted 8-0 and has filed its report and findings and 
recommendations that the proposed Special Use Permit be approved with this President and Board 
of Trustees, and this Board of Trustees has duly considered said report of findings and 
recommendations; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Special Use Permit; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

Page | 287AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of facts as 
if said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report and findings and recommendations of the Plan Commission are 
herein incorporated by reference as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as 
complete as if fully set forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided 
evidence establishing that they have met the standards for granting the Special Use Permit as set 
forth in Section X.J.5. and Section XII.5.D.1. of the Zoning Ordinance, and the proposed granting 
of the Special Use Permit as set forth herein is in the public good and in the best interest of the 
Village and its residents and is consistent with and fosters the purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park 
Zoning Ordinance.

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said 
Commission shall find:

1. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental 
to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;

The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, 
comfort, or general welfare because the proposed project will convert the second floor to 
an apartment with the first floor remaining a florist and gift shop. The uses are compatible 
with one another and neighboring uses.

2. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair 
property values within the neighborhood;

The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and 
impair property values within the neighborhood because the proposed project will allow 
the unused second floor to be converted to a residence. The project will further promote 
the reuse of a historically and culturally significant property in Tinley Park. This mix of 
uses are similar and compatible with existing nearby uses along Oak Park Avenue.

3. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development 
and improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;

The Special Use will not impede the normal development and improvement of surrounding 
property for uses permitted in the district because the majority of the property within this 
area has already been developed. The project will be constructed meeting current Village 
building codes and is among the highest and best uses for the site. The addition of an 
apartment to the property more closely complies with the Legacy Plan than a standalone 
commercial property.

4. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or 
are being provided;

The site and building are existing. The site uses a right-of-way extension with on-street 
parking for access to their site. The site incorporates existing public and private walkways 
for safe pedestrian travel to and from the site.

Page | 288AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



5. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed 
as to minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and

The site and building are existing. The site uses a right-of-way extension with on-street 
parking for access to their site. The site incorporates existing public and private walkways 
for safe pedestrian travel to and from the site.

6. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the 
district in which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by 
the Village Board pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board 
shall impose such conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use 
Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or 
minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to better 
carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or 
restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance.

The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and 
Village regulations. The proposed commercial and residential uses are consistent with 
other properties within along Oak Park Avenue.

7. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic 
development of the community as a whole.

The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the 
property compared to a standalone commercial use. The addition of an apartment is 
consistent with the Legacy Plan’s goal of increasing population density around the 
Downtown Core and train station to support a strong economic center.

XII.5.D.1. Standards: The Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, variance, appeal, 
or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of 
fact, based upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that:

1. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in 
Section 1.A-B: Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance;

The proposal more closely complies with the Legacy Plan principles than the existing 
standalone commercial use. The proposal maximizes the amount of people within 
proximity of the Downtown Core. The reuse of the space for a residential use, helps to 
ensure a historically and culturally significant property in the Village is maintained.

2. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district 
and will not exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties;

A mixed-use building works well with the existing and planned developments along that 
block of Oak Park Avenue, which has a mix of uses existing and expected in the future.

3. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code;
No improvements to the building are proposed with the Special Use. The building 
is a historically and culturally significant property that is retaining its original 
character.

Page | 289AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



4. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic 
development of the Legacy Plan area.

The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax 
relief to the property compared to a standalone commercial use. The addition of an 
apartment is consistent with the Legacy Plan’s goal of increasing population 
density around the Downtown Core and train station to support a strong economic 
center.

SECTION 3: The Special Use Permit set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 1 IN BLOCK 6 IN ELMORE’S OAK PARK AVENUE 
ESTATES, BEING A RESUBDIVISION OF THE NORTHWEST FRACTIONAL QUARTER 
OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13, EAST OF THIRD PRINCIPAL 
MERIDIAN (EXCEPT THAT PART OF THE DRAINAGE DITCH CONVEYED BY 
DOCUMENT NUMBER 377150) ACCORDING TO THE PLAT THEREOF RECORDED 
APRIL 25, 1929 AS DOCUMENT 10351096, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-107-007-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  16800 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That a Special Use Permit to allow for the construction to convert a Heritage Site 
from a standalone commercial building to a mixed-use building with a 1,214 square foot three-
bedroom second floor apartment at the Subject Property is hereby granted to the Petitioner. 

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

Page | 290AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 291AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-006, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A SPECIAL USE PERMIT 

FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED AT16800 OAK PARK AVENUE (AN ENGLISH 

GARDEN, LLC), which was adopted by the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of 

Tinley Park on February 4, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 292AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



January 2, 2020 – Public Hearing 

 
An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment 

16800 Oak Park Avenue 

  
 

 
The Petitioner, Kim McAuliffe of An English Garden LLC (Property Owner), is seeking 

approval of a Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage Site from a standalone commercial 

building to a mixed-use building with a second floor apartment at 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district.  

 

The property was originally constructed as a residential home in 1859 as the home of 

early Tinley Park settlers John and Jane Fulton. The property is considered a culturally and 

historically significant property in Tinley Park. Most recently, the property has functioned 

as a standalone commercial property (law office and GiGi’s Playhouse). This property is 

classified as a Heritage Site in the Legacy Code since the standalone commercial use 

existed lawfully prior to the adoption of the Legacy Code. The site remains classified as a 

Heritage Site as long as any voluntary, private-owner initiated modifications to the 

property do not exceed 50% of the property’s market value and does not expand the 

structure or use. The Legacy Code permits a special use to convert a Heritage Site in the 

NG district to a mixed-use building. 

 

The Petitioner renovated the first floor of the building for their business, An English Garden 

Florist & Gifts, which opened in November 2019. Some minor interior modifications are 

required to meet the building code requirements for a second floor residential use and 

building permits will be applied for following the Special Use Permit approval. The second 

floor is difficult to rent out to other commercial tenants due to the existing residential 

layout and compliance with accessibility codes. The addition of an apartment will allow 

the Petitioner to collect rent on the unit and will allow the property’s taxes to be assessed 

at a lower rate through Cook County. The one apartment will have three bedrooms and is 

approximately 1,214 sq. ft. in size. 
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Kim McAuliffe, An English 

Garden LLC 

 

Property Location 

16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

PIN 

28-30-107-007-0000 

 

Zoning 

NG, Neighborhood 

General 

 

Approvals Sought 

Special Use Permit 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 

Page | 293AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 2 of 9 

 
The subject property was originally constructed as a residential 

home in 1859 as the home of early Tinley Park settlers, John and 

Jane Fulton. The structure is considered a culturally and historically 

significant property according to the Tinley Park Historical Society 

and the Legacy Plan. A residential addition was added to the 

original home in 1912. In 2001-2002 a Special Use Permit was 

approved for a bed & breakfast and the property was heavily 

renovated, but the business never formally opened. That 

renovation work included replacement of aluminum siding with 

more historically appropriate wood siding and a front “wrap-

around” porch. Since 2006, the property has functioned as a 

standalone commercial property (law office and then GiGi’s 

Playhouse). In early 2019, An English Garden purchased the 

property to expand to its second florist and gift shop location (first 

location is in Mokena). Following a buildout, structure 

maintenance, and renovation work, the business opened in 

November 2019. 

 

The property consists of one lot that is approximately 18,050 sq. ft. 

in size and consists of the two story principal structure and a two-

car detached garage. The detached 

garage was mistakenly constructed off-

site in 2005 and is located partially in 

the unimproved right-of-way to the 

north. There are no current concerns 

about the garage’s location. There are 

five parking spaces (including garage 

spaces) located on the lot, however, the 

property is adjacent to a dead-end 

right-of-way with ten “on-street” parking 

spaces. The property has traditionally 

entered into a Private Parking Lease 

and Maintenance Agreement for the 

use of the stalls on the south side of the 

right-of-way for business parking. The 

new Parking Lease and Maintenance 

Agreement will be proposed to the 

Village Board at the same time as the 

Special Use request. 

 

This subject property is located in the 

NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district and is classified as a “Heritage Site” because the commercial use existed 

lawfully prior to the adoption of the Legacy Code. The site will remain classified as a Heritage Site as long as any 

voluntary, private-owner initiated modification to the property does not exceed 50% of the property’s market value 

and does not expand the commercial use. The Legacy Code does permit that a Heritage Site in the NG district to be 

converted to a mixed-use building with approval of a Special Use. To the north of the subject property is a multi-

tenant commercial building (Dairy Palace, Effective Signs, Metro Yellow Cab) zoned NG. To the south is a single-

family home zoned NG. To the west is a single-family home zoned R-2, Single-Family Residential and to the east 

across Oak Park Avenue are single-family homes zoned R-4, Single-Family Residential. 

 

 

Page | 294AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 3 of 9 

 

 
The Petitioner’s proposal will convert the second floor of the structure to an apartment while the first floor remains 

commercial space. The building was originally constructed to be a single-family home, and the second floor was 

partially converted for use as a bed & breakfast, including installation of a bathroom and kitchen. The space has 

since been used as commercial office space for businesses occupying the first floor. Some renovation work will need 

to be completed to convert the space to an apartment use including adding a foyer area to the first floor, adding 

closets, and moving the electrical panel from the bedroom. Following zoning approval, the Petitioner will apply for a 

building permit, and has already hired an architect to design the construction documents. Staff recommends that a 

condition be added to the approval clarifying the compliance with any building code requirements prior to 

occupancy. The resulting apartment will be approximately 1,214 sq. ft. in size have three bedrooms, one bathroom, 

a kitchen, and a living room. It is expected that the residential tenant will utilize at least half of the existing detached 

garage to park their vehicles. 

 

The NG zoning district is residentially-focused with a goal of providing sufficient density around the downtown area 

and train station. The homes help support the businesses within the Legacy District and specifically the Downtown 

Core. While the proposal will not bring the property completely into the vision of the Legacy Plan, it will help ensure 

the longevity of a historically significant property in the downtown. The mixed-use building is also closer to the 

Plan’s intent than the standalone commercial building does currently. Staff believes the proposed mixed-use 

building is the best option to revitalize and preserve the structure for the future of the community. 

 

The Special Use Permit is being requested because the Petitioner’s business does not currently have a use for the 

second floor space. The second floor is difficult to use for other commercial businesses because it is designed like a 

residential unit (bedrooms, hallways, bathroom with tub, etc.) Additionally, any commercial tenants are unlikely to 

meet the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) or Illinois Accessibility Code requirements for their employees or 

customers based on the current layout. 

 

Page | 295AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 4 of 9 

 

The Special Use Permit to convert Heritage Sites to mixed-use buildings serves a couple purposes. First, is to ensure 

that the commercial and residential uses being proposed work in harmony with each other and that the conversion 

is not creating substandard housing for future Tinley Park residents. This is particularly relevant in properties that 

were not specifically designed to have both residential and commercial uses. Staff does not have concerns with the 

mix of uses based on the use of the first floor as a florist and gift shop. The property was originally designed as a 

residential home and this will be reintroducing the residential use. Secondly, the request is in harmony with the 

intent and vision of the Legacy Plan. Similar to Variations for improvements that are greater than the 50% 

investment threshold, staff created the following standards when looking at particular properties for expansion or 

Special Uses. 

 

 The condition of the existing building:  The building is in sound condition, particularly for a historically and 

culturally significant building exceeding 100 years in age. The reuse of the property as mixed-use is expected 

to keep the property profitable in the future due to the lower tax rate for mixed-use buildings. 

 The ownership of the property (owner-occupied): The new property owner will continue to operate florist and 

gift shop business at this location while renting the apartment out. 

 The longevity of the existing non-conforming use: The property owner plans to occupy the first floor of the 

structure for the foreseeable future. A mixed-use building with commercial and residential uses can remain 

successful in the future and help to keep the historic structure in stable condition. 

 The ability for the property to be converted to function as the permitted use and comply with other Legacy 

Code redevelopment requirements:  While the structure is not entirely residential, the mixed-use design will 

permit an additional residential unit along Oak Park Avenue and help to promote the viability of the 

Downtown Core. The historic structure was originally designed as a single-family home and will remain in 

harmony with the surrounding area. The property otherwise complies with the Legacy Code’s exterior 

requirements for heritage sites. The Special Use Permit does not prevent the first floor from being converted 

to residential (apartment) in the future and being in compliance with the Legacy Code’s use allowances. 

 The impact of the continuation of the non-conforming use on the redevelopment potential of the area: The 

property is located at the end of the block and a mixed-use property will not interfere with the rest of the 

block’s ability to redevelop following the code requirements. The majority of the block has stable commercial 

uses and not expected to redevelop in the near future.  

 

Based on the above factors, Staff supports a Special Use Permit to permit the commercial Heritage Site to be 

converted to a mixed-use building and allowing the property to continue to operate under the Heritage Site status.  

 

Open Item #1: Discuss the proposed Special Use Permit to allow the conversion of a standalone commercial 

heritage site in the Neighborhood General (NG) zoning district to a mixed-use building with a second floor 

apartment. 

Page | 296AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 5 of 9 

Page | 297AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 6 of 9 

 
The exterior of the property is not expected to change with the addition of the second floor apartment unit, and all 

changes to convert the second floor to an apartment will happen internally to the structure. No exterior 

architectural or lighting changes are proposed. The landscaping was renovated with the commercial buildout for An 

English Garden. Two new parkway trees were installed along the Oak Park Avenue frontage to comply with the 

Landscape Code.  

 

The permit for An English Garden’s ground sign has been approved and is expected to be installed when weather 

permits. No wall signs are proposed at this time. No signage will be required for the addition of a residential unit, 

with the exception of a unit number on the door and mailbox, which is permitted by code. 

 

Open Item #2: Discuss the existing site and the need for any additional changes to permit a residential use to be 

added. 

 

 
 

 

Page | 298AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 7 of 9 

 

Section X.J.5. of the Zoning Ordinance lists standards that need to be considered by the Plan Commission. The Plan 

Commission is encouraged to consider these standards (listed below) when analyzing a Special Use request. Staff 

will provide draft Findings in the Staff Report for the Public Hearing. 

 

X.J.5. Standards: No Special Use shall be recommended by the Plan Commission unless said Commission shall find: 

 

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or 

endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare; 

 The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or 

general welfare because the proposed project will convert the second floor to an apartment with the first 

floor remaining a florist and gift shop. The uses are compatible with one another and neighboring uses. 

 

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate 

vicinity for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within 

the neighborhood; 

 The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 

for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 

neighborhood because the proposed project will allow the unused second floor to be converted to a 

residence. The project will further promote the reuse of a historically and culturally significant property in 

Tinley Park. This mix of uses are similar and compatible with existing nearby uses along Oak Park Avenue. 

 

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 

improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district; 

 The Special Use will not impede the normal development and improvement of surrounding property for 

uses permitted in the district because the majority of the property within this area has already been 

developed. The project will be constructed meeting current Village building codes and is among the highest 

and best uses for the site. The addition of an apartment to the property more closely complies with the 

Legacy Plan than a standalone commercial property. 

 

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being 

provided; 

 The site and building are existing and has all appropriate existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities 

that are not proposed to be changed. Drainage has been accounted for on the site and utilizes the existing 

storm sewer system. 

 

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to 

minimize traffic congestion in the public streets; and 

 The site and building are existing. The site uses a right-of-way extension with on-street parking for access 

to their site. The site incorporates existing public and private walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and 

from the site. 

 

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in 

which it is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board 

pursuant to the recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such 

conditions and restrictions upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to 

ensure compliance with the above standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon 

other properties in the neighborhood, and to better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  

Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall constitute a violation of this Ordinance. 

Page | 299AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 8 of 9 

 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and Village 

regulations. The proposed commercial and residential uses are consistent with other properties within 

along Oak Park Avenue. 

 

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of 

the community as a whole. 

 The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the property 

compared to a standalone commercial use. The addition of an apartment is consistent with the Legacy 

Plan’s goal increasing population density around the Downtown Core and train station to support a strong 

economic center. 

 

It is also important to recognize that a Special Use Permit does not run with the land and instead the Special Use 

Permit is tied to the Petitioner. This is different from a process such as a variance, since a variance will forever apply 

to the property to which it is granted. Staff encourages the Plan Commission to refer to Section X.J.6. to examine the 

conditions where a Special Use Permit will expire. 

 

 

In addition to any other specific standards set forth herein the Plan Commission shall not recommend a Special Use, 

variance, appeal, or map amendment from the regulations of this ordinance unless it shall have made findings of 

fact, based upon evidence presented to it, in each specific case that: 

 

b. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: 

Purpose and Intent, of this ordinance; 

 The proposal more closely complies with the Legacy Plan principles than the existing standalone 

commercial use. The proposal maximizes the amount of people within proximity of the Downtown Core. The 

reuse of the space for a residential use, helps to ensure a historically and culturally significant property in 

the Village is maintained. 

 

c. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 

exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties; 

 A mixed-use building works well with the existing and planned developments along that block of Oak Park 

Avenue, which has a mix of uses existing and expected in the future. 

 

d. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code 

 No improvements to the building are proposed with the Special Use. The building is a historically and 

culturally significant property that is retaining its original character. 

 

e. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the 

Legacy Plan area. 

 The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the property 

compared to a standalone commercial use. The addition of an apartment is consistent with the Legacy 

Plan’s goal increasing population density around the Downtown Core and train station to support a strong 

economic center. 

 

Page | 300AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



An English Garden, Mixed-Use Apartment – 16800 Oak Park Avenue 

 

Page 9 of 9 

 

If the Plan Commission wishes to take action, an appropriate wording of the motions would read:  

 

“… make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Kim McAuliffe of An English Garden LLC, a 

Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage Site from a standalone commercial building to a mixed-use building with a 1,214 

sq. ft. second floor apartment at 16800 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district, in accordance 

with the plans submitted and listed herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report.” 

 

…with the following conditions: [any conditions that the Commissioners would like to add]  

 

 

Submitted Sheet Name 
Prepared 

By 

Date On 

Sheet 

 Application and Findings/Standards Responses KM 10/9/2019 

 Plat of Survey Studnicka 6/26/2019 

 Photos of Apartment KM N/A 

A101 English Garden Plans, Details and Notes PH N/A 

    

KM = Kim McAuliffe (Owner) 

Studnicka = Studnicka and Associates, LTD (Surveyor) 

PH = Paul C Hardison (Architect) 

 

Page | 301AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 302AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 1 of 7

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
PLAN COMMISSION, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK,
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS

January 16, 2020

The Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission was held in the Council Chambers of Village Hall on January 16, 2020 at 
7:00 p.m.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

Plan Commissioners: Garrett Gray, Chairman
Tim Stanton
Lucas Engel
Mary Aitchison
Eduardo Mani 
Curt Fielder
James Gaskill
Angela Gatto

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): Stephen Vick

Village Officials and Staff: Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 

CALL TO ORDER

PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN GRAY called to order the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission for January 16, 
2020 at 7:00 p.m.
 
COMMUNICATIONS

None

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Minutes of the January 2, 2020 Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission were presented for approval.  A Motion was made 
by COMMISSIONER AITCHISON, seconded by COMMISSIONER STANTON to approve the minutes as presented.   
CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion approved by voice call.     

Page | 303AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 2 of 7

TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PLAN COMMISSION

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 16, 2020 REGULAR MEETING

ITEM #1 PUBLIC HEARING: KIM MCAULIFFE, ON BEHALF OF AN ENGLISH GARDEN LLC - 16800 
OAK PARK AVENUE
Consider a request to recommend that the Village Board grant Kim McAuliffe, on behalf of An English 
Garden LLC (property owner), a Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage Site from a standalone 
commercial building to a mixed-use building with a second floor apartment at 16800 Oak Park Avenue in 
the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district.

Present were the following: 

Plan Commissioners: Garrett Gray, Chairman
Tim Stanton
Lucas Engel
MaryAnn Aitchison
Eduardo Mani 
Curt Fielder 
James Gaskill
Angela Gatto

Absent Plan Commissioner(s): Stephen Vick

Guests: Kim McAuliffe, Petitioner/Owner
Mike McAuliffe, Petitioner/Owner

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER FIELDER, seconded by COMMISSIONER GATTO, to open the Public
Hearing for Kim McAuliffe, on behalf of An English Garden LLC - 16800 Oak Park Avenue. The Motion was approved 
by voice call.  CHAIRMAN GRAY declared The Motion Approved. 

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding the Public Hearing 
was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village requirements. 

CHAIRMAN GRAY requested anyone present in the audience who wished to give testimony, comment, engage in cross-
examination or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in.

Daniel Ritter, Senior Planner gave a presentation as noted in the Staff Report. The Petitioner, Kim McAuliffe is seeking 
approval of a Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage Site from a standalone commercial building to a mixed-use 
building with a second floor apartment at 16800 Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district.  

The property at 16800 Oak Park Avenue is currently being operated as An English Garden Florists & Gifts which opened 
in November 2019.  This is their second location. The first location is in Mokena, Illinois. The property was originally 
constructed as a residential home in 1859 as the home of early Tinley Park Settlers John and Jane Fulton. There was an 
addition in 1912. The property is considered a culturally and historically significant property in Tinley Park.  In 2001 and 
2002 there was a Special Use Permit for a Bed and Breakfast. This is when most of the exterior improvements occurred 
and the second floor was renovated with a kitchen and was going to be the Bed and Breakfast. The business never 
formally opened. In 2006, it had functioned as a standalone commercial law and real estate office. Most recently it was 
Gigi’s Playhouse that has relocated to 159th St. and Harlem Ave. The English Garden purchased the property last 

Page | 304AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 3 of 7

November and they are occupying the first floor with their florist and gift shop. The property is classified as a Heritage 
Site in the Legacy Code since the standalone commercial use existed lawfully prior to the adoption of the Legacy Code. 
The site remains classified as a Heritage Site as long as any voluntary, private-owner initiated modifications to the 
property do not exceed 50% of the property’s market value and does not expand the structure or use. The Legacy Code 
permits a Special Use to convert a Heritage Site to a mixed-use in the NG district with the approval of a Special Use. 

To the north of the subject property is a multi-tenant commercial building (Dairy Palace, Effective Signs, Metro Yellow 
Cab) zoned NG.  To the south is a single-family home zoned NG.  To the west is a single-family home zoned R-2 (Single-
Family Residential) and to the east across Oak Park Avenue are single-family homes zoned R-4 (Single-Family 
Residential).

The subject property is located in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district and is classified as a Heritage Site.  This 
is what you would see in the downtown core.  It gives you the rooftop and the density to support primarily promoting 
commercial with residential around it.  There is existing commercial and mixed-use.  This will maximize the population 
that lives around the train station in the downtown area.  

The Petitioner renovated the first floor of the building for their business, An English Garden Florist & Gifts, which 
opened in November 2019.  Some minor interior modifications are required to meet the building code requirements for a 
second floor residential use and building permits will be applied for following the Special Use Permit approval.  The 
second floor is difficult to rent out to other commercial tenants due to the existing residential layout and compliance with 
Americans with Disabilities (ADA) or Illinois Accessibility Code requirements for their employees or customers based on 
the current layout.   The addition of an apartment will allow the Petitioner to collect rent on the unit and will allow the 
property’s taxes to be assessed at a lower rate through Cook County.  The one apartment will have three bedrooms, 
kitchen, living room, and bathroom and is approximately 1,214 sq. in size. 

The property consists of one lot that is approximately 18,050 sq. ft. and consists of the two-story principal structure and a 
two-car detached garage.  The detached garage was mistakenly constructed off-site in 2005 and is located partially in the 
unimproved right-of-way to the north.  There are currently no concerns about the location of the garage.  There are five 
parking spaces (including garage spaces) located on the lot, however the property is adjacent to a dead-end right-of-way 
with ten “on-street” parking spaces.  The property has traditionally entered into a Private Parking Lease and Maintenance 
Agreement for the use of the stalls on the south side of the right-of-way for business parking.  The new Parking Lease and 
Maintenance Agreement will be proposed to the Village Board at the same time as the Special Use request.  

The Special Use Permit to convert Heritage Sites to mixed-use buildings serves a couple of purposes. First, is to ensure that 
the commercial and residential uses being proposed work in harmony with each other and that the conversion is not creating 
substandard housing for future Tinley Park residents. This is particularly relevant in properties that were not specifically 
designed to have both residential and commercial uses. Staff does not have concerns with the mix of uses based on the use 
of the first floor as a florist and gift shop. The property was originally designed as a residential home and this will be 
reintroducing the residential use. Secondly, the request is in harmony with the intent and vision of the Legacy Plan. Similar 
to Variations for improvements that are greater than the 50% investment threshold, staff created the following standards 
when looking at particular properties for expansion or Special Uses.

 The condition of the existing building:  The building is in sound condition, particularly for a historically and 
culturally significant building exceeding 100 years in age. The reuse of the property as mixed-use is expected to keep 
the property profitable in the future due to the lower tax rate for mixed-use buildings.

 The ownership of the property (owner-occupied): The new property owner will continue to operate florist and gift 
shop business at this location while renting the apartment out.

 The longevity of the existing non-conforming use: The property owner plans to occupy the first floor of the structure 
for the foreseeable future. A mixed-use building with commercial and residential uses can remain successful in the 
future and help to keep the historic structure in stable condition.

 The ability for the property to be converted to function as the permitted use and comply with other Legacy Code 
redevelopment requirements:  While the structure is not entirely residential, the mixed-use design will permit an 

Page | 305AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 4 of 7

additional residential unit along Oak Park Avenue and help to promote the viability of the Downtown Core. The 
historic structure was originally designed as a single-family home and will remain in harmony with the surrounding 
area. The property otherwise complies with the Legacy Code’s exterior requirements for heritage sites. The Special 
Use Permit does not prevent the first floor from being converted to residential (apartment) in the future and being in 
compliance with the Legacy Code’s use allowances.

 The impact of the continuation of the non-conforming use on the redevelopment potential of the area: The property 
is located at the end of the block and a mixed-use property will not interfere with the rest of the block’s ability to 
redevelop following the code requirements. The majority of the block has stable commercial uses and not expected 
to redevelop in the near future. 

The exterior of the property is not expected to change with the addition of the second floor apartment unit, and all changes 
to convert the second floor to an apartment will happen internally to the structure.  No exterior architectural or lighting 
changes are proposed. The landscaping was renovated with the commercial buildout for An English Garden. Two new 
parkway trees were installed along the Oak Park Avenue frontage to comply with the Landscape Code. 

No wall signs are proposed at this time. Although the permit for the ground sign has been approved, the Petitioner is 
considering coming back at a later time for a Variance to be able to install the ground sign closer to the street to make it 
easier to see.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Petitioner:

Ms. McAuliffe replied she is a resident of Tinley Park and has admired this home for thirteen years. She is very happy and 
excited to open An English Garden Flowers and Gifts and this will help with the property.

CHAIRMAN GRAY asked for comments from the Commissioners.  

COMMISSIONER STANTON noted he is impressed with the shop and very happy to see it.   

COMMISSIONER GASKILL, FIELDER, ENGEL, AITCHISON, MANI AND GATTO agreed.

CHAIRMAN GRAY noted he agrees and feels the building and it fits both the residential and commercial aspects of the 
area. 

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER FIELDER, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL, to close the Public
Hearing for Kim McAuliffe, On Behalf Of an English Garden LLC - 16800 Oak Park Avenue.  

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, MANI, GATTO, FIELDER, GASKILL AITCHISON & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

Mr. Ritter identified the Standards for Special Use:

a. That the establishment, maintenance, or operation of the Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the 
public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general welfare;
 The Special Use will not be detrimental to or endanger the public health, safety, morals, comfort, or general 

welfare because the proposed project will convert the second floor to an apartment with the first floor 
remaining a florist and gift shop. The uses are compatible with one another and neighboring uses.

Page | 306AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 5 of 7

b. That the Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 
for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood;
 The Special Use will not be injurious to the use and enjoyment of other property in the immediate vicinity 

for the purposes already permitted, nor substantially diminish and impair property values within the 
neighborhood because the proposed project will allow the unused second floor to be converted to a 
residence. The project will further promote the reuse of a historically and culturally significant property 
in Tinley Park. This mix of uses are similar and compatible with existing nearby uses along Oak Park 
Avenue.

c. That the establishment of the Special Use will not impede the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding property for uses permitted in the district;
 The Special Use will not impede the normal development and improvement of surrounding property for 

uses permitted in the district because the majority of the property within this area has already been 
developed. The project will be constructed meeting current Village building codes and is among the highest 
and best uses for the site. The addition of an apartment to the property more closely complies with the 
Legacy Plan than a standalone commercial property.

d. That adequate utilities, access roads, drainage, and/or other necessary facilities have been or are being provided;
 The site and building are existing and has all appropriate existing utilities, roads, and drainage facilities 

that are not proposed to be changed. Drainage has been accounted for on the site and utilizes the existing 
storm sewer system.

e. That adequate measures have been or will be taken to provide ingress and egress so designed as to minimize 
traffic congestion in the public streets; and
 The site and building are existing. The site uses a right-of-way extension with on-street parking for access 

to their site. The site incorporates existing public and private walkways for safe pedestrian travel to and 
from the site.

f. That the Special Use shall, in all other respects, conform to the applicable regulations of the district in which it 
is located, except as such regulations may in each instance be modified by the Village Board pursuant to the 
recommendation of the Plan Commission.  The Village Board shall impose such conditions and restrictions 
upon the premises benefited by a Special Use Permit as may be necessary to ensure compliance with the above 
standards, to reduce or minimize the effect of such permit upon other properties in the neighborhood, and to 
better carry out the general intent of this Ordinance.  Failure to comply with such conditions or restrictions shall 
constitute a violation of this Ordinance.
 The Special Use conforms to all other applicable regulations of the Zoning Ordinance and Village 

regulations. The proposed commercial and residential uses are consistent with other properties within 
along Oak Park Avenue.

g. The extent to which the Special Use contributes directly or indirectly to the economic development of the 
community as a whole.
 The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the property 

compared to a standalone commercial use. The addition of an apartment is consistent with the Legacy 
Plan’s goal increasing population density around the Downtown Core and train station to support a 
strong economic center.

Page | 307AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 6 of 7

Mr. Ritter identified the additional Legacy Code Standards

a. The proposed improvement meets the Legacy Plan and its Principles, as presented in Section 1.A-B: Purpose 
and Intent, of this ordinance;
 The proposal more closely complies with the Legacy Plan principles than the existing standalone 

commercial use. The proposal maximizes the amount of people within proximity of the Downtown Core. 
The reuse of the space for a residential use, helps to ensure a historically and culturally significant property 
in the Village is maintained.

b. The new improvement is compatible with uses already developed or planned in this district and will not 
exercise undue detrimental influences upon surrounding properties;
 A mixed-use building works well with the existing and planned developments along that block of Oak Park 

Avenue, which has a mix of uses existing and expected in the future.

c. Any improvement meets the architectural standards set forth in the Legacy Code;
 No improvements to the building are proposed with the Special Use. The building is a historically and 

culturally significant property that is retaining its original character.

d. The improvement will have the effect of protecting and enhancing the economic development of the Legacy 
Plan area.
 The proposed residential apartment will help bring additional revenue and tax relief to the property 

compared to a standalone commercial use. The addition of an apartment is consistent with the Legacy 
Plan’s goal increasing population density around the Downtown Core and train station to support a 
strong economic center.

A motion was made by COMMISSIONER FIELDER, seconded by COMMISSIONER GASKILL to recommend that the 
Village Board grant the Petitioner, Kim McAuliffe of An English Garden LLC, a Special Use Permit to convert a Heritage 
Site from a standalone commercial building to a mixed-use building with a 1,214 sq. ft. second floor apartment at 16800 
Oak Park Avenue in the NG (Neighborhood General) zoning district, in accordance with the plans submitted and listed 
herein and adopt Findings of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report.”

AYES:  STANTON, ENGEL, MANI, GATTO, AITCHISON, GASKILL, FIELDER & CHAIRMAN GRAY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the Motion unanimously approved by Roll Call

This will be heard at the Village Board for one reading on February 4, 2020 along with the Parking Lease and Maintenance 
Agreement which will go to Committee beforehand.

Page | 308AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Plan Commission 
                      January 16, 2020          

Page 7 of 7

GOOD OF THE ORDER:

Mr. Ritter, Senior Planner noted the following:

1. SIP Wine Bar is expecting to open in February.
2. Pekoe and Bean Tea Room has opened on Oak Park Avenue south of Olde Tinley Pub and Together We Cope. 

There is Love’s Sweet Arrow, a romance book store that has also opened on Oak Park Avenue nearby.
3. The Boulevard on South Street has their foundation in and will be working with MWRD and will start building 

when the permit has been approved.
4. 7-Eleven will go to the Village Board on January 21st for review. An additional letter was sent out to all the 

residents on the block behind due to possible resident concerns.  
5. Union Square Townhomes have put in the foundation for the third townhome building.  Those units have been 

selling well, some as high as $290,000 and $300,000 for the units. Hopefully, this will set the market for this type of 
unit.

COMMENTS FROM THE COMMISSION:

None at this time.

PUBLIC COMMENT:

None at this time.

ADJOURNMENT:

There being no further business, a Motion was made by PLAN COMMISSIONER FIELDER, seconded by PLAN 
COMMISSIONER AITCHISON to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the Plan Commission of January 16, 2020 at                                                                                             
7:25 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice call.  PLAN COMMISSION CHAIRMAN GRAY declared the 
meeting adjourned.

Page | 309AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Refrigerator

Range

NEW 36"X84" EXT. DOOR
W/EXT. LOCKSET

NEW 36"X84" EXT. DOOR
W/EXT. LOCKSET

EXISTING STAIR
UP TO APARTMENTFOYER

27

VESTIBULE
28

STAIR FOYER
29

5'
 - 

0 
1/

2"

6' - 3"4' - 0"

11
' -

 2
 1

/4
"

3'
 - 

1"

family room
14

kitchen
15

bathroom
16

bedroom #1
17

bedroom #2
18

bedroom #3
19 hallway

20

hallway
21

stair foyer
22

w.i.c.
23

8'
 - 

2"

6' - 1"

7'
 - 

10
"

8'
 - 

1 
3/

4"12
' -

 0
 3

/4
"

16
' -

 1
0"

2' - 11"

10
' -

 6
"

8' - 8"

14
' -

 1
"

3'
 - 

2 
1/

4"

14' - 11"

8' - 11"

w.i.c.
24

w.i.c.
25

closet
26

13
' -

 7
"

3'
 - 

0 
3/

4"
10

' -
 6

"

3'
 - 

5"

3' - 0"

EXISTING STAIR 
DOWN

NEW 2X4 WD. STUD
WALL W/5/8" GYP.
BD. BOTH SIDES TYP

NEW (2)2X12 BEAM
W/(2)2X4 STUDS 
EACH SIDE TYP.

NEW 32X84 DOOR
W/PRIVACY LOCK

EXISTING 200 AMP
ELEC PANEL TO 
REMAIN

EXISTING DOOR TO 
BE REMOVED INFIL OPENING
W/NEW STUD WALL 
TO MATCH EXIST.

N
EW

 3
2X

84
 D

O
O

R
W

/P
R

IV
AC

Y 
LO

C
K

EX. WALLS & CONST. TO
REMAIN.

EX. FULL HEIGHT WALLS &
CONST. TO BE REMOVED.

EX. DOOR TO REMAIN

EX. LOW HEIGHT WALLS &
CONST. TO BE REMOVED.

EX. DOOR TO BE REMOVED

EX

1. REMOVE PARTITIONS, DOORS, FRAMES 
AND HARDWARE WHERE SHOWN DOTTED.

2. REMOVE ELECTRICAL OUTLETS, WIRING 
AND DEVICES IN PARTITIONS BEING REMOVED

3. REMOVE CEILING FIXTURES, WIRING AND 
DEVICES IN AREAS OF NEW WORK.

4. REMOVE FLOOR AND WALL FINISHES 
5. RETURN UNUSED REUSABLE ITEMS TO OWNER
6. PARTITIONS SHOWN DOTTED ARE FOR 

SCHEMATIC PURPOSES ONLY.  FIELD VERIFY 
EXISTING CONDITIONS AND REMOVE AS 
REQUIRED TO ALLOW FOR NEW WORK.

7. CONTRACTOR SHALL BE SOLELY RESPONSIBLE
FOR MAINTAINING JOB SITE SAFETY DURING 
THIS PHASE OF WORK AND S HALL COMPLY 
WITH ALL APPLICABLE FEDERAL, STATE AND 
LOCAL REGULATIONS INCLUDING BUT NOT 
LIMITED TO BUILDING CODES, OSHA REGULATIONS
LIFE SAFETY CODES, AND HAZARDOUS MATERIAL
REMOVAL AND DISPOSAL LAWS.  

8. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL INDEMNIFY AND HOLD
HARMLESS THE OWNER, THE ARCHITECT AND
THEIR AGENTS AND EMPLOYEES FROM AND 
AGAINST ALL CLAIMS, DAMAGES, LOSSES AND 
EXPENSES ARISING OUT OF OR RESULTING FROM 
ANY OF THE ITEMS LISTED IN ITEMS ABOVE.

6"BATT INSULATION
IN INTERIOR WALLS
AT BATHROOMS FOR
SOUND INSULATION

2X6 STUD2 @ 16"
O.C. ON X6 SILL
PLATE W/2X6 CAP
PLATE

4" PLUMBING
VENT/WASTE PIPE

1_
2" GREEN GYP.
BD. AT ALL WET
LOCATION OR
BEHIND CERAMIC
TILE

(2)2X4'S

(3)2X4'S

3-1_
2"BATT

INSULATION IN
INTERIOR WALLS AT
BATHROOMS
5_
8" GYP. BD. TAPEDSPACKLED AND
SANDED INTERIOR BY
OWNER

(3)2X4'S

3-1_
2"BATT

INSULATION IN
INTERIOR WALLS AT
BATHROOMS
5_
8" GYP. BD. TAPEDSPACKLED AND
SANDED INTERIOR BY
OWNER

PROVIDE CORNER
BEADS AT ALL
INSIDE AND
OUTSIDE
CORNERS TYP.

GENERAL NOTES
1. ALL WORK SHALL COMPLY WITH STATE, FEDERAL

AND LOCAL CODES AND ORDINANCES, AND SHALL
BE PERFORMED TO THE HIGHEST STANDARDS
OF CRAFTSMANSHIP BY JOURNEYMEN OF THE
RESPECTIVE TRADES.

2. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROTECT ALL EXISTING
PROPERTIES AND SHOULD DAMAGE OCCUR, 
SHALL REPAIR AND PAY FOR ALL WORK.

3. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN THE SITE 
CLEAR OF ALL TRASH AND DEBRIS.

4. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL VISIT THE SITE AND
BECOME TOTALY FAMILIAR WITH ALL CONDITIONS
PRIOR TO THE START OF CONSTRUCTION.  THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY ALL DIMENSIONS
AND CONDITIONS SHOWN ON THE DRAWINGS
WITH THOSE AT THE SITE.

5. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUPPLY ALL 
NECESSARY  LABOR, MAERIALS AND EQUIPMENT
TO PERFORM ALL WORK SHOWN AS SPECIFIED,
AND IS REQUIRED TO COMPLETE THE WORK.

6. INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS WILL BE DETER-
MINED BY THE OWNER PRIOR TO THE START
OF CONSTRUCTION.  ALL WORK SHALL BE 
GUARANTEED AGAINST DEFECTS FOR THE PERIOD
OF ONE (1) YEAR.

7. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL PROVIDE WAIVERS OF
LEIN FROM ALL MAJOR MATERIAL SUIPPLIERS AND
PRIME SUB-CONTRACTORS.  PAYMENTS WILL NOT
BE MADE WITHOUT SUBSTANTIATING BACK-UP
WAIVERS.

8. CONTRACTORS SHALL PROVIDE THE OWNER WITH
A LIST OF ALL SUB-CONTRACTORS.

9. THESE DOCUMENTS DO NOT INCLUDE THE 
NECESSARY EQUIPMENT FOR CONSTRUCTION
SAFETY.  SAFETY AND CARE OF ADJACENT 
PROPERTIES DURING CONSTRUCTION, AND 
COMPLIANCE WITH LOCAL, STATE AND FEDERAL
REGULATIONS REGARDING SAFETY IS AND SHALL
BE THE CONTRACTOR'S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY.

10. CAREFULLY STUDY AND COMPARE THE DRAWINGS
WITH EACH OTHER AND WITH SITE CONDITIONS
AND REPORT ANY ERROR, DISCREPANCY OR
OMISSION TO THE ARCHITECT.  OBTAIN ANY 
NECESSARY CLARIFICATION FROM THE ARCHITECT
BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH WORK.

11. THE ARCHITECT WILL NOT HAVE CONTROL OVER
OR CHARGE OF AND WILL NOT BE RESPONSIBLE 
FOR CONSTRUTION MEANS, METHODS, 
TECHNIQUES, SEQUIENCES OF PROCEDURES, OR
FOR COORDINATING ANY PART OF THE WORK.

12. DO NOT SCALE THE DRAWINGS, SHOULD AN 
INCONSISTANCY IN DIMENSIONING BECOME
APPARENT, CONTACT THE ARCHITECT FOR
CLARIFICATION.

13. ALL LUMBER TO HEMFIR fb = 1,000 PSI (SINGLE USE)
fb = 1,500 P.S.I. (REPETITIVE USE) E = 1,400,000
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

14. ALL LUMBER TO BE FIRE RETARDANT TREATED.

BUILDING CODE ANALYSIS

THE FOLLOWING CODES ARE FOLLOWED BY THE VILLAGE
OF TINLEY PARK ILLINOIS FOR ALL BUILDING PROJECTS
AND WERE USED TO DESIGN THE ADDITION CONTAINED
HEREIN.
2012 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE WITH LOCAL AMENDMENTS
2012 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE WITH LOCAL AMENDMENTS
2014 NATIONAL ELECTRICAL CODE (NFPA 70)
STATE OF ILLINOIS PLUMBING CODE 2014 EDITION
2012 PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE WITH LOCAL AMENDMENTS
2012 INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE
2015 INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE

CERTIFICATION:
I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THESE DRAWINGS
HAVE  BEEN PREPARED UNDER MY DIRECT
SUPERVISION,  AND WHEN THE WORK IS DONE
IN ACCORDANCE  WITH THEM, IT WILL, TO THE
BEST OF MY  KNOWLEDGE AND BELIEF,
COMPLY WITH ALL  APPLICABLE VILLAGE OF
TINLEY PARK CODES, ORDINANCES AND THE
LAWS OF  THE STATE OF ILLINOIS.

PAUL C. HARDISON, ARCHITECT
ILLINOIS REGISTRATION NO.
001-018947 EXPIRATION: NOVEMBER
30, 2020

Paul Hardison, NCARB, LEED AP
10511 W. HILLCREST DRIVE

PALOS PARK, ILLINOIS 
60464-2216

708-567-8752
paul@hardisn.com

001-018947
HARDISON

PAUL C.

DERETSI

GE
R

ARCHITE
CT

DATE NOTE APPROVED

DATE:

SCALE:

CHECKED BY:

DRAWN BY:

JOB NO:

SHEET NO:

TAG

C  COPYRIGHT 2014

As indicated

En English
Garden
Apartment

A101

16800 Oak Park Ave.
Tinley Park, IL

2019-0009

Author

Issue Date

PLANS, DETAILS AND
NOTES

1/4" = 1'-0"1 PARTIAL FIRST FLOOR PLAN
1/4" = 1'-0"2 SECOND FLOOR PLAN

12" = 1'-0"3 DEMOLITION NOTES

1" = 1'-0"4 WALL TYPE DETAILS

12" = 1'-0"5 GENERAL NOTES
12" = 1'-0"6 CODES USED

12" = 1'-0"7 architectural certification

Page | 310AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 311AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 312AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 313AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 314AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: January 28, 2020

To: Board of Trustees and Mayor 
David Niemeyer, Village Manager 

From: Daniel Ritter, Senior Planner

Subject: Parking Use and Maintenance Agreement at 16800 Oak Park Avenue

Background:
The subject site is located adjacent to 
16800 Oak Park Avenue, which is 
owned and operated by An English 
Garden Florist and Gifts. There are ten 
(10) on-street parking spaces on the 
north side of the building along an 
area of dedicated right-of-way 
(R.O.W.) The R.O.W. is aligned with 
what would be an extension of 168th 
Street. However, there are no current 
or future plans for a public street to be 
constructed at this location. The 
property has historically utilized this 
parking to meet its parking 
requirements. The businesses to the 
north also utilize the north side of this 
R.O.W. for parking. A Parking Use 
and Maintenance Agreement was last 
entered into in 2014 with the previous 
owner. This agreement was part of a 
negotiation with the Village to help 
the property owner meet parking requirements and best utilize a R.O.W. that only serves two private commercial 
lots. 

The agreement allows the owner of the property and its tenants the non-exclusive use of the parking along with 
accepting maintenance responsibilities of the parking area (including snow plowing, pavement striping, and 
landscaping).  With the transfer of ownership, a new agreement is required. A similar agreement was recently 
approved for the Veterinary Clinic at 17745-17749 Oak Park Avenue.

Plan Commission Discussion/ Recommendation:
The property was previously a standalone commercial property and the new owner has decided to pursue a mixed-
use building with An English Garden located on the ground floor commercial and apartment on the second floor. 
To convert a Heritage Site to a mixed-use building, a special use is required to be approved by the Village Board. 
A Public Hearing was held on January 16, 2020 where the Plan Commission voted 8-0 to recommend to the 
Village Board approval of the requested Special Use with the understanding a parking lease would be approved 
simultaneously.

Page | 315AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Village Board Request:  
Consider entering into a Parking Lease and Maintenance Agreement with An English Garden, LLC to permit on-
street parking along the south side of the 168th Street right-of-way located at 16800 Oak Park Avenue in the NG 
(Neighborhood General) Zoning District.

Page | 316AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION
NO. 2020-R-009 

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A PARKING USE AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN AN ENGLISH GARDEN, LLC AND THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16800 OAK PARK AVENUE

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

_____________________________________________________________________________________
Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park

Page | 317AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

RESOLUTION NO. 2020-R-009

A RESOLUTION APPROVING A PARKING USE AND MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN AN ENGLISH GARDEN, LLC AND THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK FOR 

PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16800 OAK PARK AVENUE

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois provides 
that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, and the Village of 
Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 25,000 is, therefore, a home 
rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article VII, may exercise any power and 
perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, including, but not limited to, the power to 
tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”), have 
considered entering into an Agreement with the An English Garden, LLC, a true and correct copy of 
such Parking Use and Maintenance Agreement being attached hereto and made a part hereof as 
EXHIBIT 1; and

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, 
Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interests of said Village of Tinley Park that said Agreement 
be entered into by the Village of Tinley Park; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the President and Board of Trustees of the 
Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, as follows:

Section 1: The Preambles hereto are hereby made a part of, and operative provisions of, this 
Resolution as fully as if completely repeated at length herein.

Section 2: That this President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park hereby 
find that it is in the best interests of the Village of Tinley Park and its residents that the aforesaid 
"Agreement” be entered into and executed by said Village of Tinley Park, with said Agreement to be 
substantially in the form attached hereto and made a part hereof as EXHIBIT 1, subject to review and 
revision as to form by the Village Attorney.

Section 3: That the President and Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois are hereby authorized to execute for and on behalf of said Village of Tinley Park the 
aforesaid Agreement.

Page | 318AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Section 4: That this Resolution shall take effect from and after its adoption and approval.
ADOPTED this 4th day of February, 2020, by the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park 
on a roll call vote as follows:

AYES:

NAYS:

ABSENT:

APPROVED this 4th day of February, 2020, by the President of the Village of Tinley Park.

                                                   
 Village President

ATTEST:
___________________________

     Village Clerk

Page | 319AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



EXHIBIT 1

Page | 320AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )

COUNTY OF COOK ) SS

COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

     I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook and Will 

and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct copy of 

Resolution No. 2020-R-009, “A RESOLUTION APPROVING A PARKING USE AND 

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT BETWEEN AN ENGLISH GARDEN, LLC AND THE VILLAGE OF 

TINLEY PARK FOR PROPERTY LOCATED AT 16800 OAK PARK AVENUE” which was adopted by 

the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of the 

Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________

KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK 

Page | 321AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



PARKING LICENSE AND MAINTENANCE LICENSE AGREEMENT

This Parking License and Maintenance Agreement (“License Agreement”) is made on 
_____ ___, 2019, by and between An English Garden, LLC an Illinois limited liability company, 
d/b/a An English Garden (“An English Garden”) and the Village of Tinley Park (“Village”) an 
Illinois municipal corporation duly organized and existing under the laws of the state of Illinois 
(collectively “Party” or “Parties). 

RECITALS

WHEREAS, said An English Garden is the record owner of certain real property that is 
the subject of this License Agreement (“Subject Property”) described as follows: 

Legal Description:

Lot 1 in Block 6 in Elmore's Oak Park Avenue Estates, being a Subdivision of the Northwest 
fractional 1A of Section 9, Township 36 North, Range 13, East of the Third Principal Meridian 
(except that part of the drainage ditch conveyed by Document Number 377150), according to the 
plat thereof recorded April 25, 1929 as Document Number 10351098, in Cook County, Illinois.

PIN: 28-30-107-007-0000

Commonly known as:  16800 Oak Park Avenue, Tinley Park, Illinois

WHEREAS, said An English Garden currently operates a florist and retail store at the 
Subject Property; and 

WHEREAS, the Village owns a strip of land, which is utilized as a paved parking area, 
immediately north of the Subject Property and immediately south of the 168th Street/Tinley Park 
Drive extension (“North Lot”), described in the attached Exhibit A; and 

WHEREAS, the An English Garden is among the primary beneficiary of the North Lot and 
said An English Garden requires the associated parking spaces to meet the minimum parking 
requirements as described in the Zoning Ordinance; and  

WHEREAS, said An English Garden shall be liable for the continued maintenance and 
care of the North Lot in exchange for the Village’s promise to allow the Business to utilize the 
parking spaces on the North Lot; and 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and obligations contained 
herein and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby 
acknowledged, Village and An English Garden agree as follows: 

Page | 322AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION ONE
PARKING USE LICENSE AGREEMENT

The Village hereby grants to An English Garden and its respective agents, employees, business 
invitees, and the general public, a non-exclusive license to use the North Lot for parking motor 
vehicles. An English Garden shall not restrict, in any way, the right of the general public to use 
the parking spaces located on the North Lot. 

The Village may state the hours of use granted by this License Agreement on signs erected 
pursuant to its authority to regulate traffic and parking along the Village’s roadways.

SECTION TWO
TERM

The Term of this License Agreement will commence on ______ ___, 2019, and will 
continue for as long as the An English Garden owns the Subject Property, provided no Party is in 
breach of this License Agreement, the Village is enforcing the parking restrictions contained 
herein, and  

SECTION THREE
ASSIGNMENT 

This License Agreement shall not be assigned unless specifically approved in writing by 
the Village. This License Agreement will automatically cease and terminate on the sale, 
conveyance, transfer or other disposition of the Subject Property. 

SECTION FOUR
ALTERATIONS

An English Garden shall not make any alterations, changes, or additions in or to the North 
Lot unless and until the written consent of the Village has been approved in writing by the Village 
Board of Trustees. 

SECTION FIVE 
MAINTENANCE

Except to the extent caused by the Village’s negligence or willful and wanton conduct, An 
English Garden, at their sole cost and expense, shall maintain and repair the North Lot, including 
but not limited to resurfacing, repaving, striping, and curb repair, if applicable, removing snow, 
ice and other debris from the North Lot; and otherwise taking the reasonable and necessary and 
appropriate measures to keep the North Lot in a clean, attractive, safe, unobstructed, good and 
usable condition. 

Page | 323AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION SIX 
COMPLIANCE WITH LAW

Each party will at its own expense comply with all federal, state, and local laws now or 
later in force which may be applicable to An English Garden’s operation in the Village. An English 
Garden will obtain and pay for all permits, licenses, and other authorizations which may be 
required for its activities contemplated by this License Agreement. 

SECTION SEVEN
WAIVER

No waiver by any Party of any default on the part of any Party in the performance of any 
of the terms, covenants, or conditions of this License Agreement to be performed, kept, or observed 
by the defaulting Party shall be or be construed to be a waiver by the non-defaulting Party or any 
other subsequent default in the performance of any terms, covenants, or conditions of this License 
Agreement to be performed, kept or observed by the defaulting Party. 

SECTION EIGHT
TERMINATION 

The Village shall have the right, upon thirty (30) days prior written notice to An English 
Garden to terminate or modify the rights granted pursuant to this License Agreement as necessary 
to facilitate the expansion, improvement, beautification, or removal of the Right-of-Way or the 
North Lot; provided, however, should the Village so modify the rights granted to An English 
Garden pursuant to this License Agreement, An English Garden shall have the right to terminate 
this License Agreement within thirty (30) days of the Village’s written notice of such termination 
or modification. 

SECTION NINE
AMENDMENT

This License Agreement may be modified or amended in whole or in part only by a written 
instrument executed by the Parties. 

SECTION TEN 
ENTIRE LICENSE AGREEMENT 

This License Agreement and the exhibits to this License Agreement contain all the 
representations and the entire agreement between the Parties with respect to the subject matter of 
this License Agreement. Any prior correspondence, memoranda, or agreements are superseded in 
total by this License Agreement and the exhibits to this License Agreement. No Party has relied 
on any representations, written or verbal, of any other Party other than those express written 
representations made within this License Agreement. 

Page | 324AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION ELEVEN 
INDEMNIFICATION 

An English Garden shall hold harmless, defend and indemnify the Village, its Board 
Members, officers, agents, and employees, from and against any liability, claim, action, cost, 
damage or loss, including reasonable costs and attorneys’ fees, for injury, including death, to any 
person or damage to any property arising out of An English Garden’s activities under this License 
Agreement. This indemnification obligation shall also apply to the three-car frame garage that 
illegally encroaches up to 5.52 feet into the Village’s right-of-way property. This Section in no 
way grants building or zoning approvals for the non-conforming garage. This obligation shall 
continue beyond the term of this License Agreement to any act or omission which occurred during 
or under this License Agreement. This indemnification obligation is not limited in any way by any 
limitation on the amount or type of damages or compensation payable to or for An English Garden 
or its employees or agents under workers’ compensation acts, disability benefit acts, or other 
employee benefit acts. 

SECTION TWELVE 
LICENSE ONLY/RECORDATION 

This License Agreement may be recorded in the public records. Notwithstanding anything 
contained herein to the contrary, this License Agreement is intended to  create  only license rights 
with use of the North Lot and no agency, partnership, joint venture, lease, tenancy, leasehold  or  
other  right  or  interest  of  any  kind  or  nature  (other  than  a  license)  is  created  or conferred 
pursuant to this License Agreement. 

SECTION THIRTEEN
TAX EXEMPTION 

The North Lot is currently exempt from real estate taxes. The Parties intend that the North 
Lot remain tax exempt. The Village shall continue to take the necessary actions to retain the tax-
exempt status. However, shall the North Lot lose the tax-exempt status because of this License 
Agreement, An English Garden shall be jointly and severally liable for any taxes imposed. 

Page | 325AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION FOURTEEN
NOTICE

All notices and other communications shall be in writing and shall be deemed properly 
served if delivered in person to the party to whom it is addressed two (2) days after deposit in the 
U. S. mail if sent postage prepaid by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt 
requested, addressed as follows: 

All notices to the Village of Tinley Park shall be sent to:

Village Manager
Village of Tinley Park
16250 South Oak Park Avenue
Tinley Park, Illinois 60477

All notices to Grantor shall be sent to:

An English Garden
Attn: Kim McAuliffe
16800 Oak Park Avenue
Tinley Park, Illinois 60477

or to such other address as a Party may designate for itself by notice given from time to 
time to the other Party in the manner provided herein. 

SECTION FIFTEEN
EXHIBITS

All exhibits attached hereto are incorporated by reference and made a part of this License 
Agreement. 

(Signature pages follow)

Page | 326AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this License Agreement on the day 
and year written below.

VILLAGE:

THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK

By:  _________________________

Its:  _________________________

Date: ________________________

AN ENGLISH GARDEN:

AN ENGLISH GARDEN, LLC

By: _______________________________

Its:  _______________________________

Date:  _____________________________

STATE OF ILLINOIS
COUNTY OF COOK
COUNTY OF WILL

I, the undersigned, a Notary Public in and for Cook and Will Counties, in the State of Illinois, do 
hereby CERTIFY THAT the _______________, is personally know to me be the same person 
whose name are subscribed to the foregoing instrument, appeared before me this day in person, 
and acknowledged that they signed, sealed, and delivered that said instrument as their free and 
voluntary act, for the uses and purposes therein set forth, including the release and waiver of the 
right of Homestead. 

Given under my hand and official seal, this _____ day ______________, 2019. 

______________________________________

(Notary Public) 

Page | 327AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Exhibit A

Page | 328AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois 
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE
NO. 2020-O-007

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A MASONRY VARIATION FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY 
AT 17305 68TH COURT

JACOB C. VANDENBERG, PRESIDENT
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

CYNTHIA A. BERG
WILLIAM P. BRADY

WILLIAM A. BRENNAN
DIANE M. GALANTE
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ

MICHAEL G. MUELLER
Board of Trustees

Published in pamphlet form by authority of the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park
Peterson, Johnson, & Murray Chicago, LLC, Village Attorneys

200 W. Adams, Suite 2125 Chicago, IL 60606
 

Page | 329AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK
Cook County, Illinois
Will County, Illinois

ORDINANCE NO. 2020-O-007

AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A MASONRY VARIATION FOR CERTAIN 
PROPERTY AT 17305 68TH COURT

WHEREAS, Section 6(a) of Article VII of the 1970 Constitution of the State of Illinois 
provides that any municipality which has a population of more than 25,000 is a home rule unit, 
and the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will Counties, Illinois, with a population in excess of 
25,000 is, therefore, a home rule unit and, pursuant to the provisions of said Section 6(a) of Article 
VII, may exercise any power and perform any function pertaining to its government and affairs, 
including, but not limited to, the power to tax and to incur debt; and

WHEREAS, a petition for the granting of a certain variation (“Variation”) to permit the 
construction of a new single family home without required first-floor masonry at 17305 68th Court 
(“Subject Property”) has been filed by Mark Weber (“Owner” and “Petitioner”) with the Village 
Clerk of this Village and has been referred to the Zoning Board of Appeals and has been processed 
in accordance with the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance; and   

WHEREAS, the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals (“ZBA”) held a Public 
Hearing on the question of whether the Variation should be granted on January 23, 2020, at the 
Village Hall of this Village, at which time all persons present were afforded an opportunity to be 
heard; and 

WHEREAS, public notice in the form required by law was given of said Public Hearing 
by publication not more than thirty (30) days nor less than fifteen (15) days prior to said Public 
Hearing in the Daily Southtown, a newspaper of general circulation within the Village of Tinley 
Park; and  

WHEREAS, after hearing testimony on the petition, the ZBA found that the petition met 
the requisite standards enumerated in the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance for granting the Variations 
and voted 4-0 to recommend to the Village President and Board of Trustees for the approval of the 
Variations with conditions; and  

WHEREAS, the Corporate Authorities of the Village of Tinley Park, Cook and Will 
Counties, Illinois, have determined that it is in the best interest of the Village of Tinley Park and 
its residents to approve said Variations; and  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF 
TRUSTEES OF THE VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, 
ILLINOIS, STATE AS FOLLOWS:

Page | 330AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 1: The foregoing recitals shall be and are hereby incorporated as findings of fact as if 
said recitals were fully set forth herein. 

SECTION 2: That the report and findings and recommendations of the ZBA provided herein are 
incorporated as the findings of this President and the Board of Trustees, as complete and fully set 
forth herein at length. This Board finds that the Petitioner has provided evidence establishing that 
he has met the standards for granting the Variations as set forth in Section X.G.4 of the Zoning 
Ordinance, and the proposed granting of the Variations as set forth herein are in the public good 
and in the best interest of the Village and its residents and are consistent with and fosters the 
purpose and spirit of the Tinley Park Zoning Ordinance.

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.

 While the property can yield a reasonable return while meeting the code, the 
cost and design style of the structure are compromised if the code requirements 
were to be met.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.
 This is an “in-fill” development and the only vacant lot on the block.  The 

unique circumstance is that the owner must construct a new home that is 
compatible with the neighborhood. The proposed design is compatible with the 
surrounding neighborhood’s existing exterior materials and architecture. The 
proposed materials (fiber cement board) is a high-quality and highly durable 
material.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
 The existing neighborhood has a large mix of architectural styles and exterior 

building materials. The proposed materials fit in with the existing neighborhood 
and the design and quality of the home is not harmed by the lack of masonry.

4. Additionally, the Zoning Board of Appeals also considered the extent to which the 
following facts are favorable to the Petitioner based on the established evidence:

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the 
specific property involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as 
distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were 
carried out;

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be 
applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property;

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, 
or by a previous owner;

Page | 331AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or 
injurious to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the 
property is located; and

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an 
adjacent property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or 
increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish 
or impair property values within the neighborhood.

SECTION 3: The Special Use Permit set forth herein below shall be applicable to the following 
described property:

LEGAL DESCRIPTION: LOT 1 (EXCEPT THE SOUTH 5 FEET THEREOF) IN BLOCK 3 
IN CHRISTIAN ANDRES’ SUBDIVISION OF A PART OF THE SOUTH HALF OF LOT 1 OF 
THE SOUTHWEST QUARTER OF SECTION 30, TOWNSHIP 36 NORTH, RANGE 13 EAST 
OF THE THIRD PRINCIPAL MERIDIAN, IN COOK COUNTY, ILLINOIS.

PARCEL IDENTIFICATION NUMBER: 28-30-308-022-0000

COMMONLY KNOWN AS:  17305 68th Court, Tinley Park, Illinois

SECTION 4: That a Variation allowing for the construction of a single-family home without the 
required first-floor masonry at the Subject Property be hereby granted in accordance with 
submitted plans and subject to the following conditions:

1. The project subject to review and approval of the Final Engineering and Grading Plans by 
the Village Engineer prior to issuance of any building permits.

2. If any public utility or drainage easements are determined to be required by the Village 
Engineer, such easements shall be recorded prior to issuance of any building permits.

3. A public sidewalk the width of the lot shall be proposed on the Final Engineering and 
Grading Plans and shall be installed per Village standards prior to occupancy.

SECTION 5: Any policy, resolution, or ordinance of the Village that conflicts with the provisions 
of this Ordinance shall be and is hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

SECTION 6: That this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its adoption and 
approval. 

Page | 332AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



SECTION 7: That the Village Clerk is hereby ordered and directed to publish this Ordinance in 
pamphlet form, and this Ordinance shall be in full force and effect from and after its passage, 
approval, and publication as required by law. 

PASSED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

AYES: 

NAYS: 

ABSENT: 

APPROVED THIS 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
               VILLAGE PRESIDENT

ATTEST:
__________________________________
                VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 333AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



STATE OF ILLINOIS )
COUNTY OF COOK ) SS
COUNTY OF WILL )

CERTIFICATE

I, KRISTIN A. THIRION, Village Clerk of the Village of Tinley Park, Counties of Cook 

and Will and State of Illinois, DO HEREBY CERTIFY that the foregoing is a true and correct 

copy of Ordinance No. 2020-O-007, “AN ORDINANCE GRANTING A MASONRY 

VARIATION FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY AT 17305 68TH COURT,” which was adopted by 

the President and Board of Trustees of the Village of Tinley Park on February 4, 2020. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand and affixed the corporate seal of 

the Village of Tinley Park this 4th day of February, 2020.

____________________________________
KRISTIN A. THIRION, VILLAGE CLERK

Page | 334AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 335AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 336AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 337AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 338AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 339AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 340AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 341AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 342AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



January 23, 2020 – Public Hearing 
 
Mark Weber – Masonry/Brick Variation 

17305 68th Court 

  
 

 

The Petitioner, Mark Weber (Property Owner), is requesting a masonry Variation from 

Section V.C.4.B. of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a new residential home to be 

constructed without required first floor masonry on the property at 17305 68th Court in 

the R-4, Single-Family Residential, zoning district. 

 

The Village Board adopted code changes that moved the masonry requirements from the 

Building Code to the Zoning Ordinance in December 2019. The commercial masonry 

requirements were revised to maintain high architectural standards, but to allow for some 

additional flexibility and remain competitive with developers. Residential masonry 

requirements were maintained at the previously existing level, which requires face brick, 

stone, or similar masonry products to be installed on the first floor of all residential 

buildings. 

 

The Petitioner is proposing to construct a new house on a vacant lot. They have requested 

the Variation due to the intended architectural style and the neighborhood’s varying use 

of residential building materials on existing homes. The home is located in an older area 

near the downtown that was part of the original Village boundaries. The home is expected 

to meet the Zoning Ordinance in all other areas. 

  

 
 
 
 
 
 
Petitioner 

Mark Weber (Owner) 

 

Property Location 

17305 68th Court 

 

PIN 

28-30-308-022-0000 

 

Zoning 

R-4, Single-Family 

Residential 

 

Approval Sought 

Variation 

 

 

 

 

 

Project Planner 

Daniel Ritter, AICP 

Senior Planner 
 

Page | 343AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 2 of 10 

 
The subject lot located at 17305 

68th Court is 13,650 square feet 

in size (65 ft. wide and 210 ft. 

deep). While that is not the 

current method of lot division or 

property transfer required by 

the Subdivision Code, it was 

commonly completed 

previously. The existing lot 

complies with all lot bulk (size, 

width, depth) requirements as 

listed in the Zoning Ordinance. 

The lot is currently Vacant with 

three trees existing on the property.  

 

The home is located in an older area near the downtown that was part of the original 1892 Village of Tinley Park 

(Bremen) boundaries. The lots are relatively narrow and long compared to more modern subdivisions. Homes in this 

area vary greatly in age, size, architectural style, and building materials due to a number of lot redevelopments over 

the years. 

 
The Village Board adopted code changes that moved the masonry requirements from the Building Code to the Zoning 

Ordinance in December 2019. The commercial masonry requirements were revised to maintain high architectural 

standards, but to allow for some additional flexibility and remain competitive with commercial developers, particularly 

larger industrial buildings. Residential masonry requirements were maintained at the previously existing level, which 

requires face brick, stone, or similar masonry products to be installed on the first floor of all residential buildings.  

 

Previously, all “masonry waivers” went to the Community Development Committee since it was under the purview of 

the Comprehensive Building Code. Since masonry and exterior architectural requirements are now located in the 

Zoning Ordinance, a Variation of the masonry requirements is reviewed by the ZBA or Plan Commission depending 

on the circumstance. If the request is not associated with an item that Plan Commission must review, then the ZBA 

reviews this request. The Plan Commission Staff Report explaining these changes is attached for background and 

reference. The Residential Masonry Requirements are located in Zoning Code Section V.C.4.B.: 

  

“In all single-family detached, single-family attached, townhomes, and in all single-family semi-detached dwellings, exterior 

walls shall be constructed of face brick, decorative stone, or other approved masonry products as defined herein. Said 

construction shall commence from the finished grade and shall extend to the uppermost portion of the first story of such 

dwellings.” 

 

The properties to the north, south, and west are all zoned R-4, Single-Family Residential and have existing single-

family homes located on them. Shown below are images of adjacent single-family properties that are referenced on 

the map. The properties to the east are located in the Downtown Core (DC) of the Legacy District and adjacent to Oak 

Park Avenue. The property directly east is currently the location of Electric Blue Entertainment DJ services.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

68
th

 C
t 

Page | 344AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 3 of 10 

 

The Petitioner is proposing to construct a new single-family home with the majority of the exterior utilizing fiber 

cement board siding (i.e. Hardie Board) and architectural shingles at the roof peaks. A small portion of the front façade 

will utilize a stone material around the base of the structure that will cover approximately 5% of the exterior. The 

stone is only proposed to be installed approximately 2.5 feet in height to the bottom of the first floor window sills and 

only on the front façade. The Petitioner has indicated they are looking to create a “Craftsman” style house that does 

not traditionally utilize large amounts of brick. 

 

The traditional Standards for a Variation are difficult to apply in regards to Variations that concern architectural design. 

While there are no specific standards set for residential architectural requests, it is useful to look at the context of the 

neighborhood similar to some of the standards set for commercial architectural plan reviews. The three most relevant 

standards used are listed below: 

 

a. Compatible Architecture – Is the new structure and proposed materials compatible with neighboring 

properties and the surrounding neighborhood’s existing housing stock? 

 

b. Proposed Building Materials – Are the proposed materials of high-quality and durability? Do the proposed 

materials negatively affect the homes attractiveness or future marketability? 

 

c. Cohesive Building Design – Do the proposed materials compliment the style and design of the home, or do 

they detract compared to alternative materials? Do the proposed exterior materials compliment the 

architectural design and create natural breaks within the façade to transition between materials? 

 

The standard the Village’s Community Development Committee has traditionally used is to review masonry Variations 

in context with the existing neighborhood’s architecture. This ensures the character and quality of materials within a 

neighborhood does not degrade over time and that new homes fit in with the existing neighborhood. It is important 

that the proposed architecture/building materials are not so incongruent with the existing architecture/building 

material that it devalues existing property. The goal should be that the new “in-fill” development is compatible with 

the neighborhood, enhances rather than detracts, and will maintain value over time. With the exception of the exterior 

masonry requirements, the proposed home is expected to comply with all other Zoning Ordinance requirements. 

 

The homes on this block are evenly split between siding and brick first-floor exteriors (15 siding, 13 brick). The 

architectural styles also vary greatly as they span more than a century of residential development. The Board may 

wish to discuss whether they are trying to maintain the integrity of the original character of the block or whether they 

wish to transition the neighborhood into a more modern masonry aesthetic. 
 

Page | 345AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 4 of 10 

 
Above: Map of surrounding area. Images of existing homes are shown with corresponding numbers below. 

 

1. 17271 68th Court (directly north) – This property was constructed in 2006 in compliance with the Masonry 

requirements. A side yard setback Variation was required to permit a 6.5 ft. setback (2005-O-070). 

 

Page | 346AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 5 of 10 

 

2. 17313 68th Court (directly south) – Vinyl siding home built in early 1910’s. 

 
 

3. 17308 68th Court (west) - All brick bungalow built around 1927. 

 

Page | 347AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 6 of 10 

 

4. 17302 68th Court (directly west) – First floor brick bungalow built around 1931 with vinyl siding second floor 

addition. 

 
 

5. 17270 68th Court (west) – Siding home built in 1964. 

 

Page | 348AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 7 of 10 

6. 17245 68th Court (north) – Approved Variation for reduced side yard setbacks (2001-O-062) and masonry 

waiver (Dec. 2000) to match with the Victorian Style home design. Constructed in 2002. 

 
 

7. 17267 68th Court – All brick bungalow built around 1932. 

 

Page | 349AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 8 of 10 

8. 17315 68th Court – All vinyl siding home built around 1945. 

 
 

 

 
The Applicant has requested a Variation of the masonry 

requirement stating that brick is not consistent with the proposed 

“Craftsman” style architecture. A quick review of Craftsman style 

homes supports this position that they predominately are not 

brick and use stone as an accent material.  The Zoning Board of 

Appeals (ZBA) can decide if the proposed architecture supports 

this request or whether the new home needs to comply with the 

masonry requirements as written and recommend denial of the 

request. 

 

As with all Variations, staff encourages Petitioners to meet the 

code requirements as closely as possible. The ZBA can also decide 

if an alternative solution is more suitable based on the particular 

situation and neighborhood context. If the petitioner agrees to a 

suggested alternative, the revised plans can be supplied at a 

following meeting or the overall design that is agreed upon can be included as a recommended condition of approval 

to avoid an additional meeting. 

 

Staff has identified an alternative option that more closely meets the Zoning Ordinance’s masonry requirements that 

the ZBA may wish to consider. The 2.5 feet high stone base proposed on the front façade can be wrapped around the 

entire first floor of the house to create a more uniform house on all sides. 

 

 

Craftsman style home 

Page | 350AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 9 of 10 

 

Section X.G.4. of the Zoning Ordinance states the Zoning Board of Appeals shall not recommend a Variation of the 

regulations of the Zoning Ordinance unless it shall have made Findings of Fact, based upon the evidence presented 

for each of the Standards for Variations listed below. The Zoning Board of Appeals must provide findings for the first 

three standards; the remaining standards are provided to help the Zoning Board of Appeals further analyze the 

request. Staff prepared draft responses for the Findings of Fact below, which indicate support for the request. If the 

Zoning Board wishes to recommend denial, alternative findings will need to be indicated.  

 

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under the 

conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located. 

 While the property can yield a reasonable return while meeting the code, the cost and design style 

of the structure are compromised if the code requirements were to be met. 

 

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances. 

 This is an “in-fill” development and the only vacant lot on the block.  The unique circumstance is 

that the owner must construct a new home that is compatible with the neighborhood. The proposed 

design is compatible with the surrounding neighborhood’s existing exterior materials and 

architecture. The proposed materials (fiber cement board) is a high-quality and highly durable 

material. 

 

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality. 

 The existing neighborhood has a large mix of architectural styles and exterior building materials. 

The proposed materials fit in with the existing neighborhood and the design and quality of the 

home is not harmed by the lack of masonry. 

 

4. Additionally, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall also, in making its determination whether there are 

practical difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to which the following facts 

favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence: 

 

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific property 

involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as distinguished from a mere 

inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were carried out; 

 

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be applicable, generally, 

to other property within the same zoning classification; 

 

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more money out of 

the property; 

 

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, or by a 

previous owner; 

 

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious to other 

property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is located; and 

 

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an adjacent property, 

or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or increase the danger of fire, or 

endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or impair property values within the 

neighborhood. 

Page | 351AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



17305 68th Ct, Masonry/Brick Variation – January 23, 2020 

 

Page 10 of 10 

 

If the Zoning Board of Appeals wishes to take action on the Petitioner’s request, the appropriate wording of the motion 

is listed below. The protocol for the writing of a motion is to write it in the affirmative so that a positive or negative 

recommendation correlates to the Petitioner’s proposal. By making a motion, it does not indicate a specific 

recommendation in support or against the plan. 

 

 “…make a motion to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Mark Weber, a Masonry 

Variation from Section V.C.4.B.  of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a new single-family home to be constructed 

without the required first floor masonry at the property located at 17305 68th Court in the R-4 (Single-Family 

Residential) zoning district consistent with the List of Submitted Plans attached herein and adopt Findings of 

Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report, subject to the following conditions: 

 

1. The project subject to review and approval of the Final Engineering and Grading Plans by the Village 

Engineer prior to issuance of any building permits. 

2. If any public utility or drainage easements are determined to be required by the Village Engineer, 

such easements shall be recorded prior to issuance of any building permits. 

3. A public sidewalk the width of the lot shall be proposed on the Final Engineering and Grading Plans 

and shall be installed per Village standards prior to occupancy.” 

 

[any conditions that the ZBA would like to add] 

 

 

 

Submitted Sheet Name Prepared By Date On Sheet 

Plat of Survey Landmark Eng. 5/3/2019 

Architectural Elevations and Floor Plans None Listed None Listed 

Responses to Standards for a Variations Petitioner 12/16/2019 

 

Page | 352AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
                            January 23, 2020        

Page 1 of 6

MINUTES OF THE REGULAR MEETING OF THE 
ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS, VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK, 
COOK AND WILL COUNTIES, ILLINOIS

January 23, 2020

 
The Regular Meeting of the Zoning Board of Appeals was held in the Council Chambers at the Village of 
Tinley Park, 16250 Oak Park Avenue on January 23, 2020 at 7:00 p.m.

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

ROLL CALL

Zoning Board Members: Steven Sepessy, Chairman
Robert Paszczyk
Donald Bettenhausen 
James Fritts

Absent Zoning Board Members: Jennifer Vargas
Kellie Schuch

Village Officials and Staff: Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 

CALL TO ORDER

ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS CHAIRMAN, STEVEN SEPESSY called to order the Regular Meeting 
of the Zoning Board of Appeals on January 23, 2020 at 7:00 p.m. 

COMMUNICATIONS

None

APPROVAL OF MINUTES

Minutes of the October 10, 2019 Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting was presented for approval. A Motion 
was made by ZONING BOARD MEMBER PASZCZYK, seconded by ZONING BOARD MEMBER 
BETTENHAUSEN, to approve the Minutes as presented. The Motion was approved by voice call.   
CHAIRMAN SEPESSY declared the Minutes approved.

Page | 353AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
                            January 23, 2020        

Page 2 of 6

TO: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK PRESIDENT AND BOARD OF TRUSTEES

FROM: VILLAGE OF TINLEY PARK ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS

SUBJECT: MINUTES OF THE JANUARY 23, 2020 REGULAR MEETING OF THE ZONING 
BOARD OF APPEALS

Item #1 PUBLIC HEARING:  MARK WEBER – 17305 68TH COURT 
MASONRY VARIATION 
The Petitioner, Mark Weber (Property Owner), is seeking a Masonry Variation from 
Section V.C.4.B. of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a new residential home to be 
constructed without the first-floor masonry requirement on the property at 17305 68th Court 
in the R-4 (Single-Family Residential) zoning district.

Board Members: Steven Sepessy, Chairman
Robert Paszczyk
Donald Bettenhausen 
James Fritts

Absent Zoning Board Members: Jennifer Vargas
Kellie Schuch

Village Officials and Staff: Dan Ritter, Senior Planner
Barbara Bennett, Commission Secretary 

Guests: Mark Weber, Petitioner

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER BETTENHAUSEN, seconded by COMMISSIONER 
PASZCZYK, to open the Public Hearing for Mark Weber (Property Owner), seeking a Masonry Variation. 
The Motion was approved by voice call. CHAIRMAN SEPESSY declared the Motion approved. 

CHAIRMAN SEPESSY noted that Village Staff provided confirmation that appropriate notice regarding 
the Public Hearing was published in the local newspaper in accordance with State law and Village policy.

CHAIRMAN SEPESSY requested anyone present in the audience who wished to give testimony, comment, 
engage in cross-examination, or ask questions during the Hearing stand and be sworn in. CHAIRMAN 
SEPESSY swore the petitioner and members of the public in.

Dan Ritter, Senior Planner gave a presentation as noted in the Staff Report. The Petitioner is requesting a 
Masonry Variation from Section V.C.4.B. of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a new residential home to be 
constructed without required first floor masonry on the property at 17305 68th Court in the R-4, Single-
Family Residential, zoning district.

The Petitioner is proposing to construct a new house on a vacant lot that is 13,650 square feet in size (65 ft. 
wide and 210 ft. deep).  They have requested the Variation due to the intended architectural style and the 
neighborhood’s varying use of residential building materials on existing homes.  The home is located in an 
older area near the downtown that was near the original 1892 Village boundaries.  The home is expected to 

Page | 354AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
                            January 23, 2020        

Page 3 of 6

meet the Zoning Ordinance in all other areas. The homes in this area vary greatly in their age, size, 
architectural style, and building materials due to a number of lot redevelopments of the years.  

The subject property is zoned R-4, Single-family Residential.  The properties to the north, south and west 
are all zoned R-4, Single-Family Residential and have existing single-family homes located on them.  The 
properties to the east are located in the Downtown Core (DC) of the Legacy District and adjacent to Oak 
Park Avenue.  The property directly east is currently the location of Electric Blue Entertainment DJ services.  

The Petitioner is proposing to construct a new single-family home with the majority of the exterior utilizing 
fiber cement board siding and architectural shingles at the roof peaks.  A small portion of the front façade 
will utilize a stone material around the base of the structure that will cover approximately 5% of the exterior.  
The stone is only proposed to be installed approximately 2.5 feet in the height to the bottom of the first 
floor window sills and only on the front façade.  The Petitioner has indicated they are looking to create a 
“Craftsman” style house that does not traditionally utilize large amount of brick.  

Mr. Ritter displayed the front, rear, and side elevations of the proposed home.  Mr. Ritter also displayed 
photos of neighboring homes. The homes on this block are evenly split between siding and brick first-floor 
exteriors (15 siding, 13 brick). The architectural styles also vary greatly as they span more than a century 
of residential development.  

Mr. Ritter went through the three most relevant considerations as listed for Commercial Architectural 
Review:

a. Compatible Architecture – Is the new structure and proposed materials compatible with 
neighboring properties and the surrounding neighborhood’s existing housing stock?

b. Proposed Building Materials – Are the proposed materials of high-quality and durability? Do the 
proposed materials negatively affect the homes attractiveness or future marketability?

c. Cohesive Building Design – Do the proposed materials compliment the style and design of the 
home, or do they detract compared to alternative materials? Do the proposed exterior materials 
compliment the architectural design and create natural breaks within the façade to transition 
between materials?

The standard the Village’s Community Development Committee has traditionally used is to review masonry 
Variations in context with the existing neighborhood’s architecture. This ensures the character and quality 
of materials within a neighborhood does not degrade over time and that new homes fit in with the existing 
neighborhood. It is important that the proposed architecture/building materials are not so incongruent with 
the existing architecture/building material that it devalues existing property. The goal should be that the 
new “in-fill” development is compatible with the neighborhood, enhances rather than detracts, and will 
maintain value over time. With the exception of the exterior masonry requirements, the proposed home is 
expected to comply with all other Zoning Ordinance requirements.

CHAIRMAN SEPESSY asked for questions from the Commissioners.

COMMISSIONER PASZCZYK inquired if this is a single-family home and if the Fire Department would 
review this permit.  Mr. Ritter replied it is a single-family home and the Fire Department would not review 
this permit regarding the exterior and interior materials.   

COMMISSIONER PASZCZYK also inquired as to what a Craftsman Style home is.  Mr. Ritter replied 
that the Petitioner would explain it.  

CHAIRMAN SEPESSY asked for comments from the Petitioner, Mr. Weber.  

Page | 355AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
                            January 23, 2020        

Page 4 of 6

Mr. Mark Weber introduced himself and his wife Christine and his daughter Chloe. He noted he has 4 
children and has lived in Tinley Park for 17 years. With seven people in their current Cape Cod home, he 
noted they are outgrowing it. They have had their eye on this lot for about three years, due to being close 
to the downtown area and the train station. The Craftsman Style is a lot of natural materials, like wood and 
stone.  In going way back on the architectural style, it would utilize things they could easily find to use on 
the building. Brick is generally not shown on a Craftsman Style home for that reason. We will be using a 
fire retardant cement fiber siding on the exterior. This product has a high fire rating and will not ignite. We 
want to fit in the charm of the neighborhood with some of the homes shown from 1910s.

Mr. Ritter noted if the home was in the Legacy District they are adjacent to on Oak Park Avenue, he could 
build a home with all fiber cement siding.  This neighborhood has a lot of charm like the Legacy District.  

Mr. Ritter noted the Standards for Variation:

1. The property in question cannot yield a reasonable return if permitted to be used only under 
the conditions allowed by the regulations in the district in which it is located.
 While the property can yield a reasonable return while meeting the code, the cost and 

design style of the structure are compromised if the code requirements were to be met.

2. The plight of the owner is due to unique circumstances.
 This is an “in-fill” development and the only vacant lot on the block.  The unique 

circumstance is that the owner must construct a new home that is compatible with the 
neighborhood. The proposed design is compatible with the surrounding 
neighborhood’s existing exterior materials and architecture. The proposed materials 
(fiber cement board) is a high-quality and highly durable material.

3. The Variation, if granted, will not alter the essential character of the locality.
 The existing neighborhood has a large mix of architectural styles and exterior building 

materials. The proposed materials fit in with the existing neighborhood and the design 
and quality of the home is not harmed by the lack of masonry.

4. Additionally, the Zoning Board of Appeals shall also, in making its determination whether 
there are practical difficulties or particular hardships, take into consideration the extent to 
which the following facts favorable to the Petitioner have been established by the evidence:

a. The particular physical surroundings, shape, or topographical condition of the specific 
property involved would result in a particular hardship upon the owner, as 
distinguished from a mere inconvenience, if the strict letter of the regulations were 
carried out;

b. The conditions upon which the petition for a Variation is based would not be 
applicable, generally, to other property within the same zoning classification;

c. The purpose of the Variation is not based exclusively upon a desire to make more 
money out of the property;

d. The alleged difficulty or hardship has not been created by the owner of the property, 
or by a previous owner;

Page | 356AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
                            January 23, 2020        

Page 5 of 6

e. The granting of the Variation will not be detrimental to the public welfare or injurious 
to other property or improvements in the neighborhood in which the property is 
located; and

f. The proposed Variation will not impair an adequate supply of light and air to an 
adjacent property, or substantially increase the congestion in the public streets, or 
increase the danger of fire, or endanger the public safety, or substantially diminish or 
impair property values within the neighborhood.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER PASZCZYK, seconded by COMMISSIONER 
BETTENHAUSEN, to close the Public Hearing for Mark Weber (Property Owner), seeking a Masonry 
Variation. The Motion was approved by voice call. CHAIRMAN SEPESSY declared the Motion approved.

A Motion was made by COMMISSIONER BETTENHAUSEN, seconded by COMMISSIONER FRITTS 
to recommend that the Village Board grant the Petitioner, Mark Weber, a Masonry Variation from Section 
V.C.4.B.  of the Zoning Ordinance to permit a new single-family home to be constructed without the 
required first floor masonry at the property located at 17305 68th Court in the R-4 (Single-Family 
Residential) zoning district consistent with the List of Submitted Plans attached herein and adopt Findings 
of Fact as proposed by Village Staff in the Staff Report, subject to the following conditions:

1. The project subject to review and approval of the Final Engineering and Grading Plans by the 
Village Engineer prior to issuance of any building permits.

2. If any public utility or drainage easements are determined to be required by the Village 
Engineer, such easements shall be recorded prior to issuance of any building permits.

3. A public sidewalk the width of the lot shall be proposed on the Final Engineering and Grading 
Plans and shall be installed per Village standards prior to occupancy.”

AYES:  PASZCZYK, FRITTS, BETTENHAUSEN & CHAIRMAN SEPESSY

NAYS:  NONE

CHAIRMAN SEPESSY declared the Motion unanimously approved.

This will be heard by the Village Board on February 4, 2020

GOOD OF THE ORDER:  

Mr. Ritter noted:

1. The last ZBA review was Mr. Akram at 16440 84th Avenue for the rear yard setback for the screen 
porch.  It was approved by the Village Board.  Mr. Akram has not applied for his permit as of yet.  

2. SIP Wine Bar, is moving along with the interior remodeling.  They are hoping to open in February.  
3. The Boulevard at Central Station has their foundation in and should be building in the spring.
4. Peko & Bean is a new tea shop on Oak Park Avenue.  It has coffee and tea and sweets.
5. Love’s Sweet Arrow has opened near the tea shop and is a romance book store on Oak Park Avenue.
6. North of the 80th Avenue Train Station, Anytime Fitness and Union Bar & Grill will be opening 

soon in the shopping center where Fratellos and the Tanning Shop were. 
7. In the large old TJ Max location on Harlem Avenue, Homeline Furniture store will be opening. 

They are remodeling now.
8. 7-Eleven Gas Station on 171st Street and Harlem Avenue was reviewed by Plan Commission and 

will be going to the Village Board on February 4, 2020.

Page | 357AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Minutes of the Village of Tinley Park Zoning Board of Appeals Meeting 
                            January 23, 2020        

Page 6 of 6

9. There will be no ZBA Meeting on February 13, 2020 due to lack of agenda items.  

RECEIVE COMMENTS FROM THE PUBLIC

None at this time.

ADJOURNMENT

There being no further business, a Motion was made by ZONING BOARD MEMBER PASCZCYK, 
seconded by ZONING BOARD MEMBER BETTENHAUSEN, to adjourn the Regular Meeting of the 
Zoning Board of Appeals of January 23, 2020 at 7:32 p.m. The Motion was unanimously approved by voice 
call. ZONING BOARD OF APPEALS CHAIRMAN STEPHEN SEPESSY declared the meeting 
adjourned.

Page | 358AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 359AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 360AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 361AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 362AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 363AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Date: January 31, 2020

To: Committee of the Whole

From: Colby C. Zemaitis, PE, CFM

Subject: FY 2021 Pavement Management Program (PMP) - Street Resurfacing

Prepared for February 4th, 2020 Committee of the Whole and Village Board Meetings for consideration and 
possible action.

The project entails 9.2 miles of local streets to be resurfaced by means of Mill and Overlaying or Heater 
Scarification. Robinson Engineering has prepared a map and list of streets  to be included in this year's project. 
These will be added to the Village website under Current Projects once it is approved by the Board.

The Village has always found success in bidding this project as early as possible to get lower asphalt prices. 
Early bids tend to be more competitive since it is often the first program put out for bid and there is still 
uncertainty in the market as to the availability of projects. The Village intends to get this project out to bid in the 
coming weeks.

Attached please find the memo explaining the project timeline along with the total cost breakdowns for funding 
and engineering services from Robinson Engineering.

Staff Direction Request:  Move to Village Board Meeting for approval.

Attachments: Robinson Engineering Memo
Street Name List
Map of Street Locations

S:PWfiles/Projects/MFT/2020/2020PMPMemo013020

Interoffice

Memo
Page | 364AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 365AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



MEMORANDUM  
DATE: 

TO: 

FROM: 

January 30, 2019

Committee of the Whole
Van Calombaris, PE, Village Engineering Consultant 

SUBJECT: FY2021 Pavement Management Program (PMP)- Street Resurfacing 

Attached for your reference is a list which shows the preliminary streets that are being recommended to be 

covered under the FY2021 program.  The recommendation includes approximately 9.2 miles of streets to 

be resurfaced under the program. The total funding including engineering and materials testing needed for 

the estimated cost of the FY2021 PMP Program is $4,115,000.  

Provided below is a summary of the projected available funds from the various funding sources used in the 

past for the FY2021 Pavement Management Program as discussed with the Treasurer’s office.  

Motor Fuel Tax Fund $2,034,000
$1,375,000Regular MFT 

MFT TRF
High Growth Impact Allocation

$645,000    
  $14,000

Local Roads Fund 

Vehicle Stickers 

Red Light Camera Fines 

$1,034,000
$608,000
$426,000

Other Funds-TBD      $1,068,000

The amount reflected above does not anticipate any increase in existing revenues, any grants through 

SSMMA or the dedication of other existing revenues. 

We have found success in bidding the program early as it enables the Village to get lower asphalt prices. 

Early bids tend to be more competitive since it is often the first large program put out for bid and there is 

still uncertainty in the market as to the availability of projects for Contractors early in the season.  

A schedule for adoption of the MFT Resolution/Agreements, bidding schedule, award and construction is 

provided below.   

• Tuesday 2-4-20 Discuss the final PMP Program details and potential funding up to

$4,115,000 at a Village Committee of the Whole Meeting and discuss entering into an

official agreement for Robinson Engineering to provide engineering services related to the

Resurfacing Program.

• Tuesday 2-4-20 Approve $2,034,000 spending for the FY2021 PMP Resurfacing

Program from MFT funds at Village Board Meeting.  Pass MFT Resolution.

• Tuesday 2-4-20 Approve entering into an Agreement for Robinson Engineering to

provide engineering services related to the FY2021 Resurfacing Program.

• Wednesday 2-5-20 Send signed resolution, agreements and engineering documents to

IDOT for approval.

• On or before Thursday 2-27-20 Pending IDOT’s approval, accept bids for the FY2021

PMP Resurfacing Program.  Bid date will be dependent upon IDOT’s review turnaround

and could be earlier.  Village Board should direct staff to set the actual bid date per

IDOT’s recommendation.

• Tuesday 3-3-20 Approve award of PMP Contract to lowest responsive, responsible bidder.

Attachments-Street Location Map and List 

Page | 366AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Location No. Location Name From To Length

1 91st Avenue 183rd Street Mansfield Drive 134
    **    2 Mansfield Drive 191st Avenue Newcastle Court 2100

3 Newcastle Court Mansfield Drive Mansfield Drive 1250
4 Upland Drive 179th Street Raven Place 826
5 Golden Pheasant Drive Pheasant Lake Drive Flamingo Drive 804
6 Flamingo Drive Hummingbird Drive Meadowlark Drive 911
7 Brown Lane Woburn Drive Westbridge Road 776

    **    8 Westbridge Road Brown Lane Woburn Drive 2898
    **    9 Moss Court Westbridge Road End 200
    **   10 Flannagan Court Radcliffe Road End 205

11 Humber Lane Westbridge Road 175th Street 610
12 176th Street Woburn Drive Westbridge Road 1063

    **   13 Dover Court 176th Street End 400
14 Clifton Lane Woburn Drive 88th Avenue 675

    **   15 Clifton Court Clifton Lane End 100
16 178th Street Woburn Drive 88th Avenue 470
17 Rayson Lane Woburn Drive 88th Avenue 425

    **   18 Queen Victoria Lane Queen Elizabeth Lane 84th Avenue 953
19 Justin Court Bormet Drive Bormet Drive 1059
20 161st Place Bormet Drive 80th Avenue 1072
21 Deland Court Bormet Drive Bormet Drive 1472

    **   22 76th Avenue Nottingham Drive 164th Place 339
    **   23 Brementowne Road 163rd Street Brementowne Drive 1836
    **   24 Birchwood Court Brementowne Drive End 180
    **   25 Bump Outs Brementowne Drive Brementowne Drive 184

26 67th Court 163rd Place 165th Place 1184
27 164th Street 67th Court 66th Court 537
28 164th Place 67th Court 66th Court 568
29 165th Street 67th Court 66th Court 698
30 66th Court 163rd Place 165th Place 1242
31 Tinley Park Drive Oak Park Avenue 167th Street 932
32 Riverside Drive Tinley Park Drive Forest View Drive 2828

    **   33 174th Street Odell Avenue Harlem Avenue 1063
    **   34 70th Avenue 173rd Place 174th Place 617

35 67th Avenue 174th Place Railroad Tracks 1005
36 174th Street 67th Avenue Ridgeland Avenue 1635
37 66th Avenue 175th Street 174th Street 555
38 65th Avenue 175th Street Oak Forest Avenue 1609
39 Vogt Street 65th Avenue 66th Avenue 422
40 66th Avenue Vogt Street Oak Forest Avenue 208
41 64th Court 175th Street End 1292
42 67th Court 179th Street 177th Street 1259
43 67th Avenue 179th Street 178th Street 1867
44 Edgebrook Lane Brookside Glen Drive Brookside Glen Drive 3018
45 66th Court 173rd Street 172nd Street 520
46 172nd Street 66th Court 67th Court 720
47 Brookridge Drive Brookside Glen Drive Ridgemont Drive 824
48 Brookfield Circle Ridgemont Drive Ridgemont Drive 1633
49 Evergreen 16313 16313 0
50 163rd Place and Ridgeland Avenue Ridgeland Avenue Ridgeland Avenue 0
51 68th Court (North Leg) 17254 17254 0
52 Everdon/161st Place 163rd Street Ozark Avenue 0
53 177th Street (East Leg) Oak Park Avenue Oak Park Avenue 0
54 88th Avenue Brookside Glen Drive Tinley Park/Mokena Border 1300

48,478 FT            = 9.2 Miles

Tinley Park PMP FY2021 PMP Proposed Street Resurfacing (20-R0005.01)

Page | 367AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



20-R0005_01-PLAN-01 - C02

N

VILLAGE of  TINLEY PARK
M.F.T. 20-00000-00-GM

FY 2021 PAVEMENT MANAGEMENT PROGRAM
PROPOSED RESURFACING

VILLAGE PRESIDENT

VILLAGE CLERK

JACOB C. VANDENBERG

VILLAGE TRUSTEES

KRISTIN A. THIRION

L

VI

LL

981*

.

*2

N

E
G

A
L

O

F
TI

A
K

R
I

P

YEL

DIANE M. GALANTE
CYNTHIA A. BERG
MICHAEL G. MUELLER

WILLIAM P. BRADY
MICHAEL W. GLOTZ
WILLIAM A. BRENNAN

PROJECT NO. 20-R0005_01
SHEET NO. 1 OF ----

PREPARED BY:

ILLINOIS DESIGN FIRM REGISTRATION NO. 184001128.

TABLE LEGEND

MAP LEGEND

48,478 FT=9.2 MILES

21

20

19 24

23

25

26

27

28

29

30

22

31

32

33

34
18

811

10

15

4

12

13

7
9

12

3

5
6

16

17

14

50

51

44

47

48

54

42

43

53

3735

36
41

38
39

40

4546

49

52

Page | 368AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...

AutoCAD SHX Text
INDICATES STREET WILL HAVE COMBINATION OF SURFACE REMOVAL, HOT IN PLACE RECYCLING, EDGE GRIND AND RESURFACING

AutoCAD SHX Text
*

AutoCAD SHX Text
*

AutoCAD SHX Text
PREPARED BY OR UNDER THE DIRECT SUPERVISION OF:

AutoCAD SHX Text
LICENSE EXPIRES: 11/30/21

AutoCAD SHX Text
62-50084

AutoCAD SHX Text
REGISTERED

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROFESSIONAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGINEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET TO BE RESURFACED

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET TO BE PATCHED ONLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAVEMENT STRIPING/LANDSCAPING RESTORATION MISCELLANEOUS CONCRETE WORK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE RIDGE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CYNTHIA CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNDEE PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HITCHCOCK BLVD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PERTH CIR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINSALE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KILKENNY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LETTERKENNY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDCASTLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENSHIRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATHERINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAYDELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLYCASTLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLYCASTLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORMOY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASHEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRANFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KICKAPOO DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHABBONA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACKHAWK DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOHNS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUSTIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
160TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALEXANDRIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
BORMET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRICIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FULTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUSTIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEVERLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
KIMBERLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAYNELLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
JAMES

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
94TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
92ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
(174TH)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHETLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
INVERNESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRIDALWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULBERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
172ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SYCAMORE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHESTNUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCUST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JUNIPER CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
TURNBERRY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAYSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CATALPA

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TEAKWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
THORNWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRUCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
94TH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONE-

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARLYLE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLUM CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
168TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
81ST CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KATHLEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BETHANY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARRIAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRENT CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAIN-

AutoCAD SHX Text
TREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TAMAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
HONEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARCADIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARLSBAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARBARA

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCOTT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEVERLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GAYNELLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AUTUMN DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BARBARA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEBRA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEBRA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARIE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLSIDE PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAURA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JACQUELYN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRITTNEY LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANDRES

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHRISTOPHER CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKESIDE PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENTRY LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
JENNIFER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK FOREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HELEN SANDIDGE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE BLUFF

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINDSOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PKWY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYBERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
178TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
POPLAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
LINDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRUMMOND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHEASANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEACOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PECAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MULBERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
REDWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAKWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAGNOLIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUTTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELMWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROSEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWLARK DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHEASANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUEBIRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PHEASANT    LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARDINAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PELICAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLAMINGO

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUMMINGBIRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOCKINGBIRD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
94TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREEN-

AutoCAD SHX Text
92ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ALMOND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGEWOOD CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINCESS

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELIZABETH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CYPRESS CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLY CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOLDEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALLARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUAIL 

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOBURN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
176TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLIFTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLIFTON CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
178TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAYSON LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROWN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWCASTLE COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANSFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
91ST AV

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANSFIELD  DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
APACHE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
POTTAWATTOMI

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIUTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
W SHOSHONE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
W CHIPPEWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
W CHEROKEE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NAVAHO

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
IROQUIOIS

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TULIP

AutoCAD SHX Text
LILAC

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOVERVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HEATHER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBRIDGE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADCLIFFE

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
EMILY CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STRATFORD DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEILSEN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
KIRBY DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAGER DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDALWOOD DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CEDAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUVAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARQUETTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLIET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHAM-

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLAIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAR-

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARBOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRISTOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
-SALLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LA

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
N.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
S.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLIET

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
JOLIET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
M

AutoCAD SHX Text
A

AutoCAD SHX Text
R

AutoCAD SHX Text
Q

AutoCAD SHX Text
U

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
T

AutoCAD SHX Text
E

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORCHARD   DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
176TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
176TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
176TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
177TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
178TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
177TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
180TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
180TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
71ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
71ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
70TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
70TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
64TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROYAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
18OTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
180TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
181ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
182ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
182ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEANETTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
181ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
180TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
68TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE-TAILED

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PIN OAK CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARTIN FRANCE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RITA

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
64TH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN-

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SWILLY

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN VICTORIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEEPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOLLMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
GARDEN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
195TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SPRING

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREY ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE LAKE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE CONE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE CONE DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEARBORN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIGER LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIGER LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZURICH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTURY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CONVENTION

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLAGIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILLENNIUM

AutoCAD SHX Text
GENEVA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLAGIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLAGIO

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMO

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ZURICH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CAMBRIA CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FINBAR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EARLS  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
KYLEMORE  CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UPLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOCKWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTERWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALK

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKETO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEMMLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SEMMLER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
180TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALLARD RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GOESEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
KOEHLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
WYMAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCHEER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK OAK AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELMORE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BETTENHAUSEN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HENKE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLARD DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BALLARD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRANDAU DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRANDAU

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
94TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
TULLAMORE LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANTRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOLLYBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANGOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BANGOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
LISADELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CARRICK WAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNMORE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRANNOCK LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LISADELL DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGEBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HERITAGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
STONEGATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUMMERHILL CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBIN CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOCK CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHFIELD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DEERPATH LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOGT (173rd ST)

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIELSEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
66th AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
182ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
181ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOP CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEST

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE CREEK DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHICS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHSTAR CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
81ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
186TH 

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRAPHICS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
76TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
82ND AV

AutoCAD SHX Text
188TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
189TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
194TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLEVELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOWS

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENSHIRE 

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGEMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SILVERSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BERRYBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKPOINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGEBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGEBROOK LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENBROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOK

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARVEST VIEW LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENBERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKRIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENDALE TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SIPPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
MALLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLARNEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NIELSEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLEASANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ETHYL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LENORE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
92ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENLEAF

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBERWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BASSWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COTTONWOOD DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEACHTREE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODBINE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TIMBERS

AutoCAD SHX Text
POINTE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE OAK LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUCKHORN CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACK OAK AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOGWOOD CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY-

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHERWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBINHOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY STONE PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ANVIL PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORCHARD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CURRANT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLOVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHELLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JESSICA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DESIREE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HENRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TOWER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTTINGHAM PRAIRIE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MEADOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRAIRIE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BORMET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERGREEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLCREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RICHARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANBARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
COBBLER

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TANBARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRONWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLOSSOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HORSESHOE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SURREY

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY HILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRANBERRY

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CREEKMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAUREL

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTBERRY LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTTINGHAM CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINCETON

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HAMILTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KENSINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
78TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ARLINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WHITTINGTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
160TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
160TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
160TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EVERDON

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VILLA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLCOTT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRISTOL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NOTTINGHAM

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OZARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARLIAMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRINCETON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARLIAMENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAXTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRESCENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASHFORD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLACKWATER CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEXFORD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LISMORE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
KILDARE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTENNIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTENNIAL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
164TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
165TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TERRACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
64TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SKYLINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREMENTOWNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MANCHESTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BREMMENTOWNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SO.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HOUSE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAVERNE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
THERESA

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JEAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHARNS-

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOOD DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUNTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
TR

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLYMOUTH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LEXIINGTON CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGSTON CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
BIRCHWOODE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLEWOODE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COBBLESTONE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
COACHWOOD TERR

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHARNSWOOD CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
KINGSTON RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
SUSSEX RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CROWN LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHELSEA DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
OXFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
WINSTON DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
157TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENGLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
158TH ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
TINLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
FAIRFAX

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
JODY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
166TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LESLIE ANN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRICIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE RIDGE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
181ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOSSMOOR RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
65TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINEWOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINELAKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PRIVATE DRIVE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
SCOTCH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKEVIEW CIR (W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKEVIEW CIR (E)

AutoCAD SHX Text
(PRIVATE DRIVE)

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND VIEW DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
POND VIEW CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
UNIMPROVED R.OW.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISTY PINES CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISTY PINES DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
THOMPSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
94TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WALNUT

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
178TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DERWENT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FOX GROVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COTTAGE CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CASTLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN ANN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN ELIZABETH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
QUEEN MARY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
81ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORGE DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROBINHOOD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
168TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
169TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
FARMVIEW CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHANNON CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE DR (E)

AutoCAD SHX Text
81ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
VALLEY VIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
87TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BUDINGEN LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHERRY CREEK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GRISSOM

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
82ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARILYN

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RICHARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SHANNON

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE DR (W)

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST 

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
169TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
169TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WATERFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
168TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
168TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TUDOR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RICHARDS

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLD BARN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
KAMP CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODSTOCK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
172ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AMHERST

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BEDFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PEMBROKE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OZARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OZARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORIOLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLEANDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLEANDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OZARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OTTAWA

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLCOTT CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DONEEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLEANDER

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLCOTT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKETO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOROTHY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
DOROTHY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCONTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
168TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SANDY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKETO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCONTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLCOTT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OKETO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODELL

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCONTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCONTO

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PAXTON

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHILL

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OCEOLA

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
78TH AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
172ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BELLE RIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
79TH AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OVERHILL AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
SALEM CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
HANOVER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PRESTWICK

AutoCAD SHX Text
CLAREMONT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILFORD

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLCOTT

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILIAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILIAD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODYSSEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ITHACA CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELPHI CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ACHILLES CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLYMPUS

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AEGINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORINTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORINTH CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AEGINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
MESSINA CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATHENA CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODYSSEY BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
APOLLO CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MOSS CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLANNAGAN

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUMBER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WEBSTER CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BISHOP

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARPER

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DURKIN

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MASON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
177TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNN

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTWIND

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
168TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
169TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
170TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH SAYRE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH NEW ENGLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELM

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
TINLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARK

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAPLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIVERSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HUBBARD LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAVINIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE POINT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORMANDY

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
WILLOW

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
FORESTVIEW

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR.

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
172ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
71ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
71ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
69TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
68TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
70TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
64TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
174TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
66TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
67TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
172ND ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HICKORY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
173RD PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
71ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK FOREST

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
172ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
STEVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ST.

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
85TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
IRENE

AutoCAD SHX Text
JULIA

AutoCAD SHX Text
MARGARET

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURTYARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURTYARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURTYARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
MISTY LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CRYSTAL CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHESTNUT TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHESTNUT      TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
EDGAR  PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
RAVEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
UPLAND DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
MURPHY CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MURPHY CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
162ND

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLUE SPRUCE CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
161ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASPEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ASHLEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN.

AutoCAD SHX Text
160TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL.

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAGLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PINE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
MICHAELS

AutoCAD SHX Text
CIRCLE

AutoCAD SHX Text
KILLARNEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORK

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRALEE TRL

AutoCAD SHX Text
ABBEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
TRAIL VIEW CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
NEWFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGEFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTFIELD 

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTFIELD        AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
EAST

AutoCAD SHX Text
HILLSIDE  DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
WESTFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ROSEFIELD TRAIL

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLEN

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKSIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BAYFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENWAY  BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
BRUSHWOOD  LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ENCLAVE   LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENWAY  BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RICHARDSON     LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
BOULEVARD

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTHFIELD   LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RICHARDSON

AutoCAD SHX Text
LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
FANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DUNREE      

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
WOODFIELD     CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
194TH   STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGEFIELD        LANE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKESIDE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
PATRICIA LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
MAYFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
PL

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHFIELD

AutoCAD SHX Text
LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTHFIELD LN

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAKEVIEW TERR

AutoCAD SHX Text
BROOKSIDE GLEN DR

AutoCAD SHX Text
GLENFIELD AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
GREENWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
CT

AutoCAD SHX Text
KIMMEL

AutoCAD SHX Text
PROSPERI

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
MILL RUN CT.

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKWAY

AutoCAD SHX Text
ORLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
191ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
191ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
191ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
181ST

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
FLOSSMOOR RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
177TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
191ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
163RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
183RD  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
RADCLIFFE RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
HIGHLAND

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
VOLLMER

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGRANGE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGRANGE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGRANGE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGRANGE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH

AutoCAD SHX Text
AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
62nd AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
62nd AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH   AVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH PLACE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OLYMPUS DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
APOLLO COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODYSSEY DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ILLIAD DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODYSSEY DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
AEGINA

AutoCAD SHX Text
DELPHI COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ODYSSEY

AutoCAD SHX Text
BLVD

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
ATHENA COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
MESSINA COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORINTH DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
CORINTH COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
AEGINA COURT

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELYSIAN DRIVE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
7

AutoCAD SHX Text
80

AutoCAD SHX Text
INTERSTATE

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
6

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
8

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
4

AutoCAD SHX Text
9

AutoCAD SHX Text
1

AutoCAD SHX Text
5

AutoCAD SHX Text
0

AutoCAD SHX Text
E X P R E S S W A Y

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R. I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R. I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
SOUTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
LOT

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
CHI. R.I. & P. R.R.

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
88TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
84TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
80TH  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
76TH AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
76TH AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
HARLEM AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
OAK PARK  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
RIDGELAND  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
171ST  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
175TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
179TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
167TH  STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
RD

AutoCAD SHX Text
159TH    STREET

AutoCAD SHX Text
CENTRAL  AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGRANGE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
LAGRANGE AVENUE

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
COMMUTER

AutoCAD SHX Text
PARKING

AutoCAD SHX Text
NORTH

AutoCAD SHX Text
ELYSIAN DRIVE 



Page | 369AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 370AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 371AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 372AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 373AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 374AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 375AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 376AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 377AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 378AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



Page | 379AGENDA - 2/4/2020,... VILLAGE OF TINLEY...



 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

ADJOURN TO EXECUTIVE SESSION TO DISCUSS: 

A. THE PURCHASE OR LEASE OF REAL PROPERTY FOR THE USE 
OF THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING MEETINGS HELD FOR THE 
PURPOSE OF DISCUSSING WHETHER A PARTICULAR PARCEL 
SHOULD BE ACQUIRED. 
 

B. THE SETTING OF A PRICE FOR SALE OR LEASE OF PROPERTY 
OWNED BY THE PUBLIC BODY. 
 

C. THE APPOINTMENT, EMPLOYMENT, COMPENSATION, 
DISCIPLINE, PERFORMANCE, OR DISMISSAL OF SPECIFIC 
EMPLOYEES OF THE PUBLIC BODY OR LEGAL COUNSEL FOR 
THE PUBLIC BODY, INCLUDING HEARING TESTIMONY ON A 
COMPLAINT LODGED AGAINST AN EMPLOYEE OF THE 
PUBLIC BODY OR AGAINST LEGAL COUNSEL FOR THE 
PUBLIC BODY TO DETERMINE ITS VALIDITY. 
 

D. COLLECTIVE NEGOTIATING MATTERS BETWEEN THE 
PUBLIC BODY AND ITS EMPLOYEES OR THEIR 
REPRESENTATIVES, OR DELIBERATIONS CONCERNING 
SALARY SCHEDULES FOR ONE OR MORE CLASSES OF 
EMPLOYEES. 
 

E. LITIGATION, WHEN AN ACTION AGAINST, AFFECTING OR ON 
BEHALF OF THE PARTICULAR PUBLIC BODY HAS BEEN FILED 
AND IS PENDING BEFORE A COURT OR ADMINISTRATIVE 
TRIBUNAL, OR WHEN THE PUBLIC BODY FINDS THAT AN 
ACTION IS PROBABLE OR IMMINENT, IN WHICH CASE THE 
BASIS FOR THE FINDING SHALL BE RECORDED AND 
ENTERED INTO THE MINUTES OF THE CLOSED MEETING. 


	Agenda Page 1
	Agenda Page 2
	Agenda Page 3
	Agenda Page 4
	Agenda Page 5
	Agenda Page 6
	Agenda Page 7
	Agenda Page 8
	ITEM #2 Approval of Minutes
	ITEM #3 Clerk Thirion
	ITEM #4 - Consent A
	ITEM #4 - Consent B
	ITEM #4 - Consent C
	ITEM #4 - Consent D
	ITEM #4 - Consent E
	ITEM #4 - Consent F
	ITEM #4 - Consent G
	ITEM #5 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #6 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #7 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #8 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #9 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #10 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #11 Trustee Mueller
	ITEM #12 Trustee Glotz
	ITEM #13 Trustee Glotz
	Executive Session

